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OUR REPORT
The 2019–20 Annual Report for the Department of the Attorney-General and Justice (department) 
provides a comprehensive overview to parliament, Territorians and the community of our 
objectives and performance during the financial year.

OUR AUDIENCE
The department’s annual report aims to inform:

• our Minister

• members of the Legislative Assembly

• our staff and future employees

• other government agencies at the Northern Territory, Australian and local government levels

• community and non-government organisations, particularly those that deliver services in 
partnership with the department

• key industry bodies

• the wider public.

Cover: Leanne Liddle, Director Aboriginal Justice Unit and  
Debra Di Natale, CEO Northern Territory Council of Social Services, 
consulting with Alpurrurulam community members on the  
Aboriginal Justice Agreement



Letter to the Minister
Dear Minister

I am pleased to submit to you the 2019–20 Annual Report for the Department of the  
Attorney-General and Justice, in accordance with section 28 of the Public Sector Employment and 
Management Act 1993, section 12 of the Financial Management Act 1995 and section 131 of the 
Information Act 2002.

Pursuant to my obligations under section 24 of the Public Sector Employment and Management Act 
1993, section 13 of the Financial Management Act 1995, section 131 of the Information Act 2002 
and in accordance with Treasurer’s Direction R2.1.6, I advise that to the best of my knowledge  
and belief:

a. proper records of all transactions affecting the department are kept and that employees 
under its control observe the provisions of the Financial Management Act 1995, the Financial 
Management Regulations 1995 and Treasurer’s Directions

b. procedures within the department afford proper internal control and a current description of 
such procedures is recorded in the accounting and property manual, which has been prepared in 
accordance with the requirements of the Financial Management Act 1995

c. no indication of fraud, malpractice, major breach of legislation or delegation, major error in or 
omission from the accounts and records exists

d. in accordance with the requirements of section 15 of the Financial Management Act 1995, the 
internal audit capacity available to the department is adequate and the results of internal audits 
have been reported to the accountable officer

e. the financial statements included in the annual report have been prepared from proper accounts 
and records and are in accordance with Treasurer’s Directions

f. all Employment Instructions issued by the Commissioner for Public Employment  
have been satisfied

g. the department is working in compliance with part 9 of the Information Act 2002.

Yours sincerely

Greg Shanahan PSM

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER 

16 September 2020
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The year in review:

Message from the Chief 
Executive Officer
I am pleased to present the  
2019–20 Annual Report for the 
department which outlines our 
activities and achievements over the 
financial year.

2019–20 was a year of significant 
challenges for the department and 
the realisation of critical reforms for 
government. These reforms promise 
to realise real improvements in our 
community and better position the 
department to meet the challenges 
of a tightening fiscal environment.

In October 2019, Meredith Day 
resigned after six years as Deputy 
CEO of the department to take 
up a position as a Local Court 
Judge. I thank Meredith for her 
professionalism and assistance 
and acknowledge the significant 
contribution she has made to the 
department. Over the year  
I welcomed Gemma Lake, a lawyer 
with nearly 20 years of service to 
government, as the new Deputy 
CEO. Gemma has embraced the role 
with leadership, sound advice and 
professionalism. The year also saw 
Dr John Lowndes OAM retire as 
Chief Judge of the Local Court and 
replaced by Judge Elizabeth Morris. 
In May 2020, the Solicitor-General, 
Sonia Brownhill SC was appointed 
as a Judge in the Supreme Court 
to commence in November 2020, 
replacing the Honourable Justice 
Graham Hiley who will retire early 
next year.

A major refurbishment of the Local 
Court in Alice Springs was near 
completion by the end of 2019–20 
that will enable better support for 
victims through the court process. 
Project Veritas (Odyssey), Australia’s 
first paperless civil court system was 
rolled out in 2019–20 and the focus 
will now turn to the development  
and introduction of the modern 
electronic environment for the 
criminal jurisdiction.

The misuse of alcohol is one of 
the main drivers of activity for the 
department and is still front and 
centre of our efforts to reduce 
resulting harm. Licensing NT 
continued to work alongside the 
Department of Health and the 
Alcohol Review Implementation 
Team during the year to progress 
the alcohol reforms from the Riley 
Review. A significant milestone was 
the commencement of the Liquor 
Act 2019 in October, effectively a 
complete rewrite of the previous 
Act, introducing a comprehensive 
framework for the regulation of  
sale, service and supply of liquor 
in the Northern Territory while 
legislating 70 recommendations  
of the Riley Review.

Alecia Brimson was appointed as 
Executive Director of Regulatory 
Services to work with Licensing 
NT, NT Consumer Affairs and NT 
WorkSafe on the broader restructure 
of regulatory services and the 

OUR CEO
The Department of the 
Attorney-General and Justice 
(the department) reports to the 
Attorney-General and Minister  
for Justice.

Chief Executive Officer, Greg Shanahan
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implementation of the liquor reforms. 
Bill Esteves commenced as Senior 
Director of NT WorkSafe, leading the 
implementation of recommendations 
of the Lyons Review. Many thanks to 
Mel Garde for her excellent work as 
Acting Senior Director.

Throughout the year NT Correctional 
Services, under Commissioner 
Scott McNairn, worked tirelessly 
on reform. Scott implemented a 
leadership charter and published 
his operational philosophy to 
underpin an improvement in prisoner 
rehabilitation and education as well 
as improved pathways for offenders 
once they leave the system.

A major milestone was achieved in 
September 2019 with the release 
of the draft Aboriginal Justice 
Agreement. It is the culmination of 
consultations and negotiations with 
critical stakeholder groups across 
the Northern Territory. This project 
promises to be a significant piece 
of reform for the Northern Territory 
Government in working with 
Aboriginal people on improved local 
decision making and on-country 
alternatives to prison with better, 
more culturally appropriate court 
engagement and reduced  
re-offending. I eagerly await 
finalisation of this major piece of 
reform as final consultations on the 
draft continue throughout the year.

In August 2019, our minister released 
a major update of the Charter of 
Victims’ Rights, a document that 
identifies the rights of victims within 
the justice system and sets out how 
government agencies must provide 
services to victims. It directs the 
use of every reasonable resource to 
support the safety and welfare  
of victims, their families and  
their property.

The backdrop to all this was the 
department’s efforts to meet the 
challenges presented by the fiscal 
environment and the Northern 
Territory Government’s acceptance 
of 68 of the 79 recommendations 
from the Fiscal Strategy Panel’s 
final report, A Plan for Budget 
Repair. All divisions across the 
department have been engaged in 
operational reform in implementing 
the recommendations from the 
government’s Root and Branch 
Review. One of the effects of 
these changes was the transfer 
of a number of long-serving 
departmental employees to the 
Department of Corporate and 
Information Services and the 
Department of Infrastructure, 
Planning and Logistics.

Something that can’t go without 
mention is the COVID-19 
pandemic and its impact on the 
department. Our successful 

response to date in meeting the 
threat posed by the 2020 pandemic 
demonstrates the strength and 
agility of the department which 
lies in its innovative, dedicated, 
and hard-working employees. 
The professionalism, adaptability 
and enthusiasm of our staff has 
enabled the department to progress 
significant reforms despite a 
challenging environment.  

It is an honour to lead the 
department and I congratulate 
and thank all of the staff for 
their outstanding efforts and 
achievements.

Greg Shanahan PSM

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
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About the Department 
The department’s Justice Matters Strategic Plan 2017–2020 comprises:

VISION
People feel safe and have confidence in the Justice System.

PURPOSE
To protect people’s rights and interests through 
the delivery of an integrated, fair and accessible 
justice system.

The Justice Matters strategies are:

• strengthening the justice system

• building community trust

• improving Aboriginal outcomes

• supporting safer communities to  
protect Territorians 

• partnering for improved justice outcomes

• developing and maintaining a capable workforce

• balancing the regulatory environment.

Under core business the department delivers:

• strategic law and legal policy services  
to government

• custodial and community-based  
correctional services

• prosecution services

• court and tribunal support service.

• a balanced policy and regulatory framework that 
supports industry, business and the community

• advice, education and information to business, 
workers and the public relating to legislative 
compliance and regulations

• support to independent integrity bodies

• registration services

• official statistics for the NT justice system.

OUR VALUES ARE:
Ethical practice: Uphold the highest standards of practice 
and act ethically, honestly, fairly and with integrity  
in our dealings.

Impartiality: Be apolitical and provide robust, frank, 
honest, timely and evidence-based advice.

Respect: Respect all people and deliver services in a 
manner that demonstrates this commitment.

Diversity: Embrace the diversity of our community.  
Listen to and value different perspectives  
and contributions.

Commitment to service: Be professional, hardworking, 
effective, innovative and efficient, and work 
collaboratively to achieve the best results.

Accountability: Be transparent and accountable for our 
actions, delivering on our commitments in an appropriate 
manner, using our resources effectively.
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BUDGET PAPER NO. 3 OUTPUT GROUPS
The department supports the Northern Territory Government’s objective of building 
safer, fairer and stronger communities through the following output groups as published 
in Budget Paper No. 3 of 2019–20.

Output Group Outputs

Legal Services

• Solicitor for the Northern Territory

• Legal Policy

• Crime Victims Services Unit

• Criminal Justice Research and Statistics

Correctional Services

• Custodial Services

• Community Corrections

• Parole Board

Court and Tribunal Support Services

• Higher Courts

• Lower Courts and Tribunals

• Fines Recovery Unit

Director of Public Prosecutions • Director of Public Prosecutions

Independent Offices

• Anti-Discrimination Commission

• Registrar-General

• Public Trustee

• Children’s Commissioner

• Office of the Public Guardian

• Health and Community Services Complaints Commission

Regulatory Services

• Consumer Affairs

• Licensing NT

• NT WorkSafe

Corporate and Governance
• Corporate and Governance

• Shared services received
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ALICE SPRINGSKintore 

Hermannsburg 

The Department

Courts

Circuit Courts

Licensing NT

NT WorkSafe

NT Correctional Services*

*NT Correctional Services Darwin includes Darwin and Casuarina. 
Palmerston includes Palmerston and Holtze.

LOCATIONS IN THE NT

Department of THE ATTORNEY-GENERAL AND JUSTICE | Annual Report 2019–20  11



EXECUTIVE 
LEADERSHIP GROUP

Greg Shanahan (Chair) 
Chief Executive Officer
Greg Shanahan started work in the 
Northern Territory Attorney-General’s 
Department in 1996 as a commercial 
lawyer. He was appointed Registrar-
General in September 1998 and Public 
Trustee for the NT in March 1999.

Following a review of staffing arrangements 
in 2002, Greg was appointed Executive 
Director of Court Support Services and 
subsequently Deputy Chief Executive 
Officer, in addition to the aforementioned 
statutory positions.

Greg was appointed Chief Executive 
Officer of the Department of Justice in  
July 2006, and has been the Chief 
Executive Officer of the Department of 
the Attorney-General and Justice since 
September 2012. He holds a Bachelor  
of Economics from Flinders University  
and a Bachelor of Laws from the University 
of Queensland.

Greg was awarded the Public Service 
Medal (PSM) on Australia Day 2020.

Gemma Lake 
Deputy Chief Executive Officer
Gemma Lake started with the department 
in December 2001 and undertook her 
articles of clerkship with the department  
in 2002. Gemma has worked in a number 
of areas of the department including  
Legal Policy, the Director of Public 
Prosecution, the Public Trustee and 
Registrar-General’s Office and the Solicitor 
for the NT. Gemma also undertook 
out-posted ‘in-house’ lawyer roles in the 
Department of Lands and Planning and the 
Department of Infrastructure.

During her time as General Counsel 
for PowerWater Corporation, Gemma 
led the legal team responsible for the 
structural separation of PowerWater 
into three separate government owned 
corporations, to create Jacana Energy and 
Territory Generation. Gemma’s work in the 
Solicitor for the NT included advising on a 
number of significant major projects in the 
Territory including the Darwin Waterfront 
and Convention Centre Public-Private 
Partnership, the Tiger Brennan Drive 
Extension Earlier Contractor Involvement 
Contract, the North-East Gas Interconnect 
(Northern Gas Pipeline) and Project  
Sea Dragon.

Gemma commenced acting in the role  
of Deputy Chief Executive in  
September 2019 and was appointed to  
the position in March 2020.

The Executive Leadership 
Group delivers the priorities of 
government by:

• leading the development 
and implementation of the 
department’s strategic plan

• initiating collaborative  
strategic reform

• providing leadership in the 
coordination of intra and  
inter-agency activities that  
deliver the department’s  
strategic objectives

• providing leadership in the 
development of departmental 
frameworks and programs that 
underpin the department’s 
strategic objectives.
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Craig Smyth 
Acting Executive Director,  
Legal Services
Craig Smyth graduated with a Bachelor 
of Laws with First Class Honours from 
the Northern Territory University and 
was awarded the University Medal and 
Attorney-General’s Medal in 2002. He also 
holds a Bachelor of Science with Honours 
(Geology) from La Trobe University 
(1992). Craig was admitted to practice in 
the Northern Territory in 2003 and is on 
the Register of Practitioners of the High 
Court of Australia. Prior to his admission, 
Craig was Associate to Justice Angel of 
the Northern Territory Supreme Court 
and completed his articles of clerkship 
at Cridlands. Craig commenced with the 
Litigation Division of the Solicitor for the 
Northern Territory in 2003 and was the 
Acting Director of the Litigation Division 
from December 2013 until his permanent 
appointment in November 2015.

Before his appointment as the Director of 
the Litigation Division, Craig was the team 
leader of the Administrative, Government 
and Employment Law Team.

He has also spent time as the Acting 
Judicial Registrar of the Local Court 
and Work Health Court in Darwin and 
was seconded to the Solicitor-General’s 
Chambers for six months in 2012. He was 
acting Deputy Chief Executive Officer 
between March 2018 and March 2019.

Craig has been Acting Executive Director, 
Legal Services since 18 March 2019.

Wojciech Jacek (Jack) 
Karczewski QC 
Director of Public Prosecutions
Jack Karczewski QC graduated from the 
University of Queensland with a Bachelor 
of Laws in May 1974. He was admitted 
to practice in Queensland as a Solicitor 
in December 1974 and as a Barrister and 
Solicitor of the Supreme Court of Papua 
New Guinea in April 1975.

From April 1975 to October 1982, Jack 
was employed by the Papua New Guinea 
Government in the Public Prosecutor’s 
Office as a Crown (later State) Prosecutor 
and was appointed a Senior State 
Prosecutor in December 1978. In October 
1980, he was seconded to the Port 
Moresby City Council as its Principal Legal 
Officer and was employed there until  
June 1983.

Jack began employment with the 
Prosecutions Division of the Northern 
Territory Department of Law in June 1984 
and was admitted to practice as a Legal 
Practitioner of the Supreme Court of the 
Northern Territory in August 1984. He 
was appointed Senior Crown Prosecutor 
for the Northern Territory in September 
1991. He transferred to the Policy Division 
in the Attorney-General’s department in 
December 1993 and was employed as a 
policy law officer until November 1997.  
He was the Acting Director of the  
Policy Division from March 1997 to  
September 1997.

Jack transferred back to the Office of 
the Director of Public Prosecutions in 
November 1997 and took up the position 
of Assistant Director, Darwin. He was 
appointed a Queen’s Counsel in December 
2001 made Deputy Director of Public 
Prosecutions in June 1998 and Director  
of Public Prosecutions in February 2013.

Scott McNairn 
Commissioner,  
NT Correctional Services
Commissioner Scott McNairn has a Masters 
in Business Administration from Glasgow 
University, several additional management 
qualifications including four post graduate 
diplomas in management and over  
34 years’ experience in the public and 
private sector prison service. He has worked 
in a number of senior management positions 
in the UK, Australia and New Zealand 
Correctional Services. 

Scott governed two high-security prisons in 
Brisbane before joining Serco Asia Pacific 
as Director of Prisons. With extensive 
experience in the private sector including 
the contract management and design of 
several PPP prisons, he left Serco to take 
up the appointment as General Manager 
Justice for the Downer Group Australia, 
developing a justice arm for the business.

In October 2018, Scott was appointed 
Commissioner for Northern Territory 
Correctional Services (NTCS) and has since 
developed one of the largest prison reform 
agendas in Australia, which focuses on the 
development of new operating and service 
delivery models to address the over-
representation of Aboriginal offending and 
culturally appropriate programs targeting 
the unique criminogenic needs of  
Aboriginal prisoners.  

Scott has led a number of other significant 
developments in his tenure with NTCS on a 
range of security and classification matters, 
including the introduction of body worn 
cameras and improvements in electronic 
monitoring, resetting the organisation’s 
culture to align with its operating 
philosophy, and focusing on staff reward  
and recognition strategies.
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Jacqueline (Jacquie) Dowling 
Acting Executive Director, 
Corporate and Strategic Services
Jacquie Dowling started with the  
Northern Territory Public Service in 1997 
after transferring from the Australian  
Public Service and an early administrative 
career with Customs and Immigration, 
Social Security and Federal Police.  
She has held a number of positions in the 
Northern Territory Public Sector including 
with the former NT Tourist Commission,  
the Department of Corporate and 
Information Services, the Government 
Printing Office, NT Treasury and the 
Department of Education.

Jacquie has been Chief Finance Officer  
of the Department of the Attorney-General 
and Justice since 2013 and assumed 
responsibility as Acting Executive Director 
Corporate and Strategic Services in 
September 2019. Jacquie has a Bachelor 
of Business, has been a Certified Practising 
Accountant since 2001, and is a fellow  
of CPA Australia.

Alecia Brimson 
Executive Director,  
Regulatory Services 
Alecia Brimson was appointed Acting 
Director-General Licensing NT in 
September 2019 to lead reforms within 
the department’s regulatory services 
which was to bring together Licensing NT, 
Consumer Affairs and NT WorkSafe into 
a more streamlined regulatory services 
division. Following the repeal of the Licensing 
(Director-General) Act 2014, in April 2020, 
Alecia was transferred to the newly created 
Executive Director, Regulatory Services. 

Alecia has spent more than 30 years in the 
public sector working for the Australian 
and governments in both operational and 
corporate positions, and worked in most 
of the Territory’s larger regions during her 
formative years in the Northern Territory 
Public Sector. Alecia has held senior 
positions in the Australian Government, 
with responsibility for corporate and 
operational portfolios across northern 
Australia, and was Executive Director of 
AGD’s Corporate and Strategic Services for 
seven years. 

She holds a Bachelor of Business  
(Human Resource Management) with 
accredited development qualifications in 
conducting investigations and negotiations. 
She is a passionate advocate for developing 
a culture of strong performance and 
accountability in a corporate setting.

Chris Cox 
Executive Director, Courts  
and Tribunals Support Services
Chris Cox was appointed Director of Courts 
in 2004 and has been Executive Director 
of Courts and Tribunals since 2012. He has 
a Bachelor of Laws from Charles Darwin 
University and a Graduate Diploma in 
Legal Practice from the Australian National 
University. Chris also holds appointment as 
a Notary Public and is a Fellow of  
the Australian and New Zealand College  
of Notaries.

Chris commenced in Courts in Katherine 
in 1988 and has held a number of senior 
statutory positions, including Sheriff, 
Supreme Court Registrar and Principal 
Registrar of the Local Court. He has 
lead a number of reforms in Northern 
Territory Courts including overseeing the 
construction of the new Supreme Court 
Building at Alice Springs, the introduction 
of the Local Court Act 2015 and the 
establishment of a dedicated Youth Justice 
Court in Darwin. He has been Chair of the 
Odyssey Electronic Case Management 
System Board since 2016. Chris works 
closely with the Chief Justice of the 
Supreme Court, Chief Judge of the Local 
Court and the President of the NT Civil  
and Administrative Tribunal to improve 
Courts and Tribunal services across the 
Northern Territory.

Chris has been a member of the 
Australasian Court Administrators Group 
since 2012. 
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Colleen Gwynne 
Children’s Commissioner 
(Independent Offices 
Representative)
On 11 June 2015 Colleen Gwynne was 
appointed the NT Children’s Commissioner.

Colleen has more than 25 years’ experience 
with the Northern Territory Police reaching 
the rank of Commander before taking on 
a senior executive role with the Northern 
Territory Public Sector.

Colleen has worked in a broad range  
of operational and specialist areas  
including major crime, drug and organised 
crime, domestic violence, prosecutions, 
child abuse, public housing safety and youth 
services and has been in charge  
of five local policing commands across  
the Territory.

Colleen has formal qualifications in 
leadership, criminal justice, investigations 
and is a graduate of the FBI National 
Academy and the Management of Serious 
Crime Course.

Melissa (Mel) Garde 
Acting Senior Director,  
NT WorkSafe
Mel Garde has been employed with NT 
WorkSafe for 10 years and has held a range 
of roles, including being an authorised 
inspector prior to her appointment in 
2013 as the Director of Permissioning and 
Advisory Services. In addition to holding a 
Certificate IV in Government Investigations 
and a Diploma in Occupational Health 
and Safety, Mel has completed a 
Graduate Certificate in Business (Public 
Sector Management Program) with the 
Queensland University of Technology and  
a Professional Management Program 
through the University of Adelaide. 

Mel is appointed as the Work Health 
Authority, the Electrical Safety Regulator 
and Chief Inspector under the Radioactive 
Ores and Concentrates (Transport and 
Packaging) Act 1980. She is also the 
Chair of the NT Workers’ Rehabilitation 
and Compensation Scheme Monitoring 
Committee, and represents the Northern 
Territory on various national work health 
and safety forums. 
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COMMITTEES
Several committees and sub-committees exist to lead, manage, monitor and support special 
projects and specialist activities across the department or those led by the department.  
Each committee’s terms of reference define their purpose and some of the committees  
to 30 June 2020 include: 

• Executive Management Group

• Executive Leadership Group

• Audit and Risk Committee

• Work Health and Safety Committee

• Change Management Steering Group

Refer to appendices for further detail.

STATUTORY OFFICE HOLDERS  
AND STATUTORY OFFICES
Under the Public Sector Employment and Management Act 1993 and the Financial Management Act 
1995 a number of statutory offices came under the umbrella of the department. 

This means the independent statutory offices are included in the department’s output structure 
for funding and reporting on performance against the department’s approved budget only. The 
department has no authority to direct the statutory offices in the execution of their independent 
functions. The functions and independence of the statutory offices are maintained by their 
respective Acts.

Refer to appendices for further detail.

Greg Shanahan, CEO, with Elders during the Aboriginal Justice Agreement consultations
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Strategic Plan 2017–20202 DE PAR � � T '> THE" ATTORNFY GFNERAL AND JUSTICF 

VISION PURPOSE 
People feel safe and have confidence 

in the Justice System. 
To protect people's rights and interests 
through delivery of an integrated, fair 

and accessible Justice System. 

VALUES 
Our values underpin all we do 
and frame our behaviour: 

ETHICAL PRACTICE 

IMPARTIALITY 

RESPECT 

DIVERSITY 

COMMITMENT TO SERVICE 

ACCOUNTABILITY 

Uphold the highest standards of practice and act ethically, honestly, 
fairly and with integrity in our dealings. 

Be apolitical and provide robust frank, honest, timely and 
evidence-based advice. 

Respect all people and deliver services in a manner that 
demonstrates this commitment. 

Embrace the diversity of our community, listen to and value 
different perspectives and contributions. 

Be professional, hardworking, effective, innovative and efficient 
and work collaboratively to achieve the best results. 

Be transparent and accountable for our actions, delivering on our 
commitments in an appropriate manner using our resources effectively. 
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Strategic Plan
The department’s vision in the Justice Matters Strategic Plan 2017–2020 is to ensure that people feel  
safe and have confidence in the justice system. The purpose of this plan is to protect people’s rights  
and interests through delivery of an integrated, fair and accessible justice system.

The plan, detailed on page 17, 
consists of seven interconnected 
priorities that enable the department 
to drive justice reform while 
contributing to whole-of-government 
strategies in partnership with  
other agencies.

The preliminary work to evaluate the 
2017–2020 plan is underway and the 
new strategic plan is scheduled for 
completion by the end of 2020.

The summary of achievements for 
2019–20 are on page 19 and more 
information on the year’s work is in 
the Output section.

The strategic issues focused on in 
2019–20 included:

• strengthening the justice system 
through promoting best practice 
and supporting the government’s 
legislative reform agenda, 
including in the areas of alcohol 
harm minimisation, reducing 
offending and recidivism, bail and 
sentencing, criminal procedure, 
vulnerable witnesses, victims of 
crime and employee safety

• protecting Territorians through 
supporting priority reforms from 
the recommendations of the Royal 
Commission into the Protection 
and Detention of Children in the 
Northern Territory

• protecting Territorians through 
supporting priority reforms from 
the recommendations of the Royal 
Commission into Institutional 
Responses to Child Sexual Abuse

• partnering for improved justice 
outcomes by working with 
other agencies to undertake 
legislative reform that delivers 
the government’s priorities, and 
supporting a healthy, responsible, 
safe and resilient community 
through the implementation of the 
recommendations from the Riley 
Review, and the development of 
the Sex Industry Bill 2019 and the 
Judicial Commission Bill 2020

• reforming the justice and 
correctional services system to 
reduce offending and provide 
alternative pathways through  
the system

• protecting Territorians by 
providing advocacy, awareness 
training and advice on issues that 
affect the rights of the vulnerable 
and disadvantaged across the 
range of justice services

• balancing the regulatory 
environment by driving change to 
influence and improve community 
and social outcomes

• coordinating quality criminal 
justice research, statistics and 
analysis to support development, 
monitoring and evaluation of the 
government’s legislative agenda 
and crime prevention strategies

• building community trust by 
leading the development, 
negotiation and implementation of 
the Aboriginal Justice Agreement 
to improve outcomes for 
Aboriginal people

• restructuring Regulatory Services 
under one Executive Director to 
work with Licensing NT, Consumer 
Affairs and NT WorkSafe on the 
broader reform of regulatory 
services and the implementation of 
the liquor reforms

• protecting Territorians  
by enhancing services and access 
to courts, including investing  
in better local court facilities in 
Alice Springs. 
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Highlights
Alcohol Harm Minimisation
The passage of the Liquor Bill 
2019, in August 2019, established 
a comprehensive framework for 
the regulation of the sale, service 
and supply of liquor to combat the 
harm caused by alcohol. The new 
regime introduces a risk-based 
licensing scheme in which the onus 
is on licence applicants to satisfy 
the Liquor Commission that their 
proposal is in the public interest. 
The Bill also introduces a licence fee 
system that rewards licence holders 
for doing the right thing and penalises 
those who don’t. The Liquor Act 2019 
represents a significant realisation of 
the recommendations of the October 
2017 Alcohol Policies and Legislation 
Review Final Report led by Trevor 
Riley QC, including the introduction 
of minimum alcohol sales prices, the 
first harm minimisation initiative of its 
kind in Australia.

Aboriginal Justice Agreement
The release of the draft Aboriginal 
Justice Agreement by the minister on 
10 September 2019 marks significant 
progress towards implementation. 
The agreement promises to be a 
milestone for the NT, being the 
first time the government has 
consulted Aboriginal people in such 
a comprehensive way, exercising 
cultural competence and capturing 
the experiences of Aboriginal people 
across the whole of the Northern 
Territory. The draft agreement 
proposes 23 strategies that will 
save taxpayers’ money and make the 
Northern Territory a better place 
to live for everyone. Following the 
release of the draft, Leanne Liddle 
and her team in the Aboriginal 
Justice Unit have been engaging with 
communities and other stakeholders 
across the Northern Territory 

soliciting input and feedback with 
the expectation of completing the 
Agreement by the end of 2020. 

Correctional reforms
NT Correctional Services started 
a reform agenda and have made 
significant achievements already 
toward developing a staffing model 
for the Alice Springs and Darwin 
correctional centres. In September 
2019, Commissioner Scott McNairn 
released a new operational 
philosophy that will enable 
Correctional Services to deliver safe 
and secure correctional centres, 
while fostering a healthy environment 
that provides real opportunities for 
prisoners to positively change their 
lives. The reforms focus on delivering 
services efficiently, ensuring that 
programs to reduce reoffending have 
maximum impact, and that prisoners 
commit to training and employment, 
and contribute to the community. 

National Redress Scheme 
The NT Redress Coordination team 
was established as part of the Crime 
Victims Services Unit. The team 
oversees the administration of the 
scheme for over 783 current and 
defunct government institutions 
in the Territory in response to 
a recommendation of the Royal 
Commission into Institutional 
Responses to Child Sexual Abuse. 
The team coordinates access to 
counselling and psychological care for 
survivors and facilitates apologies on 
behalf of the institution responsible. 
With the scheme’s focus of ‘do no 
further harm’, the team has developed 
a range of training intensives that 
focus on reducing the impact of 
trauma for survivors and encouraging 
protective factors for workers 
through reducing vicarious trauma 

and increasing positive psychology. 
The training has been delivered to 
government and non-government 
organisations across  
the NT.

Legislative reforms
2019–20 saw the development and 
passage of a number of important 
legislative reforms:

• The Justice Legislation Amendment 
(Domestic and Family Violence) 
Act 2020 was passed on 25 
June 2020. The Act creates a 
new offence in the Criminal 
Code of choking, suffocation 
and strangulation in a domestic 
relationship, provides for orders 
to attend rehabilitation programs 
made as part of a DVO, and 
clarifies termination of tenancy 
agreement requirements.

• The Work Health and Safety 
Legislation Amendment (Industrial 
Manslaughter) Act 2019 introduced 
an industrial manslaughter offence 
for corporations. 

• The Sex Industry Bill 2019 created 
a long-awaited decriminalised 
model for workers and ensuring 
workplace health and safety 
protections.

• The Judicial Commission Act 2020 
established a Judicial Commission 
to receive and investigate 
complaints about the behaviour  
or capacity of judicial officers  
and ordinary members of the 
Northern Territory Civil and 
Administrative Tribunal.
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National Corrections Day

OUTPUT REPORTING
Fast Facts 22 | Legal Services 23 | NT Correctional Services 34 
Courts and Tribunal Support Services 57 | Director of Public Prosecutions 62  
Independent Offices 64 | Regulatory Services 68 | Corporate and Governance 77
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FAST FACTS

94%  
of liquor licensed premises 

compliant 

95  
additional COVID-19-related  

legal requests

62%  
increase for Courts Justice of the 
Peace services during COVID-19

81  
online hearings hosted by the 

Judicial Registrar in the  
Darwin local court
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Legal Services
The Legal Services output group delivers quality legal advice, representation and policy  
development to government through the Solicitor for the Northern Territory (SFNT),  
the Crime Victims Services Unit (CVSU), Legal Policy, the Aboriginal Justice Unit (AJU)  
and the Criminal Justice Research and Statistics Unit (CJRSU).

Solicitor for the Northern Territory and Legal Policy

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATOR

CURRENT YEAR PREVIOUS YEARS

2019–20 
BUDGET

2019–20 
ACTUAL

2018–19 
ACTUAL

2017–18 
ACTUAL

2016–17 
ACTUAL

Chargeable lawyer hours 79 490 85 512 79 829 N/A N/A

Client satisfaction 90% 94% 98% 91% 91%

OUTPUT REPORTING
This section outlines the department’s actual performance against the planned outcomes 
published in Budget Paper No. 3 for 2019–20. It includes the department’s efficiency and 
effectiveness performance levels in achieving these outcomes in 2019–20.

Reporting in this section also aligns with the department’s Justice Matters strategies  
in the strategic plan. 

The department has undertaken a coordinated response to the COVID-19 pandemic. 
Each work area has provided details of its role in supporting the community, government 
and department during this event. You will find information on our response dispersed 
throughout the report.

SOLICITOR FOR THE NORTHERN TERRITORY
SFNT provides government with quality legal advice and representation and is comprised of the 
Commercial and Litigation divisions.

The Commercial Division provides 
strategic commercial legal advice 
to the whole of government. This 
includes complex contract drafting 
and advice, procurement, land 
development, funding arrangements, 
major projects, infrastructure, mining 
and resources and Aboriginal land 
and native title matters.

The Litigation Division provides 
legal advice and representation in a 
broad range of civil litigation related 
matters across government, including 
in the areas of employment law, 
child protection, domestic violence, 
planning law, administrative law, 

criminal property forfeiture matters, 
prosecutions and coronials.

Commercial Division
The Commercial Division’s major 
activities for 2019–20 are  
reported below.

Day-to-day business  
of government
As well as specific major projects, the 
Commercial Division provides daily 
legal assistance to the  
Northern Territory Government  
to facilitate general business needs. 

In 2019–20, the division handled 
around 610 individual new matters, 
plus hundreds of existing ongoing 
matters from previous years.

COVID-19 response
The division provided a significant 
amount of advice to government in 
response to the COVID-19 pandemic, 
including:

• ongoing advice on the interaction 
of Territory and Commonwealth 
law in relation to Aboriginal land 
under the Aboriginal Land Rights 
(Northern Territory) Act 1976 (Cth)
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• advice on the interaction of the 
NT Public and Environmental 
Health Act 2011 directions and the 
Commonwealth Biosecurity  
Act 2015 determinations

• advice on Approved Remote 
Essential Workers card and land 
council permits

• implementing mandatory 
quarantine

• implementing COVID-19  
Safety Plans

• across government advice and 
support in relation to contractual 
issues including advice and support 
for contractors and management 
of contracts, advice around force 
majeure and variations

• Information Act 2002 and privacy 
issues related to COVID-19

• use of the Howard Springs 
Manigurr-ma Village as a 
quarantine site

• preparation of urgent contracts to 
deal with COVID-19, and existing 
contracts impacted by COVID-19

• general ad hoc advice on  
day-to-day business of 
government impacted COVID-19.

Standard Grant Funding 
Agreement and GrantsNT
The division worked with the 
Department of the Chief Minister 
and a whole of government 
working group to develop a 
standard funding agreement for all 
government agencies. The project 
has been underway for almost 
four years and is a large body of 
continuing work, which ties in with 
the implementation of GrantsNT, 
the government software system 
for managing grants. The project 
included reviewing a large number 
of funding agreements already used 
across government and working with 
government agencies, the non-
government organisations (NGO) 
sector and private law firms to create 
a standardised core set of terms and 

conditions for grant funded services 
and activities.

The division continues to provide 
advice to the government on the 
use of the grant conditions, and is 
developing new standard documents 
for other grant programs.

The Wakaya Alyawarre 
Repeat Land Claim No.130
The resolution of the Wakaya 
Alyawarre Repeat Land Claim 
No.130 has been 18 years in the 
making. The parties entered into 
the Canteen Creek Area Indigenous 
Land Use Agreement (ILUA) to reach 
resolution. The parties executed 
the Canteen Creek Area ILUA in 
November 2019. 

The Canteen Creek Area ILUA 
provides resolution for native title 
issues (including compensation 
liability) and Aboriginal land matters 
over Canteen Creek Community 
and surrounding vacant Crown 
land. The Canteen Creek Area ILUA 
is a binding contract between the 
parties. It was registered with effect 
on 20 May 2020 and the parties are 
now engaged in the implementation 
of the agreement.

New State Square Car Park
The division assisted the Department 
of Infrastructure, Planning and 
Logistics in negotiations with the 
City of Darwin, to prepare contracts 
for the management, operation and 
third party licencing of the new city 
State Square Carpark. This involved 
attending to a wide range of legal 
and commercial issues within tight 
time frames.

Major projects
The division gives advice to 
government and prepares 
documentation for government major 
projects. This year’s  
projects included:

• the Ship Lift Facility

• the Darwin Luxury Hotel

• Project Sea Dragon

• the Chandler and Apirnta facilities

• Arafura Resources Nolan’s Rare 
Earths project 

• Seniors Lifestyle Accommodation 
Villages.

Other significant matters
The division has been instrumental 
in delivering legal education to the 
broader government procurement 
community under the Department 
of Trade, Business and Innovation’s 
Procurement  
NT’s Knowledge Sharing Sessions. 
Topics covered included  
non-standard conditions, novation, 
legal entities and trusts, and 
indemnities, liability capping and 
insurance and all sessions were  
well attended.

The division (including at times in 
collaboration with the Litigation 
Division and Legal Policy) has 
also given strategic legal advice 
on government reforms and key 
economic projects, including: 

• COVID-19 immediate response 
strategies

• post COVID-19 – Territory 
Economic Rebound – Operation 
Rebound 

• NT Health medical officer 
engagements reforms 

• centralisation of functions to 
the Department of Corporate 
and Information Services and 
Department of Infrastructure, 
Planning and Logistics 

• Local Decision Making framework  
and government asset transitions 
to NGOs 

• revisions and updates to financial 
management, procurement and 
governance reforms

• the negotiation of an Indigenous 
Land Use Agreement with 
the Lhere Artepe Aboriginal 
Corporation to allow for various 
land development projects to 
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proceed within the town  
of Alice Springs

• the introduction of legislation to 
provide a statutory framework for 
Aboriginal water reserves.

Litigation Division
The Litigation Division’s major 
activities for 2019–20 are  
reported below.

Royal Commission into 
Violence, Abuse, Neglect  
and Exploitation of People 
with Disability
The division provided legal advice 
and representation to the Territory in 
responding to the Royal Commission 
into Violence, Abuse, Neglect 
and Exploitation of People with 
Disability. This Royal Commission 
was to conduct hearings in Alice 
Springs in May 2020, however the 
hearing schedule was suspended 
due to the COVID-19 pandemic. The 
government was served with several 
Notices to Give a Statement through 
the Litigation Division and the 
Department of the Chief Minister. 
They submitted seven statements 
covering a wide range of material, 
prepared by three government 
departments. The Territory was also 
served with four Notices to Produce, 
co-ordinated with relevant agencies 
and the Department of the  
Chief Minister.

Royal Commission into 
National Natural Disaster 
Arrangements
The division provided legal advice 
and representation to the Territory 
in response to the Royal Commission 
into National Natural Disaster 
Arrangements. Between 3 April and 
30 June 2020, the Territory was 
served with 10 Notices to Produce 
and 15 Notices to Give Information, 
through the Litigation Division 
and the Department of the Chief 
Minister. Relevant senior officers  
and heads of departments needed  

to prepare statements. Three 
Territory witnesses gave evidence  
at online hearings.

Civil proceedings relating  
to the Royal Commission into 
the Protection and Detention 
of Children in the Northern 
Territory
Within the division, the Youth 
Claims team has been overseeing 
a number of proceedings brought 
against the government by former 
detainees and children in care 
since the Royal Commission into 
the Protection and Detention of 
Children in the Northern Territory. 
These proceedings include two 
representative actions brought in 
the Federal Court of Australia as well 
as claims brought by individuals in 
the Federal Court of Australia and 
Supreme Court and Local Court of 
the Northern Territory.

Of these, the first claims by 
former detainees to go to trial 
in the Supreme Court in 2016 
have gone to appeal in the High 
Court of Australia and one of the 
representative actions was resolved 
before going to court. The first 
individual claim in the Federal Court 
by a former detainee proceeded to 
trial in September and December of 
2019; the first in the Local Court will 
proceed in July 2020.

Complaint made against the 
Territory to the Australian 
Human Rights Commission
In 2019, the Australian Human 
Rights Commission raised a 
significant complaint against the 
Territory on behalf of several 
Aboriginal residents of Wadeye 
alleging discriminatory conduct 
by the Territory under the Racial 
Discrimination Act 1975 (Cth). 
The residents have commenced 
proceedings in the Federal Court 
of Australia and the division is 
instructing the Solicitor-General’s 
chambers in defence of the 
proceedings.

Significant claims against  
NT Police
Solicitors from the division acted 
for the Territory and NT Police in a 
number of significant claims. One 
claim was in relation to members 
of the Territory Response Group 
attending Kulaluk Community in 
response to a report of one person 
threatening another with a rifle. 
It was brought by 37 plaintiffs. 
The matter was resolved without 
further court proceedings. Another 
was a claim by 17 plaintiffs 
for compensation under the 
Compensation (Fatal Injuries) Act 1974. 
Again, that matter was resolved 
without further court proceedings. 
The division also acted for NT Police 
in a claim made on behalf of the 
family of Kumanjayi Walker and the 
Yuendumu community. A complaint 
has been raised against Constable 
Rolfe, NT Police and the Territory 
in the Australian Human Rights 
Commission alleging discriminatory 
conduct under the Racial 
Discrimination Act 1975 (Cth).  
It will be heard pending the resolution 
of criminal charges against  
Constable Rolfe.

COVID-19 legal assistance
The division provided various 
government agencies with 
urgent legal advice in relation to 
the Territory’s response to the 
COVID-19 pandemic and included 
advice on: 

• detention centres

• custody arrangements and 
supervised quarantine for 
interstate arrivals

• the implementation of COVID-19 
Safety Plans

• mental and public health issues 
arising from enforced quarantine

• general duty of care.
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LEGAL POLICY AND POLICY COORDINATION
The Legal Policy Division and Policy Coordination Unit work together to develop, review and implement 
legislative change, and advise the Attorney-General and the government on law and justice measures.

The division supports other 
government agencies in 
implementing law and justice 
measures and also gives advice and 
assistance during the development of 
legislation, particularly in relation to 
offences and penalties.

In 2019–20 the divisions major 
activities are reported below.

COVID-19 specialist advice 
and legislative responses
The division provided and  
co-ordinated urgent and ongoing 
legal and policy advice to  
the government on emergency 
measures to respond to the 
COVID-19 pandemic.  
This included:

• Working collaboratively with 
the Departments of the Chief 
Minister and Health, Territory 
Families and NT Police, Fire and 
Emergency Services to provide 
whole of government responses 
to the complex issues that the 
COVID 19 pandemic presented. 
This included working closely 
with the Department of Health 
to formulate Chief Health Officer 
Directions under section 52 of the 
Public and Environmental Health Act 
2011. This enabled  
the implementation of restrictions, 
for example on gatherings and 
border control.  

• Undertaking urgent amendments 
to the Information Act 2002 
through the Emergency Legislation 
Amendment Act 2020 that extends 
the application of the emergency 
information sharing provision at 
section 81A of the Information Act 
2002 to cover a serious public 
health emergency, such  
as COVID-19.

• Developing the Tenancies 
Legislation Amendment Act 
2020 for a special sitting of the 

Legislative Assembly on  
24 April 2020 to respond to the 
economic disruption caused by 
COVID-19. This new legislation 
created new support mechanisms 
for tenants and landlords to 
engage in mandatory negotiation 
to develop mutually workable 
solutions during these  
difficult times.

• Assisting the development of 
further urgent amendments to the 
Public and Environmental Health Act 
2011 to quarantine requirements 
and for a new offence to protect 
workers, such as police officers and 
emergency workers, from people 
spitting or coughing on them 
when it is likely to cause fear of 
transmitting COVID-19. 

Liquor reforms in response 
to the Alcohol Policies and 
Legislation Review 
• The NT Alcohol Harm 

Minimisation Action Plan 
2018–2019 responded to the 
recommendations of the Alcohol 
Policies and Legislation Review Final 
Report (Riley Review). The report 
made 219 recommendations 
aimed at reducing alcohol-related 
harm. In 2019–20, the division 
continued working with the 
Alcohol Review Implementation 
Team of the Department of the 
Chief Minister, the Office of the 
Parliamentary Counsel, Licensing 
NT, the Department of Health 
and NT Police to deliver on the 
government’s commitment 
to liquor licensing reform. 
This included the passage and 
commencement of the new Liquor 
Act 2019 and Liquor Regulations 
2019 on 1 October 2019. This 
project involved a complete re-
write of the legislation, which  
was a recommendation of the  
Riley Review.

• The Liquor Amendment Act 
2020 was delivered and was an 
amending Bill to clarify the policy 
intention around the substitution 
of premises provisions in section 
75 of the Liquor Act 2019.

• The Licensing (Director-General) 
Repeal Act 2020 was delivered. 
This Act repealed the Licensing 
(Director-General) Act 2014 and 
abolished the position of the 
Director-General. It provided 
for a number of consequential 
amendments to other Acts to 
remove reference to the  
Director-General to give the 
relevant office holder the powers 
and functions under the relevant 
Acts. The substantive functions 
remain the same.  

Domestic and Family 
Violence reforms
• Support was provided for the 

Local Court to develop a Specialist 
Approach to Domestic Violence 
at the Alice Springs Local Court 
(the Specialist Approach). The 
Specialist Approach was developed 
in partnership with service 
providers in Alice Springs and 
aims to improve victim safety and 
wellbeing and increase offender 
accountability and behaviour 
change. One of the key elements is 
for the court to order defendants 
who plead guilty to attend a 
rehabilitation program as part 
of a Domestic Violence Order 
(DVO), and for the court to review 
the defendant’s progress. The 
need for legislation was identified 
and developed in consultation 
with stakeholders. The Justice 
Legislation Amendment (Domestic 
and Family Violence) Act 2020 was 
passed on 25 June 2020. The Act: 

• amends section 24 and creates a 
new Part 2.11A of the Domestic 
and Family Violence Act 2007 
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to provide for orders to attend 
rehabilitation programs made as 
part of a DVO

• clarifies that, as part of a DVO, 
tenancy agreements can be 
terminated without replacement 
and permanent breakdown of a 
relationship is not required

• creates a new offence in the 
Criminal Code of choking, 
suffocation and strangulation in a 
domestic relationship.

A review of the Domestic and 
Family Violence Act 2007 and 
related legislation is underway 
and is expected to lead to further 
improvements in the Territory’s 
response to domestic violence. 

Vulnerable Witness 
Procedure reforms

Evidence and Other Legislation 
Amendment Act 2020 
The division developed the Evidence 
and Other Legislation Amendment Act 
2020, which amended the Evidence 
Act 1939, the Sexual Offences 
(Evidence and Procedure) Act 1983 and 
the Domestic and Family Violence Act 
2007. This expanded the use of video 
conferencing in courts and enhanced 
the protections for vulnerable 
witnesses in sexual and domestic 
violence proceedings.  

Sexual Offences (Evidence and 
Procedure) Amendment Act 2020
The division developed the Sexual 
Offences (Evidence and Procedure) 
Amendment Act 2020 which was 
passed by the Legislative Assembly 
on 24 June 2020. The amendments 
enable a complainant in a sexual 
offence matter to consent to being 
identified in a publication, statement 
or representation, provided that they 
are an adult with capacity to consent. 
The publication will not be able to 
identify another complainant unless 
they consent in writing. Allowing a 
complainant to consent to publication 
brings the NT into line with other 
Australian jurisdictions, and gives the 

complainant a voice, autonomy and 
control in a situation where control 
has been taken away from them. 

Administration of justice, 
courts administration and 
procedure 

Courts Legislation Amendment  
Act 2020
The Courts Legislation Amendment 
Act 2020 was developed as part 
of the ongoing project to provide 
for electronic filing and case 
management in the courts. The 
amendments are for the handling 
of electronic documentation in the 
court system, and ensures that the 
courts can make rules and processes 
to electronically case manage, 
process and issue documents.

Mental Health Review Tribunal
The Mental Health Review Tribunal 
(MHRT) established under the 
Mental Health and Related Services 
Act 1998 (MHRS Act) has been co-
located with the Northern Territory 
Civil and Administrative Tribunal 
(NTCAT) for a number of years. The 
MHRT was a specialised tribunal for 
reviews related to people subject 
to the MHRS Act - those needing 
care, treatment and protection while 
suffering from mental health issues. 
The Mental Health and Related Services 
Amendment Act 2020 came into effect 
on 3 June 2020, and resulted in the 
transfer of the MHRT’s jurisdiction 
to the NTCAT. The amendments to 
the MHRS Act grant both original 
jurisdiction and powers of review to 
the NTCAT to hear and determine 
applications brought under the 
MHRS Act. The NTCAT is able to 
give preference to procedures that 
are more favourable to those with a 
mental illness appearing before it.

Legislation to implement a Judicial 
Commission for the Northern 
Territory
On 23 June 2020, the Legislative 
Assembly passed the Judicial 
Commission Act 2020. This Act 
establishes a formal statutory 

framework to deal with complaints 
about misconduct or physical or 
mental incapacity of judicial officers 
and ordinary (non-judicial) members 
of the Northern Territory Civil and 
Administrative Tribunal. Establishing 
a Judicial Commission will provide 
a structured, transparent and 
accessible process for dealing with 
judicial misconduct or incapacity. It 
aims to promote public confidence 
in the administration of justice and 
maintain high standards of judicial 
integrity without undermining  
judicial independence.

Regulatory reforms

Reforms to the regulation of the Sex 
Industry in the Northern Territory
In April 2019, the government, 
through Licensing NT, released a 
Discussion Paper titled: Reforming 
the Regulation of the Sex Industry 
in the Northern Territory for public 
consultation and comment. The 
paper considered reform options 
which concentrated on ensuring that 
workers have access to the same 
rights as other workers to have a safe 
and healthy work environment.  

After public consultation, Legal 
Policy assisted Licensing NT to 
develop a legislative framework 
that fully decriminalised the sex 
industry. The framework developed 
the Sex Industry Act 2019, which 
was introduced in the Legislative 
Assembly on 18 September 2019, 
with minor amendments to the 
Northern Territory Planning Scheme 
to ensure that these businesses 
can operate within it. The Sex 
Industry Act 2019 and accompanying 
amendments to the Planning 
Scheme began on 12 June 2020.

Department of THE ATTORNEY-GENERAL AND JUSTICE | Annual Report 2019–20  27



Construction Contracts (Security of 
Payments) Legislation Amendment  
Act 2019
Amendments to the Construction 
Contracts (Security of Payments) Act 
2004 were developed to improve 
the Act’s operation after a detailed 
review of the Act in consultation 
with industry. The Construction 
Contracts (Security of Payments) 
Legislation Amendment Act 2019 
began on 3 February 2020.  
The amendments strengthen  
and streamline the adjudication 
process and the enforcement of 
adjudication decisions. 

Residential Tenancies Legislation 
Amendment Act 2020
The Residential Tenancies Legislation 
Amendment Act 2020 was  
developed following a review of the 
Residential Tenancies Act 1999.  
The Act represented the first part  
of a staged reform program based  
on the review’s recommendations 
and stakeholder feedback. The 
Residential Tenancies Legislation 
Amendment Act 2020 was passed  
on 18 February 2020. The 
amendments sought to address 
issues identified with the 
administration and operation of the 
Act and Regulations.

The amendments have not yet 
started due to the Territory’s focus 
on responding to COVID 19.

Criminal law reforms

Work Health and Safety (National 
Uniform Legislation) Amendment  
Act 2019
The Work Health and Safety (National 
Uniform Legislation) Amendment Act 
2020 introduced a new offence 
of industrial manslaughter. This 
was recommended in the 2019 
Lyons Review, Best practice review 
of workplace health and safety in the 
Northern Territory. The Territory’s 
manslaughter offence in the 
Criminal Code covered negligent 
manslaughter in the workplace, but 

did not apply to bodies corporate 
or the Crown. The Act created a 
new offence that applies equally to 
bodies corporate and the Crown 
when criminally negligent conduct 
leads to a workplace related death. 
Procedural amendments were 
already made to clarify prosecution 
processes and options.

Criminal Property Forfeiture 
Amendment Act 2019
In December 2018, the Northern 
Territory became a signatory to the 
Intergovernmental Agreement on 
the National Cooperative Scheme on 
Unexplained Wealth. The agreement 
gives participating jurisdictions 
access to useful information 
sharing arrangements and a share 
in the proceeds of cross-border 
criminal activity if their involvement 
and help leads to successful 
forfeitures. Legal Policy developed 
the Criminal Property Forfeiture 
Amendment Act 2020 to fulfil the 
Territory’s obligations under the 
intergovernmental agreement, and 
to legislate for the equitable sharing 
arrangements under the scheme.

Royal Commission responses 
Legal Policy co-ordinates the 
reporting on the implementation  
of the recommendations of the Royal 
Commission into the Protection 
and Detention of Children in the 
NT to ensure accurate information 
is provided by the department. The 
division is also involved in developing 
responses to and implementing 
the recommendations of the Royal 
Commission into Institutional 
Responses to Child Sexual Abuse. 
In the NT, both Royal Commissions 
are responded to by a whole of 
government approach set out in 
the 2018–2023 Safe, Thriving and 
Connected: Generational Change 
for Children and Families plan. It 
also participates in the Children 
and Families cross agency Reform 
Implementation Group chaired by the 
Reform Management Office.  

Other reviews
Legal Policy is in the process  
of reviewing a number of pieces 
of legislation including the Anti 
Discrimination Act 1992, the  
victims of crime legislation and  
the Residential Tenancies Act 1999 
and work will continue in the  
coming year.

Funding the Legal sector
Legal Policy administers and allocates 
a number of funding streams 
from both the Northern Territory 
and Australian Governments. 
Reforms to the method of funding 
from the Australian Government 
and negotiating a new National 
Partnership Agreement for legal 
assistance services has made up the 
majority of the work this year. 

Northern Territory funding 
The most significant amount 
of Northern Territory funding 
administered by the division goes 
to the Northern Territory Legal 
Aid Commission (NTLAC). NTLAC 
receives approximately $6.3 million 
per annum from the Territory to 
provide for its various functions 
under the Legal Aid Act 1990. Regular 
meetings between Legal Policy and 
NTLAC ensure open and consistent 
information is shared about 
increasing demands for services. One 
of the most challenging areas for 
NTLAC and Legal Policy is NTLAC’s 
work in arranging representation for 
defendants in criminal matters in the 
Local Court circuit locations known 
as ‘bush courts’.

Legal Policy also administers 
approximately $1.1 million in 
Territory funds for the delivery of 
domestic and family violence legal 
services in both Central Australia 
and the Top End. In Alice Springs and 
across Central Australia, the Central 
Australian Women’s Legal Service 
Incorporated delivers the service 
and in Darwin and the Top End, it is 
delivered by NTLAC in a standalone 
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domestic violence legal service 
(DVLS). These services provide 
community education and outreach 
programs and a mix of duty lawyer 
and representation services  
to those experiencing domestic  
and family violence. 

Legal Policy now also administers 
funding to the Darwin Community 
Legal Service to provide tenants 
across the Northern Territory with 
advisory and legal services (including 
advocacy) as set out in section 
16(1)(c) of the Residential Tenancies 
Act 1999. The tenancy advocacy 
service will receive approximately 
$2.7 million over five years from the 
Agents Licensing Fidelity Guarantee 
Fund, established under the Agents 
Licensing Act 1979. 

Australian Government funding 
On 24 June 2020, the Chief Minister, 
the Hon. Michael Gunner MLA, 
accepted and signed the National 
Legal Assistance Partnership  
2020–2025 (NLAP) and the 
Northern Territory: Bilateral 
Schedule, both of which commenced 
on 1 July 2020. The NLAP is a 
direct investment by the Australian 
Government in the legal assistance 
sector in the Northern Territory of 
$127.8 million to be allocated and 
administered by Legal Policy. 

The NLAP represents the 
culmination of a significant body 
of work by Legal Policy and Policy 
Coordination over the past two 
years. This included:

• A formal review of the National 
Partnership Agreement on Legal 
Assistance Services 2015–20 and 
the Indigenous Legal Assistance 
Program (ILAP) (Legal Policy was 
not involved in the ILAP review).

• The development of the National 
Strategic Framework for Legal 
Assistance.

• Consultation with all parts of the 
legal assistance sector in the NT 
and relevant parts of government 
on the terms of the NLAP.

• The provision of advice to 
government in order for the NLAP 
to be accepted and signed. 

The NLAP represents a significant 
shift by the Australian Government 
to a single funding mechanism for 
legal assistance by bringing together 
funding from a number of different 
measures, including the ILAP, for 
states and territories to allocate and 
administer. The NLAP continues 
the focus on collaborative service 
planning to identify areas of unmet 
legal need and will transition to the 
collection of further service data and 
reporting to refined performance 
indicators in the second year.

This shifting of responsibility and 
administrative burden onto states 
and territories was a significant 
concern during the negotiations. 
Ultimately the Australian 
Government acknowledged the 
shift in burden, the savings it would 
make as a result of the changes and 
included administrative funding in 
the NLAP to assist in the delivery of 
the various roles and responsibilities 
that arise from it. New funding of 
approximately $1.2 million over 
five years will help the department 
establish a dedicated team to 
administer the NLAP. 

The next body of work to be done 
under the NLAP will include finalising 
funding agreements with each service 
and to start developing the NT 
Legal Assistance Strategy and Legal 
Assistance Action Plan to be in place 
by 1 July 2022 and 1 September 2022 
respectively. 

COVID-19 funding project 
agreement 
On 6 May 2020, the Australian 
Government announced an 
additional $63.3 million investment 
into frontline legal services to 
support Australians impacted by 
COVID-19. This provides funding 
for an expected surge in demand for 
frontline legal assistance matters and 
for the delivery of information and 
communications technology (ICT) 

support for Legal Aid Commissions 
and community legal centres to 
transition to physically distanced 
service delivery. 

Under this funding arrangement, 
the NT will administer and allocate 
approximately $0.5 million for ICT 
and $3.1 million for frontline legal 
assistance over the two years  
2019–21. Before the end of the 
2019–20 financial year, Legal Policy 
arranged for the immediate allocation 
and payment of ICT funding to 
the Northern Territory Legal Aid 
Commission and four community 
legal centres. The division also 
immediately allocated and paid  
$1 million in frontline legal assistance 
funding to nine different providers.

By the end of June 2020, Legal 
Policy had established and 
commenced an allocation process 
through GrantsNT for the balance 
of the $2.1 million in frontline legal 
assistance funding. A panel will 
work to make allocations and have 
funding arrangements in place by  
30 September 2020.  

Department of THE ATTORNEY-GENERAL AND JUSTICE | Annual Report 2019–20  29



CRIME VICTIMS SERVICES UNIT
The Crime Victims Services Unit (CVSU) helps rehabilitate victims of crime through financial  
assistance, management of the Victims Register, and the funding and management of crisis  
counselling and support services, including support for victims of residential property crime.  
The CVSU also provides victims with policy leadership and advocacy, particularly through the Crimes 
Victims Advisory Committee (CVAC) which advises the minister. The CVSU includes the NT Redress 
Coordination Team which is responsible for administering the Northern Territory Government’s 
obligations under the National Redress Scheme for Institutional Child Abuse.

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATOR

CURRENT YEAR PREVIOUS YEARS

2019–20 
BUDGET

2019–20 
ACTUAL

2018–19 
ACTUAL

2017–18 
ACTUAL

2016–17 
ACTUAL

Victims of Crime Assistance Act 2006  
applications received 500 373  412  401 426 

Number of people on the Victims Register 100 180 188 133 126

Number of files closed 360 325 N/A N/A N/A

Number of redress training sessions conducted 40 291 N/A N/A N/A

Number of Decisions Made under the  
Victims of Crime Assistance Act 2006 500 476 389 383 213

1Numbers reduced due to the temporary halt in training under COVID-19 restrictions.

During 2019–20, the CVSU 
focused on improving its response 
to victims of crime and increasing 
the number of financial assistance 
applications processed under the 
Victims of Crime Assistance Act 2006. 
This financial year saw the fourth 
year of progressive growth in the 
number of victims paid financial 
assistance. Better coordination of 
victims’ services through stakeholder 
engagement has also been a focus 
to ensure victims are getting the full 
range of available support. CVSU has 
worked closely with Victims of Crime 
NT to enhance referral services 
between our organisations. 

The NT Redress Coordination 
Team is now well established and 
is responding to Requests for 
Information in relation to both 
government and Commonwealth pre 
Self-Government claims for redress. 
As more survivors are being provided 
redress, the team is supporting NT 
resident survivors to access  
trauma-informed and culturally 
strong counselling and psychological 
care as part of their redress package. 
The team’s role in developing 

redress policy at a national level and 
supporting the minister as a member 
of the Minister’s Redress Governance 
Board has grown. Members of the 
team have represented the Territory 
on a number of inter-jurisdictional 
committees and have supported the 
minister at national board meetings. 

Release of new Charter  
of Victims Rights
In response to a referral from the 
minister, the Crimes Victims Advisory 
Committee (CVAC) reviewed the 
previous Charter of Victims Rights 
(issued under the Victims of Crime 
Rights and Services Act 2006). After 
a wide public consultation process, 
we developed a draft revised charter 
which was formally issued by the 
minister in August 2019.  

The Charter establishes principles 
that victims must be treated fairly 
and as a priority in the justice system. 
It provides an avenue for victims to 
more effectively enforce their rights. 
The improvements to the Charter 
include:

• putting the Charter into plain 
English, allowing for it to be 
more easily communicated and 
understood by the public

• a provision for victims to have 
their rights explained to them 
in a manner and language they 
understand

• a clear right for a victim to be told 
about the release and escape from 
custody of the accused, including 
before trial and when the accused 
returns to custody

• a clear right for a victim to be told 
of their entitlement to attend any 
hearing or trial

• clear information about the 
availability of financial assistance 
for victims of violent crimes, 
requiring claims to be determined 
in a timely manner

• an updated appendix with 
contacts and information about 
what can be done in the event of a 
breach of the Charter.

STRENGTHENING  
THE JUSTICE SYSTEM
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Training program – NT 
Redress Coordination Team
During 2019–20, the NT Redress 
Coordination Team enhanced its 
leadership role in the Territory 
by implementing a best practice 
culture of trauma informed care and 
understanding vicarious trauma. 

The team has further developed and 
expanded its training program over 
2019–20. The program supports 
the operation of the National 
Redress Scheme and includes 
training modules that cover trauma-
informed care, vicarious trauma and 
understanding the impact of child 

sexual abuse. The program has been 
so successful that it has been rolled 
out beyond key redress contacts to 
government as a whole and to other 
relevant providers and members of 
the public on a cost recovery basis.

DEVELOPING AND MAINTAINING  
A CAPABLE WORKFORCE

ABORIGINAL JUSTICE UNIT
The Aboriginal Justice Unit (AJU) leads the development of the Northern Territory’s first Aboriginal 
Justice Agreement (AJA). This Agreement is a partnership between the government and Aboriginal 
Territorians to improve justice outcomes for Aboriginal people. Associated with this work, the AJU 
develops and delivers projects to improve justice services and programs to Aboriginal Territorians

On 10 September 2019, the  
government released a draft 
agreement for a further consultation 
period to confirm and clarify the 
proposed strategies and actions. 
The consultations align with the 
responsibilities and partnering 
arrangements required to deliver  
on the strategies outlined in the  
final Agreement. 

In November 2019, a second 
targeted round of consultations 
commenced. The consultations 
planned for mid-2020 were 
postponed due to COVID-19 travel 
restrictions. Further submissions 
were also received and as a result the 
deadline was extended until  
31 July 2020.

Consultations uncovered the need 
to develop projects that address 
barriers to justice for Aboriginal 
Territorians ahead of the agreement 
being finalised. This has resulted in 
a number of programs and projects 
being developed to align with the 
aims of the Agreement. While 
drafting the final version of the 
Agreement, the unit has continued  
to develop the following projects:

• Alternatives to Custody (ATC) that 
focus on residential rehabilitation 
and life skills will be trialled in two 
NT locations. One of the facilities, 

accommodates Aboriginal women 
who are in contact with, or are at 
risk of contact with the criminal 
justice system. The program 
commenced with day visits by 
female Aboriginal prisoners who 
were able to access tailored and 
targeted programs aligned with 
their offending, delivered from 
the Alice Springs ATC facility. A 
total of 86 day visits have occurred 
during 2019–20. Service providers 
include Anglicare, Money Mob, 
Northern Australian Aboriginal 
Justice Agency (NAAJA), Saltbush, 
Catholic Care NT, Ngaanyatjarra 
Pitjantjatjara Yankunytjatjara 
(NPY) Women’s Council, Drug 
and Alcohol Services (DASA) and 
Central Australian Aboriginal 
Family Legal Unit (CAAFLU), plus 
one-on-one counselling with the 
designated social worker funded 
by the Department of Health.

• The second ATC model, which  
is in the planning and development 
phase, will specifically cater for 
young males aged 17 to 25 years 
from Groote Eylandt. 

• Aligned with the Agreement 
aim of engaging and supporting 
Aboriginal leadership, the unit has 
developed a program to increase 
the number of Aboriginal  
people as Justices of the Peace 
(JPs) and Commissioners for 
Oaths (COs). In 2019–20 there 

were 193 registered JPs and  
642 COs, of whom 16 (8%) and 32 
(5%) respectively identified  
as Aboriginal. 

• The Registrar of Births, Deaths 
and Marriages (BDM) in 
partnership with the unit, has 
initiated a pilot project to provide 
BDM services to support a number 
of remote communities in the 
NT. This remote service delivery 
has now been approved as a 
permanent program, to include 
access to wills and advanced 
personal plans on behalf of the 
Public Trustee. Since the program 
commenced, the BDM team has 
made 53 visits to 34 Aboriginal 
communities and provided a total 
of 5,576 services.  

• The unit has partnered with the 
Aboriginal Interpreter Service and 
NT Police to provide recorded 
voice announcements in 20 
different Aboriginal languages  
to 64 remote and regional police 
stations. This initiative addresses 
language barriers and the lack of 
knowledge among many Aboriginal 
Territorians on how  
to navigate the emergency police 
response system.

• Since the recorded messages were 
implemented, the unit and NT 
Police have identified a significant 
reduction in calls to the triple 
zero Joint Emergency Services 

IMPROVING ABORIGINAL 
OUTCOMES
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Communication Centre (JESCC) 
(from 3,000 calls down to less than 
735 since inception). This gives 
police more time and resources to 
respond to emergency situations 
and manage non-urgent matters. 
The project helps to break down 
barriers between NT Police and 
Aboriginal communities to ensure 
that Aboriginal people have the 
confidence to navigate, access 
and understand the process of 
requesting police services in both 

emergency and non-emergency 
situations. 

• Building on this success, the AJU 
has completed a pilot project to 
give triple zero emergency call 
operators access to interpreters 
who speak Aboriginal languages. 
Since December 2019, Aboriginal 
Interpreters have undertaken 
shifts at the JESCC where triple 
zero emergency calls for police 
have been assisted with an 
interpreter over a 10-week trial 

period to improve emergency 
responses to Aboriginal language 
speakers requesting assistance. 
Over the trial phase, the three 
Aboriginal interpreters provided 
assistance and interpretation with 
over 270 emergency calls outlined 
in a report that highlighted the 
benefits of this service.

CRIMINAL JUSTICE RESEARCH AND STATISTICS UNIT
The Criminal Justice Research and Statistics Unit (CJRSU) is a shared service between this department, 
the Department of Health, Territory Families and NT Police. The unit analyses information from across 
the criminal justice system and provides statistics and analyses of justice information that would not be 
possible if each agency was limited to its own staff and data.

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATOR

CURRENT YEAR PREVIOUS YEARS

2019–20 
BUDGET

2019–20 
ACTUAL

2018–19 
ACTUAL

2017–18 
ACTUAL

2016–17 
ACTUAL

Number of briefings, statistics reports, 
analyses and data requests delivered 330 358 351 357  274

Community Elder reviewing the draft Aboriginal Justice Agreement
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The unit’s activities in 2019–20 
are reported below.

Reoffending analyses
The CJRSU produces annual 
recidivism figures for the Report on 
Government Services. These are 
used as indicators for monitoring 
progress against Territory and 
national strategies. To help in the 
evaluation of NT offender programs, 
the CJRSU has also produced 
assessments of reoffending by 
participants in the Family Violence 
Program; the COMMIT program; and 
the Women of Worth program. While 
reoffending is not the sole indicator 
of program success, the analyses may 
help identify situations or groups for 
whom the program works, as well as 
those who might need more intensive 
intervention. The unit will increase 
its capabilities in reoffending analysis 
through training in 2020–21 to 
support more work in this area.

Supporting the Aboriginal 
Justice Unit
The unit provided statistics, data 
analyses and other information to 
support the Aboriginal Justice Unit in 
their work. This included:

• statistics for developing the 
Aboriginal Justice Agreement

• considering proposed targets for 
reducing Aboriginal incarceration

• reporting against justice measures 
in the NT Aboriginal Affairs 
Strategy

• planning data needs for 
Alternatives to Custody programs.

Banned Drinker Register 
(BDR) monitoring and 
evaluation
The unit produced monthly 
monitoring reports on: 

• the number of banned individuals

• reasons for being on the BDR

• the number of individuals who had 
breached bans

• the number of take-away 
liquor transactions, including 
transactions where sale was 
denied to a person on the BDR.  

These statistics are included in 
Department of Health’s monthly 
BDR summary reports. The unit did a 
comprehensive quantitative analysis 
of data from across the justice 
system to support the externally 
led two-year evaluation of the BDR. 
The unit is involved in the long-term 
evaluation of the BDR program to 
continue building the evidence base 
on alcohol-related interventions in 
the Territory.

NT Crime Statistics
The unit has compiled and published 
the NT Crime Statistics since 2001. 
The statistics are released each 
month on the NT Police, Fire, and 
Emergency Services website. This 
year, the unit started releasing 
monthly open crime statistics 
datasets on the government’s Open 
Data Portal website to support 
researchers and others seeking 
Territory crime data in a machine-
readable format. The open dataset 
contains monthly data back to 2008 
and has more detailed data for 
regional and remote areas, to assist 
in local crime management initiatives. 
Further open datasets are planned 
for publication in 2020–21.

Other achievements
The unit prepares data and statistics 
about the Territory criminal justice 
system for a variety of internal 
and external uses. This work helps 
monitor the Territory’s progress 
on strategies designed to reduce 
domestic violence, recidivism, alcohol 
misuse, and incarceration rates,  
and includes: 

• statistics and analyses to support 
the development and monitoring 
of legislation and policy

• statistics to support the work of 
Royal Commissions

• statistics to support  
operational planning and 
monitoring, particularly for  
NT Correctional Services

• statistics for inclusion in national 
publications, such as the 
Productivity Commission’s Report 
on Government Services and the 
Australian Bureau of Statistics’ 
Corrective Services reports

• open data from the criminal justice 
system to improve transparency.

IMPROVING ABORIGINAL 
OUTCOMES

PROTECTING TERRITORIANS 
BY SUPPORTING SAFER 
COMMUNITIES
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NT Correctional Services
NT Correctional Services (NTCS) is responsible for supervising offenders in custody and in the 
community, working in partnership with other government and non-government agencies to reduce 
reoffending – increasing public safety, and supporting offenders to positively change their lives.

NTCS is comprised of three branches and one business unit and their major activities for 2019–20 are reported in the 
following sections under Custodial Services; Programs, Services and Improvements;  
and Community Corrections including the Parole Board.

In 2019–20, NTCS continued to 
progress its reform agenda, which 
included the release of the new 
Operational Philosophy, launched in 
September 2019, which states that:

• NTCS delivers safe and secure 
correctional centres, while 
fostering a healthy environment  
which delivers real opportunities 
for prisoners to positively change 
their lives, ultimately reducing 
recidivism rates and assisting in 
keeping the community safe.

• NTCS programs and services 
facilitate the provision of 
targeted criminogenic needs and 
innovative programs to address 
offending behaviours. Training, 
educational and employment 
opportunities give prisoners the 
best chance for rehabilitation and 
reintegration.

• NTCS delivers the best of 
correctional practice and adopts 
a holistic case management 
approach to every prisoner which 
will start at reception and extend 
behind the wire and into the 
community on their release. 

NTCS Reform Agenda  
and Strategic Direction
The reform agenda continues  
to focus on:

• effective and efficient  
correctional practices

• targeted offender programs  
that address criminogenic risks 
and needs

• supporting prisoners to commit 
to education, training and 
employment, and contribute  
to the community.

To achieve its agenda, NTCS business 
planning is structured around the 
following five major priorities:

1. Expanding alternative custodial 
and community corrections 
opportunities.

2. Helping offenders to address 
criminogenic needs that lead to 
reoffending.

3. Building partnerships through 
community and stakeholder 
engagement.

4. Innovation as a cornerstone of our 
services and workforce culture.

5. Developing our people through 
workforce planning and 
management.

CUSTODIAL SERVICES
Custodial Services provide a safe, secure and humane service  
that targets reoffending by addressing criminogenic needs through 
focused programs, education and training.

NTCS runs two adult correctional 
centres: Alice Springs Correctional 
Centre (ASCC) and Darwin 
Correctional Centre (DCC). 
The correctional centres house 
all classifications of offenders, 
sentenced and on remand, and 
supervised persons under 

Part IIA of the Criminal Code.

NTCS also operates the Barkly Work 
Camp in Tennant Creek and the 
Datjala Work Camp in Nhulunbuy. 
The work camps accommodate 
suitably assessed, open-rated, low-
security male prisoners. 

The use of electronic monitoring is 
one of the dynamic security  
measures in place.

PROTECTING TERRITORIANS 
BY SUPPORTING SAFER 
COMMUNITIES
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KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATOR

CURRENT YEAR PREVIOUS YEARS

2019–20 
BUDGET

2019–20 
ACTUAL

2018–19 
ACTUAL

2017–18 
ACTUAL

2016–17 
ACTUAL

Eligible prisoners engaged in  
employment programs 65% 52% 52% 53% 69%

Eligible prisoners engaged in  
education programs 75% 42%1 72% N/A N/A

Eligible prisoners participating in offender 
treatment programs 75% 70% 69% 71% 69%

1 In 2019-20 ‘Actual’ eligible prisoners was greatly impacted by COVID-19 quarantining and isolation measures, including Batchelor Institute of 
Indigenous Tertiary Education (BIITE) withdrawing their service in April 2020. Physical distancing requirements meant reduced class sizes and the incident 
at Darwin Correctional Centre on 13 May 2020 also resulted in reduced capacity within the facility for education programs.

It should be noted that while the performance measure is a percentage of eligible prisoners, the number of eligible 
prisoners has increased over time while the resources available to deliver programs has remained static.

Prisoner Statistics
The rate of prisoners returning to prison for 2018–19 was 59.4 per cent. The average number of prisoners per day in 
2019–20 was 1 730. 

Averages by location

DARWIN  
CORRECTIONAL CENTRE

ALICE SPRINGS 
CORRECTIONAL CENTRE BARKLY WORK CAMP DATJALA WORK CAMP

1 083 560 47 40

Adult Prisoner Population Data

JUNE 2020 JUNE 2019 JUNE 2018

Total prisoners in ASCC and DCC 1 644 1 620 1 634

Aboriginal 1 356 1 327 1 357

Non-Aboriginal 253 249 246

Foreign nationals 35 43 31

Men 1 538 1 505 1 520

Women 106 114 114

Work camps (male) 87 94 114

Aboriginal 82 90 109

Non-Aboriginal 4 4 5

Total prisoners in ASCC, DCC and work camps 1 730 1 713 1 748

Total adult prisoner population data is calculated using monthly daily averages rounded to the nearest whole number  
and may result in some variables with totals.

Custodial Services
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Escape and Abscond Information 

ESCAPE AND 
ABSCOND DATA

SECURE (ESCAPE) OPEN PERIMETER OPEN (ABSCOND) ESCAPES UNDER 
ESCORT TOTAL

2015–16 - 10 6 2 18

2016–17 - 9 3 3 15

2017–18 1 14 5 1 21

2018–19 - 4 4 3 11

2019–20 - 4 1 4 9

Key Points
• When a prisoner escapes and 

is arrested by NT Police, they 
are taken to a Police Watch 
House, interviewed, charged 
with escaping lawful custody and 
remanded to appear in court.

• Absconds from the Alice Springs 
Secure Care Facility are not 
included as it is a Department of 
Health-managed facility.

• Absconds from the Elders Cottage 
Facility at Darwin Correctional 
Centre are not included as these 
persons are under a community 
supervision order under the 
Serious Sex Offenders Act 2013.

• When a prisoner has absconded 
from a low security facility, they 
are returned to high security 
classification at a correctional 
centre for a determined period. 
During this time they are not given 
the same opportunities they had 
prior to absconding or escaping.

The definitions of prisoner escapes 
are as follows:

Secure perimeter escapes are 
escapes from within a secure  
prison facility/precinct regardless  
of whether or not there was a 
breach of physical barrier.

Open perimeter escapes are escapes 
from within an open prison facility 
regardless of whether or not there 
was a breach of physical barrier.

Absconds by prisoners happen:

• while on unescorted leave such as 
work release or day leave, including 
prisoners who fail to return or are 
found at unlawful locations

• while outside a prison facility 
under custodial supervision, 
like from work parties or while 
participating in activities such 
as sporting events outside the 
perimeter, but not under direct 
one-to-one supervision

• from outside the perimeter of 
the centre, but within the centre 
precinct

• walk-offs from work camps.

Escapes under escort can occur 
during either a prison-to-prison 
or prison-to-hospital transport, or 
while the prisoner is under the direct 
supervision of a correctional officer. 

An example of this is when there is at 
least one-to-one escort to a funeral 
or medical appointment. These 
are classified as a secure escape or 
abscond based on the security rating 
of the prisoner.

Australian Government 
Productivity Report on 
Government Services
Data for NTCS for 2018–19 was 
released on 29 January 2020.

Time out of cells
The Australian Government 
Productivity Report on Government 
Services (RoGS) describes time out of 
cells as ‘an indicator of government’s 
objective of providing a safe, secure 
and humane custodial environment’. 
The Northern Territory had the 
highest average time out of cell, 
in hours, out of all jurisdictions 
in Australia. This highlights our 
commitment to providing a 
humane environment for prisoners 
with employment and training 
opportunities, and programs to meet 
their criminogenic needs.  
The table below shows the average 
number of hours out of cells per  
day across Australia.

TOTAL PRISONER TIME 
OUT OF CELLS

NSW VIC QLD WA SA TAS ACT NT AUST

2018–19 8.2 11.0 9.5 11.4 8.6 7.9 9.4 12.2 9.7
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Cost per prisoner per day
Cost per prisoner is defined as 
the average daily cost of providing 
corrective services per prisoner. This 
includes net operating expenditure 
for open and secure custody 
prisoners and capital costs. The 
RoGS report noted that while a 

low or decreasing cost is desirable 
for efficient resource management, 
cost indicators are difficult to 
interpret in isolation. ‘A low cost per 
prisoner, can reflect less emphasis 
on providing prisoner programs to 
address the risk of reoffending’.

The report for 2018–19 showed  
the total net operating expenditure 
and capital cost per prisoner per 
day for the Northern Territory was 
$321.59. The average expenditure 
across the jurisdictions in Australia 
was $310.32.

COST PER PRISONER 
PER DAY

NSW VIC QLD WA SA TAS ACT NT AUST

2018–19 263.09 412.83 285.67 301.42 305.65 368.57 415.00 321.59 310.32

Official Visitors
All prisons are inspected once 
a month by an Official Visitor, 
appointed by the Minister for Justice, 
to check the treatment, behaviours 
and conditions at the centres. 

• All Official Visitor reports are 
provided to the minister.

• The majority of complaints are of 
a minor nature and addressed by 
correctional centre staff on the 
day of the visit.

• More serious complaints, such as 
systemic issues and complaints 
about misconduct or inappropriate 
behaviour by employees, are sent 
to the General Manager of the 
relevant correctional centre  
for investigation. 

• Correctional facilities have taken 
steps to educate prisoners about 
the role of the Official Visitor and 
to use internal mechanisms in the 
first instance, such as reporting 
minor issues to the sector officers.

• There was a reduced number  
of visits during 2019–20 owing 
to the COVID-19 pandemic 
restrictions and resignations of 
Official Visitors.

• Recruitment of Official Visitors for 
vacant positions is ongoing.

OFFICIAL VISITS

DARWIN 
CORRECTIONAL 

CENTRE

ALICE SPRINGS 
CORRECTIONAL 

CENTRE 

BARKLY WORK 
CAMP

DATJALA WORK 
CAMP 

Total Number of Official Visitors 2 1 0 1

Total Number of visits 8 8 0 8

Women in prison
Female prisoners make up around six 
per cent of the Northern Territory’s 
prison population and addressing 
their specific needs is important.

The Female Prisoner Representative 
Committee is an important forum for 
female prisoners, at both the DCC 
and ASCC.

During September 2019, five 
female prisoners at the ASCC 
started the practical component of a 
Certificate I in Construction and are 
employed as part of the Transitional 
Accommodation Program. They did 
theory and practical work experience 
in Horticulture.

Around 20 female prisoners at ASCC 
are employed as breakfast packers 
in the Female Industry Workshop 

which provides packs for the 
prisoner population. Prisoners are 
employed as QuickSmart (numeracy 
and literacy) Tutors to help other 
prisoners learn to read through the 
delivery of the program.

Many of the female prisoners are 
also employed in various work 
throughout ASCC as: 

• block cooks

• cleaners

• breakfast packers

• gardeners

• laundry workers.

DCC runs a female Community 
Services Work Party crew within the 
prison and prison based employment 
opportunities include:

• shop vending

• cleaning

• sports and recreation organisation

• Qantas headphone packaging 
contract

• seamstress work

• librarian

• tutoring

• carer work 

• yard work.

DCC held a special offsite Mother’s 
Day family visit with suitably 
classified prisoners at the nearby 
Howard Springs Nature Reserve.  
The special visit included a barbecue 
lunch and play time. 
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Primary Health Care (PHC) 
provide the required health care 
for the mothers and babies in the 
correctional facilities. There is a 
visiting child health nurse who 
provides the required assessments. 
PHC also provide all required 
scheduled immunisations.

DCC has a Mothers with Babies 
Facility which aims to help the 
mother to develop and maintain a 
functional relationship with her child 
pending the mother’s release. It also 
helps develop pro-social support 
networks in the community to be 
ready for their release. Continuing 
the bond between mother and child 
during imprisonment can reduce the 
likelihood of reoffending. 

ASCC does not have a designated 
Mothers and Babies facility, however 
babies are accommodated with their 
mothers in the Low Security Unit of 
the Women’s Sector. ASCC develop 
a Child Care Plan and review it based 
on the ongoing developmental needs 
of the mother and baby. Initiatives 

include purchasing baby equipment 
and attending formal child care to 
benefit the baby’s development. 
There are grassed areas for mothers 
and babies in the Female Sector.

National Corrections Day  
17 January 2020
National Corrections Day is a time 
for jurisdictions across Australia to 
come together to recognise their 
colleagues, share experiences and 
celebrate achievements. It promotes 
the positive programs being run at 
NT correctional facilities and informs 
the wider community of the role that 
NT Correctional Services plays in 
making the community a safer place.

The theme of 2020 was 
“Transforming through Correctional 
Reform”.

Awards and service recognition 
ceremonies were held at each 
correctional facility, recognising 
employees who have reached certain 
milestones in their careers with 

National Medal/Northern Territory 
Correctional Service Medal and 
associated clasps. 

You can read more about employee 
recognition and milestones in the 
Our People section.

Commissioner unveiled anti-
violence prisoner art work
Prisoners participated in an anti-
violence program with the unveiling 
of a new prisoner art work on  
17 July 2019.

The art installation project involved 
more than 30 male and female 
prisoners in DCC as part of the  
‘No More’ campaign. They were 
involved in all stages from the 
original design to the construction, 
painting, landscaping and installation.  

‘No More’ is a grassroots 
campaign founded by ABC sports 
commentator Charlie King in 2008, 
to create a future free from family 
violence.

NTCS Commissioner Scott McNairn and Charlie King at the No More art installation unveiling. The feet were painted by the male prisoners and the 
female prisoners did the ‘No More’ to family violence. 
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NTCS Commissioner, Scott McNairn 
says he is impressed by the way 
prisoners have responded to 
rehabilitation programs that are 
aimed at helping men and women 
develop ways of resolving conflict 
without violence.

The Territory has alarmingly high 
rates of violent crimes, and one 
of the highest rates of domestic 
violence in Australia. The human cost 
is enormous and impacts everyone 
from families to whole communities. 

The vast majority of prisoners  
in NT correctional facilities are there 
for crimes of violence against  
another person. 

To illustrate this, on 30 June 2020:

• there were 1 215 NT prisoners 
whose most serious offence or 
charge was a violent offence. This 
represented 74 per cent of the 
total NT prison population (1 634) 
on that date

• 1 369 (84 per cent) of the total  
NT prisoners were Aboriginal 
and 1 074 (78 per cent) of the 
Aboriginal prisoners had a violent 
offence as their most serious 
offence or charge. 

Prisoner disturbance at 
Darwin Correctional Centre
On the evening of 13 May 2020, 
22 prisoners broke free from their 
low security accommodation units. 
Over a number of hours they caused 
significant damage to a number 
of areas within the facility as they 
engaged in concerted disruptive 
behaviour. After the incident, 
closed-circuit TV (CCTV) revealed 
a further four prisoners exiting 
the low security accommodation 
area bringing the total number of 
prisoners involved to 26. 

Following the incident a NT Police 
investigation was undertaken, and 
on 30 June 2020 charges were laid 
against 21 prisoners and the matters 
remain before the court.  

Professor John Paget was appointed 
to conduct an independent review 
into the serious incident. Mr Tim 
Lyons also attended DCC, to 
supplement the independent report 
with a work, health and safety 
review of the incident at the facility.

Body Worn Camera launch
Custodial operations currently relies 
on fixed cameras in the facilities to 
capture evidence of an incident. 
NTCS is in the contractual stage to 
introduce Body Worn Cameras in its 
facilities to increase staff safety and 
assist evidence integrity.  

ASCC started the Body Worn 
Camera trial on 22 October 2019 
and the DCC trial began on  
17 February 2020. The trials 
introduced NTCS employees in 
custodial settings to new technology 
that may be implemented across 
NTCS facilities. The trials were 
an excellent opportunity for 
management and employees to 
understand and develop associated 
business processes that may be 
required within the operational 
context. The trials also gave 
employees the opportunity to see 
first-hand the potential benefits 
Body Worn Cameras can provide.

A number of scenarios were 
conducted to comprehensively test 
the Body Worn Cameras in situ at 
DCC and ASCC.

Transitional Accommodation 
Program (TAP)
In May 2016, the then Department 
of Local Government, Housing 
and Community Development 
(DLGHCD) entered into a  
$10 million funding agreement with 
the National Indigenous Australians 
Agency through the Indigenous 
Advancement Strategy, Safety and 
Well Being Program for Transitional 
Accommodation. It provided for 
NTCS to refurbish 42 public housing 
dwellings previously deemed  
beyond economic repair, bringing 

them back to the required standard 
for occupation.

A three phase program was 
developed that involved training 
in Certificate II in Construction 
conducted at the correctional 
centres with stage two giving 
hands on experience refurbishing 
the houses. Stage three entailed 
prisoners exiting custody and being 
offered an opportunity to live in 
the housing while receiving support 
services, education, training and 
employment. The program ended  
on 30 June 2020.

Twenty houses were completed 
under the program. As most people 
prefer to return to their communities 
upon discharge 16 of these houses 
were given back to DLGHCD. NTCS 
maintains four operational houses 
funded by existing grants allocated to 
two separate NGOs. Outcomes of the 
program included:

• 29 prisoners have lived in the 
Transitional Accommodation 
Projects’ accommodation.

• 185 prisoners have received 
construction training.

• 35 have completed  
Certificate II in Construction.

• 26 have achieved Asbestos 
awareness training.

• 17 female prisoners have 
completed White Card in 
Construction and horticulture 
training.

• Three prisoners who had never 
worked before incarceration were 
released with employment.
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Correctional Industries and 
Employment

Correctional Industries and 
Employment provides targeted and 
relevant employment opportunities 
to adult prisoners through the 
establishment and growth of 
prisoner industries.
The Correctional Industries  
programs provide:

• prisoners with vocational and 
employability skills

• assistance to correctional centre 
management by eliminating 
the negative and destructive 
influences of boredom through 
work and program activities

• income generated from 
correctional industries  
products, which contributes to the 
cost of operations pathways to  
post-release for prisoners.

Correctional Industries operations 
include horticulture, metal 
fabrication, creative arts, cabinet/
furniture making and textiles. The 
principal industries officer provides 
oversight to these operations.

Show events
Jewellery boxes, garden stakes, 
chopping boards, buffalo horn 
artefacts, book marks, crab pots and 
many other items were created this 
year for sale at shows and other events.

During 2019–20, Correctional 
Industries took part and sold items 
manufactured by prisoners at 
approved events, such as: Behind 
the Wire Art Exhibition, Alice 
Springs Show, Tennant Creek Show, 
Katherine Show, Darwin Show, and 
Darwin Boat and Leisure Show.

Behind the Wire Art Exhibition 2019 held at the Fannie Bay Gaol  
as part of the Darwin Festival
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Prisoner employment
COVID-19 restrictions meant that external paid and volunteer employment was ceased at the end of  
March 2020. It recommenced in early June 2020. Prisoners were provided with internal employment  
where possible, including for example block/sector cleaning, laundry, QuickSmart (numeracy and literacy)  
tutoring, yard labour and cook’s assistant.

Number of prisoners who participated in external paid and voluntary employment in the community

FINANCIAL YEAR
PAID 

EMPLOYMENT
VOLUNTARY 

EMPLOYMENT

2014–15 313 393

2015–16 355 392

2016–17 347 392

2017–18 342 388

2018–19 251 388

2019–20 159 254

External employment was suspended between March  
and May 2020 during COVID-19 restrictions which 
affected the employment figures for 2019–20.

Employment numbers have decreased during 2019–20 
for several reasons. These include COVID-19 restrictions, 
economic uncertainty for employers resulting in 
less employers participating in the program and not 
enough prisoners with open classification for external 
employment.

Snapshot: Number of prisoners employed in correctional industries activities on 2 June 2020

AREAS TOTAL

Block Workers 273

Community Support Work Party 94

Construction and Development 9

Cottage Facility 31

Creative Arts Department 12

External Employment (paid/voluntary) 49

Facilities Services 49

Goods Main store 9

Horticulture 27

Industries Production Assembly 8

Bakery (Males) 6

Industries Workshop (Females) 16

Industries Food Services kitchen 109

Industries Metal Work 33

Industries woodwork 34

Laundry 29

Textiles (Males) 10

Mechanical 6

Number Plate Factory 13

Pre-Release Work Village 2

Program 45

Prisoners engaged on day 864

Total prison numbers on day of count 1 647
Percentage engaged 52%

Unemployed 752

Refused to Work 31

As of 2 June 2020, the total number of prisoners engaged 
in employment was 864. The figures include prisoners 
from Alice Springs and Darwin correctional centres, and 
Barkly and Datjala work camps. Prisoners were engaged 
in the Paid Employment Program, Volunteer Employment 
Program, Community Support Work Program and Facility 
Services. Fifty-two per cent of prisoners were engaged.

Prisoner employment programs reflect the NTCS’ 
commitment to providing meaningful vocational 
education and training that can lead to sustainable 
employment on release back to the community. 

Community safety is paramount and NTCS conducts 
stringent assessments. High-profile prisoners, prisoners 
not cleared by correctional intelligence to work offsite 
and prisoners who are medically unfit are ineligible to 
participate in the employment programs. Government 
policy is that prisoners convicted of murder and/or sex 
offences are not cleared to work off site.
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Work camps
The aim of the Datjala (DWC) and 
Barkly (BWC) work camps is to 
break away from the usual model 
of incarceration by engaging with 
community to develop a mutually 
beneficial partnership with East 
Arnhem Land and Barkly regional 
communities. 

The work camps give prisoners the 
opportunity to be released back into 
community with vocational skills, 
employment experience, developed 
work ethics and self-confidence. 
These are all attributes that reduce 
recidivism rates.

BWC and DWC are low/open-
security work camps for male 
prisoners and can accommodate  
74 and 50 prisoners respectively.  

On 30 June 2020, there were  
43 prisoners accommodated at the 
BWC and 39 prisoners at the DWC. 

Skills development includes chainsaw, 
small motor maintenance, welding 
and metal fabrication, White Card 
and drivers’ licenses. DWC has 
introduced training for prisoners 
in traffic control (stop/slow bat) 
and weed eradication qualifications 
which are in high demand in remote 
areas. After finishing the training 
programs the work camps facilitate 
engagement with local businesses to 

provide employment opportunities 
for these prisoners. 

Barkly and Datjala work camps 
partner with local organisations to 
assist with annual events, including 
local shows, festivals and community 
events. The number of activities 
undertaken this year was reduced 
because of COVID-19 restrictions.

The DWC also partners with several 
Aboriginal organisations to provide 
support for projects such as Marine 
Debris Research with Dhimurru 
Aboriginal Corporation, the 
Homelands assistance program with 
Laynhapuy Aboriginal Corporation, 
and the annual Garma Festival with 
the Gumatj Aboriginal Corporation 
and Yothu Yindi Foundation.

Community Support  
Work Program
The Community Support Work 
Program (CSWP) does valuable 
community work in the Darwin, 
Tennant Creek, Nhulunbuy and Alice 
Springs areas. All programs provide 
reparation back to the community 
and undertake work that:

• is project based

• improves community 
infrastructure and assets

• adds value and complements other 

projects and initiatives already 
being undertaken by community 
volunteers

• is highly visible and used by the 
local community and tourists alike

• falls under the six main categories 
of heritage, environmental, 
recreation and tourism, 
community service, not-for-profit 
organisations and disaster relief.

The ASCC work programs supplied 
wood to the camping facilities for 
the police enforced border check 
points, where police are stationed 
to secure the Territory border. They 
also worked on clearing undergrowth 
and obstructions on the correctional 
centre footprint.

The Barkly and Datjala work camps 
also provide mobile work camps for a 
number of events that require bump-
in and bump-out assistance, including 
camp drafts and rodeos, plus council 
beautification tasks such as the 
clean-up of public areas and verge 
maintenance.

The CSWP operations were ceased 
at the end of March 2020 as part 
of the COVID-19 restrictions, and 
recommenced at the beginning of 
June 2020. During this time, the 
community didn’t receive any support 
services, which resulted in reduced 
outcomes for the CSWP.

Number of eligible pensioners receiving yard maintenance services from the Community Support Work Program  
1 July 2019 to 30 June 2020

ALICE SPRINGS  
CORRECTIONAL CENTRE

DARWIN 
CORRECTIONAL CENTRE

DATJALA WORK 
CAMP

BARKLY WORK 
CAMP

No. of pensioners 248 405 - 30

DWC does not have a designated community support work program and all tasks undertaken by work parties  
are counted as activities.
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Community Support Work Program data

FACILITY

NUMBER OF  
WORK PARTIES

TOTAL NUMBER OF HOURS 
COMPLETED BY THE CSWP

POTENTIAL SAVINGS TO 
THE COMMUNITY ($)

2018–19 2019–20 2018–19 2019–20 2018–191 2019–202

DCC 6 6 67 588 40 7493 1 279 441 794 198

ASCC 5 5 58 411 55 623 1 105 720 1 084 092

BWC 4 4 18 938 18 903 358 496 368 419

DWC4 CSWP provided as required 7 404 6 123 140 158 119 337

Total 15 15 152 341 121 398 2 883 815 2 366 046
1 The data is from 1 July 2018 to 30 June 2019. The $ value is calculated at $18.93/hr based on minimum adult wage for 2018–19.
2 The data is from 1 July 2019 to 30 June 2020. The $ value is calculated at $19.49/hr based on minimum adult wage for 2019–20.
3 The DCC CSWP reduced hours for 2019–20 was due to activities being suspended for a period following issues surrounding entry of contraband into DCC 
and COVID-19 when all DCC CSWP activities were suspended.
4 The Datjala Work Camp does not have a designated Community Support Work Program; therefore all tasks undertaken by work parties  
are counted as activities.

Australian Corrections Medal
The 2020 Australian Corrections 
Medal was awarded as part of the 
Queen’s Birthday Honours List.  
The Northern Territory recipient was 
Mandy Crow, Officer in Charge of the 
Datjala Work Camp.

The Australian Corrections Medal 
is awarded to a person who has 
given distinguished service as a 
correctional service member.

You can read more in the  
Our People section.

NAIDOC Week
Prisoners from the Datjala Work 
Camp designed and painted a  
banner for NAIDOC Week 2019. The 
theme for the 2019 was Treaty, Voice, 
Truth. Six prisoners worked on the 
banner. The design was to show that 
the prisoners from the Datjala Work 
Camp come from all areas of the 
Northern Territory. The banner was 
displayed at the 2019 Garma Festival.

Prisoners painting the NAIDOC banner
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PROGRAMS, SERVICES AND IMPROVEMENTS
Programs, Services and Improvement (PSI) has the lead in developing, sourcing and delivering specific 
targeted interventions to address offending behaviour, provision of the adult prisoner education  
program and correctional training as a Registered Training Organisation.

During 2019–20, PSI was responsible 
for the delivery of offender programs, 
treatment services and outside 
provider service delivery in the 
correctional centres. In communities, 
we delivered the Family Violence 
Program. PSI is also responsible 
for prisoner health liaison, prisoner 
education, staff learning and 
development, conducting trainee 
correctional officer courses as 
well as learning and development 
opportunities for experienced 
officers at the correctional centres. 

PSI supported grants management, 
operational specific human  
resources and financial business 
support services. 

From 1 June 2020, the Aboriginal 
Strategy and Coordination team 
also joined the branch. This team 
supports and delivers the Elders 
Visiting Program, holds community 
engagement activities and has 
the lead on developing Aboriginal 
strategy and policy for NTCS.  
The team were integral in  
supporting the repatriation of 
Aboriginal people from remote 
communities back home on release 
during the COVID-19 pandemic 
biosecurity restrictions. 

Some of the strategic projects PSI 
delivered during the year were:

• review of the Model of Programs/
Service delivery of assessment and 
treatment programs to prisoners

• conducting ‘defuse/debriefs’ 
with prisoners due to COVID-19 
anxiety and death in custody  
of a prisoner

• review of the Intensive Alcohol 
and Drug Program (IADP) with a 
view to adding additional modules 
about methamphetamine use

• review of the Sex Offender 
Treatment Program (SOTP)  
to incorporate content from  
the Responsibility, Safety,  
Victims Program

• review of the Responsibility, 
Safety, Victims Program (RSVP) to 
utilise much of the NT/Aboriginal 
content in the SOTP

• re-develop/update the Alcohol 
and Other Drugs (AOD) psycho-
educational program, to be run 
in both correctional centres by 
program facilitators 

• consultation and clinical advice to:  

• probation and parole officers for 
the case management of high 
risk offenders in the community

• Sentence Management team 
and Throughcare coordinators 
for case management/risk 
management of low risk 
offenders

• prepared Supreme Court 
applications under the  
Serious Sex Offender Act 2013.    

Offence based treatment 
programs
PSI is responsible for developing, 
sourcing and delivering appropriate 
interventions that address one 
or more of the eight criminogenic 
factors. The offender programs team 
apply the Risk-Need-Responsivity 
principles to determine target 
cohorts and their eligibility for 
treatment programs.  

NTCS offer a range of treatment 
and psycho-educational programs 
to address offending behaviour. 
Programs are available to male 
and female prisoners with varying 
sentence lengths. The Safe Sober 
Strong program is also available to 
people on remand. 

Eligibility for treatment programs is 
determined by a clinical assessment, 
specialised forensic assessments  
and program requirements and 
offenders are prioritised by whose 
release date is earliest. All the 
programs are run in groups, although 
individual intervention is available  
to offenders who are not suitable for 
a group program. 
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Offence based treatment programs available by centre

PROGRAM NAME

DARWIN 
CORRECTIONAL 

CENTRE

ALICE SPRINGS 
CORRECTIONAL 

CENTRE

Intensive Alcohol and Drug Program (AIDP) Yes Yes

Safe, Sober Strong Program (SSS) Yes Yes

Individual Treatment Interventions (sex offenders, high risk violent offenders) Yes Yes

Sex Offender Treatment Program (SOTP) Yes No

Sex Offender Treatment Program/Responsibility, Safety, Victims and Plans 
(SOTP/RSVP) Yes No

Violent Offender Treatment Programs (VOTP and VOTP-Moderate) Yes No

Recognising Anger, Gaining Empowerment Program (RAGE) Yes No

Family Violence Program (FVP) Yes Yes

Outside service providers also deliver 
a range of psycho-educational and 
pro-social engagement programs:

• Darwin Correctional Centre 
– Women of Worth program, 
Alternatives to Violence program, 
Prison Fellowship programs, 
Prisoner Aid programs.

• Alice Springs Correctional Centre 
– Kunga program and Drugs and 
Alcohol program.

Sex Offender Treatment Program
The Sex Offender Treatment 
Program (SOTP) is for prisoners 
assessed as high/moderate-high 
risk of future sexual offending. The 
program uses up-to-date and best 
practice methods to address sexual 
offending behaviours.

Sex Offender Treatment Program/
Responsibility, Safety, Victims,  
Plans Program
The Sex Offender Treatment 
Program/Responsibility,  
Safety, Victims, Plans program (SOTP/
RSVP) is a low intensity program 
designed to meet the intervention 
needs of low and moderate-low risk 
sexual offenders. 

Violent Offender Treatment 
Program
The Violent Offender Treatment 
Program (VOTP) is for high/moderate 
high offenders. The program 

identifies and treats the underlying 
attitudes of a person who commits 
serious acts of physical violence, 
exhibits a willingness to inflict 
harm on others and has feelings 
of justification and an attitude of 
entitlement related to doing so.

Violent Offender Treatment 
Program - Moderate
The Violent Offender Treatment 
Program-Moderate (VOTP-Mod) is 
a low intensity program designed 
to meet the intervention needs of 
moderate risk violent offenders.

Recognising Anger and Gaining 
Empowerment Program (RAGE)
RAGE is a high intensity 170 hour 
program. The RAGE Program was 
specifically designed to meet the 
needs of NT offenders who have 
been convicted of violent offences 
within family or kinship groups. The 
program is delivered in a closed 
group manner. The program modules 
target dynamic risk factors for those 
that are open to change. 

Offence related programs

Intensive Alcohol and Drugs Program

The Intensive Alcohol and Drugs 
Program (IADP) combines traditional 
psycho-educational components 
with psycho-therapeutic treatment. 
Prisoners who clearly have a chronic 
alcohol or illicit drug problem will be 

assessed for suitability to participate 
in an IADP. Most prisoners entering 
correctional facilities who exhibit 
problems with alcohol and/or drug 
use will be referred to psycho-
educational AOD programs, rather 
than the IADP.  

Safe Sober Strong Program

The Safe Sober Strong Program (SSS) 
is a useful preparatory program for 
convicted offenders who will most 
likely need to do a treatment program 
once sentenced. It is suitable for both 
sentenced and remand male and 
female prisoners. 

Family Violence Program

The Family Violence Program (FVP) 
is a psycho-educational program 
delivered by the NTCS Offender 
Development and Services branch. 
The program is delivered over a 
period of five days by two FVP 
Facilitators in consultation with local 
individuals, groups and agencies 
across the NT.

In 2019–20, 501 referrals were 
mandated by courts, magistrates 
and probation and parole officers 
following an assessment of the 
offender at the hearings.

In the past year, the FVP delivered 49 
programs in 18 community locations.
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The FVP:

• reinforces that family violence is a 
crime and is not acceptable

• challenges attitudes and 
behaviours that allow violence and 
abuse to occur

• develops capacity to accept 
responsibility for violence 
committed

• allows offenders to remain in 
community while learning and 
practising skills and strategies to 
reduce the likelihood of violent 
behaviour.

The FVP is delivered in all 
communities across the Northern 
Territory as well as the Alice Springs 
and Darwin correctional centres.

Prisoner health
This year has seen both Alice Springs 
Correctional Centre (ASCC) and 
Darwin Correctional Centre (DCC) 
Department of Health (DoH) Primary 
Health Care (PHC) centres witness 
continued growth in Telemedicine. Of 
course, the unprecedented pandemic 
event of COVID-19 tested the two 
services’ ability to work together 
which was an exercise in excellent 
collaboration and co-operation. 

Highlights:
• cooperation and collective 

response in responding to 
the COVID-19 pandemic and 
development of COVID-19 
contingency plans

• finalising of the Memorandum of 
Understanding (MOU) between 
DoH and NTCS 

• finalisation of the Joint Prisoner 
Health Strategic Plan

• several NTCS directives were 
collaboratively updated and 
developed through the NTCS and 
DoH Quality meetings

• successful implementation of 
prisoner self-possession of 
medication embedded into core 
practice in ASCC

• greater uptake of Telehealth

• introduction of client  
feedback forms. 

Use of Telehealth at ASCC
New Telehealth equipment was 
installed at ASCC for specialist 
consult appointments.  
This was part of a cost saving 
efficiency program, aimed at reducing 
health care costs associated with 
early intervention, better use of 
correctional resources and time 
associated with prisoner escorts and 
transport to health facilities.

The main reason for increased 
Telehealth is to increase prisoner 
access to the right specialist care.  

Self-possession model introduced 
into ASCC
The goal of the self-possession model 
promotes prisoner independence 
that can continue after release and 
back in community through safe self-
medication.

Prisoner Health Feedback on 
facilitation and management

In reaching out to vulnerable prisoner 
populations with low literacy levels 
the Prisoner Health team has 
introduced a form, separate from 
the medical request form, designed 
to capture service delivery feedback 
only. The new form:

• provides the opportunity to view 
and provide feedback

• encourages suggestions  
from users

• reduces issues around uploading 
‘complaints’ which on the previous 
form was difficult when both 
the medical request and service 
delivery feedback were on the 
same form

• allows prisoners with low literacy 
to supply their name and Primary 
Health Care can bring them to the 
clinic for verbal feedback

• outcomes of feedback governs 
continuous quality improvements 
in the health centre.

Aboriginal Strategy and 
Coordination Branch

Elders Visiting Program  
Annual Forum
The delivery of the Elders Visiting 
Program (EVP) annual and regional 
forums for 2019 provided an 
opportunity for over 60 Elders 
from 20 remote NT communities 
to actively engage in discussions 
with justice service providers. 
The forums brought together 
stakeholders from legal services, 
NT Police, non-government service 
providers delivering through-
care services, Alcohol and Drug 
rehabilitative services along with 
internal stakeholders such as 
Community Corrections, staff 
from the Programs, Services and 
Improvement branch and through-
care staff. These are open discussions 
about local justice matters, working 
towards empowering Aboriginal 
leaders to take responsibility for 
local decision making and ensuring 
better outcomes. The 2020 forums 
were temporarily cancelled due to 
COVID-19 with plans in place to 
reschedule. 

Awards to Elders on  
Corrections Day
National Corrections Day pays 
tribute to staff within the correctional 
industry and recognises our hard 
work and commitment to keeping 
communities safe.

On 17 January 2020, eight Elders 
from the EVP were awarded the 
Aboriginal Leadership Award. The 
award is recognition for their service 
which includes leadership and 
education on cultural matters, to our 
staff and prisoners, through prison 
visits, forums, cultural awareness 
training, program development, and 
support provided to community 
circuit courts. This program is 
integral to enhancing cross cultural 
understanding and communication 
across the NTCS and improving the 
outcomes for Aboriginal people  
in the NT.

46   Department of THE ATTORNEY-GENERAL AND JUSTICE | Annual Report 2019–20



Murrinh-patha pilot program at 
Darwin Correctional Centre
The goal of the Murrinh-patha pilot 
program was to give prisoners a 
more positive outlook during their 
sentence and on their return to 
country. This was achieved through 
the creation of digital story telling 
using the Book Creator app on an 
iPad. Using their own language gave 
prisoners a sense of empowerment 
and the opportunity to contribute 
to the design of the digital stories, 
with a focus on bush knowledge 
and terminology and prison life. 
The majority of prisoners were 
highly engaged with the project and 
showed learning in areas like spelling. 
Prisoners quickly developed digital 
literacy skills, a willingness to share 
ideas and create content that moved 
between Murrinh-patha and English 
in their explanations of ideas.

The Murrinh-patha pilot program 
was a partnership with NTCS and 
Nguluyguy Margaret Perdjert, Senior 

Murrinh-patha woman, Nguvudirr 
Jeremiah Tunmuck, Murrinh-patha 
speaker and Dr John Mansfield, 
Lecturer in Linguistics, University  
of Melbourne. 

COVID-19 Response 
Biosecurity travel restrictions to 
remote communities were introduced 
in response to COVID-19 to protect 
people in remote communities. 
These restrictions initially prevented 
prisoners being able to return home 
at the end of their sentence. 

The Aboriginal Strategy and 
Coordination team played a major 
role in overcoming the obstacles for 
prisoners and offenders on Parole/
Community Supervision Orders 
returning to their home communities. 
The team found a solution while 
adhering to biosecurity laws.

The team was influential in having 
key stakeholders recognise 
correctional centres as being a 14 day 
quarantine station as the first step. 
The team then negotiated with key 
stakeholders, transport providers, 
health providers, land councils and 
the reintegration teams within the 
correctional centres to help develop 
seamless plans in what was otherwise 
a challenging situation.

The team pulled together and worked 
with stakeholders, supporting 
communities and Elders to get 
155 offenders back to their home 
communities between April and  
June 2020.

Elders Visiting Program T-shirt 
competition 
In 2019–20, prisoners across the 
correctional centres were invited to 
participate in the design of the 2020 
EVP shirts. There was a large number 
of entries from across the centres. 
The Elders chose four designs for the 
program to represent their regions. 
The winners received a shirt printed 
with their design. Local NT company, 
Curby’s NT Pty Ltd, have printed the 
shirts and are enthusiastic to keep 
working with NTCS in local designs 
and working with prisoners.

Elders receiving recognition during National Corrections Day

Back row L-R: Peter Gillard, FVP facilitator, Luke Tipuamantumirri, Tiwi Islands CPPO,  
Mathew Mckenzie Groote Eylandt EVP, Pirrawayingi Tiwi Island EVP,  
Margeret Friel, Commissioner Scott McNairn, Tony Sievers – MLA Member for Brennan

Front row L-R: Jody Clarke Remote Community Engagement Officer, Juanita Jones A/Director 
Aboriginal Strategy and Coordination, Bernadette Nethercott Maningrida  
Community Based Interpreter
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Number of prisoners accessing visiting Elders in 2019–20

CORRECTIONAL FACILITY
NUMBER OF PRISONERS 
ACCESSING ELDERS VISIT

Alice Springs Correctional Centre 270

Barkly Work Camp 36

Darwin Correctional Centre 420

Datjala Work Camp 3

Total 729

Elders Visiting Program events for 2019–20

LOCATION COMMUNITY MONTH EVENT

DCC Katherine, Beswick, Ngukurr, 
Borroloola July NAIDOC

BWC Barkly July NAIDOC

ASCC Santa Teresa, Ntaria, Papunya,  
Ali Curung, Amplilatwatja July NAIDOC

Katherine Katherine August Regional Forum - cancelled

Alice Springs Central/Barkly September Regional Forum

Darwin Wadeye, Tiwi Islands October Cultural Awareness Training to 
Trainee Correctional Officers

Darwin Saltwater/Gulf November Regional Forum

Tiwi Islands, Groote Eylandt, 
Maningrida December Cultural Awareness Training to  

NTCS staff

Prisoner education

Prisoner education and training 
programs
Lack of education and poor work 
history are two of the eight 
criminogenic factors that NTCS 
addresses through prisoner 
education and training.  

Providing Vocational Education 
and Training programs in adult 
custodial facilities as part of prisoner 
rehabilitation is an opportunity for 
prisoners to reduce their educational 
disadvantage. This increases the 
likelihood of successful reintegration 
into the community and reduces the 
risk of reoffending.

The barriers in completing education 
and training courses include 
limited education and employment 
experience, language barriers, low 
levels of literacy and numeracy,  
and the shorter sentences of six 
months or less.  

Participation rates for prisoners for the reporting period were:

GENDER TOTAL PARTICIPATION

Female 102

Male 707

ABORIGINAL STATUS

Yes 687

No 122

NOTE: Overall participation rates for the 2019–20 are sourced from the Integrated Offender Management System. 
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Batchelor Institute of Indigenous 
Tertiary Education (BIITE) is engaged 
under a Service Level Agreement as 
the main provider for education at 
Alice Springs and Darwin correctional 
centres for literacy and numeracy and 
trade-based VET courses. During the 
course of the agreement, there have 
been over 700 BIITE qualifications 
completed in Darwin and over 350 

completed in Alice Springs.  
Of the total number of prisoners who 
completed at least one certificate 
in the reporting period, 64 per cent 
were Aboriginal and/or Torres Strait 
Islander and 14 per cent were female. 

There were significantly less White 
Card courses delivered as the 
long term prisoner that delivered 

these was required to update his 
qualification (Certificate IV Training 
and Assessment) via distance 
learning. He is expected to  
complete his updated qualification  
in July 2020.

Batchelor Institute Accredited Certificate and Short Course completions for 2019–20 

COURSE LOCATION COMPLETED INCOMPLETE OPEN TOTAL

Darwin Correctional Centre     

Construction White Card 43   43

Chainsaw Operation 4 4

Cert I in Access to Vocational Pathways 27 6 10 43

Certificate I - Business 10   13 23

Certificate II - Business 7 4 11

Certificate I – Visual Arts 18  1  19

Certificate II - Visual Arts 7  7

Safe Food Handling Skill Set - FSS 32  1  33

Certificate I in Agrifood operations 1  3  4

Certificate I in Engineering 19  4  23

Prepare and Serve Espresso Coffee 9   9

Certificate II in Kitchen Operations 1 1

Certificate II – Family Wellbeing 24 24

Certificate IV in Training and Assessment 8 8

Darwin Correctional Centre Total 202 19 31 252

Alice Springs Correctional Centre  

Forklift 6   6 12

Cert I in Access to Vocational Pathways 6 1 7

Certificate I - Visual Art 7 15 7 29

Construction White Card 18  14 32

Certificate II - Visual Art 4 9 5 18

Certificate I in Construction   15 15

Alice Springs Correctional Centre Total 41 25 47 113

Grand Total 243 44 78 365
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QuickSmart Programs
QuickSmart is a non-accredited 
literacy and numeracy intervention 
program held at the Alice Springs 
and Darwin correctional centres by 
the University of New England. If 
prisoners don’t meet the eligibility 

criteria for accredited training 
courses, they can follow this 
pathway. The participation and level 
completions are listed below.

During COVID-19 restrictions, the 
University of New England staff 
continued to provide programs to a 

reduced number of prisoners due to 
physical distancing requirements in 
program rooms. In the last quarter  
of the reporting period, the 
QuickSmart program was 
significantly impacted by the damage 
to the education rooms at the  
Darwin Correctional Centre.

DARWIN CORRECTIONAL CENTRE COMPLETE INCOMPLETE OPEN TOTAL

QuickSmart – Subtraction 12 37 8 57

QuickSmart - Addition 25 33 7 65

QuickSmart - Level 1 Words 8 8 1 17

QuickSmart - Level 2 Words 14 11 1 26

QuickSmart - Level 3 Words 9 7 7 23

QuickSmart - Essential Words 8 34 8 50

QuickSmart - Multiplication 7 9 5 21

QuickSmart - Division  2 2

Darwin Correctional Centre Total 83 139 39 261

ALICE SPRINGS CORRECTIONAL CENTRE

QuickSmart - Level 3 Words 22 9 31

Alice Springs Correctional Centre Total 22 9 31

Grand Total 105 148 39 292

Work camps
Accredited short courses undertaken at work camps are sourced through local providers.

COURSE LOCATION COMPLETED INCOMPLETE TOTAL

Datjala Work Camp

Chainsaw operation 19 19

Outdoor Power Equipment servicing 19 19

Construction White Card 6 6

Bob Cat 1 1 2

Total 45 1 46

Barkly Work Camp

Construction White Card 54 1 55

Chainsaw operation 26 1 27

Small Motors 32 32

Safely Working at Heights 33 33

Manage and Plan (Concreting) 10 10

Total 155 2 157

Grand Total 200 3 203
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Higher Education / Vocational Education

The University of Southern Queensland (USQ) is the external higher education learning solution offered  
at ASCC and DCC. The university and NTCS sourced Australian Government funding to provide the day-to-day 
support for uploading assignments and provision of laptops to prisoners. 

SEMESTER START END COURSE 
ENROLMENTS

NUMBER OF 
STUDENTS

S1 2019 25-02-2019 12-07-2019 15 11

S2 2019 15-07-2019 22-11-2019 50 20

S3 2019 18-11-2019 28-02-2020 6 4

S1 2020 24-02-2020 10-07-2020 0 0

S2 2020 13-07-2020 20-11-2020 33 13

Notes for all prisoner education tables:
1. This data refers to course participation in the period 1 July 2019–30 June 2020 and is sourced from IOMS.

2. Accredited is defined as participation in accredited education and training courses under the Australian 
Qualifications Framework.

3. ‘Open’ covers courses that are still underway.

2019 NT Training Awards
On 21 September 2019, the NT 
Correctional Services Commissioner, 
Mr Scott McNairn MBA, accepted 
the winner’s certificate and trophy 
for the Industry Collaboration Award 
at the NT Training Awards 2019 with 
the Batchelor Institute of Indigenous 
Tertiary Education Chief Executive 
Officer, Professor Steve Larkin. The 
institute is NT Correctional Services 
education partner.  

The Industry Collaboration 
category recognises exemplary skills 
development collaboration between 
an employer/industry body and an 
organisation delivering nationally 
accredited training.

Our partnership with BIITE provides 
accredited and non-accredited 
training in the two main correctional 
facilities in areas such as foundations 
skills for employment, laundry, 
horticulture, food services, metal 
fabrication, carpentry, business and 
visual arts. 

The integrated training model 
incorporates peer learning, where 
prisoners with trade backgrounds can 
complete a Certificate IV in Training 
and Assessment to deliver the course. 
It applies the ‘Both-Ways’ philosophy 
using both Aboriginal and Western 
ways of learning. 

The commitment to providing 
opportunities for prisoners to 
transform their lives through 

education and training is a shared 
vision to provide foundational skills 
that align with external employment 
requirements. 

On accepting the award, 
Commissioner McNairn said:

“There is a massive challenge to 
address the rates of Aboriginal 
imprisonment we face in the 
Territory and it requires a whole of 
government and NGO coordinated 
approach to tackle this”.

“Being selected as the winner and even just a finalist gives 
us confidence that we are taking the right approach to the 
rehabilitation of prisoners and we are confident that greater 
things will come” - Commissioner, Scott McNairn.
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COMMUNITY CORRECTIONS
Community Corrections provides assessment, monitoring and supervision services to community-based 
adult offenders to ensure compliance with orders issued by the courts and the Parole Board.

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATOR

CURRENT YEAR PREVIOUS YEARS

2019–20 
BUDGET

2019–20 
ACTUAL

2018–19 
ACTUAL

2017–18 
ACTUAL

2016–17 
ACTUAL

Community Work Orders successfully 
completed 72% 70% 79% 72% 71%

Number of community work hours 30 000 16 628 27 020 27 643 29 760

Community Corrections has five 
regional offices and three remote 
offices. There are also two single 
officer placements in Jabiru and 
Borroloola, which are counted as 
part of the Palmerston and Katherine 
regional office staffing structures. 
There are five other remote locations 
with office space available for visiting 
Community Corrections staff. 

Community Corrections supervision 
is founded on graduated case 
management, and the risk, need, 
responsivity principles. Staff are 
involved in the preparation of 
court assessments, parole reports, 
breach applications, remote travel, 
circuit court attendance, electronic 
monitoring and stakeholder liaison. 

Fines Recovery Unit/ 
community work trial
In February 2020, a trial process 
to assist in debt recovery started in 
Katherine. The trial, established by 
Katherine Community Corrections 
and the Fines Recovery Unit allows 
people to work off their fines through 
community work. Seven people have 
signed up to this trial, with two of 
these working off around $4 140. 

AGD audit 
In response to a critical incident 
that occurred on 4 June 2019, the 
Chief Minister on 5 June 2019 
requested an urgent review into the 
monitoring of parolees and people 

subject to electronic monitoring and 
its legislation, policy and directives. 
The review looked at whether this 
was practiced in accordance with the 
Offender Management Framework 
and considered whether electronic 
monitoring was operating as an 
effective tool. 

The review did not identify  
any serious issues in the management 
of parolees or community-
based offenders on electronic 
monitoring. The review made eight 
recommendations drawing  
attention to: 

• ensuring alcohol and drug testing 
and electronic monitoring 
resources are focused on 
monitoring compliance of higher 
risk offenders

• ensuring administrative tasks  
are completed

• streamlining recruitment 
processes for Probation and 
Parole Officers 

• increasing Community Corrections 
capacity to conduct alcohol and 
drug tests and audits. 

A project to implement the eight 
recommendations commenced in 
August 2019. Implementation of the 
recommendations continues.

Local Decision Making 
initiative 
The Big Rivers region is working 
with Aboriginal organisations 
under the government Local 
Decision Making initiative including 

working with parties who signed 
up to Multi Agency Partnership 
(MAP) Agreements with regional 
stakeholders and the Department of 
the Chief Minister. Community Work 
Coordinator, Graham Campbell, was 
part of the local decision making 
talks with Walangeri Ngumpinku 
Aboriginal Corporation in Yarralin.  
As a result of this work, the 
corporation will now include 
community work in their business 
plan to offer alternative to prison 
options when the Yarralin Court sits. 

Treatment and support 
services for offenders  
on the COMMIT Program 
The COMMIT Program is aimed 
at reducing both incarceration and 
recidivism rates by keeping offenders 
in the community under strict 
supervision, where they can engage 
with rehabilitative services and 
pro-social activities. It is available to 
offenders sentenced to a suspended 
sentence of imprisonment and 
prisoners released on parole.

The program is based on the 
principles of ‘swift, certain and fair’ 
justice, as outlined below:

• Swift – the offender attends court 
(or is arrested and brought before 
the court) as soon as possible (i.e. 
ideally within 72 hours) after the 
breach is detected and a relatively 
short sanction is immediately 

STRENGTHENING  
THE JUSTICE SYSTEM

IMPROVING ABORIGINAL 
OUTCOMES
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imposed by the court (generally 
two to seven days in custody).

• Certain – offenders and their 
families, probation and parole 
officers and legal counsel are 
aware that a breach will result in 
a sanction of a pre-determined 
range. The sanction matrix 
is communicated at an initial 
warning hearing in open court 
at which the judge impresses 
on each probationer the 
importance of compliance and the 
certainty of the consequences 
for non-compliance, as part of 
a speech emphasising personal 
responsibility, accountability and 
the hope of all involved that the 
probationer will succeed.

• Fair (or Proportionate) – the 
sanctions are perceived to be fair 
and reasonable by the offender, 
probation and parole officers, as 
well as legal counsel, in light of 
the alternative which may see the 
sentence restored in its entirety 
(or alternatively, no sanction 
imposed at all).   

Community Corrections has funded 
services through grants under the 
COMMIT program since 2017. 
Grant funding was provided in three 
streams: residential treatment beds, 
counsellors, and other support 
services in Darwin, Katherine, 
Tennant Creek and Alice Springs.

The funding continued in 2019–20 
to increase the range of dedicated 
services supporting the COMMIT 
program, and to people who are 
subject to other community based 
sentences. 

Supported accommodation 
services of offenders and 
prisoners  
Access to stable and supported 
accommodation is a significant factor 
in achieving successful reintegration 
of prisoners to the community.  
The Pre and Post Release Supported 
Accommodation Program was 
established in 2012 to address  
this need.

The successful partnership in  
Alice Springs with Anglicare NT, 
OutCARE post-release service, 
received a Commissioner’s 
Commendation for their  
outstanding assistance to offenders 
and parolees at the National 
Corrections Day 2020. OutCARE 
manage four houses and provide 
accommodation and reintegration 
support services to male prisoners 
and offenders. Together with the 
two houses managed by Mission 
Australia in Darwin, these supported 
accommodation services have had 
a significant positive impact on 
reintegration to the community, 
linking with employment and training, 
providing living skills, and supporting 
independent living through case 
management and support.

Community work  
case studies 
It is a common theme amongst 
community work participants to 
report that completing an order 
makes them feel proud and that they 
gained a lot from the experience. 

• FL has been attending a 
community garden to undertake 
community work to pay off  
$21 847 in fines. She has enjoyed 
the work so much that she plans 
to continue volunteering with the 
organisation once her fines are 
paid off. 

• MB undertook his community 
work at a church; the young man 
worked fulltime and was able to 
attend the church in the evening 

to assist with boxing classes and 
on the weekend to assist with 
maintenance jobs. The church’s 
pastor gave feedback that she was 
very pleased with the gates and 
fences the offender had painted 
and the shelves he had made using 
his own welding equipmentThe 
offender has completed his order 
but continues to attend the 
evening boxing classes. He said 
that doing community work made 
him realise how irresponsible he 
had been and highlighted the value 
in helping others. 

Staff achievements 
A condition of the reclassification 
of Probation and Parole Team 
Leader positions from AO6 to AO7 
included a requirement for all Team 
Leaders to complete the Certificate 
IV in Correctional Practice. Team 
Leader, Ken James, from Wadeye 
completed this in 2020. He also 
received a Letter of Commendation 
from the Commissioner for working 
with Wadeye families and Darwin 
Correctional Centre for successful 
repatriations of people back to their 
home in community upon release.

You can read more about our 
employee achievements in the  
Our People section.

RSPCA
A community work crew completed 
a project with community work 
partner RSPCA to brighten up their 
new garden area. The community 
work crew cut out a range of animal 
silhouettes from wood, sanded them 
back and painted them in the RSPCA 
colours of blue and green ready to 
hang in the garden area. The RSPCA 
were extremely happy with the work 
undertaken by the crew and the end 
result of the garden. 

PARTNERING FOR IMPROVED 
JUSTICE OUTCOMES

BUILDING COMMUNITY TRUST
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Building awareness and 
education within the 
community 
Katherine Community Corrections 
has undertaken several successful 
projects in 2019–20. These include:

Venndale Rehabilitation Centre 
• painting office rooms 

• building fire barrels

Katherine Museum Community 
Gardens Restoration Project 
• planting vegetable gardens

• initiating a nursery/propagation 
project to propagate cuttings and 
put plants back into gardens

• clearing out overgrown plants  
and obstructions

• restoring children’s sandpit 

• reshaping/trimming hedge maze

• path repairs 

Chief Minister’s Office school 
holiday project 
• fairy doors

Katherine Speedway 
• building a ‘pit’ registration table 

from pallets (approx. 3m x 1m)

• building and installing a servery 
bench and cupboards for canteen 
(Note: Materials donated by 
CTCM PTY LTD – total value of 
project would equate to around  
$5 000)

Sportsground field preparation/
maintenance 
• marking out of soccer field

• sandpit refurbishment

• measuring out and marking of 
8-lane athletics track.

Katherine Speedway cabinetry work by community work participants

Katherine sportsground maintenance being completed by a community work participant
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River corridor ‘Woody Weed’ 
program 
• The Weed Management Branch, 

Department of Infrastructure, 
Planning and Logistics approved 
for corrections to work on two 
parcels of land to eliminate specific 
weeds. The Community Work Site 
Supervisor worked with Weeds 
Management personnel to identify 
target weeds so the program can 
be run more efficiently through 
community work. The site 
supervisor provides data on weeds 
through the NT WeedMate App. 

Other achievements

Arnhem Land Progress Aboriginal 
Corporation 
Arnhem Land Progress Aboriginal 
Corporation (ALPA) signed up 
as a community work partner in 
December 2019. ALPA has stores 
and Community Development 
Programs (CDP) in the Peninsula 
region, Elcho Island, Milingimbi, 
Ramingining, Gapuwiyak and 
Gunbalanya. ALPA has said they 
are pleased with the progress made 
through community work and have 
been relaying the community work 
message to their contacts at NAAJA 
and Legal Aid to encourage the use of 
the program in remote communities. 

Two community work participants 
completed their community work 
hours at the ALPA store in Milingimbi 

and have since been employed 
full time with the store. The shop 
managers are very pleased with  
their work.  

Daly River Council 
Daly River Council signed up as a 
community work partner in February 
2020. Daly River Council agreed to a 
partnership and included community 
work in their business plan. As there 
is only one other project available 
in Daly River, this is a huge success 
for the community. A broad range of 
community work opportunities will be 
available including gardening, general 
maintenance, meals on wheels, client 
activities and events. 

Construction of fairy doors for Chief Minister’s Office school  
holiday program

Construction of pit registration tables for Katherine Speedway
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PAROLE BOARD
The Parole Board of the Northern Territory is an independent statutory body established under section 
3A of the Parole Act 1971. The board consists of 18 members, who act independently to make decisions 
about the parole of prisoners in the best interests of the community, the offender and the victim.

Board members are supported by the secretariat and operational and administrative employees within NTCS  
and more information is available on the Parole Board’s website.

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATOR

CURRENT YEAR PREVIOUS YEARS

2019–20 
BUDGET

2019–20 
ACTUAL

2018–19 
ACTUAL

2017–18 
ACTUAL

2016–17 
ACTUAL

Number of parole matters considered 1 050 1 506 1 344 985 938

PROFESSIONAL STANDARDS UNIT
The Professional Standards Unit is a central referral point for all matters concerning the code  
of conduct, allegations or incidents of fraud, complaints and compliance audit services.  
The unit conducts preliminary investigations into reported fraudulent behaviours and refer  
matters for external investigation as necessary.

COMPLAINTS AND FORMAL  
DISCIPLINARY ISSUES 2019–20 2018–19 2017–18 2016–17

Complaints 
     Alice Springs Correctional Centre 80 26 26 24

     Darwin Correctional Centre 240 128 106 105

     Community Corrections 3 1 0 2

     Other 2 1 3 0

Formal disciplinary issues 21 14 23 31

Compliance audits 30 47 51 51

Freedom of Information requests 190 96 n/a n/a

DEVELOPING AND MAINTAINING  
A CAPABLE WORKFORCE

Increase in complaints partly attributable to COVID-19, also the issues  
arising from the 13 May 2020 incident at DCC.

The unit has seen a dramatic increase in Freedom of Information requests.  
This is in part through increased awareness.
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Courts and Tribunal Support Services
The Courts and Tribunal Support Services (CTSS) group delivers support services to the Judicial Officers 
of the Supreme Court, Local Court, Coroner’s Office, tribunals, Fines Recovery Unit and the Community 
Justice Centre in carrying out their judicial, quasi-judicial and administrative functions.

By virtue of the doctrine of the separation of powers, the judiciary is independent of the executive arm of government. 
Judges exercise their powers independently and are not employees of the department or the wider Northern Territory 
Public Sector (NTPS).

The group’s major activities for 2019–20 are reported below.

HIGHER COURTS
Courts and Tribunal Support Services provides processing and appropriate case-flow management  
for the higher courts, including the Supreme Court and courts of appeal.

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATOR

CURRENT YEAR PREVIOUS YEARS

2019–20 
BUDGET

2019–20 
ACTUAL

2018–19 
ACTUAL

2017–18 
ACTUAL

2016–17 
ACTUAL

Cases lodged
     criminal 500 579 553 660 566

     civil 450 258 500 450 478

Sitting days 
     criminal 800 1 023 888 1 232 1 150

     civil 170 246 189 197 200

Finalisation of cases within 12 months
     criminal 90% 93% 91% 97% 88%

     civil 90% 88% 90% 82% 85%

During February 2020, the Supreme 
Court of the Northern Territory’s 
new website went live. The new 
website is simpler to navigate, 
mobile-friendly and easier on the eye. 
All Supreme Court decisions dating 
back to 1986 have been put online 

in MS Word format. Previously they 
were only online as non-text PDFs. 
The website upgrade was essential 
as the old website’s technology was 
outdated and incompatible with 
a new server upgrade. It followed 
the upgrades to the Local Court 

and Northern Territory Civil and 
Administrative Tribunal (NTCAT) 
websites.

STRENGTHENING  
THE JUSTICE SYSTEM
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LOWER COURTS AND TRIBUNALS
Courts and Tribunal Support Services (CTSS) provides processing and appropriate case-flow management 
for the lower courts, tribunals and other statutory offices.

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATOR

CURRENT YEAR PREVIOUS YEARS

2019–20 
BUDGET

2019–20 
ACTUAL

2018–19 
ACTUAL

2017–18 
ACTUAL

2016–17 
ACTUAL

Criminal cases lodged
     major centres 10 500 9 121 10 941 11 096 12 176

     circuit courts 3 500 2 869 3 658 3 839 3 943

Civil cases lodged 4 800 4 328 5 178 5 204 5 442

     Sitting days - all NT courts 2 400 2 617 2 483 2 529 2 653

     Sitting days - circuit courts only 350 316 386 392 400

Finalisation of cases within six months
     criminal 90% 79% 83% 82% 84%

     civil 90% 99% 93% 95% 94%

Finalisation of coronial cases within  
12 months 60% 82% 71% 69% 79%

Alice Springs Local Court refit 
and Specialist Approach to 
Domestic Violence 
Major renovations at the  
Alice Springs Local Court continued 
throughout 2019–20 and were 
very near completion at the end 
of financial year. The court now 
has five courtrooms with upgraded 
technology, with separate lift access 
for the public, persons in custody, 
victims and vulnerable witnesses. 
One courtroom is specifically 
designed to allow victims complete 
visual separation from defendants 
and their families, at the choice 
of the victim. A multipurpose 
courtroom with a round table format 
is now used for care and protection 
and most youth justice matters.

The renovations support the 
Specialist Approach to Domestic 
Violence described on page 26. 
The Specialist Approach has been 
developed based on extensive 
consultation with local stakeholders 
over several years and draws upon 
local, national and international 
expertise in domestic and family 

violence (DFV) to craft a tailored 
court response to people impacted by 
DFV in Central Australia. 

The Specialist Approach aims to 
protect people and vulnerable 
witnesses from further trauma 
and promotes access to justice. 
The approach supports victims 
of domestic and family violence 
to have a greater voice in court 
matters involving them. Domestic 
and family violence related matters 
are expedited to reduce the victim’s 
trauma and increase their safety. 

This year, a new position of 
Domestic Violence Registrar was 
created to assist in coordinating 
domestic and family violence matters 
before the court. They also facilitate 
risk assessment and management 
by local services for some offenders 
and for victims identified as being at 
high risk of future violence. 

More elements of the Specialist 
Approach will begin in the coming 
months after the commencement 
of the provisions of the Justice 
Legislation Amendment (Domestic and 
Family Violence) Bill 2019. 

The Specialist Approach to Domestic 
Violence is a three year pilot project 
and will be subject to internal and 
external evaluation and review.

Family Law Pilot
The Family Law Pilot began in the 
NT Local Court on 4 March 2019. 
The pilot is a trial of the local court 
exercising family law jurisdiction 
in limited circumstances. The pilot 
aims to improve access to justice 
for families with complex needs by 
allowing the Local Court to make 
family law orders for families already 
before the court under the Care and 
Protection of Children Act 2007 (NT).  

The Family Law Pilot was originally 
intended to run until 30 June 2020. 
The Northern Territory and the 
Commonwealth Governments  
have agreed to extend it until  
31 December 2020. The extension 
will also expand the scope of the pilot. 
Geographically, the pilot will now 
include the whole Northern Territory, 

STRENGTHENING  
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if parties are prepared to have their 
matter case managed from the 
Darwin Registry of the Local Court. 
Previously, the pilot only included 
Darwin and Katherine. 

The pilot will now be expanding into 
the domestic violence jurisdiction. 
The Family Law Pilot Judicial 
Registrar is now presiding over the 
Local Court’s domestic violence lists 
in Darwin. This move is designed to 
capture a wider range of data on the 
intersection between the Family Law 
Courts and the Northern Territory 
Local Court. The Judicial Registrar 
is working to identify matters where 
the domestic violence order being 
sought is inconsistent with a family 
law order. When appropriate, the 
Judicial Registrar will then facilitate 
orders to revive, vary, discharge 
or suspend an existing family law 
order. The Judicial Registrar now 
also facilitates information sharing 
between the Local Court and the 
Family Law Courts in domestic 
violence matters.

Project Zola
Since May 2017, the Commonwealth 
and Northern Territory Governments 
have trialled the installation of 
video-conferencing facilities in 
remote circuit court houses and 
police stations. Video-conferencing 
facilities were established for 
vulnerable witnesses in civil and 
criminal court proceedings in remote 
communities including Borroloola, 
Wadeye, Tennant Creek, Yuendumu, 
Alyangula, Lake Evella and Alyangula. 
In 2019–20, the final two project 
Zola sites were installed in Yarralin 
and Nhulunbuy. 

Darwin Local Court security 
and foyer upgrade
The Local Court foyer renovations 
are now complete, seeing the Local 
Court now equipped with:

• a wheelchair accessible  
front counter

• new form executing desks for  
the public

• one directional security.

The stakeholder office on the ground 
floor has also been improved to 
make it soundproof. 

ODYSSEY Civil Go-Live 
ODYSSEY is the case management 
system for courts providing 
electronic processing of court 
matters. Civil configuration of the 
ODYSSEY Case Management System 
is now finished and all court staff 
and judges did four weeks of training 
in October 2019. The system went 
live in court rooms and registries 
in December 2019. Active files 
were seeded into the new system in 
November 2019. 

Whilst there were a few initial 
challenges for users as they became 
familiar with the system, the roll-out 
went smoothly, with Local Court 
Judges now using the system in court 
rooms and their chambers. 

The Department of Corporate 
Information Services VERITAS 
implementation team responsible  
for the ODYSSEY system are now 
co-located with the police Serpro 
team in Darwin Plaza to begin 
criminal configuration. 

COVID-19 response
In response to the COVID-19 
pandemic, the Northern Territory 
Local Court introduced a range of 
measures including:

• development and implementation 
of a practice direction on electronic 
filing during COVID-19. It aimed 
to limit unnecessary physical 
interactions and provided for 
electronic filing in all Local Court 
Jurisdictions.

• the temporary suspension of 
circuit courts while biosecurity 
restrictions were in place. Matters 
listed were heard at the closest 
centre, Darwin, Katherine or Alice 
Springs on the date as listed. 

• counsel appearances by audio 
visual link or telephone

• closure of court cells

• conducting hearings only when the 
defendant is in custody

• introduced measures to deal with 
civil lists electronically

• the development of a Virtual 
Court Guide to allow parties to 
participate in court proceedings 
via a range of technologies 
including telephone, smart phone, 
tablet, laptop and audio visual link. 
The guide helps practitioners  
and self-represented litigants 
prepare for and participate in 
court proceedings.

Local Court Judicial Registrars case 
management lists could proceed 
as usual, using an online video 
conferencing platform. This included 
brief pre-hearing conferences and 
Settlement Conferences in excess of 
two hours in duration. The platform 
allows participants to dial in by either 
phone and video. 

Using both an online video 
conferencing platform and the online 
ODYSSEY case management system 
made it easier to work from home 
and eased the physical distancing 
stress on court staff who stayed at 
Nichols Place in Darwin. Practitioners 
gave positive feedback, and we will 
continue using the online platforms 
for pre-hearing conferences for 
expediency and cost savings.

Between March and June, the 
Darwin Judicial Registrar hosted  
81 hearings, around 66 hours, 
averaging seven meetings a week 
and 50 minutes per meeting.
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COMMUNITY JUSTICE CENTRE
The Northern Territory Government established the Community Justice Centre (CJC) to provide  
dispute resolution services that are effective, promote empowerment, integrity and are respectful  
of diversity. The centre’s work is detailed below.

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATOR

CURRENT YEAR PREVIOUS YEARS

2019–20 
BUDGET

2019–20 
ACTUAL

2018–19 
ACTUAL

2017–18 
ACTUAL

2016–17 
ACTUAL

Mediations 80 61 68 69 35

Presentations 79 4 19 27 9

Client satisfaction 100% 98% 94% 85% 98%

Community education and awareness 
session delivered 20 4 11 29 4

NORTHERN TERRITORY CIVIL AND ADMINISTRATIVE TRIBUNAL
The Northern Territory Civil and Administrative Tribunal (NTCAT) has jurisdiction over  
high-volume areas, including the Residential Tenancies Act 1999, Small Claims Act 2016 and  
Guardianship of Adults Act 2016. 

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATOR

CURRENT YEAR PREVIOUS YEARS

2019–20 
BUDGET

2019–20 
ACTUAL

2018–19 
ACTUAL

2017–18 
ACTUAL

2016–17 
ACTUAL

Cases lodged 2 800 2 001 2 785 2 325 3 479 

Cases finalised 2 200 2 154 2 202 1 370 2 204

Clearance rate 90% 107% 90% 59% 64%

Mental Health and Related 
Services Act 1998
The NTCAT had administrative 
responsibility for the Mental Health 
Review Tribunal under the Mental 
Health and Related Services Act 
1998 until 3 June 2020 when it 
was repealed and its jurisdiction 
transferred to NTCAT.

STRENGTHENING  
THE JUSTICE SYSTEM

NTCAT electronic  
hearing books
From February 2020, the registry has 
produced a ‘hearing book’ one week 
before complex hearings. The hearing 
books contain all materials, including 
NTCAT orders and evidence filed by 
both parties, in one document and are 
bookmarked and paginated.  
The hearing books are provided to 
the parties and tribunal.  
During the hearing the parties and 
tribunal rely on the hearing book 
to ensure everyone is following the 
proceedings and on the same page. 
NTCAT has had positive feedback 
from tribunal users who have found 
the hearing books helpful to prepare 
for the hearing and invaluable during 
the hearing. 

NTCAT remote participation
Parties are generally expected to 
attend in person at the tribunal for 
listings. Previously a party granted 
leave to appear remotely would 
participate by phone. The tribunal 
is now encouraging parties who 
have leave to appear remotely 
to participate via online video 
conference rather than phone. The 
Form 3 – Ordinary Application has 
been updated to include a tick box 
for application to appear by video 
conference. This enables remote 
participants to more fully participate 
in the proceeding including viewing 
the electronic hearing book screened 
in the hearing room from their 
personal device.   
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NTCAT Divisions established
On 10 February 2020, President 
Bruxner established three divisions 
of NTCAT: 

• the Civil Claims Division

• the Human Rights Division

• the Review and Vocational 
Division. 

This structure has helped streamline 
the management and administration 
of NTCAT’s increasingly broad and 
diverse jurisdictional load. It also 
enables members to be assigned to sit 

as a member in a particular division 
and to appear as a representative for 
a party in a different division, which 
allows  a wider range of lawyers to be 
appointed as an ordinary member of 
the NTCAT. 

FINES RECOVERY UNIT
The Fines Recovery Unit (FRU) takes payments from those who pay their fine or penalty by the due  
date and performs enforcement and recovery action against those who do not pay by the due date.

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATOR

CURRENT YEAR PREVIOUS YEARS

2019–20 
BUDGET

2019–20 
ACTUAL

2018–19 
ACTUAL

2017–18 
ACTUAL

2016–17 
ACTUAL

Fines and penalties paid in full 60 000 54 131 55 674 56 500 54 576

Fines and penalties clearance rate 80% 91% 85% 79% 77%

Enforcements processed 
     court fines 8 000 6 503 7 948 7 636 8 868

     infringement penalties 30 000 23 286 28 591 33 782 34 549

Enforcements fully paid within 12 months
     court fines 15% 15% 15% 16% 18%

     infringement penalties 50% 43% 48% 52% 52%

Client satisfaction 90% 94% 96% 93% 97%

Centralising services – 
Darwin Local Court  
Criminal Registry
In September 2019, the FRU 
relocated its face-to-face service 
delivery to the Darwin Local Court 
Criminal Registry front counter at 
Zone A Nichols Place. By centralising 
FRU services at the Criminal 
Registry clients can now pay their 
court fines or enter into payment 
arrangements before leaving the 
Local Court precinct. Through the 
new centralised service FRU staff are 
also providing Justice of the Peace 
services to the public and responding 
to queries from Local Court users.

Community work orders – 
working off outstanding  
fine debt
In December 2019, Community 
Corrections in Darwin and Katherine, 
the unit and the Katherine Local 
Court held a workshop in Katherine 
to explore ways to increase the 
number of fine defaulters under 
Community Corrections’ supervision 
who were working off their 
outstanding fines debt. Referrals  
of likely candidates for FRU 
community work orders began in 
February 2020 and as at  
30 June 2020, 18 community work 
orders have been issued to work  
off debt totalling $99 000. 
COVID-19 restrictions during 
March and April 2020 meant some 
temporary suspension of work.  

As restrictions are lifted, the working 
off a fine debt is increasing along 
with new referrals.

STRENGTHENING  
THE JUSTICE SYSTEM

PARTNERING FOR IMPROVED 
JUSTICE OUTCOMES
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Director of Public Prosecutions
The Director of Public Prosecutions (DPP) delivers independent public prosecution services to the 
Northern Territory and provides witness and victim support services during the criminal justice process.

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATOR

CURRENT YEAR PREVIOUS YEARS

2019–20 
BUDGET

2019–20 
ACTUAL

2018–19 
ACTUAL

2017–18 
ACTUAL

2016–17 
ACTUAL

Number of new matters 9 400 9 312 8 998 9 686 9 214

Finalisations
     Supreme Court pleas 450 356 389 418 426

     Supreme Court trials 60 50 55 64 69

     Supreme Court withdrawn 40 35 22 22 45

     Local Court hearings/pleas 7 000 6 498 7 037 6 738 6 483

     Local Court withdrawn 800 461 585 814 814

     Appeals at all levels 60 60 83 59 63

Findings of guilt (including guilty pleas)
     in Supreme Court 94% 97% 98% 97% 96%

     in Local Court 98% 97% 97% 97% 97%

Convictions after trial/hearing 97% 91% 92% 97% 97%

Witness Assistance Service clients 1 730 1 855 1 891 2 216 1 934

COVID-19 response
COVID-19 has had a significant 
impact on how the DPP conducts 
business. Our initial focus was on 
ensuring the safety and wellbeing of 
all DPP employees and arranging for 
those identified as being at greater 
risk, to work remotely. 

It provided an opportunity to 
redesign workflows and procedures  
by creating the capacity for all staff 
to work remotely, if required. DPP 
operations are predominantly paper-
based, so all case materials needed 
to be digitised. Key DPP staff  
worked closely with police and 
courts to develop processes 
for receiving and disseminating 
information electronically. 

Material disclosed to defence also 
needed to be electronic. Initially 
this caused a number of issues for 
the NT Legal Aid Commission and 
Northern Australian Aboriginal 
Justice Agency (NAAJA) due 

to integration challenges with 
information technology systems. 
By working together some of these 
issues were overcome by providing 
NAAJA and some defence counsels 
with data storage hardware to access 
case materials. Semi-automated 
processes were developed to 
provide information in a format 
which was easy to access and 
regularly update. This new electronic 
process was a positive change, 
increased efficiencies within the  
DPP and its ability to disclose 
material earlier in proceedings.

A plan was in place to move DPP 
to an electronic platform under 
the ODYSSEY project in late 2021. 
The processes developed during 
COVID-19 provided an opportunity 
to modify our work practices and 
improve efficiencies. DPP is now 
well placed to transition to the new 
case management system under the 
ODYSSEY project.

The teamwork displayed by all 
DPP employees during these 
unprecedented times has been 
amazing. Everyone played their 
part to overcome the difficulties 
associated with moving from a paper 
based to an electronic workplace in 
a short space of time. Relationships 
with key stakeholders such as 
police, NT Legal Aid and NAAJA 
were also strengthened through the 
process with all parties committed 
to achieving effective outcomes that 
met everyone’s needs. 

It has not been an easy process and 
there are new challenges on a daily 
basis, but DPP employees have 
been up to the task and the changes 
introduced were immediate and will 
have a lasting and positive impact on 
DPP operations.  

You can read more about our 
activities on the DPP website.
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Some of the DPP team members responsible for implementing changes during COVID-19, L-R: Mark Seiler, Senior Summary Prosecutor;  
Erin McAuley, Managing Summary Prosecutor; Karen Le Bretton, Professional Legal Assistant Supervisor/Trainer; Klein Taborada,  
Frontline Services Officer
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Independent Offices
The independent offices work to ensure an equitable society that protects peoples’ legal rights and 
property interests and makes written laws available to the public.

According to the Administrative Arrangements Order issued under the Interpretation Act 1978, the department is 
responsible for general and financial administration of the independent offices. A report on the management of this 
is included in this annual report.

More information about the operational activities of independent office, including their annual reports are available 
and linked from the department’s website.

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATOR

CURRENT YEAR PREVIOUS YEARS

2019–20 
BUDGET

2019–20 
ACTUAL

2018–19 
ACTUAL

2017–18 
ACTUAL

2016–17 
ACTUAL

Community education and awareness 
delivered (sessions) 30 87 65 83 70

Complaints conciliated 50% 57% 57% 60% 52%

Public awareness/community-based events, 
development of educational resources and 
training (hours)

80 312 425 269 184

Complaints (includes complaints carried over) 200 250 171 154 217

Complaints closed within 8 months of receipt 50% 90% 98% 100% 95%

Community Visitor Program

Issues resolved/referred 60% 79% 70% 65% N/A

Complaints and enquiries received 320 333 319 320 674

Visits (All) 156 147 157 169 357

Community Visitor Panel visits 6 3 6 6 8

Community Visitor inspections and visits 150 144 151 163 349

Contact made within one working day 
of request 100% 100% 100% 99% 97%

ANTI-DISCRIMINATION COMMISSION AND COMMUNITY 
VISITOR PROGRAM
The Anti-Discrimination Commission provides anti-discrimination education, training and public 
awareness to the private and community sectors, government and the general community. The 
commission also accepts, conciliates and evaluates complaints for referral to the Northern Territory 
Civil and Administrative Tribunal.

The Community Visitor Program (CVP) provides monitoring, complaint resolution and advocacy services for people 
detained and receiving care under the Mental Health and Related Services Act 1998 and Disability Services Act 1993. 
The program also makes and monitors recommendations on systemic issues, such as interpreter use and  
seclusion reduction.
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COVID-19 response
During the COVID-19 restrictions, 
the Land Titles Office adopted a 
more flexible approach in relation to 
technical requirements associated 
with land transactions in cases 
where execution of documents for a 
witness had been severely impacted 
by the pandemic. The Births, Deaths 
and Marriages Office were able to 
arrange for office staff, who were 
vulnerable or had vulnerable family 
members, to work from home. This 
was very successful and there was 
no impact on the high standard of 
service delivery for our clients.

Online searching in the Land 
Titles Office
Online searching for the general 
public is in the final stages of testing. 
Implementation is in progress and 
completion is expected later in 2020. 
This will enable the general public 
to search the Land Titles Register at 
home, on personal devices e.g. mobile 
phones and with payment made by 
credit cards.

Office of Births, Deaths 
and Marriages remote and 
regional circuit program
The Office of Births, Deaths and 
Marriages has continued its remote 
and regional circuit program, and 
visited 10 remote communities 
and processed 1 182 applications 
this year. This program is on hold 
following the COVID-19 pandemic 
and rescheduling of the service is to 
be considered later in 2020.

IMPROVING ABORIGINAL 
OUTCOMES

REGISTRAR-GENERAL
The Office of the Registrar-General registers dealings with land and other property, powers of attorney, 
births, deaths, marriages and changes of name and sex/gender.

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATOR

CURRENT YEAR PREVIOUS YEARS

2019–20 
BUDGET

2019–20 
ACTUAL

2018–19 
ACTUAL

2017–18 
ACTUAL

2016–17 
ACTUAL

Records maintained 1 583 000 1 575 048 1 554 479 1 532 674 1 507 907

Land Title and Birth, Deaths and Marriages 
registrations 24 000 20 506 21 439 24 299 24 895

Searches 700 000 553 864 616 519 867 790 746 097

Client satisfaction 98% 98% 99% 97% 98%

Life event certificates issued within 24 hours 98% 98% 97% 98% 98%

Life events registered within 72 hours 99% 99% 98% 99% 99%

Land dealings and instruments registered 
within 48 hours 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%
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Transfer of financial management functions for represented persons under adult  
guardianship orders
In 2019–20 the transfer of financial management from the Office of the Public Guardian to the Public Trustee was 
progressed and completed. There were 425 matters transferred (representing a 210 per cent increase in trust matters 
under Public Trustee management). 

CHILDREN’S COMMISSIONER
The Children’s Commissioner deals with complaints related to the Children’s Commissioner Act 2013, 
monitors the administration of the Care and Protection of Children Act 2007, and promotes understanding 
of the rights, interests and wellbeing of vulnerable children.

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATOR

CURRENT YEAR PREVIOUS YEARS

2019–20 
BUDGET

2019–20 
ACTUAL

2018–19 
ACTUAL

2017–18 
ACTUAL

2016–17 
ACTUAL

Complaints and enquiries handled 200 166 1881 216 300

Complaints and enquiries finalised 200 160 223 216 300

Complaints assessed within 28 days 100% 90% 93% 93% 98%

Community education and awareness 
delivered (sessions) 85 66 38 54 44

1 Complaints and enquiries handled figures represent matters handled within 28 days per the Children’s Commissioner Act 2013, Part 4, Division 2,  
section 23(3).

PUBLIC TRUSTEE
The Office of the Public Trustee provides will-making and registry, trustee and estate administration 
services, and manages restrained and forfeited property under the Criminal Property Forfeiture Act 2002.

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATOR

CURRENT YEAR PREVIOUS YEARS

2019–20 
BUDGET

2019–20 
ACTUAL

2018–19 
ACTUAL

2017–18 
ACTUAL

2016–17 
ACTUAL

Estates and trusts finalised

     Deceased estates finalised 120 125 100 107 97

     Trusts finalised 100 115 77 104 120

Deceased estates active 140 172 185 176 169

Finalised deceased estates

     within 12 months 65% 50% 47% 55% 73%

     within 24 months 85% 77% 86% 89% 91%

Trusts active 600 1021 601 561 559

Wills prepared 200 218 209 228 206

Client satisfaction 90% 92% 98% 97% 98%
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OFFICE OF THE PUBLIC GUARDIAN
The Office of the Public Guardian provides guardianship information, advocacy, education, research, 
investigation and support to the Northern Territory community.

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATOR

CURRENT YEAR PREVIOUS YEARS

2019–20 
BUDGET

2019–20 
ACTUAL

2018–19 
ACTUAL

2017–18 
ACTUAL

2016–17 
ACTUAL

Individuals under adult guardianship 1 011 1 106 1 039 977 890

Aboriginal people under adult guardianship 556 632 598 548 543

Financial management orders to the  
Public Guardian 0 0 426 450 397

Percentage of represented adults with  
face-to-face contact 60% 52% N/A N/A N/A

IMPROVING ABORIGINAL 
OUTCOMES

Transfer of financial 
administration 
The successful transfer of financial 
administration from the Office of the 
Public Guardian to the Public Trustee 
demonstrates effective stakeholder 
and interagency communication and 
collaboration. This was a complex 
operation and is a reflection of the 
professionalism and dedication of  
our employees. 

Systemic advocacy and a 
modern guardianship model
The office has been working on a 
modern guardianship model through 
systemic advocacy. We are focusing 
on changes to legislation, policies 
and practices that uphold the human 
rights and interests of people with 
impaired decision making capacity. 

The key focus areas include:

• promoting the introduction of 
legislation that makes appointing a 
guardian for health care decisions 
less restrictive

• the reduction of the use of 
restrictive practices by  
introducing an authorisation  
and monitoring framework  
across all service sectors 

• refocusing guardianship practices 
with a strong emphasis on 
supported decision making.

Aboriginal Territorians  
and guardianship 
The office has identified providing 
guardianship for Aboriginal 
Territorians as a key strategic priority. 
We are cognisant of the importance 

of working collaboratively with 
Aboriginal organisations to ensure 
that guardianship services in the 
NT are responsive to the needs of 
Aboriginal people, engage Aboriginal 
people effectively in guardianship and 
achieve the best possible outcomes 
for represented persons. 

During 2019–20 the office and the 
North Australian Aboriginal Justice 
Agency met to consider a process for 
documenting barriers and learnings 
to ensure that guardianship was 
inclusive of Aboriginal people.
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HEALTH AND COMMUNITY SERVICES COMPLAINTS COMMISSION
The Health and Community Services Complaints Commission (HCSCC) contributes to high-quality, 
responsive, person-centred health, disability and aged-care services. We resolve complaints between 
users and providers of health and community services, recommend improvements to the standard 
and quality of service delivery, and encourage awareness of the rights and responsibilities of users and 
providers of health and community services.

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATOR

CURRENT YEAR PREVIOUS YEARS

2019–20 
BUDGET

2019–20 
ACTUAL

2018–19 
ACTUAL

2017–18 
ACTUAL

2016–17 
ACTUAL

Complaints and enquiries closed1 96% 103% 98% 102% N/A

Enquiries and complaints received 900 772 929 824 823

Enquiries and complaints closed 900 797 909 843 795

Complaints resolved within 180 days  
of receipt 80% 83% 86% 76% 87%

Assessment completed within 60 days 85% 62% N/A N/A N/A

Average time to finalise enquiries (days) 14 9.6 N/A N/A N/A
1 Complaints and enquiries closed are as a proportion of complaints and enquiries received.

Regulatory Services
A balanced policy and regulatory framework that supports industry, business and community needs.

In 2019–20 a restructure occurred to bring together Consumer Affairs, Licensing NT and NT WorkSafe to create  
a more streamlined regulatory services function to the community.

The division’s major activities in 2019–20 are reported below.

NT CONSUMER AFFAIRS
Northern Territory Consumer Affairs (NTCA) provides a regulatory framework to inform the community 
about consumer rights and responsibilities and promotes responsible business conduct.

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATOR

CURRENT YEAR PREVIOUS YEARS

2019–20 
BUDGET

2019–20 
ACTUAL

2018–19 
ACTUAL

2017–18 
ACTUAL

2016–17 
ACTUAL

Total number of actions to assist Territorians  18 550 18 979 20 079 21 658 17 152

Enquiries received 17 000 15 206 16 623 18 479 16 138

Consumer and business actions 970 1 495 1 401 1 386 669

Compliance actions 880 2 278 2 055 1 793 345

NTCA provides a regulatory 
framework for consumers and 
traders, including residential and 
business tenancies and residential 
building disputes. The framework 
encourages responsible business 
conduct. We aim to ensure that 

business practices are equitable 
through consumer compliance and 
enforcement work. Consumers 
are encouraged to build a greater 
awareness of their consumer rights 
and responsibilities. NTCA receives 
complaints from consumers, 

investigates those complaints, 
and offers advice and conciliation. 
One of the main roles of NTCA is 
education. We provide consumer 
and business information to promote 
positive consumer experiences in 
the Territory. 
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Outreach program
The COVID-19 biosecurity area 
and wet season restrictions limited 
the NTCA outreach to Aboriginal 
communities this year. However, 
our social media presence increased 
and the re-development of the 
NTCA website promoted a range 
of relevant educational consumer 
affairs information to all Territorians. 

COVID-19 response
The COVID-19 pandemic and the 
resulting restrictions put some 
Territorians into financial difficulties. 
This resulted in the modification of 
the Residential Tenancies Act 1999 
and the Business Tenancies (Fair 
Dealings) Act 2003 to assist tenants 
and landlords for the duration 
of the health emergency period. 
Both tenants and landlords were 
encouraged to work together to 
enable people to remain in their 
homes and businesses. Territorians 
were encouraged to contact our 
call centre to discuss how these 
modifications affected their 
situation. Thirty per cent of all 
residential tenancy enquiries were 
COVID-19 related and then  
28 per cent of those calls were 
enquires about hardship  
provisions as defined in the 
Modification Notices.

Information and education 
for consumers and business
The NTCA website has been 
redeveloped to be more user friendly 

and to include more relevant and 
comprehensive information for 
local consumers and businesses. 
The NTCA Facebook page has been 
invaluable in reaching Territorians. 
The page engagement has nearly 
doubled from last year to almost  
500 000.  

Deputy Commissioner Sandy Otto 
conducted monthly ABC Radio 
interviews that involved listeners 
calling in to ask their own consumer 
questions. These segments are 
very effective in communicating 
with Territorians and giving them 
an opportunity to learn more about 
their consumer and residential 
tenancy rights and responsibilities. 

We hold regular information sessions 
with real estate agents and private 
landlords to inform them of their 
rights and responsibilities under 
the Residential Tenancies Act 1999. 
This year, 34 sessions were held for 
agents and private landlords. 

We also visited traders across the 
NT, providing advice on the role of 
NTCA and business requirements 
of the Australian Consumer Law 
and other legislation. This year we 
visited over 950 businesses. This 
program also includes visits to the 
electorate offices of all Members of 
the Legislative Assembly to provide 
advice on the role of NTCA in 
the community and to encourage 
engagement with NTCA. 

Compliance and 
investigations
An area of focus for the NTCA 
compliance unit this year was the 
detection and investigation of a 
series of fake websites offering big-
ticket items such as caravans, mobile 
homes, boats, and farming equipment 
for sale at greatly discounted 
prices. Through the efforts of the 
compliance team, many of these scam 
websites were successfully shut 
down even though the domain hosts 
were based off-shore. The NTCA 
Facebook page was an important tool 
in alerting consumers to the dangers 
that these scams pose in an attempt 
to minimise the number of victims 
and financial losses. 

NTCA administers the mandatory 
fuel price reporting scheme, MyFuel 
NT. Through the MyFuel NT website 
and web application, fuel prices for all 
registered fuel outlets are published 
in real time across the Territory. 
The MyFuel NT system provides 
consumers access to real-time 
fuel pricing information from their 
internet-connected device, allowing 
fuel price comparison to assist in 
making informed decisions about 
where to purchase fuel anywhere in 
the NT.

Regular onsite visits are conducted 
at fuel outlets across the Territory 
as well as contact with more 
remote outlets through desktop 
monitoring to audit scheme reporting 
compliance.

More information about the 
activities of NTCA, including the 
commissioner’s annual report, is at 
NT Consumer Affairs website. 

Sandy Otto, Deputy Commissioner  
Consumer Affairs
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LICENSING NT
Licensing NT administers the Territory’s licensing regimes for a range of gambling, liquor, racing, building 
related occupations and consumer and trading activities. Licensing NT aims to minimise potential harms 
to the community through a systematic, risk-based program of compliance monitoring activities so our 
available resources can be targeted to higher priority risk areas. Licensing NT also administers funding 
support for gambling-related research, amelioration programs and community projects. 

Additionally, Licensing NT provides secretariat, administrative and investigative support to multiple statutory and 
delegated functions, as well as several statutory commissions and boards. These include the Liquor Commission, the 
Racing Commission and the Agents Licensing Board.

Over 36 000 licences and permits are administered by Licensing NT, under 23 different pieces of legislation. 

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATOR

CURRENT YEAR PREVIOUS YEARS

2019–20 
BUDGET

2019–20 
ACTUAL

2018–19 
ACTUAL

2017–18 
ACTUAL

2016–17 
ACTUAL

Community Benefit Funding used  
to benefit community 90% 98% 97% 97% N/A

Active licences administered 80% 88% 97% 97% N/A

Compliant liquor licensed premises 90% 95% 99% 98% N/A

Compliant Incorporated Associations 70% 65% 64% 56% N/A

More information about the operational activities of Licensing NT, including their annual reports are available and 
linked from the department’s website.

Alcohol harm minimisation
On 1 October 2019, the new Liquor 
Act 2019 and Regulations 2019, came 
into force. This was one of the most 
important tasks recommended in the 
Riley, T, Alcohol Policies and Legislative 
Review Final Report (October 2017) 
and referred to as the Riley Review. 

To implement the reform, 
government, non-government 
organisations and industry worked 
together to build a solid legislative 
framework to regulate liquor in the 
Northern Territory and ultimately 
minimise harm caused by alcohol.

To date, we have implemented  
182 of the 219 recommendations 
in the Riley Review. Implementation 
of a further 36 recommendations 
has begun and are expected to be 
complete in the near future and one 
recommendation requires further 
planning.

Major initiatives completed include:

• In April 2020, Professor  

Peter Miller of Deakin University 
presented his summary report 
from a 12 month evaluation on 
the minimum unit price (MUP) 
introduced on 1 October 2018. 
It indicated that MUP is having a 
positive impact with declines in 
alcohol related assaults, road traffic 
crashes, sobering-up shelter and 
hospital admissions, ambulance 
attendances and child protection 
notifications. Professor Miller did 
note that the positive outcomes 
could not all be attributed to the 
introduction of the MUP as this 
measure was part of a suite of 
interventions that also included the 
Banned Drinker Register (BDR) and 
Police Auxiliary Liquor Inspectors, 
all of which have contributed to a 
reduction in alcohol-related harms 
in the community. The MUP will 
be independently evaluated three 
years after its introduction.

• Complete roll-out of Police 
Auxiliary Liquor Inspectors to 
regional areas including Alice 

Springs, Tennant Creek and 
Katherine.

• Release of the first Northern 
Territory Foetal Alcohol Spectrum 
Disorder (FASD) Strategy by 
the Department of Health in 
collaboration between NT 
Police and Licensing NT. This is 
underpinned with a service level 
agreement and demand study for 
alcohol treatment services in the 
Northern Territory.

• A new Code of Practice for 
Responsible Promotion and 
Advertising of Liquor for referral 
to the Liquor Commission 
for endorsement. Following 
endorsement, compliance with the 
code will be a requirement for all 
licensees selling liquor for on-
premises consumption.

• A suite of Community Impact 
Assessment Guidelines for various 
licence application types. They 
consider the potential community 
impacts depending on which liquor 
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licence is sought. The guidelines 
will be referred to the Liquor 
Commission in July 2020 and then 
forwarded to the minister  
for endorsement.

• The conversion of approximately 
540 current liquor licences (except 
continuing special licences) to 
new licensing authorities as set 
out in the Liquor Act 2019 and 
resulting from a Riley Review 
recommendation. Of the 
converted licences around  
420 have been issued to 
licensees. The 120 remaining 
licences will be issued to licensees 
before 1 October 2020.

• Preparation work for the 
introduction of annual licence  
fees that come into effect in 
January 2021. Licensees must 
be given an estimate of their 
annual fee by 1 October 2020. 
Around 40 per cent of the 
estimates for current liquor 
licences are complete. The rest 
will be completed well before the 
statutory deadline.

• The cancellation of 14 liquor 
licences under section 67 of the 
Liquor Act 2019 which says that 
where a licensee has ceased to 
operate licensed premises for 
more than six months without 
the approval of the director, the 
licence is deemed to have been 
abandoned. A further eight are in 
the process of being cancelled. 

Banned Drinker Register  
in regional areas
Several communities in the Territory 
require individuals to have an alcohol 
permit to purchase take-away alcohol. 
Before someone can buy alcohol in 
these nominated communities, the 
licensee must check that they have a 
current valid and appropriate permit 
before selling them alcohol.

All in-person permit checks are on a 
Banned Drinker Register (BDR) Point 
of Sale (POS) device, configured to 
check permits. The attendant scans 
an approved form of ID using the 
POS and then checks the permit 
electronically.

Permit checks for remote orders such 
as, a Darwin hotel selling to a remote 
community, are done via a manual 
print out of active permits. 

Next, Licensing NT want to 
implement new functionality so 
that remote permit checks can be 
completed online in the same way as 
the BDR online checks. BDR online 
checks are completed by entering 
names and dates of birth or by bulk 
uploading a CSV file, which is a plain 
text file, and allows the checking of 
numerous permits in one transaction. 

Liquor compliance
On 1 October 2019, the new Liquor 
Act 2019 came into effect. The new 
Act replaced the Director-General of 
Licensing with the Director of Liquor 
Licensing, who along with the Liquor 
Commission is responsible for the 
administration and enforcement of the 
Liquor Act 2019.

There are 502 trading licensed 
premises across the Territory. 
Compliance officers carry out 
compliance activities based on risk 
assessment, compliance history and 
where there are inspection targets.  

Non-scheduled compliance activities 
are both proactive and reactive and can 
involve compliance officers working 
with licensees, providing assistance and 
education to ensure positive  
and long-term compliance outcomes. 
Operational visits are combined with 
compliance monitoring. Visits include 
monitoring licenced venues to ensure 
they comply with licence conditions 
and the Liquor Act 2019. Compliance 
and enforcement activities are done  
to ensure that Territorians and 
visitors to the Territory enjoy safe 
and responsible liquor service 
environments that minimise and 

mitigate liquor-related harm.

The preferred regulatory 
approach allows the use of 
resources and decision-making 
processes to achieve successful 
compliance, building the capacity 
of licensees without the need 
for formal enforcement action. 
Compliance officers work closely 
with stakeholders including law 
enforcement agencies, community 
organisations and members of the 
community to actively promote 
safe and enjoyable venues where 
alcohol is available for sale and/or 
consumption.

COVID-19 response
As a result of COVID-19, on  
23 March 2020, all pubs, clubs 
and other non-essential indoor 
venues across Australia closed in an 
Australian Government led response 
to the pandemic. The Director 
of Liquor Licensing exercised his 
emergency powers to authorise a 
number of directions to licensees 
in relation to the operations of 
licensed premises. These variations 
included additional conditions to 
allow take-away liquor sales with 
take-away meals. The emergency 
conditions prohibited patrons 
purchasing take-away liquor while 
in a commercial passenger vehicle 
and required licensees to be satisfied 
that customers had a lawful place to 
consume the liquor. These conditions 
aimed to prevent social gatherings in 
public places.

In April 2020, senior compliance 
officers were appointed as Health 
Inspectors under the Public and 
Environmental Health Act 2011. 
Compliance officers from the Darwin 
and Alice Springs offices were 
seconded to Environmental Health 
to help conduct checks on people in 
mandatory quarantine and audits on 
premises throughout the Territory. 
When restrictions eased in June, 
compliance officers returned to their 
nominal duties with Licensing NT.

PROTECTING TERRITORIANS 
BY SUPPORTING SAFER 
COMMUNITIES
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Licensing breaches
In 2019–20, the Director of Liquor 
Licensing referred 12 complaints 
to the Liquor Commission for 
disciplinary action. Eight of those 
matters have been finalised, while 
the remaining matters are waiting for 
hearing dates to be finalised.

These complaint matters relate to:

• the licensee or staff failing to 
remove or exclude a person who is 
drunk from the premises

• breach of licence conditions

• failure to use the Banned Drinker 
Register (BDR).  

Penalties issued to the affected 
licensees have ranged from the 
suspension of the licensee’s liquor 
licence, variation of licence conditions 
or monetary penalties. The Liquor 
Commission has imposed significant 
penalties for licensees found to have 
breached the BDR requirements 
including the suspension of the 
licence. In one case, a licence was 
suspended for 28 days after finding it 
had failed to use the BDR on  
more than 10 000 occasions over 
four months. 

The Director of Liquor Licensing 
has also issued infringement notices 
and a letter of warning to licensees 
for compliance matters relating to 
breach of licence conditions or the 
licensee or staff failing to remove  
or exclude a drunk person from  
the premises.

Licensed motor vehicle 
dealers
There are 81 licensed motor vehicle 
dealers in the Territory, licensed 
under the Consumer Affairs and Fair 
Trading Act 1979.

Licensing NT does compliance 
audits and inspections of dealers 
and their premises. Licensing NT 

officers have conducted in excess 
of 98 annual compliance audits on 
current licence holders of these 
there were 21 reaudits working with 
dealers to address minor compliance 
issues in relation to non-operating 
and non-compliant dealers. There 
are two ongoing investigations into 
unlicensed dealings and one ongoing 
investigation into a contravention  
of the Act.

Licensing NT also conducted 
inspections of additional premises 
for current licence holders and 
new premises for new applicants. 
Educational sessions are provided to 
new licence holders, of which there 
was eight this year. 

Associations
The not-for-profit sector is a key part 
of the NT economy and incorporated 
associations make up the largest part 
of this sector.

There are 1 622 associations in 
the NT. Licensing NT has been 
working to improve governance 
and accountability of associations 
and holds free information and 
training sessions for incorporated 
associations and other members 
of the public. We aim to provide 
training sessions as needed to 
committee members from individual 
associations on a case by case basis. 
Annually, Licensing NT invites 
all associations to attend group 

governance training sessions in 
Darwin, Palmerston, Katherine 
and Alice Springs. These are held in 
conjunction with the Department of 
Trade Business and Innovation and 
the Department of Tourism, Sport 
and Culture to increase awareness of 
obligations in relation to the conduct 
of associations and requirements 
for government grants. The group 
training sessions have not been 
held this financial year for a number 
of reasons, including COVID-19, 
staff movements and ongoing 
investigations. 

Racing and Betting Act 1983 
review
The department has continued its 
review of the Racing and Betting 
Act 1983 to develop a regulatory 
framework that is robust and  
meets the future needs of the NT 
racing and wagering industries. In  
2019–20, Licensing NT consulted 
with industry and the responses are 
currently being collated.

Licensing NT officers continue 
to be cross-trained in the diverse 
portfolios for which Licensing NT 
has responsibility or oversight. This 
creates adaptability and flexibility in 
providing services to the public. Many 
officers exercise delegations of boards, 
commissions or offices across a wide 
variety of portfolios ensuring that 
services are provided efficiently. 

BALANCING THE  
REGULATORY ENVIRONMENT

DEVELOPING AND MAINTAINING  
A CAPABLE WORKFORCE
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Northern Territory Racing Commission
The Racing Commission is 
established under section 6 of the 
Racing and Betting Act 1983 and its 
key functions include:

• the licensing and regulation of 
bookmakers, including sports 
bookmakers

• the determination of betting 
disputes

• the control and development  
of greyhound racing 

• investigations into matters relating 
to racing in the NT.

As of 30 June 2020, there were  
19 sports bookmakers and 2 betting 
exchange operators licenced.

Licensing NT support the commission 
by investigating complaints, 
monitoring compliance with licence 
conditions of NT Sports Bookmakers 
and Betting Exchange Operators and 
providing administrative support 
during and after meetings.

The current membership is due 
to expire on 4 July 2021 and the 
appointment process will start in 
early 2021. 

Activity throughout the year 
included:

• The Racing Commission reviewed 
its Declaration of Sporting Events for 
Bookmaking, which was finalised on 
27 March 2020.

• Fifty one gambling disputes were 
referred to the commission, 
two resulted in a hearing and 

26 Reasons for Decision were 
published during the reporting 
period.

• Ten Commission meetings  
were held.

• The Commission issued eight  
fines to sports bookmakers 
totalling $118 366.

• The Commission licenced one 
sports bookmaker and one betting 
exchange operator.

• The Commission issued  
14 bookmaker permits and seven 
race course licences.

• The Commission hosted a Sports 
Bookmakers and Betting Exchange 
Operator Forum in Darwin on 8 
October 2019.

BUILDING COMMUNITY TRUST

Northern Territory Liquor Commission
The Liquor Commission was 
established on 28 February 2018 
after the commencement of the 
Liquor Commission Act 2018.

The commission is supported by 
Licensing NT which receives and 
investigates permit and licence 
applications, investigates complaints, 
monitors licensed venues, enforces 
liquor laws and compiles data 
and information for reporting 

requirements. Licensing NT  
Licensing and Compliance officers 
appear before the commission in 
public hearing matters.

The commission was referred  
84 matters for consideration and 
determination during 2019–20. 
Forty-nine public hearings were 
conducted this year and five 
applications were determined by 
private hearings on the basis of 

written material submitted. In these 
cases, the panel determined that 
conducting a public hearing was not 
worthwhile nor in the public interest. 
The reasons were that the matters 
were not contentious or subject of 
objections. A further consideration 
was the COVID-19 pandemic and 
the need to avoid unnecessary public 
gatherings. Below is a breakdown of 
referred matters:

TYPE OF REFERRAL

SECTION OF 1978 
ACT

SECTION OF 2019 
ACT

NUMBER OF 
REFERRED 
MATTERS

Application for Liquor Licence s.26(1) s.52 15

Application for Special Licence s.58 9

Application for Major Event Authority - s.52 3

Application for Transfer of Licence s.41 s.71 13

Application for Material Alteration s. 119(2) s.96 111

Application for Variation of Conditions  
of Licence s.32A(1) S.110 152

Complaint/Disciplinary matter s.69(1) s.163(2) 123

Application for Substitution of Premises s.46A s.75 6
1 includes one withdrawn application.
2 includes one withdrawn application.
3 includes one referral which was returned to the Director of Liquor Licensing on 30 January 2020.
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Other achievements

Liquor Implementation and 
Regulatory Review Reform
Work continued on the 
implementation of the alcohol 
reforms as a result of the Liquor Act 
2019 and a broader organisational 
review of regulatory services, 
including the functions and resources 
of Licensing NT, NT Consumer Affairs 
and NT WorkSafe. 

Repeal of the Licensing (Director-
General) Act 2014
In April 2020, the Licensing (Director-
General) Act 2014 was repealed as 
the final part of the Alcohol Reforms. 
The Licensing (Director-General) Act 
2014 gave a centralised decision 
making authority for legislation 
associated with the liquor, racing 
and gambling and occupational 
licensing regimes. These areas relied 
on the Director-General to make 
statutory decisions on the legislation 
covering those industries. The repeal 
of this legislation has meant that 
decision making authority falls back 
to the director associated with that 
respective piece of legislation. As part 
of the restructure of Licensing NT 
into the broader Regulatory Services, 
new appointments were approved 
under those respective pieces of 
legislation. 

Community Benefit Fund
The Community Benefit Fund paid 
over $12 million in grant funding to 
not-for-profit organisations in 2019–
20 through minor grants, major 
grants, community event grants, 
gambling research grants, gambling 
amelioration grants and vehicle gifts. 

The impact COVID-19 had on 
the Community Benefit Fund was 
significant. With the closure of 
gaming venues across the Territory, 
the revenue into the fund effectively 
stopped in March. Physical distancing 
restrictions impacted grant recipients 
significantly in the Community Events 
program, and ultimately led to the 
second round of this program being 
postponed. Other categories of 
grants saw a reduced capacity to fund 
applications, resulting in an already 
competitive environment becoming 
even more competitive.

Prior to COVID-19, the fund 
secretariat had gone on a roadshow 
to all the regions of the Territory 
to promote the grants program, be 
available to people on the ground to 
ask questions and sound out what 
can be applied for. The team visited 
Katherine, Nhulunbuy, Alice Springs 
and Tennant Creek, before finishing 
in Darwin and Palmerston. Feedback 
received from these presentations is 
that it was well received. 

More information about the 
Community Benefit Fund can be 
found on the NTG community  
grants website

Board and Commission  
Support Services
The Board and Commission Support 
Services Unit provides administrative 
support and secretariat services to 
the following statutory bodies:

• Agents Licensing Board

• Agents Licensing Fidelity 
Guarantee Fund

• Building Practitioners Board

• Electrical Workers and 
Contractors Licensing Board

• Northern Territory Architects 
Board

• Northern Territory Liquor 
Commission

• Plumbers and Drainers Licensing 
Board

• Racing Commission

• Surveyors Board of the Northern 
Territory of Australia.

During 2019–20, the unit assisted in 
the planning, conduct and recording 
of 62 meetings, 66 hearings/inquiries 
and nine directions hearings. We 
finalised, circulated and published 91 
decision notices. 

Consideration of some matters and 
decisions were deferred due to the 
COVID-19 pandemic and physical 
distancing and hygiene requirements.

Other work was carried out to ensure 
that the statutory bodies meet their 
responsibilities and obligations 
including the drafting and submission 
of annual reports and submission 
to the minister in the prescribed 
timeframes.

In September 2019, amendments to 
the Agents Licensing Act 1979 were 
commenced to encourage:

• increased membership of 
the Agents Licensing Fidelity 
Guarantee Fund 

• the auditing of accounts within 
Australian accounting standards 
by a registered company auditor 

• provision of a copy of the audit 
report to the minister by 30 June.
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NT WORKSAFE
NT WorkSafe provides advice and information to businesses, workers and the public about legislative 
compliance and regulations.

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATOR

CURRENT YEAR PREVIOUS YEARS

2019–20 
BUDGET

2019–20 
ACTUAL

2018–19 
ACTUAL

2017–18 
ACTUAL

2016–17 
ACTUAL

Number of site inspections 6 000 3 464 3 684 4 448 N/A

Workers compensation incident ratio 9:1000 8.6:1000 8.3:1000 9:1000 N/A

New Senior Director  
NT WorkSafe
Bill Esteves commenced as the 
Senior Director, NT WorkSafe on 
the 10 June 2020. Bill has almost 
two decades of experience in a 
combination of areas related to 
regulatory compliance, prosecutions, 
litigation, inquiries, change and 
performance management, policy 
development, and health and safety. 
He has a demonstrated record of 
successfully leading cultural change, 
and improving performance within 
dynamic regulatory, commercial and 
stakeholder environments.

Bill has held various executive roles 
and has led many milestone projects 
such as Queensland’s Greyhound 
Commission of Inquiry, and 
Queensland’s Independent Review 
of the Taxi Industry in response 
to disruption from Uber. He was 
the Head of Investigations for the 
National Heavy Vehicle Regulator 
and chaired a national investigation 
and safety group. 

With significant experience in the 
best practice duties based legislation, 
Bill is well placed and committed to 
improving workplace safety. Bill has 
a Diploma in Public Safety, Graduate 
Certificate in Management, Graduate 
Diploma in Legal Practice, Masters 
in Leadership, Masters in Business 
Administration and Bachelor of  
Laws degree.

Contribute to the national 
review of the model Work 
Health and Safety (National 
Uniform Legislation) laws
During development of the model 
Work Health and Safety legislation 
(WHS laws), the former Workplace 
Relations Ministers’ Council agreed 
to review the content and operation 
of the model at least once every five 
years after commencement. In 2016, 
jurisdictional ministers responsible 
for work health and safety agreed 
to defer the first review until 
2018. The review was done by Ms 
Marie Boland with the final report 
released in February 2019. The 34 
recommendations in the report were 
then subjected to a regulatory impact 
assessment that was presented to 
the ministers in December 2019. 
Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, the 
meeting of ministers was postponed 
until the second half of 2020.

NT WorkSafe Review
The January 2019 Best Practice 
Review of Workplace Health and Safety 
in the Northern Territory (Final Report) 
made 27 recommendations covering:

• inspectorate activity and 
capabilities

• investigations, prosecutions and 
enforceable undertakings

• new offences and increased 
penalties.

In June 2019, the government 
accepted 23 of 27 recommendations 
from the report to implement over 
the next five years. In 2019–20 
actions in response to the 
recommendations included:

• adoption of industrial 
manslaughter as an offence under 
the WHS laws

• review and adoption of all model 
Codes of Practice

• creation of an investigations unit 
with NT WorkSafe

• development of new infringeable 
offences, under the WHS laws, 
that should commence in  
2020–21.

Bill Esteves, Senior Director NT WorkSafe

BALANCING THE  
REGULATORY ENVIRONMENT
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NT WorkSafe continues 
to support small business 
owners and young workers
The majority of actively trading 
businesses in the NT are small. 
NT WorkSafe supports business 
operators to manage their own 
health and safety through the Small 
Business Safety Program.

The program is available to all small 
businesses in the Territory, with 
services provided by phone, email 
or face-to-face where possible. The 
program is confidential and provided 
at no cost to the business.

In 2018–19, Small Business 
Safety Advisors assisted 278 
businesses (including not-for-profit 
organisations) in Darwin, Katherine 
and Alice Springs.

The Young Workers Program was 
established in 2018, designed to help 
educate and empower young workers 
to be safe and productive at work. 
This program is delivered across the 
NT and has now been combined with 
the Small Business Safety Program 
with the small business advisors 
taking on this important role.

Other achievements

Northern Territory Injury 
Management e-Learning program
In 2018, NT WorkSafe launched 
the Northern Territory Workers 
Compensation Injury Management 
e-Learning program. This training 
provides essential information about:

• the Return to Work Act 1986

• an understanding of claims 
management

• injury management

• the return to work process.  

One hundred and twenty-nine 
insurers, self-insurers and regulatory 
staff have enrolled to complete the 
training to date. Three Aboriginal 
workers in the area of workers’ 
rehabilitation and compensation 
were awarded a scholarship from the 
Personal Injury Education Foundation 
to complete the Certificate IV 
in Personal Injury Management. 
The foundation has now opened 
the training to other interested 
stakeholders.

NT WorkSafe employees receiving MATES in Construction accreditation certificate
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Corporate and Governance
Corporate and Governance supports the department’s operations and comprises the Office of the Chief 
Executive Officer, Audit Services, Governance and Risk Services, Finance and General Services, and Corporate 
Communications. 

The group delivers these functions 
under these five corporate operating 
principles:

• shared business standards

• collaboration

• reduced complexity

• informed decision-making

• building positive relationships.

Audit Services performs the 
department’s internal audit 
function and reports directly to the 
CEO as the accountable officer. 
Audit Services forms part of the 
department’s overall governance 
framework and reports KPIs in this 
section. For more information on 
audit activities refer to page 112. 

Shared Services
From 1 July 2019, a machinery 
of government change came into 
effect accompanied by the transfer 
of human resources, procurement, 
information and communications 
technology (ICT), information 
management, web management, and 
fleet functions to the Department of 
Corporate and Information Services 
(DCIS). The machinery of government 
change also saw the transfer of 
infrastructure services functions to 
the Department of Infrastructure, 
Planning and Logistics (DIPL). This 
change consolidates the resources 
and coordination of the government 
infrastructure program, including 
the repairs and maintenance. Both 

DCIS and DIPL now provide these 
previously in-house services to the 
department under a shared  
service model. 

In addition to normal operations, 
Corporate and Governance undertook 
an extensive body of work to complete 
requirements of these machinery of 
government changes, including the 
transfer of budgets, personnel, and 
financial and other records. Work 
continues to redefine internal service 
delivery, identify emerging strategic 
and operational risks resulting from 
the changes. The department engages 
with representatives from DCIS and 
DIPL to understand the shared service 
arrangements and establish robust 
communication channels.

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATOR

CURRENT YEAR PREVIOUS YEARS

2019–20 
BUDGET

2019–20 
ACTUAL

2018–19 
ACTUAL

2017–18 
ACTUAL

2016–17 
ACTUAL

Turnover of department staff 18% 14.85% 13.97% 18.07% 11.63%

Department accounts paid within 30 days1 80% 76% 88% 91% 84%

Internal audits conducted 20 16 142 22 13
1The published KPI stated 30 days, revised payment terms where introduced 1 July 2019 and the actual rate is calculated on accounts paid  
within 20 calendar days.
2Audits performed during the year were of higher complexity than budgeted.

Corporate and Governance provides 
a planning, reporting and coordination 
role to the CEO and Executive 
Leadership Group to support them 
with oversight of governance and risk 
related activities. These include:

• Reporting on department 
performance, strategic and 
operational risks, work health and 
safety, emergency management, 
compliance with governance and 
policy frameworks and department 
initiatives. Maintaining and 
tabling risk registers quarterly for 
endorsement by the Executive 
Leadership Group.

• Working with divisions and 
department leadership to identify 
and mitigate key strategic and 
operational risks that could affect 
our ability to achieve  
our objectives. 

• Working with Audit Services and 
the Audit and Risk Committee  
to review and obtain feedback on 
our risk management approach, 
identification, mitigation and 
controls.

• Coordinating the department’s 
business planning cycle. Every 
division develops a strategic 

business plan that allows for 
monitoring and evaluation of 
performance. Key deliverables 
incorporate activities to achieve 
legislative, strategic and 
operational requirements, address 
key performance indicators, 
procurement, and risk assessment 
and management.

• Ensuring that business plans for 
statutory offices embody their 
legislative functions and  
associated activities.
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• Engaging with divisions and 
business units to ensure the 
department’s strategies, 
operations, policies and guidelines 
align with the priorities of the 
government. We work within 
the frameworks, policy and 
directives of the government and 
the department’s legislative and 
regulatory requirements. 

• Maintaining department 
emergency management and 
business continuity plans and 
monitoring WHS compliance  
and incident reporting  
in the department, including 
employee awareness. 

• Ensuring the department meets its 
legislative requirements regarding 
the Financial Management Act 1995 
and the Procurement Act 1995, and 
ensuring day-to-day operations 
comply with related government 
and department policies, 
guidelines and processes.

• Overseeing the department’s 
financial governance frameworks 
and supporting the strategic 
objectives of the department 
by helping build resource 
management capabilities, 
strengthening compliance and 
improving business processes.

New Governance Framework
The team delivered a new governance 
framework for the department 
simplified for relatability and 
incorporating an index of governance 
resources. Further information on 
the framework is included in the 
governance section.

The Independent Commission Against 
Corruption Act 2017 (ICAC Act)
The Governance and Risk team 
developed a new Fraud and 
Improper Conduct Control Policy 
and Procedures, incorporating 
internal and external stakeholder 
consultation. The policy and 
procedures support the 
implementation of the ICAC 
requirements within the department. 
The launch of the policy was 

supported with training delivered by 
the ICAC, offered to all managers and 
directors. Ongoing training offered 
by the ICAC was also regularly 
promoted to all employees.

Intranet webpages were developed to 
promote the new policy, the reporting 
of improper conduct and expected 
conduct of employees.

Significant progress was also made 
in the development of a new Fraud 
and Improper Conduct Risk Register, 
Control Plan and Protected Persons 
Policy as well as a review of all 
policies to update for compliance with 
legislation and the principles of the 
ICAC Act. Finalising these important 
documents was temporarily delayed 
with resources diverted to support 
business continuity activities and 
COVID-19 response. Completion is 
expected in early 2020–21.

Business continuity and COVID-19
A significant body of work was 
undertaken by the team to support 
the department’s response to the 
COVID-19 pandemic, this included:

• review of the department and 
the division’s existing business 
continuity documents and the 
development of new plans with the 
assistance of the Audit team

• primary contact point for divisions 
with COVID-19 related enquiries

• managing over 2 000 internal and 
central agency enquiries related to 
business continuity activities and 
COVID-19 enquiries by Corporate 
and Strategic Services

• primary contact point for some 
central agency information 
requests

• central management of ICT 
requirements with the support of 
the Finance team and DCIS IT

• coordinating meetings with the 
Agency Emergency Management 
team as required

• weekly reporting to the executive 
(or more regularly when required) 
on all activities and issues being 

identified as the department 
initiated business continuity 
COVID-19 strategies

• primary contact point for Work, 
Health and Safety committees for 
the implementation of hygiene and 
physical distancing practices.

Procurement
The department receives 
procurement services and advice 
from DCIS with oversight from the 
Chief Financial Officer. DCIS also 
provides mentoring and contract 
management advice for key 
department employees.

Audit Services are responsible  
for conducting procurement audits 
and reviews, including delivery  
of the Value for Territory  
Assurance program.

The department uses the Agency 
Procurement Requisition Online 
system to record tier two to tier five 
procurement activities,  
with supporting information stored 
in Territory Records Manager 
and whole of government finance 
systems. The department is 
progressing a staged implementation 
of the Contrax system for  
contract management.

The department’s key supply markets 
include:  

• meat, poultry, smallgoods, dry 
goods, frozen products and dairy, 
bread

• ICT services

• specialist training services

• building materials

• cleaning services

• library subscriptions

• maintenance services and supplies

• undertaking services

• real estate and conveyancing 
services

• electronic monitoring services

• security services

• legal services
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• electricity services

• transcription services

• consultancies

• clothing

• accounting

• expert witnesses

• art supplies

• training aids

• professional education 
development.

The department procures in 
accordance with government 
procurement rules to ensure we 
obtain value for money and maximise 
local benefits and Aboriginal 
participation. The department  
also provides Buy Local compliance 
reports to our Executive Leadership 
Group to increase oversight  
and accountability.

The majority of goods and services 
procured are widely available in the 
Northern Territory but there are 
some specialist services or goods  
only available outside of the  
Northern Territory.

Corporate Communications
The Corporate Communications 
team manages the department’s 
strategic messaging, marketing, 
branding, digital communications and 
media management. 

Communication for the Aboriginal 
Justice Agreement was a major 
piece of work for the Corporate 
Communications team. The draft 
agreement’s 23 strategies needed 
to be communicated widely to build 
community support for change 
across the NT. We managed the 
design, printing and distribution of 
the draft agreement and supported 
the Aboriginal Justice Unit with 
community consultations and a 
media strategy. Communities showed 
strong engagement in the draft 

agreement and provided important 
feedback on how the main strategies 
would work to improve justice 
outcomes for all NT citizens.

Supporting NT Correctional Services 
with strategic communications 
was another major project for the 
Corporate Communications team. 
Correctional Services launched 
a new Operational Philosophy 
based on aspirations to be the best 
correctional service organisation 
in Australia. The team developed a 
strategic communications framework 
for Correctional Services and a media 
strategy with five themes to boost  
the NT Correctional Services 
leadership team’s engagement with 
employees and to develop stronger 
internal communication.

The team supported the Public 
Information Group during the 
intense community engagement 
for the government’s COVID-19 
response. There was significant 
demand for accurate and timely 
information to the NT community. 
Senior Communication Officer, 
Brian Kidd and Multi-Media and 
Communication Officer, Samantha 
Cubillo volunteered to work on a 
seven-day weekly roster to produce 
coordinated public messaging, media 
information, fact sheets, web content, 
social media messaging and signage.  
The result was the government 
achieving a consistent and 
coordinated response to the crisis.

 
The team took the lead on writing 
public information about the new 
Liquor Act 2019 that came into effect 
in October 2019. The task was to 
audit all the community information 
about liquor in the NT across all 
agencies and work out what content 
was out of date or inconsistent. With 
DCIS, the team coordinated a whole 
of government effort to ensure all 
people affected by new liquor laws 
could easily find out their rights and 
responsibilities under the new Act. 

The team significantly boosted 
internal communication with the 
launch of a new intranet for the 
department in September 2019. The 
new website moved the department 
from a siloed approach to doing 
business to common business themes 
that are relevant to all employees no 
matter what team they work in. The 
new intranet was built in Squiz Matrix 
and is more responsive to business 
and employee needs. The evidence is 
that more employees find it easier to 
access the tools they need to do their 
jobs more efficiently.

IMPROVING ABORIGINAL 
OUTCOMES

PROTECTING TERRITORIANS 
BY SUPPORTING SAFER 
COMMUNITIES

BALANCING THE  
REGULATORY ENVIRONMENT

DEVELOPING AND MAINTAINING  
A CAPABLE WORKFORCE
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CEO Greg Shanahan with our NTPS 
recognised COVID-19 Unsung Heroes 
L-R: Samantha Cubillo, Rebecca 
Plummer, Fiona Hardy, Leonique 
Swart, Juanita Jones 
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FAST FACTS

  3 
 employees received  

Australia Day honours

46  
average age of employees

84%  
retention rate

36%  
employees with 10 or  

more years service

43  
female

48  
male
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OVERVIEW
This year began with the new ‘Shared Service’ arrangements for Human Resources 
(HR) under the Department of Corporate Information Services (DCIS), Enterprise 
Corporate Services. The priority for the year has been working with the department 
on establishing a new service and reporting arrangement. HR also experienced 
increases in service demand from employees because of changes occurring across the 
department and impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic.

The HR team provides quality advice and services to all divisions and clients from 
across multiple geographical locations. HR takes a primary role in the development of 
key workforce development initiatives, management of workers’ compensation and 
other case management activities.

The department takes pride in the initiatives it has put in place to support its 
employees, further their skills and enhance their working experience. Here, we look 
at the workforce data from 2019–20 and recognise the good work and achievements 
accomplished throughout the year by teams and individuals.

EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY
2020 2019 2018

Identify as having a disability 1.3% 1.2% 1.3%

Identify as Aboriginal 10.1% 9.5% 10%

Culturally diverse background 6.1% 5% 6.1%

FULL-TIME EQUIVALENT (FTE)

As at June 2020 1 464.27
As at June 2019 1 474.61
As at June 2018 1 464.97
NOTE: One full-time equivalent (FTE) is based on an employee working full-time hours at 38 hours 
per week for custodial officers and 36.45 hours per week for all other employment streams.  
An employee working part-time or casual hours is represented as a fraction of this.
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Key Achievements
• CEO Greg Shanahan was recognised in 

this year’s Australia Day awards with the 
Public Service Medal for outstanding public 
service to the NT justice system. Keven Stout, 
Tennant Creek Probation and Parole Officer 
was given an Australia Day Volunteer Award 
for outstanding contributions to his local 
community. Connell Brannelly was recognised 
for contributions to his local community.

• Mandy Crow and Raymond Wilde received 
Chief Minister’s Awards for outstanding and 
commendable service at the Chief Minister’s 
Awards night in November 2019. 

• The department’s Transitional 
Accommodation Program developed by  
NT Correctional Services was a Chief Minister 
award finalist in the Excellence in  
Partnering category. 

• The Supreme Court Language and Law 
Conference was a finalist in the Improving 
Inclusion and Diversity Employment 
Outcomes category.

• Leanne Liddle, Director of the Aboriginal 
Justice Unit, delivered both this year’s 
Supreme Court address and the  
Menzies Oration.

• Meredith Day-Huntingford, former Deputy Chief 
Executive Officer, was appointed as a Judge of 
the Local Court of the Northern Territory.

• Sarah Strzelecki, a law officer working at the 
Solicitor for the NT, was the recipient of the 
Donna Dreier Award for 2019.

• One hundred and four employees were 
recognised for their service milestones.

• Two hundred and sixty-eight employees were 
recognised on National Corrections Day.

• Five graduate law clerks and one employee 
successfully completed their Graduate 
Diploma in Legal Practice and were admitted 
into practice.

• Thirty-three trainee correctional officers 
completed their Certificate III in  
Correctional Practice.

• Twenty-one correctional officers completed 
their Certificate IV in  
Correctional Practice.

• Nine probation and parole officers completed 
their Certificate IV in Correctional Practice.
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Workforce Profile – Metrics
FTE by division
As at 30 June 2020, total department 
full time equivalent (FTE) was  
1 464.27, a decrease of 10.34 from 
30 June 2019 (1 474.61 FTE). This 
decrease was mostly due to the 
transfer of corporate employees 
to Department of Corporate and 
Information Services and Department 
of Infrastructure Planning and 
Logistics. 

Northern Territory Correctional 
Services accounts for 56.8 per cent of 
the total FTE in the department,  
a slight increase from 54.8 per cent 
in 2019.

TABLE 1 FTE by division

Independent Offices 87.23

Solicitor for the NT 70.80 

NT Correc
onal Services 831.43

Legal Policy Management 24.31

Director of Public Prosecu
ons 81.21

Crimes Vic
ms Services Units 16.49

Court Support Services 165.18

Corporate and Governance 33.75

Regulatory Services 142.15

Agency Coordina
on 11.72

Independent Offices FTE
As at 30 June 2020, there were 
seven independent offices in the 
department, noting that while the 
Director of Public Prosecutions is an 
independent office, it is represented 
as a division and included in the FTE 
by the division graph.

NT Consumer Affairs is now included 
with Regulatory Services.

Independent Offices FTE represents 
six per cent of the total FTE in the 
department, the same as last year. 

TABLE 2 Independent Offices FTE

Registrar General 17.95

Public Trustee 16.00

Office of the Public Guardian 26.41

Office of Children's Commission 10.00
Health and Community 
Complaints Commission 6.94
An� Discrimina�on Commission 9.93

FTE gender metrics
As at 30 June 2020, gender 
distribution was 52 per cent female 
and 48 per cent male. This compares 
with 53 per cent of females in 2019 
and 51 per cent in 2018. 

Females in the department made 
up 74 per cent of the administrative 
stream and 70 per cent of the 
professional stream. Males account 
for 78 per cent of the custodial 
stream (79 per cent in 2019).

In the executive stream, there are 
50 per cent females and 50 per cent 
males compared with 46 per cent and 
54 per cent respectively in 2019.

TABLE 3 FTE by employment stream and gender

‘Others’ includes early careers, technical and physical streams.
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TABLE 4 FTE by employment type and gender 
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TABLE 5 gender by division 

Age demographics
The average age for all employees 
across the department was 46 years, 
up from 45 in 2019 and 2018 and 43 
in 2017. The largest proportion of the 
workforce was in the  
45–54 age bracket and represented 
28 per cent of the department’s 
employees. Across this age bracket, 
there were four per cent more 
females than males. 

Twenty four per cent of employees 
are aged 55 or over, with males 
accounting for 54 per cent and 
females 46 per cent. This represents 
a slight increase overall and in female 
employees aged 55 or over.

There were 28 per cent more females 
than males in the age brackets of 
15–24 and 25–34, which reflects the 
number of female employees in the 
administrative stream. 

MaleFemale

Agency Coordination

Anti-Discrimination Commission

NT Consumer Affairs

Corporate and Governance
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Crime Victims Services Unit

Director of Public Prosecutions

Health and Community Complaints Commission

Legal Policy

Licensing NT
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Office of the Public Guardian

Public Trustee

Registrar-General

Solicitor for the NT 80%

72%

88%

90%

51%

38%

58% 42%

77%

57%

67%

67%

73%

82%

66%

100%

100%

100%

20%

13%

10%

49%

62%

23%

43%

33%

33%

27%

18%

34%

28%
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TABLE 6 FTE by age and gender 
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TABLE 7 FTE age and gender (female) comparison table

TABLE 8 FTE age and gender (male) comparison table
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FTE distribution by location
The department has employees 
based in Darwin, Alice Springs, 
Katherine, Jabiru, Nhulunbuy, 
Alyangula, Borroloola, Tennant 
Creek and Wadeye, and other 

regional areas. Employees regularly 
travel to remote towns and 
communities to undertake a range 
of activities including consultations 
with community on the Aboriginal 
Justice Agreement, the Circuit Court 

program, community probation  
and parole functions, guardianship 
work, licensing and NT WorkSafe 
functions.

Executive stream
As at 30 June 2020, there were  
52 employees in the executive 
stream, down from 64 in 2019,  
68 in 2018 and 72 in 2017.  
Thirty eight per cent were over  
55 compared with 24 per cent  
in the department aged over 55.

In the executive stream, the gender 
split was equal, a six per cent shift 
from 2018–19.

TABLE 10 executive stream gender comparison (headcount)

TABLE 11 executive by age and gender (headcount)
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2019-202018-192017-18Equal Employment 
Opportunity
A department goal is to develop a 
diverse workforce that is reflective 
of the community and the clients we 
serve. Participation in the Northern 
Territory Public Sector (NTPS) 
Disability Employment Scheme and 
the department’s Special Measures 
Plan that give priority recruitment 
consideration to Aboriginal applicants 
are some measures in place to 
support this goal.

The Equal Employment Opportunity 
(EEO) table details employees who 
have self-identified as being part of 
one of the EEO groups.
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TABLE 12 comparison of EEO groups by headcount (self-identified)
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Recruitment, separations  
and retention
The total separation rate for ongoing 
and fixed period employees was  
15 per cent and the retention rate for 
all employees was 84 per cent,  
an improvement of two per cent  
from last year.  

Seventy percent of employees 
have six-years of service or 
greater, with 41 per cent having 
11 years or greater. Retention of 
our experienced workforce has 
improved, with the proportion of 
employees with six-years or greater 
service increasing.

TABLE 13 length of service comparison (headcount)

Work-life balance
The department supports work-life 
balance through the use of flexible 
work arrangements, with all divisions 
offering some form of flexibility in 
working arrangements to support 
employees while balancing service 
delivery requirements.

The numbers of part-time employees 
has remained consistent since 2017, 
for both males and females.
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TABLE 14 part-time status by gender

Wellbeing Initiatives
R U OK? Day
R U OK? Day aims to inspire and 
empower everyone to meaningfully 
connect with the people around  
them to start a conversation with 
anyone who may be struggling with 
life. There is no need to be an  
expert – just a good friend and  
a great listener.

The department celebrated  
R U OK? Day on 11 August 2019, 
with employees encouraged to 
participate in ‘Wear Yellow Day’ and 
to have a chat over morning tea. 

Male

Female

Top Row L-R: Jeanette Parkin, Trish Johnston, Kirsten Chapman,  
Ashlee Edwards Bottom Row L-R: Mary-Anne Ryan, Alicia Smith, Ruth Jorgensen,  
Deborah Plummer, Alexandra Van Gendt, Yvette Nicholls
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Flexible working 
arrangements
Flexible working arrangements assist 
employees in achieving work-life 
balance and improve the attraction 
and retention of employees. 
Arrangements include compressed 
hours, part-time work arrangements, 
cultural leave and recreation leave  
at half pay. 

The COVID-19 pandemic saw a 
significant shift of employees working 
from home as well as new and 
innovative ways of working. 

In June 2020 the department 
undertook an employee survey to 
assess working arrangements  
during COVID-19 restrictions.  
A detailed analysis will be done  
in 2020–21. The preliminary  
analysis indicated:

• a total of 490 employees  
(32 per cent of all AGD employees) 
completed the survey

• 33 per cent of respondents 
worked from home all or some  
of the time during restrictions

• 24 per cent of people who worked 
from home said they did not have 
all the equipment they needed

• 66 per cent of employees who 
worked from home would like  
to continue a working from  
home arrangement

• 34 per cent missed the office 
interactions and would prefer  
to be in the office

• 74 per cent of respondents used 
online platforms to do business

• 83 per cent of respondents said 
they were able to do their usual 
job during the restrictions

• Eight per cent of employees who 
remained in the office said working 
from home arrangements of others 
had a positive impact on them

• 68 per cent said it did not  
impact them

• 24 per cent said it had a  
negative impact

• 90 per cent of employees 
indicated that department 
communications were timely  
and relevant.

The full report will be made available 
for employees on the department 
intranet in September 2020. 

1 year Extended leave - 5th year

Home-based / telework

Purchased Leave usage

Cultural Leave

Rec Leave Half Pay to count as service

Part-time work Transition to Retirement (TTR)

Full-time employee with flexible hours

Job sharing

Full-time employee on reduced hours

Christmas closedown
In December 2019, many parts 
of the department participated in 
a Christmas closedown period in 
accordance with the NTPS 2017–21 
Enterprise Agreement. A benefit of a 
Christmas closedown period is that 
staff are able to properly rest and 
recover from the year, knowing that 
their colleagues are also on leave 
and work is not accumulating for 
their return. It means that the New 
Year is able to begin with a fresh 
mind and a clear slate in terms of 
workload and deadlines. 

Flu vaccination program
This is an initiative to help employees 
stay healthy and  
reduce the impact of seasonal  
flu in the workplace and  
community. The department offers 
employees the opportunity to receive 
the Quadrivalent Influenza Vaccine 
(Flu) vaccination free of charge. 
A vaccinator attended various 
workplaces to administer  
the vaccine. 

This year the department more 
actively promoted the program 
under a COVID-19 ‘keep healthy’ 
strategy and there was an increase in 
employee uptake of the program. 

Employee assistance program
The employee assistance program 
supports employees wellbeing 
needs. Employees can access up to 
three free sessions with a qualified 
service provider. Services include 
professional and confidential 
counselling for personal and 
workplace relationships, addiction 
counselling, mediation and 
management coaching.

This was also actively promoted to 
employees as a wellbeing strategy for 
COVID-19.

TABLE 16 flexible working arrangements
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Workforce Development
DCIS, through shared service 
arrangements, supports the 
department by delivering 
workforce development 
initiatives. The 2019–20 major 
activities are reported below.

Policy review
In line with the Public Sector 
Employment and Management Act 
1993 and the department’s policy 
framework, a number of HR policies 
and procedures were reviewed 
during the year. Updates were made 
to reflect changes to policy and 
instructions including new templates 
to improve clarity and incorporate 
staff feedback. 

Several were approved within 
the reporting period, including 
Procedures for Defence Service 
Leave Employer Support Payment 
Scheme Claims, department 

Minimum Recruitment Requirements 
and Criminal History Checks.

People Plan
Implementation of the new People 
Plan approved in 2019 was 
reprioritised due to the transition of 
the function to DCIS and COVID-19. 
It is expected the plan will be 
refined and implemented in the next 
reporting period.

Orientation
A review of the department’s 
orientation program began in 2019 
to give employees more flexibility to 
complete it. The finalisation of the 
review was delayed due to the need 
for increased support for employees 
because of COVID-19. This work 
will recommence in the new financial 
year. In its place, online resources 
give new employees an overview of 

the department and information on 
how to be a successful employee.

Uniformed officers in NT 
Correctional Services and 
Community Corrections probation 
and parole officers receive  
specialised orientation programs 
when they begin.

Induction
Divisions are responsible for 
inducting new employees to their 
work units and welcoming them to 
the department. An on-boarding and 
induction guide and online resources 
are available on a range of topics, 
including work health and safety, 
the code of conduct and appropriate 
workplace behaviours.

ABORIGINAL 
EMPLOYMENT 
AND CAREER 
DEVELOPMENT
Aboriginal employment
The department continues to have 
a Special Measures Plan to give 
priority recruitment consideration to 
Aboriginal applicants for all positions 
at the AO1–AO3 levels and all other 
positions where appropriate. 

The department’s Aboriginal 
employment target for the  
2019–20 financial year was  
12.5 per cent. Based on June 2020 
data, the department achieved  
10 per cent Aboriginal employment  
(155 employees). While it is an 
increase of 10 Aboriginal employees 
from 2019, it remains less than the 
overall target. 

Success stories

Joshua Talbot 
Larrakia man Joshua Talbot joined NT 
WorkSafe in 2011 as an entry level 
officer and last year won a permanent 
position as an Advisory Officer for 
Rehabilitation and Compensation. 

In May last year, Joshua completed 
the workers compensation injury 
management e-learning program. He 
was awarded a scholarship from the 
Personal Injury Education Foundation 
to complete the Certificate IV in 
personal injury management.  
The scholarship is awarded to people 
who demonstrate their commitment 
to optimising Indigenous employment 
outcomes and community benefits  
in the NT. 

‘I’ve been lucky to have some 
amazing mentors in the NT WorkSafe 
Rehabilitation and Compensation 
team who have helped guide and 
educate me along the way’,  
Joshua says.

‘I love that I have this opportunity to 
give back to the community through 
my work in workers rehabilitation and 
compensation’.

Joshua Talbot, scholarship recipient
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Workplace Integrated 
Learning scholarship
The Workplace Integrated Learning 
Scholarship (WILS) provides financial 
support and paid work experience 
during the semester breaks to an 
Aboriginal student studying a higher 
education course specialising in law 
at Charles Darwin University.

Jared O’Neill is an Aboriginal man in 
the third year of WILS and is studying 
a Bachelor of Laws with Charles 
Darwin University. Legal Services 
provides 12 weeks work placement 
each year rotating through the 
various divisions to provide Jared 
with exposure to the range of legal 
areas in the department. 

When Jared completes his WILS 
and Bachelor of Laws he intends 
to apply under the NTPS Graduate 

Development program for a law 
placement with the department. 

National Aborigines and 
Islanders Day Observance 
Committee (NAIDOC) week
NAIDOC Week celebrates the 
history, culture and achievements 
of Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander people. It is celebrated by all 
Australians and is a great opportunity 
to learn more about Aboriginal 
and Torres Strait Islander culture. 
NAIDOC Week was celebrated in 
July 2019, with the theme ‘Voice. 
Treaty. Truth.’ 

Employees were encouraged to 
attend events, including the Larrakia 
Nation Opening Ceremony and 
the NAIDOC march. Presentations 
arranged by the department included 

those from Marion Scrymgour, 
Northern Land Council CEO; Larrakia 
man, Dr Curtis Roman, Senior 
Director Aboriginal Interpreter 
Services; and Moogie Patu, acting 
Manager Family Violence Program.

Reconciliation Week  
morning tea
The Family Violence Program hosted 
a morning tea for NT Correctional 
Services (NTCS) staff on 1 June 2020 
to celebrate Reconciliation Week. 
Coming together to celebrate an 
important annual event, the baking 
and decorating skills of NTCS staff 
(and in some cases, their family 
members) were put to the test – and 
passed with flying colours. 

LEARNING AND DEVELOPMENT
In order to build a highly 
effective workforce, it is 
important to prioritise 
professional development. We 
aim to foster a workforce that 
is confident and capable in their 
skills, highly motivated and 
passionate about their work. 
The strength of the department 
comes from an effective 
workforce. 

Employee’s development needs are 
identified through the Individual 
Performance Review process and 
further support is provided to access 
the NTPS programs to facilitate that 
growth. These programs include 
leadership development programs 
from the Office of the Commissioner 
for Public Employment. Training 
for NT Correctional Services 
employees is delivered through 
the NT Correctional Services Staff 
Learning and Development Unit and 
Community Corrections Professional 
Standards Unit.

In 2019–20, AGD employees 
completed a number of training 

sessions and workshops. These 
included: 

• Certificate IV in Government 
Investigations

• Certificate III in Correctional 
Practice

• Certificate IV in Correctional 
Practice

• Legal Qualifications – Graduate 
Diploma Legal Practice, Batchelor 
of Laws 

• Graduate Certificate in Public 
Sector Management

• First Aid Certificate.

Employees also participated in non-
accredited programs and information 
sessions, including:

• Secretariat processes, including 
Ministerial Writing Basics and 
Cabinet documentation basics

• Business Acumen

• Introduction to the Independent 
Commissioner Against Corruption

• Procurement training

• NTPS Aboriginal and Employee 
Mentor Program

• various Masterclasses, including 
Legal Ethics and the ICAC Act 
2017, Statutory Interpretation 
and other important changes and 
Taxation of Costs

• Merit Selection training

• Dealing with difficult behaviours.

Kirsten Chapman (centre) being admitted to 
practice with Rosslyn Chenoweth (left) and 
Hon. Natasha Fyles MLA (right)
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MATES in Construction
MATES in Construction is a charity 
established in 2008 to reduce the 
high level of suicide among Australian 
construction workers.  
On 12 September 2019, MATES  
in Construction field officer,  
Matt Hull presented NT WorkSafe 
with an accreditation certificate. This 
accreditation is a result of over  
22 of our staff completing the  
General Awareness training,  
14 completing Connector training 
and completing Applied Suicide 
Intervention Skills training.

NT WorkSafe is committed to 
allowing field support from MATES 

on site, as well as promoting 
MATES as an option to the wider 
construction, mining and energy 
industries. 

NT WorkSafe also participated in the 
‘Fly the Flag’ for MATES to help raise 
awareness and encourage people to 
ask their mates ‘R U OK?’  

Correctional Certificate 
Programs
NT Correctional Services is a 
Registered Training Organisation 
and delivers certificated training to 
employees through the NTCS Staff 
Learning and Development Centre 
(SLDC). During 2019–20:

• thirty three trainee correctional 
officers completed the Certificate 
III in Correctional Practice

• twenty one correctional officers 
completed the Certificate IV in 
Correctional Practice

• nine probation and parole officers 
completed the Certificate IV in 
Correctional Practice.

NTCS Core Training
NTCS Staff Learning and Development Centre provide a range of core training to NTCS officers to ensure  
their skills are maintained and align with NTPS legislative requirements.

TRAINING DARWIN ALICE SPRINGS TOTAL

De-escalate, Control and Restraint (DCR) 105 98 203

First Attack Fire/Self-Contained Breathing Apparatus (SCBA)  
and Urinalysis 117 112 229

Chemical Agents (CS) 32 128 160

Provide First Aid (External Delivery) 58 63 121

Provide Advanced Resuscitation (External Delivery) 236 110 346

Total 548 511 1 059

Community Corrections 
eLearning courses
As the workforce is dispersed 
across the jurisdiction, Community 
Corrections has developed online 
courses that employees can 
complete regardless of location. ‘A 
Comprehensive Orientation’ and 
‘An Introduction to Community 
Corrections’ are two online courses 
which are available through the 
myLearning portal.

Probation and Parole  
Officers training
All new probation and parole officers 
undergo a 10-week training and 
induction program, which involves 
a mix of classroom-based learning 
and on-the-job practical experience. 
Officers undertake a Certificate IV in 
Correctional Practice over the first 
12-months of their employment.

In 2019–20, nine officers completed 
this training.

Other training in Community 
Corrections included:

• two officers completing a 
Certificate IV in Training and 
Assessment 

• one officer completing a Diploma  
of Community Services 

• one officer completing a Graduate 
Certificate in Criminology and 
Criminal Justice. 
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Leadership Programs
Public Sector  
Management Program
Rebecca Trimble, Principal WorkSafe 
Inspector with NT WorkSafe, 
graduated from the Public Sector 
Management Program (PSMP) 
in September 2019, through 
Queensland University of  
Technology (QUT).

Rebecca said she feels very fortunate 
to have had the opportunity to study 
with QUT and found it exciting to 
be able to apply her knowledge and 
operational experience through the 
PSM program. 

“I know the program has improved 
my big-picture thinking, allowed 
my management skills to grow, 
whilst also providing me with tools 
of management theory and an 
understanding on larger corporate 
issues. The impact on my day-to-day 
work activities have all been positive 
and I am confident that I can apply 
the academic theory and models into 
my workplace. I have formed a new 
professional network and through 
this engagement I have a greater 

understanding of the challenges we 
face in the very diverse public sector, 
as we all strive to deliver services.”

Senior Officers Promotional 
Course (NT Corrections)
The Senior Correctional Officers 
Promotional Course incorporates 
a Certificate IV in Correctional 
Practice. Correctional officers 

must successfully complete nine 
mandatory units of competency to 
complete the Senior Promotional 
Course. Upon successful completion, 
officers are awarded the rank of 
correctional officer first class.

Forty officers completed the  
Senior Officers Promotional  
Course and the nine mandatory  
units of the Certificate IV in 
Correctional Practice.

Early Careers Programs
Graduate Development 
Program
Solicitor for the NT (SFNT) has been 
participating in the NTPS Graduate 
Development Program since the 
inception of the Department. 
The program provides exposure 
and experience for law graduates 
through work rotations to various 
legal areas of the department, 
including Litigation, Commercial, 
Aboriginal Lands, Director of Public 
Prosecutions and Legal Policy,  
while undertaking a Graduate 
Diploma in Legal Practice during the 
12-month placement. 

Rebecca Trimble’s (centre) graduation from the Public Sector Management Program

2020 Graduates Jacinta Mu, Emma Boeck, Ruby Kelly and Monica Thompson
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The program has been very 
successful and is part of the 
department’s succession planning. 
Five graduates who started in 2019 
and one employee have successfully 
completed their Graduate Diploma 
in Legal Practice and were admitted 
to practice. Four new graduates are 
completing the 12-month graduate 
program in 2020. 

Correctional Officer 
traineeships
Trainee Correctional Officers 
complete a 12-month traineeship, 
which includes an intensive eight-
week, off-the-job training course, 
followed by three weeks of on-the-
job training. During this program, 
recruits must establish and maintain 
an appropriate level of fitness, and 
demonstrate an understanding of 
correctional centre practice and 
procedures, including undertaking 
the fully-funded Certificate III in 
Correctional Practice through the  
NT Correctional Services,  
Registered Training Organisation 
(RTO (1074)). The remainder of the 
program is completed through on-
the-job training. 

In 2019–20, 33 officers successfully 
completed their traineeship, 
achieving a Certificate III in 
Correctional Practice.

On 7 November 2019, 21 new 
trainee correctional officers 
completed the off-the-job component 
of their 12-month training course, 
with 20 beginning duties in the Alice 
Springs Correctional Centre and one 
at the Barkly Work Camp. The course 
was a huge team effort from a diverse 
group of people that bonded well  
to support each other along the  
way. Well done to the trainees and  
we wish them the very best in their 
new career.

Vacation Employment
During the 2019–20 semester 
breaks, the department employed 
nine university students through 
the formal vacation employment 
program. This program provides  
an opportunity for students to  
gain some practical paid work 
experience while they are 
undertaking their studies.

Industrial Relations
After a lengthy negotiation  
process, the Correctional Officer 
(NTPS) 2017–2021 Enterprise 
Agreement was approved by the  
Fair Work Commission on  
29 October 2019 and formally began 
on 5 November 2019. 

On 1 July 2019 a number of 
corporate employees were 
transferred to DCIS and the 
Department of Infrastructure, 
Planning and Logistics. The 
change process and consultation 
is continuing, and the physical 
relocation of employees is expected 
to happen in 2020–21.

Licensing NT, NT WorkSafe and 
Consumer Affairs were amalgamated 
into the Regulatory Services Division. 
This supports a focus on the broader 
regulatory services reform work and 
the implementation of liquor reforms.

The operating model options 
identified through the 2019 
KPMG review of NT Correctional 
Services are with government for 
consideration.

Employment matters that arose or 
were supported by HR during the 
reporting period included:

• change management

• qualification requirements for 
senior correctional officers

• unfair dismissal claims

• safe working levels in correctional 
centres

• sentence management provisions

• flexible working arrangements

• consultation requirements

• interpretations of enterprise 
agreements workload reviews

• correct payments of entitlements.

Vacation employment students, Shaine Taborada and Lucy Quinlan, gaining work experience 
with the Solicitor for the Northern Territory
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Awards, Achievements and Milestones
Australia Day Awards  
Greg Shanahan, Keven Stout  
and Connell Brannelly
Chief Executive Officer, Greg 
Shanahan; Tennant Creek Parole 
and Probation Officer, Keven Stout 
and Darwin Correctional Centre 
Senior Correctional Officer, Connell 
Brannelly were recognised in this 
year’s Australia Day awards. We  
are incredibly proud of the work  
they have done to deserve this 
honour within the department,  
for the Territory and their  
individual communities.

Greg Shanahan was given the  
Public Service Medal for outstanding 
public service to the NT justice 
system, Keven Stout the Australia 
Day Volunteer Award for outstanding 
contributions to his local community 

and Connell Brannelly for service to 
the community of Darwin.

The Governor-General’s statement 
announcing Greg’s award explained 
how he has been instrumental in 
major reforms across correctional 
services, family and domestic 
violence, protection of children, 
justice for Aboriginal people, Project 
Veritas in the court system, and 
alcohol law reform.

‘It is a real honour to have been 
nominated’, he said. ‘An award like 
this would not be achievable without 
the excellence, dedication and hard 
work of the many people I have been 
fortunate to work with over  
the years.’

Keven is a well-respected and 
valued member of the Tennant 
Creek community. As well as his 
full time work with Tennant Creek 
Correctional Services, he also 
performs ongoing volunteer roles for 
around six different charity groups.   

In January 2020, Keven was 
seconded from the local Tennant 
Creek Rural Bush Fire Brigade to 
fight bush fires in Southern NSW. 

Connell was recognised for his 
work with the Palmerston Lions 
Club, which he and his wife Coralie 
founded and Connell is the President. 
The couple help to raise funds for the 
Palmerston community through Lions 
activities. Connell works full time as a 
Senior Correctional Officer with NT 
Correctional Services.

Greg Shanahan, Chief Executive Officer, 
received the Public Service Medal

Mayor of Tennant Creek, His Worship  
Steve Edgington and Keven Stout with his 
Australia Day Award 

Connell and Coralie Brannelly at  
Government House to receive their  
Order of Australia Medal

Chief Minister’s Awards Night
Mandy Crow and Raymond Wilde 
received Chief Minister’s Awards 
for outstanding and commendable 
service at the Chief Minister’s 
Awards night in November 2019. 

The department’s Transitional 
Accommodation Program was a 
finalist in the Excellence in Partnering 
category and the Supreme Court’s 
Language and Law Conference  
was a finalist in the Improving 
Inclusion and Diversity Employment 
Outcomes category.
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Mandy Crow
Mandy joined Territory Corrections 
in 2001 as a trainee prison officer 
in the Alice Springs Correctional 
Centre. Mandy’s ability and 
commitment in the ensuing 18 
years has seen her move through 
the ranks to her current position as 
Chief Correctional Officer. As well 
as the Chief Minister Public Sector 
Medal, Mandy was also awarded the 
2020 Australian Corrections Medal 
as part of the Queen’s Birthday 
Honours List.

The Australian Corrections Medal 
is awarded to people who have 
given distinguished service as a 
correctional service member.

Mandy is the first female correctional 
officer to manage a correctional 
facility in the Northern Territory. 
This is a significant achievement 
in a once male-dominated area. 
She demonstrates high-level 
skills, knowledge and expertise 
as a correctional officer, trainer, 
negotiator in enterprise bargaining, 
a staff association representative 
and as a manager. One of Mandy’s 
key strengths is her commitment 
to working with the community. 
Mandy has developed the Datjala 
Work Camp (DWC) at Nhulunbuy 
into an outstanding asset, offering 
Vocational Education and Training 
(VET) courses and employment 
opportunities for prisoners. 

Through her attention to engaging 
constructively and sensitively with 
Aboriginal organisations and the 
local Nhulunbuy community, Mandy 
has enabled the work camp to be 
well supported and integrated into 
activities within the community; 
making a positive difference to the 
Aboriginal prisoners at the camp and 
the broader community.

Mandy is a leader and a role model 
for all staff in Correctional Services 
and is a leader in the region. 

Mandy reiterated that winning the 
Australian Corrections Medal is a 
team effort from the dedicated staff 
at the DWC.

Raymond (Ray) Wilde
Originally a stockman on 
Queensland’s Linda Downs Station, 
Ray Wilde has worked in the 
Northern Territory Correctional 
Services for 15 years.

He started in the Darwin 
Correctional Centre as an Aboriginal 
Liaison Officer and is now a Program 
Facilitator delivering educational and 
skill development programs to people 
in custody. Ray loves working in the 
custodial environment and helping 
people to improve and change their 
lives.

He is passionate about teaching 
staff about Aboriginal culture and 
integrating this into culturally 

appropriate program and service 
delivery. Ray’s vast cultural 
knowledge has made a significant 
difference to custodial operations. 
Some examples are his leadership  
in developing a ‘sorry business’  
area, implementing the ‘Elders 
Visiting’ program and working  
with psychologists and other 
treatment staff to deliver individual 
and group programs.

Ray is a person who focuses on the 
positive and the way forward, and 
he regularly goes above and beyond 
his role.

Gold award winners at 
the Australian Criminal 
Intelligence Commission’s 
2019 Australian Crime and 
Violence Prevention awards 
The Women of Worth (WoW) 
Program, a collaboration between 
NT Correctional Services (NTCS) 
and the Young Women’s Christian 
Association (YWCA) were Gold 
award winners at the Australian 
Criminal Intelligence Commission’s 
2019 Australian Crime and Violence 
Prevention awards. WoW is delivered 
by the YWCA and provides six 
months pre and post release support 
to female offenders in key transition 
areas including housing, training 
and employment pathways and 
reconnecting with children, family 
and community.

NT Training Awards 2019
NTCS was presented with the 
Industry Collaboration Award for 
their ongoing work with Batchelor 
Institute of Indigenous Tertiary 
Education. The partnership delivers 
education and training courses for 
Aboriginal prisoners as part of their 
rehabilitation programs.

Mandy Crow receiving the Chief Minister’s 
Public Sector Medal 

Raymond (Ray) Wilde receiving his Chief 
Minister’s Public Sector Medal.
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The Donna Dreier 
Professional  
Development Award 
The Donna Dreier Award recognises 
the achievements of individuals  
who have demonstrated  
exceptional potential and professional 
excellence in the early years of their 
legal career.

The 2019 award recipient was 
Sarah Strzelecki. Sarah started with 
SFNT in September 2014 in an 
Administrative role while studying a 
Bachelor of Laws and on graduating, 
won a placement in the SFNT 
Graduate Program. Sarah completed 
her Bachelor of Laws (Second Class 
A Honours) from Charles Darwin 

University in 2016 and was admitted 
to practice in the Supreme Court of 
the Northern Territory in October 
2016 and to the High Court of 
Australia in March 2018.  

Sarah’s areas of practice include 
the Royal Commission into Youth 
Detention and Care and Protection 
of Children, civil litigation and youth 
claims. Sarah is studying a Masters of 
Legal Practice through the Australian 
National University (ANU) and she 
intends to use her award to continue 
her Master’s degree by doing at 
least one more course relating to her 
current position within the Youth 
Claims Team.

COVID-19 – GOING ABOVE AND BEYOND

Rebecca Plummer, Principal 
Registrar and Director of the 
Local Court
Rebecca led the response to 
COVID-19 on behalf of the Northern 
Territory Local Court. Rebecca 
showed extraordinary leadership 
by developing plans to both reduce 
services and then continue services 
operating at a reduced capacity 
during the pandemic. Rebecca 
worked extraordinarily long hours 
and engaged with dozens of 

stakeholders while keeping staff 
and management informed of 
key decisions. Rebecca drove the 
introduction of technical solutions 
such as WebEx. In the words of 
the Chief Judge, Elizabeth Morris, 
‘she was always two steps in front 
of everyone’. Rebecca was a key 
contributor to the Australasian Court 
Administrators Group during the 
early stages of the pandemic and 
still chairs a daily video link with NT 
Court Registrars. Rebecca is now 
leading the Court’s return to full 
services and has recently issued a 
‘Resumed Services Plan’. 

Leonique Swart and Fiona 
Hardy, Principal Policy 
Lawyers, Legal Policy
It was identified early on in the health 
emergency that there was a need 
for expert, co-ordinated legal advice 
on health and public safety issues. 
Leonique Swart co-ordinated all 
requests for advice. When it became 
apparent that advice was needed on a 
range of issues and quickly, Leonique 
teamed up with Fiona Hardy to 
provide legal advice to government 
agencies as well as directly to the 

CHO and Commissioner of Police on 
complex legal and legislative issues 
at the most critical points of the 
COVID-19 health emergency. In the 
early stages of the health emergency, 
Leonique and Fiona made themselves 
available 24/7 to provide this advice, 
balancing this with family life. 
Leonique and Fiona’s advice informed 
the development of a number of 
Chief Health Officer directions as 
well as urgent legislative reforms. 
They went above and beyond their 
duties to provide this service to 
government during a critical and 
uncertain time.

The Department of Health 
acknowledged the outstanding 
contribution made by Leonique, Fiona 
and their team and stated:

‘Leonique offered her immediate 
support to DOH and has not stopped 
working since. Shortly thereafter 
Fiona joined Leonique in this work 
and the two of them have been of 
invaluable assistance to DOH. They 
have worked tirelessly and have been 
continuously available to assist DOH. 
The CHO Directions necessarily 
impact on people’s everyday lives. It is 
essential that they be robust, legally 

Sarah Strzelecki receiving the Donna Dreier 
Professional Development Award

Rebecca Plummer, Principal Registrar and 
Director of the Local Court
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enforceable and fit for purpose for 
the NT. The Territory is the safest 
place in Australia thanks to the 
restrictions imposed by the CHO 
Directions. The CHO Directions 
would not be what they are without 
the essential legal advice provided 
by Leonique and Fiona... In addition 
to the CHO Directions, DOH has 
introduced two urgent bills in the 
last two sittings as a direct result 
of advice received from AGD…We 
couldn’t do it without them.’ 

Juanita Jones, Manager 
Elders Visitors Program,  
NT Correctional Services 
The Elders Visiting Program recruits 
Elders from communities across the 
NT who form an integral network of 
support for those in custody and their 
families and communities. The Elders 
visit prisoners, advise on cultural 
considerations and reintegration 
preparations. The Elders also support 
cultural ceremonies for those in 
custody. During the COVID-19 
pandemic restrictions Elders have 
been unable to travel in to visit 
prisoners and Juanita and her team 
have been instrumental in continuing 
the contact and support for Elders  
in their community. 

Biosecurity travel restrictions 
to remote communities were 
introduced as part of the COVID-19 
pandemic response to protect people 
in remote communities. People 
leaving custody however still needed 
to return home at the completion of 
their sentence. Juanita played a major 
role in overcoming the obstacles 
preventing prisoners and people 
on parole/community corrections 
orders from being rehabilitated back 
to their home community because 
of the biosecurity borders during 
the COVID-19 crisis. Juanita was 
influential in having key stakeholders 
recognise prison establishments as 
being a 14 day quarantine station, 
she then negotiated with key 
stakeholders, the transport providers, 

health providers, land councils and 
the resettlement teams in prison to 
help develop seamless plans in what 
was otherwise a no-go situation.

Many staff played a key role in the 
management of corrections during 
the COVID-19 crisis but Juanita is  
an example of someone who showed 
tenacity, resolve, determination and 
went above and beyond what she 
would have normally been expected 
to do. Juanita’s commitment to 
helping those who have served 
their sentence return to remote 
communities and to supporting 
communities and Elders stood out  
in her actions. 

Samantha Cubillo, Multi-
Media Officer, Corporate 
Communications team 
Samantha volunteered to join the 
strategic communications team 
at the Department of the Chief 
Minister during the initial stages of 
the COVID-19 response. Samantha 
was tasked with working on various 
design briefs, which included print 
and digital advertisements, posters, 
fact sheets, and data forms. Samantha 
was flexible and assisted over 
weekends and weekday evenings to 
quickly produce public information 
material to communicate rapidly 
changing social restrictions. The 
communications team at DCM could 
not think more highly of Samantha 
and would be happy to have her join 
our team again.

Leonique Swart and Fiona Hardy, Principal Policy Lawyers, Legal Policy

Juanita Jones, Manager Elders Visitors 
Program, NT Correctional Services

Samantha Cubillo, Multi-Media Officer, 
Corporate Communications team
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‘Sam quickly settled into the team 
and was always professional. She 
accurately interpreted briefs from 
the communications team and 
quickly identified the best outcomes 
within extremely tight timeframes.’ 
Dean Gardiner, Design and Brand 
Consultant, DCM.

‘Samantha’s willingness to assist  
and be a team player shone  
through from the get-go during 
the NTPS COVID-19 response.’ 
Geraldine Capp, Director of 
Communications, AGD.

Merrick Wade, Acting  
Deputy Superintendent, 
Darwin Correctional Centre
Merrick embraced the role 
of COVID-19 Lead at Darwin 
Correctional Precinct with vigour 
and pragmatism. He very quickly 
understood the gravity of the 
situation, the need to liaise with 
stakeholders and to rationalise a 
strategy which placed staff and 
prisoners at the very core. 

Merrick put together a 
multidisciplinary team to coordinate 
DCP’s preparations, continually 
accepting advice from health 
professionals and preparing 
regular communications to keep 
stakeholders informed of progress 
and alterations to normal business.

Merrick has also implemented 
local initiatives as part of the DCP 
Pandemic Contingency Plan, which 
include daily announcements on 
physical distancing and hand hygiene, 
poster distribution and inspections, 
coordination of supplies across 
the precinct, changes to court 
appearances and the implementation 
of a perimeter checkpoint with a 
boom gate to name a few.

Superintendent Jon Jones said ‘I am 
proud of Merrick’s hard work and 
diligence.’ 

 
Ken James, Community 
Corrections (Wadeye)
Ken James is the Community 
Corrections team leader based at 
the remote coastal community of 
Wadeye, more than 400 kilometres 
southwest of Darwin by road.

The office covers the West Daly 
region with a population of more than 
3000 spread across the communities 
of Nganambala, Peppimenarti 
and Ngaanmarriyanga and many 
outstations.

A born and bred Territorian, Ken 
grew up in Darwin’s northern 
suburbs and completed his secondary 
school education at Nightcliff  
High School.

Challenges are part of the job 
including erratic telecommunications, 
extreme weather conditions  
and managing situations where 
disputes between clan groups can 
spark unrest. 

Supporting prisoners to get back on 
the right path is what motivates Ken 
and he says it’s often the small things 
that make a big difference. During the 
COVID-19 restrictions Ken worked 
with the families of offenders due for 
release from prison, to use increased 
Centrelink payments to purchase 
airfares to enable the offenders to 
be repatriated home to the safety of 
their communities.

The NT Correctional Services 
Commissioner commended James 

and said ‘thank you for the work 
you are doing under difficult 
circumstances to provide support to 
NTCS clients. I acknowledge this is 
well outside your normal business 
and it is enormously appreciated 
by NTCS, the community and the 
prisoners’ families.’

Bridget Davey, Alice Springs 
Correctional Centre
Ms Davey has been instrumental 
in the development and 
implementation of the COVID-19 
planning for ASCC. She has 
dedicated significant time and 
gone above and beyond to ensure 
that ASCC has been able to keep 
staff and prisoners safe during 
the pandemic. This has required 
extensive consultation with various 
groups to ensure we are working 
with the most up to date information 
so we could implement the most 
effective safety measures. As the 
COVID-19 crisis eased she then 
turned her focus to ensuring 
that our step down planning was 
appropriate so the facility could work 
back towards previous operations in 
a safe and timely manner.

Chris Galati, Team Leader, 
Community Corrections 
Casuarina
Chris Galati is an active Army 
Reserves member attached to 
Royal Australian Corps of Transport 
out of the NORFORCE transport 

Bridget Davey going above and beyond during 
COVID-19

Ken James going above and beyond  
during COVID-19
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yard Larrakeyah. Chris regularly 
participates in Army Reserve service. 

In May 2020, Chris participated 
in Army Reserve duties which 
provided support for NT COVID-19 
checkpoints. His duties included 
training Army Reservists, some 
of who were members of remote 
Aboriginal communities, to drive 
a number of vehicles in various 
environments, as well as tasks to 

load stores onto ‘white fleet vehicles’. 
They then transported those stores 
to various COVID-19 checkpoints, 
jointly run by Australian Federal 
Police and Australian Defence Force 
members, consisting mainly of 
reserve defence members.

Chris is able to apply learnings from 
his role in the Army Reserves to his 
work with Corrections. In his driver 
training role he often works with 

young Aboriginal defence members 
who are able to offer insight into  
their life and culture. This forms part 
of his thinking when dealing with 
Aboriginal offenders. Chris’ role in 
defence often includes mentoring 
students, helping guide them through 
life choices and assisting them with 
sorting out fines so suspended 
licenses can be reinstated. 

RECOGNITION – MEMORABLE MOMENTS

Chris Galati going above and beyond during 
COVID-19

Leanne Liddle  
Menzies Oration 2019
Each year, Menzies holds its Oration 
as a public lecture to stimulate and 
challenge the Australian public 
on a topic related to their work in 
Indigenous and global and tropical 
health. In October 2019, Leanne 
Liddle, Director of the Aboriginal 
Justice Unit, put the spotlight on 
improving justice outcomes for 
Aboriginal Territorians in her  
Menzies Oration.

Professor Alan Cass said ‘Most of the 
feedback from the Oration is very 
positive with many people saying it’s 
about time these issues were talked 
about openly.

They’re telling me it’s widened their 
understanding of the key issues 
especially around the corrosive 
effects of systemic discrimination 
based on race.’

NT Supreme Court address
Leanne Liddle also delivered this 
year’s NT Supreme Court address for 
the Australian Disputes Centre.

Leanne spoke about how Alternative 
Dispute Resolution (ADR) can 
help lift Aboriginal people out of 
disadvantage. She refuted claims 
that ADR is a second-rate system of 
backyard justice and discusses the 
need to use ADR in all its forms to 
improve the levels of disadvantage 
for Aboriginal people.

ADR can play a key role in addressing 
these issues, but it requires 
practitioners to take a steady and 
sensible path away from romanticised 
generic views and transcending 
the many invalid assumptions and 
arguments that have complicated the 
justice space for decades.

Leanne Liddle with Professor Alan Cass, Director Menzies School of Health Research
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New Judge
Meredith Day Huntingford was 
appointed as a Judge of the Local 
Court of the Northern Territory.

Meredith was Deputy Chief 
Executive Officer of the department 
for nearly six-years and is a highly 
respected legal practitioner who is 
well known across the Territory.

She has practiced law in the Northern 
Territory since 1987 in a wide 
range of areas including workers’ 
compensation, child protection and 
domestic violence.

Prior to being appointed as Deputy 
CEO, Meredith served as the 
Director of Litigation at the Solicitor 
for the Northern Territory, Judicial 
Registrar of the Local Court and  
head of legal for the Department  
of Health.

Outside of government, Meredith has 
worked as a law lecturer at Charles 
Darwin University and a partner at 
law firm Hunt and Hunt.

NTCS Commissioner’s 
Commendation
Luke Tipuamantumirri, Tiwi Islands 
Community Corrections received 
a Commissioner’s Commendation 
for his 20 year commitment as a 
Community Probation and Parole 
Officer, showcasing his excellent 
skills in community engagement and 
networking. Luke provides invaluable 
cultural links as a respected elder 
of the Tiwi Islands through his 
engagement with NT Correctional 
Services, offenders, their families, 
stakeholders and victims. 

Luke Tipuamantumirri receiving his Commissioner’s Commendation from Commissioner  
Scott McNairn

Meredith Day Huntingford, new Judge of  
the Local Court

RECOGNITION – NTPS SERVICE MILESTONES
Every year, eligible employees 
who reach service milestones are 
recognised for their service to the 
Northern Territory Public Sector. In 
2020, 104 departmental employees 
were recognised:

• four employees with 40 years  
of service

• five employees with 35 years  
of service

• six employees with 30 years  
of service

• twenty-one employees with  
20 years of service

• sixty-eight employees with  
10 years of service.

Employees with milestones of  
25 or more years of service are 
invited to a ministerial hosted 
function. Ten employees chose 
to have their service formally 
recognised at the function. 

Anthony (Tony) Waite  
– 40 years
Tony started in the NT Public Sector 
in 1979 as a Technical Officer 1 
level with Water Resources. He 
has worked in many government 
departments including Transport and 
Works, Mines and Energy, Business, 
Education, Attorney-Generals and 
Lands, Planning and Environment. As 
a specialist in Work Health and Safety 

management, he has spent over 40 
years in the energy, resource and 
primary industry sectors.

Throughout his career Tony has held 
many senior positions and continues 
to provide specialist advice on a 
wide range of work health and safety 
matters including Major Hazard 
Facilities (such as the Inpex and 
ConnocoPhillips LNG plants), mining 
and petroleum activities, hazardous 
chemicals and explosives and more 
recently, assisting in developing 
processes and assessing Enforceable 
Undertakings.
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Joseph (Joe) Pisani – 40 years
Joe first joined the NT Public  
Sector in 1979 as a Welding 
Supervisor with the NT Electricity 
Commission, working at the Stokes 
Hill Power Station.

In 1986, Joe joined the Industrial 
Safety Division in the former 
Department of Mines and Energy 
(DME), as a Construction Safety 
Inspector. The Industrial Safety 
Division would later separate from 
DME to form the Work Health 
Authority, the precursor to  
NT WorkSafe.

During his time with NT WorkSafe 
Joe specialised in a number of sectors 
including construction, mining, 
asbestos, demolition and gas safety 
and contributed to the training 
of new NT WorkSafe inspectors 
providing valuable technical 
experience.

Joe resigned from the government in 
June 2020 after 41 years of service.

Frieda Evans – 40 years
Frieda started with the NT Public 
Sector in the Library at the 
Department of Law in September 
1978. In 1979 she moved to the 
Department of Mines and Energy  
to set up their library and from there 
transferred to the Department of 
Treasury as the Library Manager.  
She then transferred to the 

Department of the Attorney-General 
and Justice as the Courts Library 
Manager. 

Frieda has been the Courts Librarian 
for over 20 years, providing services 
for the Northern Territory judges, 
magistrates and the legal profession. 
She has also been the NT President 
of the Australian Law Librarians 
Association (ALLA) for more than  
10 years. 

Dean Wilson – 40 years
Dean commenced with the NT Public 
Sector in March 1979 working for 
the Water Division for 10 years as a 
Water Inspector. He then moved to 
the Magistrates Court for a further 
10 years as an orderly, undertaking 
administrative duties and acting 
Clerk of Courts. 

For the past 20 years he has worked 
with Community Corrections, initially 
as a Probation and Parole Officer 
before progressing to Probation 
and Parole Case Manager in 2011. 
Dean has worked in most of the 
remote Aboriginal communities in 
the Top End, relieving in the Groote, 
Nhulunbuy, Wadeye and Tiwi offices.

Dean has used his expertise coaching 
and mentoring officers  
and has made a significant 
contribution supporting Community 
Corrections programs.

David West – 35 years
David started in October 1983 
at Uluru-Kata Juta National Park 
with the former Conservation 
Commission. He worked through 
the ranks to Chief District Ranger 
in various locations throughout the 
Territory including Darwin Parks 
Region, Arnhem/Wetlands and 
Nitmiluk (Katherine Gorge) in the 
early days of joint management. He 
also served as the Chief Wildlife 
Ranger for the NT before taking up 
the role of Regional Director for 
Parks and Wildlife across the Top End 
which he held for more than 12 years. 

David then moved on to the Land 
Development Corporation as the 
Commercial Director, then took up 
the Project Director role for the 
Wirrina Redevelopment at Parap. 
He has stepped up in his current 
role of Contract Administrator for 
NT Secure Facilities Public Private 
Partnership – Darwin Correctional 
Precinct which he began in 2011. 

Carolyn Parsell – 35 years
Carolyn began with the NT Public 
Sector in July 1983, with Racing 
Gaming and Liquor (now Licensing 
NT). She has held a variety of roles 
relating to licensing and compliance 
activity. In 2002 she was appointed 
as Manager Licensing, which she held 
up until 2018, when she became the 
Manager, Board, 

Minister for Public Employment, the Hon. 
Gerald McCarthy, MLA and Tony Waite

Minister for Public Employment, the Hon. 
Gerald McCarthy, MLA  and Frieda Evans

Minister for Public Employment, the Hon. 
Gerald McCarthy, MLA and David West
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Commission and Support Services, 
assisting with the establishment of 
the new Liquor Commission. 

Louise Blacker – 30 years
Louise Blacker first joined NT 
Correctional Services in December 
1988, working in a variety of 
administrative roles within 
both a custodial and community 
corrections setting. After some 
time with the Department of 
Health, Louise returned to the Alice 
Springs Correctional Centre as an 

administration officer. In 2004 she 
became a Probation and Parole 
Officer and in 2007, Louise was 
promoted to the role of Senior 
Probation and Parole Officer. 

In 2008, Louise was promoted to the 
role of Indigenous Family Violence 
Offender program coordinator, 
travelling across the Territory and 
working with Elders to co-facilitate 
the delivery of the program in the 
community. In 2010, Louise returned 
to Community Corrections as the 
Manager of the Alice Springs office 
and in 2011 was promoted to the 
newly created role of Regional 
Manager. 

In 2018, Louise was the first nominee 
from the Northern Territory for the 
Australian Corrections Medal and 
was included in the 2018 Queens 
Birthday Honours list.

Steven Wheelhouse  
– 30 years 
Steven began his career with 
the NTPS in February 1989 with 
the Computing and Information 
Technology Division of NT Treasury, 
eventually taking up the role of 
Regional Manager in Alice Springs  
in 1994. 

In 1998, Steven returned to  
Darwin with the Department 
of Transport and Works and in 
October 2008 he transferred to the 
Department of Justice – Community 
Justice Policy as Senior Policy and 
Program Manager.

In July 2013, Steven transferred 
within the department to Agency 
Coordination and in April 2014 
became the Director of Crime 
Victims Services Unit.

Claudette Perera – 30 years
Claudette started her career with 
the NTPS in February 1989, working 
with Racing, Gaming and Liquor in 
administrative roles in reception, 
records management and licensing 
before retiring in February 2020.

Claudette made significant 
contributions to the gaming 
industry through the processing 
of machine manager and machine 
repairer licenses and major lottery 
approvals and acquittals. She was 
also actively involved in the testing, 
implementation and use of the 
various licensing schemes under the 
Licensing and Compliance System. 

Minister for Public Employment, the Hon. 
Gerald McCarthy, MLA and Carolyn Parsell

Commissioner for Public Employment,  
Vicki Telfer and Louise Blacker

Minister for Public Employment, the 
Hon. Gerald McCarthy, MLA and Steven 
Wheelhouse

Minister for Public Employment, the Hon. 
Gerald McCarthy, MLA and Claudette Perera
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NATIONAL CORRECTIONS DAY GRADUATION  
AND RECOGNITION OF MILESTONES CEREMONY
National Corrections Day is an opportunity for all jurisdictions around Australia to recognise  
their colleagues, share experiences and celebrate their achievements. It provides an opportunity to 
promote the positive programs being undertaken at NT correctional facilities and to recognise and 
acknowledge the valuable contributions each employee makes on a daily basis. This year’s theme for 
Corrections Day 2020 in the Northern Territory was ‘Transforming through Correctional Reform’.

The department celebrated National Corrections Day on Friday 17 January 2020, with events taking place in  
each correctional facility and office. 

The following achievements were recognised.

ACHIEVEMENTS NO. OF EMPLOYEES

Education Awards 96 

Service Recognition – All staff (custodial, non-custodial) 132 

Aboriginal Leadership Awards 11

Union Awards 5

Commissioner Commendations 16

Commissioner Partnership Commendations 3

Recognition of Service Elders Visiting Program (15 years) 5

Total 268

Acting Deputy Commissioner Bill Carroll presented Kay Horsburgh, Chief Correctional Officer in charge of the Barkly 
Work Camp, her certificate of recognition for 20 years of service. Bill Carroll was the Chief Correctional Officer when 
Kay Horsburgh’s training course marched out just over 20 years ago.
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Corporate Citizenship and Social 
Responsibility
Rotary fundraising 
Team Leader, Tamara Redding, set up 
a container recycling program in the 
Katherine Community Corrections 
office and held regular fundraisers 
throughout the year to support the 
Rotary “End Polio Now” campaign. 
Throughout the year, $1 200 was 
raised for this cause. 

Supporting community 
events
Crime Victims Services Unit held 
a fundraising lunch for Jeans for 
Genes Day in August raising $100 for 
research into genetic diseases.

CVSU also held an R U OK? breakfast 
in September 2019.

2019–20 Australian bushfires
Keven Stout, an Australia Day 
Volunteer Award recipient this year, 
was seconded in January 2020 from 
the local Tennant Creek Rural Bush 
Fire Brigade to fight bush fires in 
several locations in NSW – mainly 
around Southern Coast NSW (Bega, 
Bermiguie, Noorama and Bodella). 
This was rather dangerous work. 
His unit had a large tree roll down a 
hill, impacting their tanker response 
vehicle as his team was working on 
containment lines attempting to push 
back a fire.

Christmas giving
Each year, the Aboriginal Strategy 
and Coordination Unit collect 
donations of gifts for the Darwin 
Aboriginal and Islander Women’s 
shelter. The gifts are for the women 
and children who are staying in the 
shelter over the Christmas period.

Once a quarter, divisions within 
Legal Services take turns to run a 
tea trolley, selling home-made goods 
in the Old Admiralty Tower. The 

proceeds from the December Tea 
Trolley are donated to a charity every 
Christmas, this year’s charity was 
Beyond Blue.  

Virgin Pulse Global Challenge
The Virgin Pulse Global Challenge is 
a health and wellbeing event, where 
teams of seven sign up to compete 
amongst thousands of other teams 
globally. The global challenge is a 
100-day virtual journey around the 
world. The teams track their daily 
activity and work towards a daily 
target of 10 000 steps, unlocking new 
locations as they make their virtual 
journey around the world.

Fifteen teams participated in the 
challenge, which began on  
22 May 2019 and finished on  
29 August 2019. The teams 
completed a total of 93 917 059 
steps with a daily average of 11 581 
steps. The Desk Demons, a mixed 
team from across the department, 
took first place for the department 
and 6 179 in the world, completing  
7 176 kilometres with a daily average 
of 17 249 steps per team member.

Katherine Head Space 
fundraising 
Community Corrections Team 
Leaders Trudi Hartley, Tamara 
Redding and Michelle de Masson 
undertook a push up challenge to 
raise awareness of mental health 
issues in the Katherine region. They 
completed 3 046 push ups in three 
weeks, raising $950 for Katherine 
Head Space. 

Drink driver program 
Probation and Parole Officer, Sharon 
Kinraid from the Borroloola office 
has facilitated the enrolments and 
followed up participants for the first 
drink driving program in Borroloola 
in more than two years. Sharon has 
helped 15 participants enrol and pay 
off their program through Centrepay 
deductions to In Gear Australia who 
are the facilitators of the program. 
Sharon continues to support the 
Borroloola community in training and 
programs to achieve better outcomes 
for the residents. 
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Employment Instructions
Under the Public Sector Employment and Management Act 1993, Employment Instructions provide direction to 
departments on human resource management matters. The department’s performance against each employment 
instruction is detailed below.

EMPLOYMENT INSTRUCTIONS ACTION
No. 1 – Filling Vacancies • 209 advertised vacancies were finalised. 

• Five promotion appeals relating to recruitment processes lodged.

• Four grievances regarding the selection process were lodged.
No. 2 – Probation • The department has a probation procedure consistent with legislation on our intranet 

site. Managers monitor probationary reports and timeframes. 

• Two employees were terminated during the probation process.

• No grievances regarding termination of probationary period were lodged.
No. 3 – Natural Justice • The principles of natural justice are available to all employees. Natural justice is 

adhered to in all dealings with employees and reflected appropriately in internal 
policies and procedures.

No. 4 – Employee Performance 
Management and Development 
Systems

• The department’s annual Individual Performance Review (IPR) process integrates the 
department’s planning framework and objectives with employees’ work priorities and 
the department’s strategic plan.

No. 5 – Medical Examinations • Seven employees were directed to attend independent medical examinations during 
2019–20.

No. 6 – Performance and Inability • There were five new cases relating to inability during the year.

• Two employees participated in a performance improvement plan.
No. 7 – Discipline • Fifteen disciplinary matters were finalised during the year. Reasons included failure 

to uphold the performance and conduct principles and disregarding lawful directions. 
Three discipline appeals were lodged.

No. 8 – Internal Complaints and 
Section 59 Grievance Reviews

• Twenty-seven complaints were received throughout the year.

• Sixteen related to inappropriate behaviour.
No. 9 – Employment Records • DCIS stores employment records on personnel files for the department. The 

department complies with department delegations and the DCIS policy regarding 
access to these files.

• Regular training is provided to employees regarding requirements to manage records 
electronically.

No. 10 – EEO Programs • The department actively participates in the Disability Employment Program and has 
two Special Measures Plans for Aboriginal employees.

No. 11 – Occupational Health and 
Safety

• Refer to the Governance section

No. 12 – Code of Conduct • New employees are made aware of the Code of Conduct through their appointment 
documents and the online induction process. 

• Policies on conflict of interest, acceptance of gifts and benefits and outside 
employment are available on the intranet site.

No. 13 – Appropriate Workplace 
Behaviour

• The department has an Appropriate Workplace Behaviour policy on our intranet site.
• In-house training sessions on Appropriate Workplace Behaviour were provided to 

specific areas in 2019–20.
No. 14 – Redeployment and 
Redundancy Procedures

• The department adheres to the redeployment and redundancy provisions.

• One employee was made redundant. 
No. 15 – Special Measures 
Development of internal procedures 
with regards to the requirements of 
special measure programs

• The department has a specific special measures plan, which provides for Aboriginal 
applicants to be given priority consideration before other applicants for AO1–AO3 
advertised vacancies.

• Two positions are designated for Aboriginal Law Graduates in the Graduate 
Development Program.
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FAST FACTS

81%  
of FOI requests received  
2019–20 completed 

183  
Acts administered  
by the department

28  
AGD Bills enacted
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Governance Framework
The department introduced a new governance framework in July 2019, providing a conceptual structure 
and set of rules. This framework outlines how our governance practices set and link the direction of 
department activities, as well as guide their management and control to achieve required outcomes.

The design of our governance framework provides 
relevant stakeholders with visibility of the department’s 
performance and confidence in conformance with 
applicable legislative and policy requirements. These 
stakeholders include the Executive Management Group, 
the Executive Leadership Group, Northern Territory 
Government and Parliament. Further, the framework 
meets the community’s expectations of openness, 
transparency and the integrity of our services.

The new framework aligns our structure and planning, 
risk management, decision-making, management and 
reporting activities with our corporate, legislative and 
regulatory requirements.

There are two components to the framework: an index 
of governance resources hyperlinked to relevant 
governance-related information, providing employees 
with stronger links to practical governance tools 
and resources available; and a user-friendly graphic 
representation with a summary of the principle elements. 

The framework design is simple. It reflects modern 
principles and practices to ensure that it is accessible 
to our employees and stakeholders, and clearly 
demonstrates the interconnectedness of our principle 
elements, as demonstrated in the diagram below.

AGD governance framework

Strategic 
Plan

Legislation and Policy
Our actions and decisions are made in 
line with relevant legislation and policy,
including whole of government policies
and those approved by our Chief
Executive Officer and division heads.

Ethics and
Integrity
We uphold the highest
standards of practice,
reflect the department’s
values and act with 
integrity in all that we do.

Finance and
Performance
We manage our finances and 
assets responsibly and make sure 
that we achieve value for Territory
in everything we do. We monitor
and review performance and 
results to establish priorities.

Risk and Audit
We actively identify and manage
risks in our department. Internal 
and external audits and 
investigations provide us with 
assurance that our controls are 
compliant, work effectively, and 
identify areas for improvement.

Plans and Procedures
Our plans and procedures align with government
objectives and how we expect to achieve them. Whole of
government and department procedures provide more
detail for employees who develop and implement the 
plans.

People and
Leadership
Our leaders encourage 
and guide sound 
governance practices and 
accountable decision 
making, and consider our
people our most important
asset.

Communication and Engagement
We communicate and engage with each other and the 
community before, during and after making changes
that will affect people, and share information and 
innovative ideas with peers. We make sure that people
understand what is happening and why, and what their
rights are, including their right to make a complaint.

Management and
Oversight
We make sure we maintain clear
roles, responsibilities and 
transparency around decisions,
performance and the operations of
the department.

Legislation 
and Policy Management 

and Oversight

Communication 
and Engagement

People and 
Leadership

Plans and 
Procedures

Risk and 
Audit

Finance and 
Performance

Ethics and 
Integrity
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Reviews and Audits
Audit Services reports to the CEO and in 2019–20 conducted 19 internal audits or reviews, which are 
tabled at Audit and Risk Committee meetings. In addition, a further seven were underway at the end of 
the reporting period. The Auditor-General for the Northern Territory conducted seven audits, reviews 
and assessments during the reporting period.

Audits/Reviews reported to the Audit and Risk Committee in 2019–20 by Audit Services

AUDIT/REVIEW
NO. OF 
AUDITS

Cash floats – Darwin 1

Travel audit – outside of travel policy 1

Northern Territory Legal Services panel review 1

Requested division procurement audit 1

Official travel audit 1

Licensing – specific process review 1

Recruitment process review 1

Procurement – Value for Territory audit 1

Darwin Correctional Centre – stock take assurance 1

Darwin Correctional Centre – cash floats 1

Department conflict of interest review 1

Cabinet information security review 1

Portable and attractive items audit 1

Cash floats – Katherine 1

Public Guardian general financial audit 1

Grants process review for the Department of Trade, Business and Innovation 2

Community Corrections branch general financial audit 2

Total 19

Audits reported by the 
Auditor-General’s Office

Audits/Reviews
• Department of the Attorney-

General and Justice End of Year 
Review 2018–19

• Common Funds of the  
Public Trustee Financial 
Statements Audit for the year 
ended 30 June 2019

• Office of the Public Trustee – 
Interim Financial Statements Audit 
for the year ended 30 June 2020

• Agency Compliance Audit

• Managing conflicts of interest 
survey

• Performance management system 
audit – prisoner money

• Information Technology audit 
– Pronto and the Integrated 
Offender Management System.

Audit Services and the Audit and 
Risk Committee monitor the 
recommendations and agreed actions 
arising out of audits until acquitted or 
the risk accepted by the risk owner.

Divisional risk assessments and 
mitigation strategies substantially 
inform internal audit planning by 
Audit Services.
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Information Act 2002
The Information Act 2002 provides a general right of access to government information 
held by the department, limited only in those circumstances where the disclosure of 
certain information would be contrary to public interest. The Act also protects the 
privacy of personal information held by the department.

Section 11 of the Act requires the department to publish, at least annually, information about:

• the department’s structure and functions

• the types of government information held by the department and whether that information may
be accessed

• the procedures for obtaining access to government information or correcting personal
information held by the department.

The department’s website lists all information held by the department and is available to help 
people interested in making an application under the Act.

The table below provides an overview of applications received and actioned by the department 
under the Act in 2019–20.

APPLICATIONS RECEIVED
NO OF 

APPLICATIONS 

Applications carried forward from 2018–19

To access personal and non-personal information 1

To access personal information 8

To access non-personal information 5

New Applications in 2019–20

To access personal and non-personal information 2

To access personal information 196

To access non-personal information 38

Total Applications 250

Applications withdrawn 2

Applications transferred to another agency 1

Total applications finalised in 2019–20 205

Applications on hand at 30 June 2020 42

NT Correctional Services operates an administrative access scheme, which gives past and current 
prisoners access to most of their records held by the department. The scheme does not operate 
under the Act. The information coordinator in the Professional Standards Unit processes requests 
made under this scheme.

INFORMATION MANAGEMENT
This year commenced with new ‘Shared Service’ arrangements for Information 
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Management under the 
Department of Corporate and 
Information Services (DCIS), 
Enterprise Corporate Services.

The Information Management Unit 
is responsible for ensuring the 
modernisation and compliance of 
statutory, regulatory, privacy and 
policy obligations for department-
wide information and records 
management. It is also responsible for 
providing specialist advice, training 
and delivery of efficient and effective 
information and records.

Records and Information 
Management reform
The department continues to 
progress the implementation and 
use of the government electronic 
recordkeeping management system, 
Territory Records Manager (TRM),  
to strengthen compliance, 
information sharing, and to meet 
changing business needs.

The department’s Electronic 
Document and Record Management 

Strategy (EDRMS) guides the 
implementation of reforms. It outlines 
a staged approach in refining file 
mapping and records management 
in business units, reviewing access 
and security, and enhancing staff 
capability in recordkeeping through  
targeted training.

Business Classification 
Scheme (BCS)
The implementation of the Northern 
Territory Government Business 
Classification Scheme (BCS) has 
been one of the major information 
management projects for the 
department. The BCS identifies 
activities carried out by various 
departments and determines the 
set of terms and conventions to 
be applied by all of government to 
classify, title and retrieve information. 
This change has introduced 
standardised TRM Classification 
Terms when titling records. The BCS 
consistently classifies and describes 
information, reducing ambiguity and 
duplication. The department’s 49 

retention and disposal schedules now 
map to the BCS and cross-reference 
with electronic and paper records.

This project is in the post-
implementation review phase,  
with new subjects for inclusion in the 
classification terms requested  
as required.

Electronic Document Records 
Management (EDRM)  
TRM training
One hundred and ninety-six 
employees received EDRM TRM 
basic training and attended TRM 
upgrade information sessions in 
2019–20.

Progress towards an electronic office
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Work Health and Safety 
Work Health and Safety 
management
The department prioritises a safe 
and healthy working environment for 
all workers, volunteers and visitors 
attending departmental premises, in 
accordance with the Work Health and 
Safety (National Uniform Legislation) 
Act 2011.

In 2019–20, the department 
continued to strengthen work health 
and safety (WHS) activities through:

• review of our Work Health and 
Safety Management System and 
related policies and procedures

• review of the department WHS 
action plan

• review of work health and safety 
induction material, incorporated 
within the department’s On-
boarding and Induction Guide

• development of a Work Health  
and Safety Awareness 
Communication Plan

• mapping of work health and safety 
and emergency management 
arrangements across 46 locations

• refinement of reporting to the 
Executive Leadership Group

• promotion of the upgraded online 
incident reporting system, Figtree, 
for employees

• increased monitoring of local 
workplace committee activities 
and compliance.

In addition, the department 
continued existing preventative 
measures to support the safety and 
wellbeing of its employees, including:

• annual refresher training for  
all correctional officers in  
de-escalation techniques: 
managing violent offenders and 
incidents that occur with prisoners 
to minimise injuries

• training in appropriate  
workplace behaviours, inclusive  
of Code of Conduct

• training and promotion on  
incident reporting

• promotion of training available 
through the Northern Territory 
Government workers’ 
compensation provider, Gallagher 
Bassett, across the workers’ 
compensation spectrum

• Monitoring of incidents by work 
health and safety committees.

We completed the 2019–20 review 
work and consulted with employees, 
local WHS committees and the 
executive. Some documents however, 
were not completed or implemented 
in the financial year. Finalisation 
of the reviews was delayed due 
to resources being diverted to 
support COVID-19 pandemic 
business continuity activities in 
the department. All reviews will be 
finalised in the new financial year.

The department’s WHS Oversight 
Committee and local committees 
continued to meet during the year 
and supported the department’s 
response to the COVID-19 pandemic. 
The AGD WHS Oversight Committee 
met five times during the year, with 
two meetings via teleconference, 
specifically to address COVID-19 
health, safety and wellbeing measures 
for employees. These meetings gave 
committee members the opportunity 
to raise any concerns or issues 
related to COVID-19, including the 
implementation of safety measures.

Local work health and safety 
committees supported the 
implementation of hygiene and 
physical distancing measures in all 
locations, and the implementation of 
workplace COVID-19 safety plans. 
They took an active role in messaging, 
signage, education and promotion of 
these measures.

Regular reporting of WHS activities 
through the Executive Leadership 
Group occurred, and the department 
continues to work towards enhancing 
reporting capability. 

Work Health and Safety 
incidents
An upgraded all of government 
incident reporting tool (figtree)  
was launched in 2019–20, and in part 
is attributed to the increase in the 
reporting of WHS incidents.  
A total of 228 incidents were 
reported in 2019–20, an increase  
of 28.5 per cent from last year.

The average age of an injured  
worker in the department was  
47 years. NT Correctional Services 
had the highest number of claims 
and incidents in the department, 
accounting for 82.7 per cent of new 
workers compensation claims and 
85.5 per cent of reported incidents.

The most common type of  
incident at 25.8 per cent was  
‘being hit by object’, defined as 
injuries resulting from the action  
of an object hitting the person, and 
includes accidental or deliberate 
push/assault by a person.

The next most common type of 
incident, accounting for 17.9 per 
cent was ‘body stressing.’ This 
encompasses injuries resulting 
from muscular stress. Typical body 
stressing injuries include muscle 
strains, back conditions, and 
tendonitis/tenosynovitis.  
Some work practices involving lifting 
and/or sustaining postures; using 
repetitive movements may increase a 
worker’s risk.
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Number of incidents by mechanism
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There were eleven reports to NT 
WorkSafe during 2019–20 of 
notifiable events, all related to NT 
Correctional Services (four reports 
related to the riot on 13 May 2020).

Only four events were notifiable, as 
defined under section 35 of the Work 
Health and Safety (National Uniform 
Legislation) Act 2011:

• Darwin Correctional Centre  
15 July 2019. A cable holding the 
Sally port door snapped and the 
door crashed to the ground. No 
one was injured.

• Alice Springs Correctional 
Centre 29 January 2020. This 
incident involved a contractor 
who was working on roller door 
at reception. The contractor did 
not secure the ladder correctly, 
resulting in them falling to the 
ground. Medical staff assisted  
the contractor and he was 
admitted to hospital.

• Darwin Correctional Centre  
8 May 2020. A fatal vehicle 
accident occurred within the 
facility grounds resulting in the 
death of a prisoner and is subject 
to an investigation.

• Darwin Correctional Centre  
13 May 2020. A disturbance 
occurred in the facility and 
prisoners started a fire. Multiple 
prison officers responded to the 
event, with several reporting 
difficulty seeing and breathing due 
to the smoke from the fire. Once 
the incident was contained the 
staff involved moved to a smoke-
free area until they had recovered 
enough to continue work.

Workers’ compensation
At the beginning of 2019–20,  
35 claims remained open from 
previous periods. During the year,  
58 new workers’ compensation 
claims were lodged and 53 claims 
closed. At 30 June 2020, 40 claims 
remained open.

The total amount paid in workers’ 
compensation claims during 2019–
20 was $2.5 million, which includes all 
financial transactions processed from 
new claims, and claims from previous 
periods. This is a 37.8 per cent 
increase in workers’ compensation 
claims expenses from the 2018–19 
figure of $1.5 million.
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Environmental Management
A positive impact of the 
COVID-19 pandemic was the 
innovative practices to support 
changed working conditions, 
including working from home 
arrangements. This resulted 
in an increase in the use of 
online platforms and tools and 
a reduction in travel during 
restrictive periods. Both 
have proved cost efficient 
as well as reducing impacts 
on the environment. We are 
currently evaluating a number 
of the temporary solutions 
implemented during this period 
for ongoing use.

Electronic office
The department continues to  
reduce its paper usage through  
the Electronic Document and 
Record Management (EDRMS) 
reform agenda, with all divisions 
and commissions in transition to the 
Territory Record Manager (TRM) 
environment. The executive team has 
lead the way and, as at  
30 June 2020, has fully transitioned.

The Northern Territory Civil and 
Administrative Tribunal is also 
contributing to an electronic 
environment through the introduced 
digitised ‘hearing books’ for  
complex hearings.

The Solicitor for the Northern 
Territory also operates a ‘less paper’ 
operation which has significantly 
reduced printing of documents with 
the use of digital signatures.

Reducing carbon emissions
The COVID-19 pandemic has 
resulted in a significant increase 
in the use of digital technology for 
contactless meetings during the year. 
Employees are being encouraged 
to incorporate these practices as 
business as usual, where practical, as 
cost-effective and environmentally 
friendly measures.

Project Zola, a Court and Tribunal 
Support Services initiative was 
completed this year, resulting in the 
installation of video-conferencing 
equipment in the court facilities  
at Borroloola, Wadeye, Tennant 
Creek, Yuendumu, Alyangula and 
Lake Evella.

The Northern Territory Civil and 
Administrative Tribunal has updated 
its application process which 
supports remote participation by 
video conferencing. This initiative 
along with the ‘hearing book’ enables 
remote participants to more fully 
participate in proceedings.

Reducing waste
The NT Redress Coordination Team 
identified concerns about waste such 
as food and single use items. 

The team introduced changes 
through:

• placing a box with re-useable bags 
near the exit door for team use

• putting re-usable coffee cups 
for shared use in the kitchen 
cupboards with a sign 

• placing notices with reminders 
about waste and using plastic 
straws on the fridge 

• having a plastic container for 
compostable food waste in the 
kitchen 

• creating a second-hand  
book library.

Some changes have been challenging; 
however, the team now composts 
around three kilograms of food waste 
each week.

Light Emitting Diode (LED) 
lighting
Programmed works continue to 
replace lighting in NT court facilities 
with energy efficient, eco-friendly 
LED lights.
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FAST FACTS

$399m   
total income of department  
in 2019–20

Output appropriation 
represents 

$52.4m  
paid in grants during  
2019–20

79.7%  
of total agency income

51%  
of the budget is allocated to 
Correctional Services
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Financial Statements Overview 
Financial performance
The budget and financial statements 
for 2019–20 for the Department of 
the Attorney-General and Justice 
(the department) are prepared on an 
accrual basis and provide information 
about the financial operations, 
balance sheet, changes in equity  
and cash flow of the department  
for the year.

The establishment of budgets and 
performance by output ensures that 
resource allocation decisions achieve 
the results intended by government. 
Note 3 to the financial statements 
provides details of the department’s 
performance by output group. The 
“Output Reporting” section of the 
annual report addresses further the 
general performance of outputs.

Net result for the year
The department performed to a 
published operating deficit for the 
year. Implicit in this is a draw down on 
the department’s accumulated funds. 
The net result for the year, before 
other comprehensive income items, 
is a deficit of $30.68 million, against 
the original published Budget Paper 
3 (BP3) budgeted deficit of $20.39 
million and an approved estimated 
end of year deficit of $24.84 million.

Against the planned net deficit of 
$20.39 million, the department 
attributes the additional  
$10.29 million deficit to a minor 
increase in unfunded depreciation 
($0.82 million), extensions to grant 
programs in line with Northern 
Territory Government COVID-19 
policies ($3.01 million) and higher 
than foreseeable employee costs 
attributed to rising prisoner numbers 
in the first three quarters  
($8.86 million). Additional funding, 
including a Treasurer’s Advance 

to meet unexpected costs  
($5.009 million), during the 
course of the year balances some 
of this additional expenditure. A 
minor increase in Commonwealth 
appropriation ($2.34 million) offsets 
the actual deficit.

Discussed briefly below are the key 
contributors to this result. Note 30 
to the financial statements provides 
the department’s performance in full 
against the BP3 budget.

Income

Correctional Services 

Court and Tribunal Support Services 

Independent Offices 

Regulatory Services 

Taxation Revenue 

Output Appropriation and Grants

Sales of Goods and Services 

Goods and Services Free of Charge 

Other Income

9%

3%
4%

2%

83%

Sales of goods and services – key contributors

Operating income by category
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The department recorded total income of $399.06 million, of which:

• Output appropriation represented 79.7% ($318.02 million) which was utilised to fund legal services (10.33%), 
correctional services (61.80%), court support services (9.69%), public prosecution services (3.81%), independent 
offices (2.81%), regulatory services (10.21%) and corporate and governance (1.35%).

• Commonwealth appropriation represented 3.2% ($12.69 million) of department income. National Partnerships on 
Legal Assistance Services and Northern Territory Remote Aboriginal Investment represent the lion’s share of this 
amount ($11.54 million).

• Sales of goods and services contributed 3.8% ($15.34 million). Revenue generating sources include search and 
lodgement fees by the Land Titles Office ($3.59 million), fines and penalties enforcement fees ($3.347 million), Public 
Trustee fees and commissions ($1.42 million), court fees and related charges ($1.43 million), insurance contributions 
to NT WorkSafe ($2.73 million), and prison industries and purchases by prisoners ($1.74 million).

• Goods and services received free of charge made up 8.8% ($35.02 million). This notional revenue reflects human 
resources, information technology, records management, procurement and payroll services provided by the 
Department of Corporate and Information Services (DCIS) along with repairs and maintenance undertaken by the 
Department of Infrastructure, Planning and Logistics (DIPL) and is offset by notional expenditure to the same value.

Note 3 provides a breakdown of operating income by output group.

Employee expenses

Purchase of goods and services

Other administrative costs

Depreciation/amortisation

Goods free of charge

Grants

Interest

45%

12%

18%

12%

8%

4%

Regulatory Services

Independent Offices

Correctional Services

Legal Services

53%

38% 7%
1%

Expenses 
Expenses by category

Grant expenditure by output group
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The department recorded 
expenditure of $429.74 million. The 
expenditure result reflects the impact 
of non-discretionary, extraordinary, 
and activity driven costs. To the 
extent possible, the department 
managed increased costs through the 
application of expenditure measures 
across the department; however, the 
department needed further offsets 
by a Treasurer’s Advance of  
$5.009 million. The department’s 
end of year expenditure result was 
$1.048 million higher than the final 
adjusted budget, which incorporated 
the Treasurer’s Advance and other 
approved budget adjustments 
throughout the year. Pre-COVID-19 
prisoner numbers in the first three 
quarters increased by more than 
40 and this contributes to higher 
Correctional Services costs over the 
previous year.

• Employee costs: the result finished 
$2.7 million above the final 
approved budget. 

• Costs for overtime related escorts, 
sick leave and empty rosters lines 
continue to feature with increases 
over the prior year, combined 
with unanticipated termination 
payments and COVID-19 
preparations and prisoner 
repatriations costs.

• Purchase of Goods and Services: 
this category of expense finished 
$0.70 million above the final 
approved budget with an asset 
write-down from the revaluation 
of department land and building 
assets offset by the impact of 
under budget services provided 
free of charge. 

• Grants expenditure: finished 
the year lower than budgeted, 
reflecting the impact of the timing 
of awarded Community Benefit 
Fund payments.

Balance sheet
• The balance of cash and 

deposits is below the prior year 
and incorporates the excess 
of operating payments over 
operating receipts for the year, 
the net impact of machinery of 
government transfers, payment of 
a Treasurer’s Advance at year-end, 
and unspent funds quarantined 
for the payment of awarded 
Community Benefit Fund grants.

• The reduction in Property, 
Plant and Equipment and Asset 
Revaluation Reserve are due to the 
impact of the revaluation of land 
and buildings as of 30 June 2020.
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Comprehensive Operating Statement
For the year ended 30 June 2020

INCOME NOTE 2020 
$000

2019 
$000

Taxation revenue 9 684 12 432

Grants and subsidies revenue 4a

     Current 1 105 1 119

Appropriation 4b

     Output 318 019 329 626

     Commonwealth 12 687 11 445

Sales of goods and services 4c 15 341 15 285

Goods and services received free of charge 5 35 019 15 264

Gain on disposal of assets 6 - 9

Other income 4d 7 205 6 169

TOTAL INCOME  3 399 060 391 349

EXPENSES

Employee expenses 194 112 190 067

Administrative expenses

     Purchases of goods and services 7 77 529 91 312

     Repairs and maintenance - 3 346

     Depreciation and amortisation 14,15,16 19 238 18 867

     Other administrative expenses1 36 931 15 127

Grants and subsidies expenses

     Current 52 358 48 333

Interest expenses 8 49 567 50 017

TOTAL EXPENSES 3 429 735 417 069

NET SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) (30 675) (25 720)

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Items that will not be reclassified to net surplus/deficit

Changes in asset revaluation surplus (27 011) -

TOTAL OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (27 011) -

COMPREHENSIVE RESULT (57 686) (25 720)
1 Includes DCIS service charges and DIPL repairs and maintenance service charges.

The comprehensive operating statement is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements.
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Balance Sheet
As at 30 June 2020

ASSETS NOTE 2020 
$000

2019 
$000

Current assets

     Cash and deposits 10 6 157 8 935

     Receivables 12 3 307 4 088

     Inventories 13 1 521 1 313

     Prepayments 504 209

Total current assets 11 489 14 545 

Non-current assets

     Property, plant and equipment 14, 23 741 859 771 388

     Intangibles 16a, 23 1 445 1 852

     Heritage and cultural assets 16b, 23 588 596

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS 743 892 773 836

TOTAL ASSETS 755 381 788 382

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities

     Deposits held 20 3 446 2 018

     Payables 17 24 372 26 855

     Borrowings and advances 18 5 534 5 039

     Provisions 19 29 196 27 210

Total current liabilities 62 548 61 122

Non-current liabilities

     Borrowings and advances 18 492 775 498 277

     Provisions 19 54 36

Total non-current liabilities 492 829 498 313

TOTAL LIABILITIES 555 377 559 435

NET ASSETS 200 003 228 946

EQUITY

     Capital 320 774 292 032

     Asset revaluation reserve 22 173 672 200 682

     Accumulated funds (294 443) (263 768)

TOTAL EQUITY 200 003 228 946

The balance sheet is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements.
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Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 30 June 2020

NOTE
EQUITY AT  

1 JULY 
COMPREHENSIVE  

RESULT

TRANSACTIONS 
WITH OWNERS IN 
THEIR CAPACITY 

AS OWNERS

EQUITY AT  
30 JUNE 

2019–20 $000 $000 $000 $000

Accumulated funds (263 768) (30 674) - (294 443)

(263 768) (30 674) - (294 443)

Reserves 22

Asset revaluation reserve 200 682 (27 011) - 173 672

200 682 (27 011) - 173 672

Capital – transactions  
with owners 292 032 292 032

Equity injections

     Capital appropriation 5 477 5 477

     Equity transfers in 18 449 18 449

     Other equity injections 4 816 4 816

292 032 - 28 742 320 774

Total equity at end  
of financial year 228 946 (57 685) 28 742 200 003

2018–19

Accumulated funds (238 048) (25 720) - (263 768)

(238 048) (25 720) - (263 768)

Reserves 22

Asset revaluation reserve 200 682 - - 200 682

200 682 - - 200 682

Capital – transactions  
with owners 275 344 275 344

Equity injections

     Capital appropriation 5 036 5 036

     Equity transfers in 6 601 6 601

     Other equity injections 5 101 5 101

Equity withdrawals

     Capital withdrawal (50) (50)

275 344  16 688 292 032

Total equity at end  
of financial year 237 978 (25 720) 16 688 228 946

The statement of changes in equity is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements.
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Cash Flow Statement
As at 30 June 2020

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES NOTE 2020 
$000

2019 
$000

Operating receipts

Taxes received 9 684 12 432

Grants and subsidies received

     Current 1 105 1 119

Appropriation 

     Output 318 019 329 626

     Commonwealth 12 687 11 445

Receipts from sales of goods and services 38 968 34 268

Total operating receipts 380 463 388 890

Operating payments

Payments to employees (193 698) (186 868)

Payments for goods and services (94 949) (107 298)

Grants and subsidies paid

     Current (51 899) (48 333)

Interest paid (49 683) (50 123)

Total operating payments (390 229) (392 622)

Net cash from/(used in) operating activities 11 (9 764) (3 732)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Investing payments

Purchases of assets 303 194

Total investing payments 303 194

Net cash from/(used in) investing activities 303 194
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CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES NOTE 2020 
$000

2019 
$000

Financing receipts

Deposits received 1 428 (1 923)

Equity injections

     Capital appropriation 5 477 5 036

     Other equity injections 4 816 5 102

Total financing receipts 11 721 8 215

Financing payments

Finance lease payments (5 038) (4 588)

Equity withdrawals (50)

Total financing payments (5 038) (4 638)

Net cash from/(used in) financing activities 11 6 683 3 627

Net increase/(decrease) in cash held (2 778) 38

Cash at beginning of financial year 8 935 8 897

CASH AT END OF FINANCIAL YEAR 10 6 157 8 935

The cash flow statement is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements.
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1. Objectives and Funding
The Department of the  
Attorney-General and Justice 
(the department) provides 
strategic law and legal policy 
services to government and 
delivers courts, custodial and 
community-based programs, 
prosecutions, regulatory, 
advocacy, guardianship, 
complaint resolution and  
registration services. 

The department’s core business is to:

• provide quality legal advice, 
representation and policy 
development to government

• provide custodial and community-
based programs, services and 
interventions for people who 
have offended or are at risk of 
offending, or need assistance to 
live cooperatively and effectively in 
the community

• provide support for the 
government’s legislative program

• provide support to victims of crime 

• provide support to courts, 
tribunals and independent offices 
to deliver dispute resolution 
services and protect the 
community’s legal rights 

• coordinate research and statistical 
data to support justice related 
government policies

• provide regulatory operations to 
support gambling, liquor, racing 
and other industries

• deliver Territory-wide regulation 
of workforce health and safety, 
dangerous goods, electrical safety 
and managing the Territory’s 
workers compensation and 
rehabilitation framework.

The department is predominantly 
funded by, and is dependent on, 
the receipt of parliamentary 
appropriations. The financial 
statements encompass all funds 

through which the department 
controls resources to carry on its 
functions and deliver outputs.  
During 2019–20 the department 
consisted of the following  
output groups:

Legal Services: provides civil 
litigation, commercial and native 
title legal services to government, 
manages the outsourcing of selected 
legal services and administers the 
scheme that provides financial 
support to victims of crime. In 
addition, the output group also 
provides strategic legal and social 
policy advice to government 
and monitors and coordinates 
the implementation of related 
government policies and research.

Correctional Services: contributes 
to community safety by providing 
custodial and community-based 
programs, services and interventions 
for people who have offended or 
are at risk of offending, or need 
assistance to live cooperatively and 
effectively in the community.

Court and Tribunal Support 
Services: provides administrative 
support services to enable courts 
and tribunals to administer justice 
for the community including registry 
and processing of case documents, 
support for trials and hearings, fines 
recovery and mediation services.

Director of Public Prosecutions: 
provides an independent public 
prosecution service for the Territory, 
and witness and victim support 
services throughout the criminal 
justice process through the  
Witness Assistance Service.

Independent Offices - comprising:

• Consumer Affairs: provides a 
regulatory framework where 
the community is informed 
on consumer rights and 
responsibilities, and responsible 
business conduct is promoted. 

• Anti-Discrimination Commission: 
provides anti-discrimination 
education, training and public 
awareness to the private sector, 
government and the general 
community. Accept, investigate 
and conciliate complaints, and 
conduct public hearings in respect 
of anti-discrimination matters. 
Provides complaint and advocacy 
services for people receiving 
treatment under the  
Mental Health and Related Services 
Act 1998, through the Community 
Visitor Program (CVP) and the 
Disability Services Act 1993.

• Registrar-General and Public 
Trustee: registers dealings with 
land and other property, powers of 
attorney, births, deaths, marriages 
and changes of name and sex. 
The Public Trustee provides 
will-making and registry, trustee 
and estate administration services, 
manages restrained and forfeited 
property under the Criminal 
Property Forfeiture Act 2002.

• Health and Community Services 
Complaints Commission: resolves 
complaints between users and 
providers of health and community 
services in the Territory, 
recommends improvements 
in the standard and quality of 
service delivery, and encourages 
an awareness of the rights and 
responsibilities of users and 
providers of health services and 
community services.
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• Children’s Commissioner: 
responsible for dealing with 
complaints related to the required 
services to vulnerable children 
in accordance with provisions 
contained in the Children’s 
Commissioner Act 2013, to monitor 
the administration of the Care and 
Protection of Children Act 2007, 
so far as it relates to vulnerable 
children, and to promote an 
understanding about the rights, 
interests and wellbeing of 
vulnerable children.

• Office of the Public Guardian: 
responsible for providing 
contemporary, best practice 
guardianship services. The office 
promotes the rights of Territorians 
with impaired capacity through 
strong and effective individual and 
systems advocacy, and provides 
information to the community and 

stakeholders about guardianship 
and related issues.

Regulatory Services – comprising:

• Licensing NT: administers the 
Territory’s licensing regimes. 
Licensing NT’s activities also 
include minimisation of potential 
harms to the community through 
targeted compliance activity in 
gaming, liquor, racing, consumer 
and trading environments. 
Licensing NT also provides funding 
support for gambling-related 
research, amelioration programs 
and community non-profit  
group projects.

• NT WorkSafe: provides advice, 
education and information to 
business, workers and the public 
relating to legislative compliance 
and regulations.

Corporate and Governance: 
provides a range of corporate and 
governance functions to support 
the department’s operations, 
including financial, communications, 
governance and risk services.

Additional information in relation 
to the department and its principal 
activities may be found in the 
“Our Performance” section of 
the Annual Report. A summary of 
financial information in the form of a 
Comprehensive Operating Statement 
by output group is provided  
at Note 3.

A) MACHINERY OF GOVERNMENT CHANGES
Transfers out
Details of transfer: Human resources, records 
management, fleet management and information 
technology functions transferred to the Department of 
Corporate and Information Services.

Basis of transfer: Administrative Arrangements Order  
24 October 2019.

Date of transfer: Effective from 1 July 2019.

The assets and liabilities transferred as a result of  
this change were as follows:

ASSETS $000
Cash (4 213)
Other assets 12

(4 201)
LIABILITIES
Payables (289)
Provisions 765

476
Net assets (4 677)

Details of transfer: Repairs and maintenance and 
associated functions transferred to the  
Department of Infrastructure, Planning and Logistics.

Basis of transfer: Administrative Arrangements  
Order 24 October 2019.

Date of transfer: Effective from 1 July 2019.  
The assets and liabilities transferred as a result of  
this change were as follows:

ASSETS $000
Cash (12)

(12)
LIABILITIES
Payables 2
Provisions 55

57
Net assets 45
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2. Statement of Significant  
Accounting Policies
A) STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE
The financial statements have 
been prepared in accordance with 
the requirements of the Financial 
Management Act 1995 and related 
Treasurer’s Directions. The Financial 
Management Act 1995 requires the 
department to prepare financial 
statements for the year ended  

30 June based on the form determined 
by the Treasurer. The form of the 
financial statements should include:

(i) a certification of the  
financial statements

(ii) a comprehensive operating 
statement

(iii) a balance sheet

(iv) a statement of changes  
in equity

(v) a cash flow statement and

(vi) applicable explanatory notes  
to the financial statements.

B) BASIS OF ACCOUNTING
The financial statements have 
been prepared using the accrual 
basis of accounting, which 
recognises the effect of financial 
transactions and events when 
they occur, rather than when 
cash is paid out or received. As 
part of the preparation of the 
financial statements, all intra 
department transactions and 
balances have been eliminated. 

Except where stated, the financial 
statements have also been prepared 
in accordance with the historical  
cost convention.

The form of the department financial 
statements is also consistent with 
the requirements of Australian 
accounting standards. The effects 
of all relevant new and revised 
standards and interpretations 
issued by the Australian Accounting 
Standards Board (AASB) that are 
effective for the current annual 
reporting period have  
been evaluated. 

Standards and 
interpretations effective  
from 2019–20

AASB 15 Revenue from contracts 
with a customer / AASB 1058 
Income for not-for-profit entities
AASB 15 Revenue from contracts 
with customers (AASB 15) 
supersedes AASB 111 Construction 
contracts, AASB 118 Revenue 
and related interpretations and 
applies, with limited exceptions, to 
all revenue arising from contracts 
with customers. Under AASB 15 
revenue from agreements that 
are enforceable, have sufficiently 
specific performance obligations 
and transfer of goods or services 
to the customer or third party 
beneficiary will be recognised when 
or as performance obligations are 
satisfied. AASB 15 requires entities 
to exercise judgement, taking into 
consideration all of the relevant facts 
and circumstances when assessing 
contracts with their customers.

AASB 1058 Income for not-for-
profit entities (AASB 1058) clarifies 
and simplifies income-recognition 
requirements that apply to not-for-
profit entities and replaces most of 
the not-for-profit provisions under 
AASB 1004 Contributions. AASB 
1058 applies to transactions where 
the consideration to acquire an asset 
is significantly less than fair value 

principally to enable the entity to 
further its objectives, and where 
volunteer services are received. 

In contrast with previous standards 
such as AASB 1004, AASB 1058 
allows deferral of income from capital 
grants where there is an enforceable 
contract with sufficiently specific 
performance obligations and the 
agreement does not require the 
department to transfer the asset 
to other parties. For such capital 
grants, the funding received is 
initially deferred in an unearned 
revenue liability and subsequently 
recognised as revenue as or when 
the department satisfies obligations 
under the agreement. Where funding 
is received from another Northern 
Territory Government-controlled 
entity other than Commonwealth 
funds on-passed by the Central 
Holding Authority, revenue is 
recognised upfront on receipt.

Under AASB 1058, the department 
will continue to recognise volunteer 
services only when the services 
would have been purchased if they 
had not been donated, and the 
fair value of those services can be 
measured reliably. This treatment is 
consistent with treatment in  
prior years.

In accordance with transition 
provisions, the department has 
applied the modified retrospective 
approach on transition to AASB 15 
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and AASB 1058, with the cumulative 
effect of applying both accounting 
standards recognised in accumulated 
funds or appropriate equity code  
at 1 July 2019. 

Accordingly, the comparative 
information presented for  
2018–19 has not been restated 
and is presented as previously 
reported. The department applied the 
accounting standards retrospectively 
to all contracts, including completed 
contracts, at 1 July 2019. Completed 
contracts include contracts where 
the department had recognised all 
revenue in prior periods under  
AASB 1004 Contributions.

The department has applied the 
following practical expedients 
permitted by AASB 15 and  
AASB 1058 on transition: 

• application of hindsight on 
determining the transaction price 
and allocating the transaction price 
to the satisfied and unsatisfied 
performance obligations 

• contract modifications that 
occurred prior to the date of initial 
application accounted for on an 
aggregated basis when identifying 
the satisfied and unsatisfied 
performance obligations 

• assets previously acquired for 
significantly less than fair value not 
remeasured but recorded at cost. 

There has been no transitional impact 
on balances of adoption of  
AASB 15 and AASB 1058.

AASB 16 Leases
AASB 16 Leases (AASB 16) 
supersedes AASB 117 Leases 
and relevant interpretations, and 
introduces significant changes to 
lessee accounting by removing the 
distinction between operating and 
finance leases. For lessees with 
operating leases, a right-of-use asset 
has now been recognised on the 
balance sheet together with a lease 
liability at the lease commencement, 
for all leases except for leases with 
a term of less than 12 months or 

where the underlying assets are 
of low value. In contrast to lessee 
accounting, the requirements for 
lessor accounting have remained 
largely unchanged and has not had 
a significant impact for leases where 
the department is the lessor. 

In accordance with transition 
provisions, the department has 
applied the modified retrospective 
approach on transition to AASB 16, 
with the cumulative effect of initial 
application of the standard as an 
adjustment to the balance sheet  
as at 1 July 2019. Accordingly,  
the comparative information 
presented for 2018–19 has not 
been restated and is presented as 
previously reported.

Lease liabilities recognised at  
1 July 2019 have been measured at 
the present value of the remaining 
lease payments discounted using the 
interest rate implicit in the lease.  
The interest rate implicit in the 
existing Darwin Correctional Centre 
finance lease at 1 July 2019 was 
9.84% and for the Wadeye land lease 
was 4.72%. 

The corresponding right-of-use asset 
has been recorded on transition at 
an amount equal to the lease liability, 
adjusted by the amount of any 
prepaid or accrued lease payments 
relating to that lease recognised in 
the balance sheet as at 1 July 2019. 

The department has applied the 
following practical expedients 
permitted by AASB 16 on transition:

• lease classification has been 
grandfathered and where a 
contract did not contain a lease at  
1 July 2019 under AASB 117 and 
Interpretation 4, these have not 
been reassessed

• application of a single discount 
rate to a portfolio of leases with 
reasonably similar characteristics

• application of onerous contact 
assessment before transition, in 
place of performing an  
impairment review

• leases with a remaining term of less 
than 12 months as at  
1 July 2019 were expensed rather 
than recognised on the balance sheet

• exclusion of initial direct costs from 
the measurement of the right-of-
use asset as at 1 July 2019

• application of hindsight in 
determining the lease term where 
the contract contained options to 
extend or terminate the lease.

On adoption of AASB 16, the 
department did not recognise any 
additional right-of-use assets and 
lease liabilities. Therefore the lease 
liabilities as at 1 July 2019 equate to 
lease liabilities reported at  
30 June 2019.

AASB 2016-8 Amendments to 
Australian accounting standards – 
Australian implementation guidance 
for not-for-profit entities (AASB 9 
Financial instruments)
AASB 2016-8 is effective for the first 
time in 2019–20 and will require 
non-contractual receivables arising 
from statutory requirements to 
apply the initial recognition and 
measurement requirements of  
AASB 9. The requirements of  
AASB 2016-8 are largely consistent 
with existing recognition and 
measurement practices of the 
department and is therefore not 
expected to have a material impact.

Several other amending standards 
and AASB interpretations have  
been issued that apply to the  
current reporting periods, but are 
considered to have no impact on 
public sector reporting.

Standards and 
interpretations issued but  
not yet effective
No Australian accounting standards 
have been early adopted for 2019–20. 

On the date of authorisation of the 
financial statements, the following 
standard was issued but not yet 
effective and is expected to have an 
impact on future reporting periods:
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AASB 1059 Service concession 
arrangement
AASB 1059 Service concession 
arrangements: Grantors (AASB 
1059) is effective for annual 
reporting periods beginning on or 
after 1 January 2020 and will be 
reported in the Treasurer’s Annual 
Financial Statements (TAFS) for the 
first time in 2020–21. 

AASB 1059 addresses the accounting 
for arrangements that involve an 
operator providing public services 
related to a service concession 
asset on behalf of a public sector 
grantor for a specified period of 
time and managing at least some of 
those services. This standard also 
applies a new control concept to the 
recognition of service concession 
assets and related liabilities.

Where a transaction meets the 
definition of a service concession 
arrangement, a service concession 
asset and liability will be recognised 
on the balance sheet and valued in 
accordance with the new standard.

The department will adopt the 
modified retrospective approach 
on transition to the new standard 
with 1 July 2019 as the date of initial 
application being the beginning of 
the comparative period in financial 
reports prepared for 2020–21. 
Impacts of the new standard under 
this approach are as follows: 

• recognise service concession asset 
at current replacement cost as  
at 1 July 2019

• recognise financial liability at fair 
value as at 1 July 2019 for the 
contractual obligation to deliver 
cash or another financial asset to 
the operator

• recognise any unearned revenue 
liability from the receipt of a 
service concession asset under 
the grant of a right to the operator 
model. This is initially measured 
at current replacement cost of 
the service concession asset as 
at 1 July 2019 adjusted to reflect 
the remaining period of the 

service concession arrangement 
relative to the total period of the 
arrangement, less the fair value of 
the financial liability

• recognise any net adjustments 
to the amounts of assets and 
liabilities to accumulated funds as 
at 1 July 2019. 

The assets and liabilities relative 
to the department’s public-private 
partnership arrangements in relation 
to the Darwin Correctional Centre 
are currently recorded on the balance 
sheet, however the department 
is still conducting an assessment 
on whether this arrangement falls 
under AASB 1059, and the impact of 
transitioning to this standard. 

Several other amending standards 
and AASB interpretations have been 
issued that apply to future reporting 
periods but are considered to have 
limited impact on public  
sector reporting.

C) REPORTING ENTITY
The financial statements cover the department as an individual reporting entity. The department is a Northern Territory 
department established under the Interpretation Act 1978 and Administrative Arrangements Order. 

The principal place of business of the department is Old Admiralty Tower, 68 The Esplanade Darwin NT, 0800.

D) DEPARTMENT AND TERRITORY ITEMS
The financial statements of the 
department include income, 
expenses, assets, liabilities 
and equity over which the 
department has control 
(department items). Certain 
items, while managed by the 
department, are controlled and 
recorded by the Territory rather 
than the department (Territory 
items). Territory items are 
recognised and recorded in the 
Central Holding Authority as 
discussed below.

Central Holding Authority
The Central Holding Authority is the 
‘parent body’ that represents the 
government’s ownership interest in 
government-controlled entities. 

The Central Holding Authority 
also records all Territory items, 
such as income, expenses, assets 
and liabilities controlled by 
the government and managed 
by agencies on behalf of the 
government. The main Territory item 
is Territory income, which includes 
taxation and royalty revenue, 
Commonwealth general purpose 
funding (such as goods and services 
tax revenue), fines, and statutory fees 
and charges. 
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The Central Holding Authority also 
holds certain Territory assets not 
assigned to departments as well as 
certain Territory liabilities that are 
not practical or effective to assign to 
individual agencies such as unfunded 
superannuation and long  

service leave.

The Central Holding Authority 
recognises and records all Territory 
items, and as such, these items are 
not included in the department’s 
financial statements. However, as the 

department is accountable for certain 
Territory items managed on behalf of 
government, these items have been 
separately disclosed in Note 29 – 
Schedule of administered  
Territory items.

E) COMPARATIVES
Where necessary, comparative information for the 2018–19 financial year has been reclassified to provide  
consistency with current year disclosures.

F) PRESENTATION AND ROUNDING OF AMOUNTS
Amounts in the financial statements and notes to the financial statements are presented in Australian dollars and have 
been rounded to the nearest thousand dollars, with amounts of $500 or less being rounded down to zero.  
Figures in the financial statements and notes may not equate due to rounding. 

G) CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
There have been no changes to accounting policies adopted in 2019–20 as a result of management decisions. 
Changes in policies relating to COVID-19 are disclosed in K) below.

H) ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND ESTIMATES
The preparation of the financial 
report requires the making of 
judgments and estimates that affect 
the recognised amounts of assets, 
liabilities, revenues and expenses and 
the disclosure of contingent liabilities. 
The estimates and associated 
assumptions are based on historical 
experience and various other factors 
that are believed to be reasonable 
under the circumstances, the results 

of which form the basis for making 
judgments about the carrying values 
of assets and liabilities that are not 
readily apparent from other sources. 
Actual results may differ from  
these estimates.

The estimates and underlying 
assumptions are reviewed on 
an ongoing basis. Revisions to 
accounting estimates are recognised 
in the period in which the estimate 

is revised if the revision affects only 
that period, or in the period of the 
revision and future periods if the 
revision affects both current and 
future periods.

Judgments and estimates that have 
significant effects on the financial 
statements are disclosed in the 
relevant notes to the  
financial statements. 

I) GOODS AND SERVICES TAX
Income, expenses and assets are 
recognised net of the amount of goods 
and services tax (GST), except where 

the amount of GST incurred on a 
purchase of goods and services is not 
recoverable from the Australian Tax 

Office (ATO). In these circumstances 
the GST is recognised as part of the 
cost of acquisition of the asset or as 
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part of the expense. 

Receivables and payables are stated 
with the amount of GST included. The 
net amount of GST recoverable from, 
or payable to, the ATO is included as 
part of receivables or payables in the 

balance sheet.

Cash flows are included in the cash 
flow statement on a gross basis. 
The GST components of cash flows 
arising from investing and financing 
activities, which are recoverable 

from, or payable to, the ATO are 
classified as operating cash flows. 
Commitments and contingencies 
are disclosed net of the amount of 
GST recoverable or payable unless 
otherwise specified.

J) CONTRIBUTIONS BY AND DISTRIBUTIONS TO GOVERNMENT
The department may receive 
contributions from government 
where the government is acting 
as owner of the department. 
Conversely, the department may 
make distributions to government. 
In accordance with the Financial 
Management Act 1995 and 

Treasurer’s Directions, certain types 
of contributions and distributions, 
including those relating to 
administrative restructures, have 
been designated as contributions  
by, and distributions to, government. 
These designated contributions and 
distributions are treated  

by the department as  
adjustments to equity.

The statement of changes in equity 
provides additional information in 
relation to contributions by, and 
distributions to, government.

K) IMPACT OF COVID-19
The Northern Territory Government 
modified its debt recovery process 
and postponed the payment date 
for a number of regulatory fees and 
charges to ease financial hardship 
faced by individuals and businesses as 
a result of COVID-19.

In addition, management made a 
number of decisions as a result of 
COVID-19 which has impacted 
the 2019–20 financial statements. 
Circuit court to remote locations 
was suspended; increased use was 
made of video conferencing within 

courts and corrections to limit in 
person appearances; limitations were 
placed on programs within and visits 
to the correctional centres and staff 
within Regulatory Services were 
temporarily redeployed to work on 
the COVID-19 response. 
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NOTE

LEGAL SERVICES CORRECTIONAL 
SERVICES

COURT AND 
TRIBUNAL 
SUPPORT 
SERVICES

DIRECTOR 
OF PUBLIC 

PROSECUTIONS

INDEPENDENT
OFFICES

REGULATORY
SERVICES CORPORATE TOTAL

2020

$000

2019

$000

2020

$000

2019

$000

2020

$000

2019

$000

2020

$000

2019

$000

2020

$000

2019

$000

2020

$000

2019

$000

2020

$000

2019

$000

2020

$000

2019

$000INCOME 
Taxation revenue - - - - - - - - - - 9 684 12 432 - - 9 684 12 432 
Grants and subsidies revenue - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
     Current 452 176 - - - 500 - - 617 443 - - 36 - 1 105 1 119 
Appropriation - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
     Output 32 841 34 068 196 523 190 737 30 803 38 225 12 116 12 378 8 947 9 376 32 480 33 579    4 308 11 262 318 018 329 625 
     Commonwealth 10 255 8 020 298 295 - 26 - - - - 2 134 3 104 - - 12 687 11 445 
Sales of goods and services 23 5 1 744 1 876 4 779 4 658 - - 5 971 6 129 2 823 2 624 1 (5) 15 341 15 285 
Goods and services received free 
of charge 5 - - - - - - - - - - - - 35 019 15 264 35 019 15 264 

Gain on disposal of assets 6 9 9
Other income 4 172 3 332 1 414 1 515 419 360 - 5 390 410 656 377 154 169 7 205 6 169 
TOTAL INCOME 47 744 45 601 199 979 194 432 36 001 43 769 12 116 12 383 15 926 16 358 47 776 52 116 39 517 26 690 399 060 391 348 
EXPENSES  
Employee expenses 17 353 16 368 107 421 99 247 25 955 26 731 9 667 9 272 13 190 12 884 15 885 15 271 4 641 10 293 194 112 190 067 
Administrative expenses - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
     Purchases of goods and services 7 5 879 8 755 50 815 50 729 11 787 18 035 2 724 2 968 1 687 2 367 3 966 5 879 671 2 579 77 529 91 312 
     Repairs and maintenance - 12 - 1 659 - 1 545 - 17 - 12 - 78 - 23 - 3 346 
     Depreciation and amortisation 14,15,16 1 1 13 766 13 578 4 708 4 729 25 26 111 44 392 283 234 205 19 238 18 867 
     Other administrative expenses1 - - 1 561 (136) 302 - 12 - 38 (1) 53 53 34 966 15 211 36 931 15 127 
Grants and subsidies expenses - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
     Current 20 152 18 106 3 909 3 486 - - - - 517 343 27 781 26 397 - - 52 358 48 333 
Interest expenses 8 - - 49 567 50 017 - - - - - - - - - - 49 567 50 017 
TOTAL EXPENSES 43 385 43 243 227 038 218 581 42 753 51 040 12 116 12 283 15 543 15 650 48 076 47 961 40 512 28 311 429 735 417 069 
NET SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) 4 359 2 358 (27 059) (24 149) (6 751) (7 271) (311) 100 383 708 (300) 4 155 (995) (1 621) (30 674) (25 720)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
- Items that will not be reclassified to
net surplus/deficit
Changes in asset revaluation surplus (27 011) - (27 011) -
TOTAL OTHER COMPREHENSIVE 
INCOME (27 011) - (27 011) -

COMPREHENSIVE RESULT 4 359 2 358 (33 021) (24 149) (6 751) (7 271) (311) 100 383 708 (300) 4 155 (28 006) (1 621) (57 685) (25 720)

3. Comprehensive Operating Statement
by Output Group

1 Includes DCDD and DIPL service charges.

Income encompasses both revenue and gains.

Income is recognised at the fair value of the consideration received, exclusive of the amount of GST. Exchanges of 
goods or services of the same nature and value without any cash consideration being exchanged are not recognised 
as income.
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NOTE

LEGAL SERVICES CORRECTIONAL 
SERVICES

COURT AND 
TRIBUNAL 
SUPPORT 
SERVICES

DIRECTOR 
OF PUBLIC 

PROSECUTIONS

INDEPENDENT 
OFFICES

REGULATORY 
SERVICES CORPORATE TOTAL

2020

$000

2019

$000

2020

$000

2019

$000

2020

$000

2019

$000

2020

$000

2019

$000

2020

$000

2019

$000

2020

$000

2019

$000

2020

$000

2019

$000

2020

$000

2019

$000
 
INCOME 
Taxation revenue - - - - - - - - - - 9 684 12 432 - - 9 684 12 432 
Grants and subsidies revenue - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
     Current 452 176 - - - 500 - - 617 443 - - 36 - 1 105 1 119 
Appropriation - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
     Output 32 841 34 068 196 523 190 737 30 803 38 225 12 116 12 378 8 947 9 376 32 480 33 579    4 308 11 262 318 018 329 625 
     Commonwealth 10 255 8 020 298 295 - 26 - - - - 2 134 3 104 - - 12 687 11 445 
Sales of goods and services 23 5 1 744 1 876 4 779 4 658 - - 5 971 6 129 2 823 2 624 1 (5) 15 341 15 285 
Goods and services received free 
of charge 4 - - - - - - - - - - - - 35 019 15 264 35 019 15 264 

Gain on disposal of assets 5 9 9
Other income 4 172 3 332 1 414 1 515 419 360 - 5 390 410 656 377 154 169 7 205 6 169 
TOTAL INCOME 47 744 45 601 199 979 194 432 36 001 43 769 12 116 12 383 15 926 16 358 47 776 52 116 39 517 26 690 399 060 391 348 
EXPENSES  
Employee expenses 17 353 16 368 107 421 99 247 25 955 26 731 9 667 9 272 13 190 12 884 15 885 15 271 4 641 10 293 194 112 190 067 
Administrative expenses - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
     Purchases of goods and services 6 5 879 8 755 50 815 50 729 11 787 18 035 2 724 2 968 1 687 2 367 3 966 5 879 671 2 579 77 529 91 312 
     Repairs and maintenance - 12 - 1 659 - 1 545 - 17 - 12 - 78 - 23 - 3 346 
     Depreciation and amortisation 12,13 1 1 13 766 13 578 4 708 4 729 25 26 111 44 392 283 234 205 19 238 18 867 
     Other administrative expenses1 - - 1 561 (136) 302 - 12 - 38 (1) 53 53 34 966 15 211 36 931 15 127 
Grants and subsidies expenses - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
     Current 20 152 18 106 3 909 3 486 - - - - 517 343 27 781 26 397 - - 52 358 48 333 
Interest expenses 15 - - 49 567 50 017 - - - - - - - - - - 49 567 50 017 
TOTAL EXPENSES 43 385 43 243 227 038 218 581 42 753 51 040 12 116 12 283 15 543 15 650 48 076 47 961 40 512 28 311 429 735 417 069 
NET SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) 4 359 2 358 (27 059) (24 149) (6 751) (7 271) (311) 100 383 708 (300) 4 155 (995) (1 621) (30 674) (25 720)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
- Items that will not be reclassified to 
net surplus/deficit      
Changes in asset revaluation surplus 21      (27 011) - (27 011) -
TOTAL OTHER COMPREHENSIVE 
INCOME (27 011) - (27 011) -

COMPREHENSIVE RESULT 4 359 2 358 (33 021) (24 149) (6 751) (7 271) (311) 100 383 708 (300) 4 155 (28 006) (1 621) (57 685) (25 720)
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4. Revenue
A) GRANTS AND SUBSIDIES REVENUE 

2020 2019
$000 $000 $000 $000

REVENUE FROM 
CONTRACTS WITH 

CUSTOMERS
OTHER TOTAL TOTAL

Current grants - 1 105 1 105 1 119
Total grants and subsidies revenue - 1 105 1 105 1 119

Grants revenue is recognised at 
fair value exclusive of the amount 
of GST. Until 30 June 2019, grant 
revenue and other non-reciprocal 
contributions were recognised 
as revenue when the department 
obtains control over the asset 
comprising the contribution, which 
was normally obtained on receipt.

From 1 July 2019, where a grant 
agreement is enforceable and has 
sufficiently specific performance 
obligations for the department to 
transfer goods or services to the 
grantor or a third party beneficiary, 
the transaction is accounted for 
under AASB 15. In this case, revenue 
is initially deferred as a contract 
liability when received in advance 
and recognised as or when the 
performance obligations are satisfied. 
The department has adopted a low 
value contract threshold of $50 000 
excluding GST and recognises revenue 
from contracts with a low value, 
upfront on receipt of income. 

A financing component for 
consideration is only recognised if 
it is significant to the contract and 
the period between the transfer of 
goods and services and receipt of 
consideration is more than one year. 
For the 2019–20 reporting period, 
there were no adjustments  
for the effects of a significant 
financing component. 

Where grant agreements do not 
meet criteria above, it is accounted 
for under AASB 1058 and income 
is recognised on receipt of funding 
except for capital grants revenue 
received for the purchase or 
construction of non-financial assets 
to be controlled by the department. 
Capital grants with enforceable 
contracts and sufficiently specific 
obligations are recognised as 
an unearned revenue liability 
when received and subsequently 
recognised progressively as revenue 
as or when the department satisfies 
its obligations under the agreement. 

Where a non-financial asset is 
purchased, revenue is recognised at 
the point in time the asset is acquired 
and control transfers  
to the department.

For constructed assets, revenue 
is recognised over time, using the 
percentage of completion method, 
measured as the costs incurred as a 
proportion of estimated total  
project costs. Grant revenue, passed 
on from a Territory Government-
controlled entity with the exception 
of the Central Holding Authority, 
is recognised upfront on receipt, 
irrespective of which revenue 
accounting standard it may fall under 
in accordance with the Treasurer’s 
Direction on income.
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2020 2019
$000 $000 $000 $000

REVENUE FROM 
CONTRACTS WITH 

CUSTOMERS
OTHER TOTAL TOTAL

Output - 318 019 318 019 329 626
Commonwealth - 12 687 12 687 11 445
Total appropriation - 330 706 330 706 341 071

2020 2019
$000 $000 $000 $000

REVENUE FROM 
CONTRACTS WITH 

CUSTOMERS
OTHER TOTAL TOTAL

Sales of goods and services 12 583 2 758 15 341 15 285
Total sales of goods and services 12 583 2 758 15 341 15 285

B) APPROPRIATION

Output appropriation is the operating 
payment to each department for the 
outputs they provide as specified 
in the Appropriation (2019–20) 
Act 2019. It does not include any 
allowance for major non-cash costs 
such as depreciation. The treatment 
of output appropriations remains  
the same after adopting AASB 15  
and AASB 1058, because they  
do not have sufficiently specific  
performance obligations.

Commonwealth appropriation 
follows from the intergovernmental 
agreement on federal financial 

relations, resulting in specific 
purpose payments (SPPs) and 
national partnership (NP) payments 
being made by the Commonwealth 
Treasury to state treasuries, in a 
manner similar to arrangements 
for GST payments. These payments 
are received by the Department of 
Treasury and Finance on behalf of the 
Central Holding Authority and then 
passed on to the relevant agencies 
as Commonwealth appropriation. 
Until 30 June 2019, Commonwealth 
appropriation was recognised in the 
period when the department gains 

control of the funds, which was on 
receipt of funding. 

From 1 July 2019, where 
appropriation received has an 
enforceable contract with sufficiently 
specific performance obligations 
as defined in AASB 15, revenue is 
recognised as and when goods and 
or services are transferred to the 
customer or third party beneficiary. 
Otherwise revenue is recognised 
when the department gains control  
of the funds. 

C) SALES OF GOODS AND SERVICES

Revenue from regulatory fees is 
recognised when the department 
satisfies its performance obligations. 
These include fees for the issue 
of licences. The department’s sole 
performance obligations for the issue 
of a non-intellectual property licence 
is the issue of the licence, as such 
revenue is recognised upfront on 
issue of the licence. 

Sale of goods 
Until 30 June 2019, revenue from 
sales of goods is recognised as 
revenue when the department 
transfer significant risks and 
rewards of ownership of the goods 
to the buyer. From 1 July 2019, 
revenue from sales of goods is 
recognised when the department 
satisfies a performance obligation 
by transferring the promised goods. 
The department typically satisfies its 
performance obligations when goods 

are delivered. The payments are 
typically due when goods  
are delivered.

Revenue from these sales are based 
on the price specified in the contract, 
and revenue is only recognised to 
the extent that it is highly probable 
a significant reversal will not occur. 
There is no element of financing 
present as sales are made with a 
short credit term. 
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Rendering of services
Until 30 June 2019, revenue from 
rendering services was recognised by 
reference to the stage of completion 
of the contract. From 1 July 2019, 
revenue from rendering of services 
is recognised when the department 
satisfies the performance obligation 

by transferring the promised services. 
The department typically satisfies its 
performance obligations when the 
services are delivered.

Revenue from contracts with 
customers for the 2019–20 financial 
year have been disaggregated 
below into categories to enable 

users of these financial statements 
to understand the nature, amount, 
timing and uncertainty of income and 
cash flows. These categories include 
a description of the type of product 
or service line, type of customer and 
timing of transfer of goods  
and services.

D) OTHER INCOME

2020
$000

Type of good and service:
Regulatory services 11 210
Sales of inventory 1 373
Total revenue from contracts with customers by good or service 12 583
Type of customer
Non-government entities 12 583
Total revenue from contracts with customers by type of customer 12 583
Timing of transfer of goods and services:
 Point in time 12 583
Total revenue from contracts with customers by timing of transfer 12 583

2020 2019
$000 $000 $000 $000

REVENUE FROM 
CONTRACTS WITH 

CUSTOMERS
OTHER TOTAL TOTAL

Other income 1 325 5 879 7 205 6 169
Total other income 1 325 5 880 7 205 6 169

Revenue from contracts with customers for the 2019–20 financial year have been disaggregated below into categories 
to enable users of these financial statements to understand the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of income and 
cash flows. These categories include a description of the type of product or service line, type of customer and timing of 
transfer of goods and services.
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2020 2019
$000 $000

Corporate and information services 32 162 15 264
Repairs and maintenance 2 857 -
Total goods and services received free of charge 35 019 15 264

2020 2019
$000 $000

Proceeds from sale of minor assets - 9
Total gain on disposal of assets - 9

2020
$000

Type of good and service
Regulatory services -
Service delivery 1 325
Total revenue from contracts with customers by good or service 1 325
Type of customer
Australian Government entities 379
State and territory governments 648
Non-government entities 298
Total revenue from contracts with customers by type of customer 1 325
Timing of transfer of goods and services
Point in time 1 325
Total revenue from contracts with customers by timing of transfer 1 325

 
5. Goods and Services Received  
Free of Charge

Resources received free of charge 
are recognised as revenue when, 
and only when, a fair value can be 
reliably determined and the services 
would have been purchased if 
they had not been donated. Use of 
those resources is recognised as an 
expense. Resources received free 
of charge are recorded as either 
revenue or gains depending on their 

nature. From 1 July 2019, repairs 
and maintenance expenses and 
associated employee costs were 
centralised under the Department of 
Infrastructure, Planning and Logistics 
(DIPL) as part of a machinery of 
government change and now forms 
part of goods and services free of 
charge of the department. 

In addition, from 1 July 2019, 
some corporate services staff and 
functions were centralised under 
the Department of Corporate and 
Information Services (DCIS) as part 
of a machinery of government 
 change and now forms part of goods 
and services free of charge  
of the department.

6. Gain on Disposal of Assets 
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2020 2019
$000 $000

The net surplus/(deficit) has been arrived at after charging  
the following expenses:
Goods and services expenses:
Advertising2 7 39
Agent service arrangements 14 432 14 956
Communications 2 720 2 576
Consultants1 1 218 6 549
Document production 353 289
Food 6 694 6 225
Information Technology expenses 9 509 15 595
Insurance premiums 2 960 2 947
Legal expenses4 6 166 9 150
Marketing and promotion3 244 356
Motor vehicle expenses 3 055 3 760
Official duty fares 1 281 1 690
Property maintenance 4 510 3 939
Recruitment5 370 311
Training and study 745 1 064
Travelling allowance 793 1 015
Utilities 6 547 5 985
Other goods and services 15 926 14 866
Total purchases of goods and services 77 529 91 312

1 Includes marketing, promotion and IT consultants.
2 Does not include recruitment, advertising or marketing and promotion advertising.
3 Includes advertising for marketing and promotion but excludes marketing and promotion consultants’ expenses, which are incorporated  
in the consultants’ category.
4 Includes legal fees, claim and settlement costs.
5 Includes recruitment-related advertising costs.

Purchases of goods and services generally represent the day-to-day running costs incurred in normal operations, 
including supplies and service costs recognised in the reporting period in which they are incurred.

Repairs and maintenance expense
From 1 July 2019, repairs and maintenance expenses were centralised under the machinery of government changes. 
The department now recognises a notional repairs and maintenance expense under services received free  
of charge in Note 5.

7. Purchases of Goods and Services
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2020 2019
$000 $000

Interest from lease liabilities1 49 567 50 017
Total 49 567 50 017

1 2020 interest expense relates to lease liabilities in accordance with AASB 16, while 2019 interest expense relates to finance lease liabilities  
in accordance with AASB 117. In both periods, the interest expense relates to the Darwin Correctional Centre.

9. Write-offs, Postponements, Waiver,  
Gifts and Ex Gratia Payments

2020
NO. OF TRANS.

2019 NO. OF 
TRANS.$000 $000

Write-offs, postponements and waivers under  
the Financial Management Act 1995
Represented by:
Amounts written off, postponed and waived by delegates
Irrecoverable amounts payable to the Territory  
or a department written off 1 2 - -

Losses or deficiencies of money written off - 1 - 1
Total written off, postponed and waived  
by delegates 1 3 - 1

Amounts written off, postponed and waived  
by the Treasurer 
Irrecoverable amounts payable to the Territory  
or a department written off - - 277 1

Waiver or postponement of right to receive  
or recover money or property 49 32 - -

Total written off, postponed and waived  
by the Treasurer 49 32  277 1

Write-offs, postponements and waivers authorised 
under other legislation
Gifts under the Financial Management Act 1995 - - - 3
Gifts by delegate
Office furniture - 1 - -
Other - 2 - -
Total gifts by delegate - 3 - 3
Ex gratia payments under the  
Financial Management Act 1995  16 2 2 1

8. Interest Expense
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10.  Cash and Deposits
2020 2019
$000 $000

Cash on hand 52 51
Cash at bank 6 105 8 884
Total cash and deposits 6 157 8 935

For the purposes of the balance sheet and the cash flow statement, cash includes cash on hand, cash at bank and cash 
equivalents. Cash equivalents are highly liquid short-term investments that are readily convertible to cash. Cash 
at bank includes monies held in the Accountable Officer’s Trust Account (AOTA) that are ultimately payable to the 
beneficial owner – refer also to Note 28.

11. Cash Flow Reconciliation
A) RECONCILIATION OF CASH
The total of department ‘Cash and deposits’ of $6.157 million recorded in the balance sheet is consistent  
with that recorded as ‘Cash’ in the cash flow statement. 

Reconciliation of net surplus/deficit to net cash from operating activities
2020 2019
$000 $000

Net surplus/deficit (30 675) (25 720)
Non-cash items:
Depreciation and amortisation 19 238 18 867
Asset write-offs/write-downs 1 874 -
Repairs and maintenance – minor new works 143

Changes in assets and liabilities:
Decrease/increase in receivables 781 (1 795)
Decrease/increase in inventories (208) 5
Decrease/increase in prepayments (295) 496
Decrease/increase in payables (2 483) 3 214
Decrease/increase in provision for employee benefits 1 816 920
Decrease/increase in other provisions 188 137
Net cash from operating activities (9 764) (3 732)
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C) NON-CASH FINANCING AND INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Lease transactions
During the financial year, there were no financing or investing transactions that did not require the use of cash. 

12. Receivables
2020 2019
$000 $000

Current
Accounts receivable 1 836 2 716
Less: loss allowance (357) (369)

1 479 2 349
GST receivables 1 706 1 718
Other receivables 121 20 

1 827 1 738
Total receivables 3 307 4 088

Total receivables
Receivables are initially recognised 
when the department becomes a 
party to the contractual provisions 
of the instrument and are measured 
at fair value less any directly 
attributable transaction costs. 
Receivables include contract 
receivables, accounts receivable, 
accrued contract revenue and  
other receivables.

Receivables are subsequently 
measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method, less  
any impairments.

Accounts receivable and contract 
receivables are generally settled 
within 30 days and other receivables 
within 30 days. 

The loss allowance reflects lifetime 
expected credit losses and represents 
the amount of receivables the 
department estimates are likely  
to be uncollectible and are  
considered doubtful.

Credit risk exposure of 
receivables
Receivables are monitored on an 
ongoing basis to ensure exposure 
to bad debts is not significant. The 
department applies the simplified 
approach to measuring expected 
credit losses. This approach 
recognises a loss allowance based 
on lifetime expected credit losses for 
all accounts receivables, contracts 
receivables and accrued contract 
revenue. To measure expected 
credit losses, receivables have 
been grouped based on shared risk 
characteristics and days past due. 

The expected loss rates are based 
on historical observed loss rates, 
adjusted to reflect current and 
forward-looking information. 

In accordance with the provisions of 
the Financial Management Act 1995, 
receivables are written-off when 
there is no reasonable expectation of 
recovery. Indicators that there is no 
reasonable expectation of recovery 
includes a failure to make contractual 
payments for a period greater than 
90 days past due. 

To ease financial hardship faced 
by individuals and businesses as a 
result of COVID-19, the government 
modified its debt recovery process 
and postponed the payment date 
for a number of regulatory fees 
and charges. However the overall 
expected credit loss recorded within 
the reporting period has reduced 
due to the overall lower level of 
receivables within  
the department. 

The loss allowance for receivables 
and reconciliation as at the reporting 
date is disclosed opposite.
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Reconciliation of loss allowance for receivables

EXTERNAL RECEIVABLES
2020 
$000

2019 
$000

Opening balance 369 781
Written off during the year (49) (276)
Recovered during the year
Increase/decrease in allowance recognised in profit or loss 37 (136)
Total external receivables 357 369

Prepayments
Prepayments represent payments in advance of receipt of goods and services or that part of expenditure made in one 
accounting period covering a term extending beyond that period. 

13. Inventories

INVENTORIES HELD FOR DISTRIBUTION
2020 
$000

2019 
$000

At cost 1 521 1 313
Total inventories 1 521 1 313

Inventories include assets held either for distribution at no or nominal consideration in the ordinary  
course of business operations.

Inventories held for distribution are carried at the lower of cost and current replacement cost. Cost of inventories 
includes all costs associated with bringing the inventories to their present location and condition. When inventories are 
acquired at no or nominal consideration, the cost will be the current replacement cost at date of acquisition. 

The cost of inventories are assigned using a mixture of first in, first out or weighted average cost formula,  
or using specific identification of their individual costs. 

Inventory held for distribution is regularly assessed for obsolescence and loss.
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14. Property, Plant and Equipment
A) TOTAL PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

LAND 
2020 
$000

2019 
$000

At fair value 37 050 55 200
Less: accumulated amortisation (14) -

37 036 55 200
LEASED LAND1 
At capitalised cost - 19
Less: accumulated amortisation - (13)

- 6
BUILDINGS 
At fair value 911 725 377 368
Less: accumulated depreciation (212 685) (147 286)

699 040 230 082
LEASED BUILDINGS1

At capitalised cost - 521 305
Less: accumulated amortisation - (48 131)

- 473 174
CONSTRUCTION (WORK IN PROGRESS)
At capitalised cost - 5 231
PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
At fair value 31 938 31 724
Less: accumulated depreciation (26 339) (24 292)

5 599 7 432
COMPUTER HARDWARE
At cost 489 489
Less: accumulated depreciation (379) (324)

110 165
TRANSPORT EQUIPMENT
At fair value 328 328
Less: accumulated depreciation (254) (230)

74 99
Total Property, Plant and Equipment 741 859 771 388

1 2018-19 balance relates to leased assets under finance lease arrangement as per AASB 117. These balances were reclassified in 2019–20.
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2020 Property, plant and equipment reconciliations
From 1 July 2019, property, plant and equipment includes right-of-use assets under AASB 16 Leases, effective from 
that date. A reconciliation of the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment at the beginning and end  
of 2019–20 is set out below:

2019 Property, plant and equipment reconciliations
A reconciliation of the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment at the beginning and end  
of 2018–19 is set out below:

LAND LEASED 
LAND BUILDINGS LEASED 

BUILDINGS

CONSTRUCTION 
(WORK IN PROGRESS)

PLANT AND 
EQUIPMENT

COMPUTER 
HARDWARE

TRANSPORT 
EQUIPMENT TOTAL

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Carrying amount as at 1 July 2019 55 200 6 230 082 473 174 5 231 7 432 165 99 771 389
Reclassification1 6 (6) 473 174 (473 174) -
Adjusted carrying amount as  
at 1 July 2019

55 206 - 703 256 - 5 231 7 432 165 99 771 389

Additions - - - - (221) (82) - - (303)
Depreciation expense – asset owned (1) - (6 268) - - (2 047) (55) (25) (18 822)
Amortisation ROU Assets (10 426)
Additions/disposals from asset transfers - - 23 062 - (5 010) 296 - - 18 348
Revaluation increments/decrements (18 169) - (10 584) - - - - - (28 753)
Carrying amount as at 30 June 2020 37 036 - 699 040 - - 5 599 110 74 741 859

1 Existing finance lease asset under AASB 117 are reclassified and presented under the corresponding underlying asset from 1 July 2019

LAND LEASED 
LAND BUILDINGS LEASED 

BUILDINGS

CONSTRUCTION 
(WORK IN PROGRESS)

PLANT AND 
EQUIPMENT

COMPUTER 
HARDWARE

TRANSPORT 
EQUIPMENT TOTAL

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Carrying amount as at 1 July 2018 55 200 6 234 586 483 600 - 9 872 220 124 785 835
Additions - - - - 221 (421) - - (194)
Depreciation expense – asset owned - (2) (5 882) (10 426) - (2 149) (55) (25) (18 858)
Additions/disposals from asset transfers - - 1 378 - 5 010 130 - - 6 457
Carrying amount as at 30 June 2019 55 200 6 230 082 473 174 5 231 7 432 165 99 771 389
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LAND LEASED 
LAND BUILDINGS LEASED 

BUILDINGS

CONSTRUCTION 
(WORK IN PROGRESS)

PLANT AND 
EQUIPMENT

COMPUTER 
HARDWARE

TRANSPORT 
EQUIPMENT TOTAL

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Carrying amount as at 1 July 2019 55 200 6 230 082 473 174 5 231 7 432 165 99 771 389
Reclassification1 6 (6) 473 174 (473 174) -
Adjusted carrying amount as  
at 1 July 2019

55 206 - 703 256 - 5 231 7 432 165 99 771 389

Additions - - - - (221) (82) - - (303)
Depreciation expense – asset owned (1) - (6 268) - - (2 047) (55) (25) (18 822)
Amortisation ROU Assets (10 426)
Additions/disposals from asset transfers - - 23 062 - (5 010) 296 - - 18 348
Revaluation increments/decrements (18 169) - (10 584) - - - - - (28 753)
Carrying amount as at 30 June 2020 37 036 - 699 040 - - 5 599 110 74 741 859

1 Existing finance lease asset under AASB 117 are reclassified and presented under the corresponding underlying asset from 1 July 2019

LAND LEASED 
LAND BUILDINGS LEASED 

BUILDINGS

CONSTRUCTION 
(WORK IN PROGRESS)

PLANT AND 
EQUIPMENT

COMPUTER 
HARDWARE

TRANSPORT 
EQUIPMENT TOTAL

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Carrying amount as at 1 July 2018 55 200 6 234 586 483 600 - 9 872 220 124 785 835
Additions - - - - 221 (421) - - (194)
Depreciation expense – asset owned - (2) (5 882) (10 426) - (2 149) (55) (25) (18 858)
Additions/disposals from asset transfers - - 1 378 - 5 010 130 - - 6 457
Carrying amount as at 30 June 2019 55 200 6 230 082 473 174 5 231 7 432 165 99 771 389
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Acquisitions
Property, plant and equipment 
are initially recognised at cost and 
subsequently revalued at fair value 
less accumulated depreciation and 
impairment. Cost is the amount of 
cash or cash equivalents paid or the 
fair value of the other consideration 
given to acquire the asset at the time 
of its acquisition or construction 
or, where applicable, the amount 
attributed to that asset when initially 
recognised in accordance with the 
requirements of other  
accounting standards.

All items of property, plant and 
equipment with a cost or other value, 
equal to or greater than  
$10 000 are recognised in the year 
of acquisition and depreciated as 
outlined below. Items of property, 
plant and equipment below the  
$10 000 threshold are expensed in 
the year of acquisition. 

The construction cost of property, 
plant and equipment includes the 
cost of materials and direct labour, 
and an appropriate proportion of 
fixed and variable overheads.

Complex assets
Major items of plant and equipment 
comprising a number of components 
that have different useful lives, are 
accounted for as separate assets. The 
components may be replaced during 
the useful life of the complex asset.

Subsequent additional costs
Costs incurred on property, plant 
and equipment subsequent to initial 
acquisition are capitalised when it 
is probable that future economic 
benefits in excess of the originally 
assessed performance of the asset 
will flow to the department in future 
years. Where these costs represent 
separate components of a complex 
asset, they are accounted for as 
separate assets and separately 
depreciated over their expected 
useful lives.

Construction  
(work in progress)
As part of the financial management 
framework, the Department of 
Infrastructure, Planning and Logistics 
is responsible for managing general 
government capital works projects 
on a whole of government basis. 
Therefore appropriation for all 
department capital works is provided 
directly to the Department of 
Infrastructure, Planning and Logistics 
and the cost of construction work in 
progress is recognised as an asset of 
that department. Once completed, 
capital works assets are transferred 
to the department. 

Revaluations and impairment

Revaluation of assets
Subsequent to initial recognition, 
assets belonging to the following 
classes of non-current assets are 
revalued with sufficient regularity to 
ensure the carrying amount of these 
assets does not differ materially from 
their fair value at reporting date: 

• land

• buildings

• heritage and cultural assets.

Plant and equipment are stated at 
historical cost less depreciation, 
which is deemed to equate  
to fair value.

Land and buildings held by the 
department were independently 
revalued as at 30 June 2020; the 
valuer was Colliers International.

Impairment of assets
An asset is said to be impaired when 
the asset’s carrying amount exceeds 
its recoverable amount. 

Non-current physical and intangible 
department assets are assessed for 
indicators of impairment on an annual 
basis or whenever there is indication 
of impairment. If an indicator of 
impairment exists,  
the department determines the 
asset’s recoverable amount.  

The asset’s recoverable amount 
is determined as the higher of the 
asset’s current replacement cost 
and fair value less costs to sell. Any 
amount by which the asset’s carrying 
amount exceeds the recoverable 
amount is recorded as an  
impairment loss.

Impairment losses are recognised 
in the comprehensive operating 
statement. They are disclosed as an 
expense unless the asset is carried at 
a revalued amount. Where the asset 
is measured at a revalued amount, 
the impairment loss is offset against 
the asset revaluation surplus for 
that class of asset to the extent an 
available balance exists in the asset 
revaluation surplus.

In certain situations, an impairment 
loss may subsequently be reversed. 
Where an impairment loss is 
subsequently reversed, the carrying 
amount of the asset is increased 
to the revised estimate of its 
recoverable amount. A reversal of an 
impairment loss is recognised in the 
comprehensive operating statement 
as income, unless the asset is carried 
at a revalued amount, in which case 
the impairment reversal results in 
an increase in the asset revaluation 
surplus. Note 22 provides additional 
information in relation to the asset 
revaluation surplus.

Department property, plant and 
equipment assets were assessed 
for impairment as at 30 June 2020 
following the revaluation. As a result 
of this review $28.753 million of 
impairment losses were recognised 
against land and buildings with 
$27.011 million charged to the asset 
revaluation surplus and the balance 
to the operating statement. 
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Depreciation and amortisation 
expense
Items of property, plant and 
equipment, including buildings 
but excluding land, have limited 
useful lives and are depreciated or 
amortised using the straight-line 
method over their estimated  
useful lives.

Amortisation applies in relation to 
intangible non-current assets with 
limited useful lives and is calculated 
and accounted for in a similar manner 
to depreciation.

The estimated useful lives for each 
class of asset are in accordance with 
the Treasurer’s Directions and are 
determined as follows:

2020 2019
Public buildings 50 -100 years 50 -100 years
Portable buildings 10-20 years 10-20 years
Catering equipment 5-15 years 5-15 years
Computer hardware 3-6 years 3-6 years
Furniture and fittings 10 years 10 years
Laundry equipment 5-15 years 5-15 years
Library equipment 2-5 years 2-5 years
Office equipment 5-15 years 5-15 years
Power generators 5-15 years 5-15 years
Security systems 5-15 years 5-15 years
Communication equipment 5-15 years 5-15 years

LAND BUILDINGS TOTAL
$000 $000 $000

Balance as at 1 July 2019 6 473 174 473 180
Amortisation expense (1) (10 426) (10 427)
Revaluation increments/(decrements) including remeasurement 31 - 31
Carrying amount as at 30 June 2020 36  462 748 462 784

15. Department as a Lessee
The department leases the  
Darwin Correctional Centre under a 
long term Public Private Partnership 
agreement; this arrangement 
was reported as a finance lease in 
previous periods. The department 
also has a long term remote land 
lease in Wadeye; this arrangement 
was also reported as a finance lease in 
previous periods.

During the current financial year, the 
financial effect of revising lease terms 
to reflect the effect of exercising 
extension options was an increase in 
recognised lease liabilities and right-
of-use assets of $31 000. 

The department has elected to 
recognise payments for short-
term leases and low value leases as 

expenses on a straight-line basis, 
instead of recognising a right-of-use 
asset and lease liability. Short-term 
leases are leases with a lease term of 
12 months or less with no purchase 
option. Low value assets are assets 
with a fair value of $10 000 or less 
when new and not subject to a 
sublease arrangement.

Right-of-use asset
The following table presents right-of-use assets included in the carrying amounts of property, plant and  
equipment at Note 14:

Assets are depreciated or amortised from the date of acquisition or from the 
time an asset is completed and held ready for use.
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The following amounts were recognised in the statement of comprehensive income for the year ending 30 June 2020 
in respect of leases where the department is the lessee:

$000

Amortisation expense of right-of-use assets 10 427
Interest expense on lease liabilities 49 567
Expense relating to short-term leases 9
Intergovernmental leases 428
Total amount recognised in the comprehensive operating statement 60 431

Recognition and 
measurement (under AASB 
16 from 1 July 2019)
The department assesses at contract 
inception whether a contract is, 
or contains, a lease. That is, if the 
contract conveys the right to control 
the use of an identified asset for a 
period of time in exchange  
for consideration.

The department recognises lease 
liabilities to make lease payments and 
right-of-use assets representing the 
right to use the underlying assets, 
except for short-term leases and 
leases of low-value assets.

The department recognises right-
of-use assets at the commencement 
date of the lease (the date the 
underlying asset is available for 
use). Right-of-use assets are initially 
measured at the amount of initial 
measurement of the lease liability, 
adjusted by any lease payments made 
at or before the commencement date 
and lease incentives, any initial direct 
costs incurred, and estimated costs of 
dismantling and removing the asset 
or restoring the site.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated 
on a straight-line basis over the 
shorter of the lease term and the 
estimated useful lives of the assets,  
as follows:

Land 32 years
Building 31 years

If ownership of the leased asset 
transfers to the department at the 
end of the lease term or the cost 
reflects the exercise of a purchase 

option, depreciation is calculated 
using the estimated useful life  
of the asset.

The right-of-use assets are 
subsequently measured at fair value 
which approximates costs except for 
those arising from leases that have 
significantly below-market terms and 
conditions principally to enable the 
department to further its objectives 
and are also subject to impairment.

The right-of-use assets are subject to 
remeasurement principles consistent 
with the lease liability including 
indexation and market rent review 
that approximates fair value and only 
revalued where a trigger or event 
may indicate their carrying amount 
does not equal fair value.

Inter-governmental leases
The department applies the inter-
governmental leases recognition 
exemption as per the Treasurer’s 
Direction – Leases and recognise 
these as an expense on a straight-
line basis over the lease term. These 
largely relate to the lease of motor 
vehicles from NT Fleet. Leases of 
commercial properties for office 
accommodation are centralised 
with the Department of Corporate 
and Information Services (DCIS). 
Consequently all lease liabilities and 
right-of-use assets relating to these 
arrangements are recognised by 
DCIS and not disclosed within these 
financial statements.

Recognition and 
measurement (under AASB 
117 until 30 June 2019)
Leases under which the department 
assumes substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership of an asset  
are classified as finance leases.  
Other leases are classified as 
operating leases.

Finance leases are capitalised and 
recorded under property, plant and 
equipment. A lease asset and a lease 
liability equal to the lower of the fair 
value of the leased property and 
present value of the minimum lease 
payments, each determined at the 
inception of the lease, are recognised.

Repayments of principal reduce lease 
liabilities. The interest components of 
the lease payments are expensed.

Operating lease payments are 
recognised as an operating expense 
in the comprehensive operating 
statement on a straight-line basis 
over the lease term.
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16a. Intangibles
2020 2019
$000 $000

Carrying amount
Intangibles with a finite useful life
Other intangibles
At valuation 2 293 2 293
Less: accumulated amortisation (849) (441)
Written down value as at 30 June 1 445 1 852

IMPAIRMENT OF INTANGIBLES
Department intangible assets were assessed for impairment as at 30 June 2020.  
No impairment adjustments were required as a result of this review.

2020 2019
$000 $000

Reconciliation of movements
Intangibles with a finite useful life
Other intangibles
Carrying amount at 1 July 1 852 2 224
Additions - 6
Amortisation (408) (319)
Additions/disposals) from asset transfers - (60)
Carrying amount as at 30 June 1 445 1 852

 
16b. Heritage and Cultural Assets

CARRYING AMOUNT

2020

$000

2019

$000
At valuation 828 828
Less: Accumulated depreciation (240) (232)
Written down value as at 30 June 588 596
RECONCILIATION OF MOVEMENTS
Carrying amount at 1 July 596 605
Depreciation (8) (8)
Carrying amount as at 30 June 588 596 

Heritage and cultural assets valuation
Heritage and cultural assets are valued at their original cost and will be independently valued during 2020–21.

Impairment of heritage and cultural assets
Department heritage and cultural assets were assessed for impairment as at 30 June 2020. No material impairment 
adjustments were identified as a result of this review.

Department of THE ATTORNEY-GENERAL AND JUSTICE | Annual Report 2019–20  157



17. Payables
2020 2019
$000 $000

Accounts payable 6 663 8 465
Accrued expenses 4 802 5 926
Interest payable 12 907 12 463
Total payables 24 372 26 855

Liabilities for accounts payable and other amounts payable are carried at cost, which is the fair value of the 
consideration to be paid in the future for goods and services received, whether or not billed to the department. 
Accounts payable are normally settled within 20 days.

18. Borrowings and Advances

CURRENT 

2020

$000

2019

$000

Finance lease liabilities 5 534 5 039
Total current 5 534 5 039
NON CURRENT
Finance lease liabilities 492 775 498 277
Total non-current 492 775 498 277
Total borrowings and advances 498 309 503 316

Borrowings and advances are recorded initially at fair value, net of transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, 
these are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Lease liabilities
At the commencement date of the 
lease where the department is the 
lessee, the department recognises 
lease liabilities measured at the present 
value of lease payments to be made 
over the lease term. Lease payments 
include:

• fixed payments (including in 
substance fixed payments) less any 
lease incentives receivable

• variable lease payments that depend 
on an index or a rate

• amounts expected to be paid under 
residual value guarantees

• exercise price of a purchase options 
reasonably certain to be exercised 
by the entity

• payments of penalties for 
terminating the lease, if the lease 
term reflects the entity exercising 
the option to terminate.

Variable lease payments that do not 
depend on an index or a rate are 
recognised as expenses (unless they 
are incurred to produce inventories) 
in the period in which  
the event or condition that triggers 
the payment occurs.

The lease payments are discounted 
using the interest rate implicit in the 
lease. If that rate cannot be readily 
determined, which is generally the 
case for the departments’s leases, 
the Northern Territory Treasury 
Corporation’s institutional bond rate 
is used as the incremental  
borrowing rate.
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After the commencement date, 
the amount of lease liabilities is 
increased to reflect the accretion of 
interest and reduced for the lease 
payments made. In addition, the 
carrying amount of lease liabilities is 
remeasured if there is a modification, 
a change in the lease term, a change in 
the lease payments (such as changes 
to future payments resulting from 
a change in an index or rate used to 
determine such lease payments) or a 
change in the assessment of an option 
to purchase the underlying asset.

Lease liabilities are determined in 
accordance with AASB 117 until 
30 June 2019. From 1 July 2019, 

lease liabilities are determined in 
accordance with AASB 16.

The following table presents liabilities 
under leases for 2019–20:

$000
Balance at 1 July 2019 503 316
Recognition of lease liabilities on initial adoption  
of AASB 16

-

Adjusted balance at 1 July 2019 503 316
Additions/remeasurements 31
Interest 49 567
Payments (54 605)
Balance at 30 June 2020 498 309

The department had total cash outflows for leases $54.605 million 2019–20.

19. Provisions
CURRENT 

2020

$000

2019

$000
Employee benefits 5 534 5 039
     Recreation leave 23 917 22 063
     Leave loading 1 572 1 615
     Other employee benefits 141 137

25 630 22 814
Other current provisions
     Fringe benefits tax 43 270
     Payroll tax 1 541 1 468
     Superannuation 1 982 1 658

3 566 3 396
Total current provisions 29 196 27 210

NON-CURRENT
     Other employee benefits 54 36
Total non-current provisions 54 36
Total provisions 29 250 27 246

The department had an FTE of 1 464.27 as at 30 June 2020 (1 474.61 FTE as at 30 June 2019).
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Employee benefits 
Provision is made for employee 
benefits accumulated as a result of 
employees rendering services up to 
the reporting date. These benefits 
include wages and salaries and 
recreation leave. Liabilities arising 
in respect of wages and salaries, 
recreation leave and other employee 
benefit liabilities that fall due within 
twelve months of reporting date are 
classified as current liabilities and are 
measured at amounts expected to be 
paid. Non-current employee benefit 

liabilities that fall due after twelve 
months of the reporting date are 
measured at present value, calculated 
using the government long-term 
bond rate.

No provision is made for sick 
leave, which is non-vesting, as 
the anticipated pattern of future 
sick leave to be taken is less than 
the entitlement accruing in each 
reporting period. 

Employee benefit expenses are 
recognised on a net basis in respect 
of the following categories:

• wages and salaries, non-monetary 
benefits, recreation leave and 
other leave entitlements 

• other types of employee benefits

As part of the financial management 
framework, the Central Holding 
Authority assumes the long service 
leave liabilities of government 
agencies, including the department 
and therefore no long service leave 
liability is recognised in department 
financial statements. 

20. Deposits Held

CURRENT 

2020

$000

2019

$000
Deposits held – trust and clearing monies 3 446 2 018
Total deposits held 3 446 2 018

21. Commitments
Commitments are those contracted 
as at 30 June where the amount 
of the future commitment can 
be reliably measured. Following 
the adoption of AASB 16 Leases, 
operating lease commitments as 
reported in 2019, satisfying eligibility 
criteria, have now been recognised as 
a lease liability on the balance sheet 
and in Note 18.

Similarly, following the adoption of 
AASB 15 Revenue from contracts 
with customers and AASB 1058 
Income of not-for-profit entities, 
a significant portion of capital 

commitments and other  
non-cancellable commitments as 
reported in 2019 have now been 
recognised as unearned liabilities  
on the balance sheet.

Disclosures in relation to other 
commitments are detailed below. 

2020 2019

OTHER EXPENDITURE COMMITMENTS

$000 $000

EXTERNAL EXTERNAL

Other non-cancellable expenditure 
commitments not recognised as liabilities are 
payable as follows:
Within one year 2 169 1 987
Later than one year and not later  
than five years
Later than five years
Total other expenditure commitments 2 169 1 987

Superannuation
Employees’ superannuation 
entitlements are provided  
through the:

• Northern Territory Government 
and Public Authorities 
Superannuation Scheme 
(GovernmentPASS)

• Commonwealth Superannuation 
Scheme (CSS)

• non-government employee 
nominated schemes for those 
employees commencing on or  
after 10 August 1999. 

The department makes 
superannuation contributions on 
behalf of its employees  
to the Central Holding Authority 
or non-government employee-
nominated schemes.

 Superannuation liabilities related  
to government superannuation 
schemes are held by the Central 
Holding Authority and therefore  
not recognised in department 
financial statements.
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22. Reserves
ASSET REVALUATION SURPLUS
Nature and purpose of the asset revaluation surplus
The asset revaluation surplus includes the net revaluation increments and decrements arising from the  
revaluation of non-current assets. Impairment adjustments may also be recognised in the asset revaluation surplus. 

LAND BUILDINGS TOTAL

(II) MOVEMENTS IN THE ASSET 
REVALUATION SURPLUS 

2020

$000

2019

$000

2020

$000

2019

$000

2020

$000

2019

$000
Balance as at 1 July 47 180 47 180 153 502 153 502 200 682 200 682
Increment/(decrement) (18 100) - (8 911) - (27 011) -
Balance as at 30 June 29 080 47 180 144 591 153 502 173 672 200 682

23. Fair Value Measurement
Fair value is the price that would 
be received to sell an asset or paid 
to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market 
participants at the measurement date.

Fair value measurement of a non-
financial asset takes into account 
a market participant’s ability to 
generate economic benefits by 
using the asset in its highest and 
best use or by selling it to another 
market participant that would use 
the asset in its highest and best use. 
The highest and best use takes into 
account the use of the asset that is 
physically possible, legally permissible 
and financially feasible.

When measuring fair value, the 
valuation techniques used maximise 
the use of relevant observable inputs 
and minimise the use of unobservable 
inputs. Unobservable inputs are used 
to the extent that sufficient relevant 
and reliable observable inputs are not 
available for similar assets/liabilities.

Observable inputs are publicly 
available data relevant to the 
characteristics of the assets/liabilities 
being valued. Observable inputs used 
by the department include, but are 
not limited to, published sales data 
for land and general office buildings.

Unobservable inputs are data, 
assumptions and judgments not 
available publicly but relevant to the 
characteristics of the assets/liabilities 
being valued. Such inputs include 
internal department adjustments 
to observable data to take account 
of particular and potentially unique 
characteristics/functionality of 
assets/liabilities and assessments 
of physical condition and remaining 
useful life. 

All assets and liabilities for which fair 
value is measured or disclosed in the 
financial statements are categorised 
within the following fair value 
hierarchy based on the inputs used:

• Level 1 – inputs are quoted prices 
in active markets for identical 
assets or liabilities

• Level 2 – inputs are inputs other 
than quoted prices included within 
Level 1 that are observable for the 
asset or liability, either directly or 
indirectly

• Level 3 – inputs are unobservable.

The fair value of financial instruments 
is determined on the following basis:

• the fair value of cash, deposits, 
advances, receivables and payables 
approximates their carrying 
amount, which is also their 
amortised cost

• the fair value of derivative 
financial instruments are derived 
using current market yields and 
exchange rates appropriate  
to the instrument 

• the fair value of other monetary 
financial assets and liabilities is 
based on discounting to present 
value the expected future cash 
flows by applying current market 
interest rates for assets and 
liabilities with similar risk profiles.
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A) FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY
The department does not recognise any financial assets or liabilities at fair value as these are recognised at amortised 
cost. The carrying amounts of these financial assets and liabilities approximates their fair value. 

The table below presents non-financial assets recognised at fair value in the balance sheet categorised 
by levels of inputs used to compute fair value.

LEVEL 1 LEVEL 2 LEVEL 3 TOTAL FAIR VALUE

ASSETS
2019-20 

$000
2018-19 

$000
2019-20 

$000
2018-19 

$000
2019-20 

$000
2018-19 

$000
2019-20 

$000
2018-19 

$000

Land1  37 036 55 200 37 036 55 200
Buildings1  699 040 230 082 699 040 230 082
Plant and equipment 5 599 7 432 5 599 7 432
Intangibles 1 444 1 852 1 444 1 852
Computer 
hardware 110 165 110 165

Transport 
Equipment 74 99 74 99

Heritage and 
cultural assets 588 596 588 596

Total assets 743 891 295 426 743 891 295 426

There were no transfers between Level 1 and Levels 2 or 3 during 2019–20.
1 From 1 July 2019, land and buildings include right-of-use assets under AASB 16 Leases.

B) VALUATION TECHNIQUES AND INPUTS
Valuation techniques used to measure fair value in 2019–20 are:

LEVEL 2 TECHNIQUES LEVEL 3 TECHNIQUES

Asset classes Cost approach 
Land Cost approach 
Buildings Cost approach 
Plant and equipment Cost approach 
Intangibles Cost approach 
Computer hardware Cost approach 
Transport equipment Cost approach 
Heritage and cultural assets Cost approach 

There were no changes in valuation techniques from 2018–19 to 2019–20.
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24. Financial Instruments
A financial instrument is a contract 
that gives rise to a financial asset of 
one entity and a financial liability or 
equity instrument of another entity. 

Financial assets and liabilities are 
recognised on the balance sheet 
when the department becomes a 
party to the contractual provisions 
of the financial instrument. The 
department’s financial instruments 

include cash and deposits; 
receivables; advances paid; 
investment in shares; payables; 
advances received; borrowings  
and derivatives. 

Due to the nature of operating 
activities, certain financial assets 
and financial liabilities arise under 
statutory obligations rather than a 
contract. Such financial assets and 

liabilities do not meet the definition 
of financial instruments as per 
AASB 132 Financial Instruments: 
Presentation. These include statutory 
receivables arising from taxes 
including GST and penalties. 

The department has limited exposure 
to financial risks as discussed below.

FAIR VALUE THROUGH  PROFIT 
OR LOSS

2019–20

MANDATORILY 
AT FAIR VALUE

$000

DESIGNATED 
AT FAIR VALUE

$000

AMORTISED 
COST

$000

FAIR VALUE 
THROUGH OTHER 
COMPREHENSIVE 

INCOME 
$000

TOTAL

$000

Cash and deposits 6 157 6 157
Receivables1 1 479 1 479
Total financial assets 7 636 7 636
Deposits held1 3 446 3 446
Payables1 24 372 24 372
Finance lease liabilities  498 309  498 309
Total financial liabilities 526 127 526 127 
2018–19
Cash and deposits 8 935 8 935
Receivables1 2 350 2 350
Total financial assets 11 285 11 285
Deposits held1 2 018 2 018
Payables1 26 855 26 855
Finance lease liabilities 503 316 503 316
Total financial liabilities 532 189 532 189

1Total amounts disclosed here exclude statutory amounts and accrued contract revenue.

A) CATEGORIES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The carrying amounts of the department’s financial assets and liabilities by category are disclosed in the table below.
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A) CATEGORIES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The carrying amounts of the department’s financial assets and liabilities by category are disclosed in the table below.

Classification of financial 
instruments
The department’s financial 
instruments are classified in 
accordance with AASB 9.

Financial assets are classified under 
the following categories:

• amortised cost

• fair value through other 
comprehensive income

• fair value through profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are classified 
under the following categories:

• amortised cost

• fair value through profit or loss.

These classifications are based on 
the department’s business model for 
managing the financial assets and the 
contractual terms of the cash flows. 
Where assets are measured at fair 
value, gains and losses will either be 
recorded in profit or loss, or other 
comprehensive income. 

Financial instruments are reclassified 
only when the department’s business 
model for managing those assets 
changes.

Financial assets with embedded 
derivatives are considered in their 
entirety when determining whether 
their cash flows are solely payment of 
principal and interest.

Financial assets at  
amortised cost
Financial assets are classified at 
amortised cost when they are held 
by the department to collect the 
contractual cash flows and the 
contractual cash flows are solely 
payments of principal and interest. 

These assets are initially recognised 
at fair value and subsequently 
measured at amortised cost using 
the effective interest method, less 
impairment. The department’s 
financial assets categorised at 
amortised cost are cash and deposits 
and receivables.

Financial assets at fair value 
through other comprehensive 
income (FVOCI)
Financial assets are classified at 
FVOCI when they are held by 
the department to both collect 
contractual cash flows and sell the 
financial assets, and the contractual 
cash flows are solely payments of 
principal and interest. 

These assets are initially and 
subsequently recognised at fair 
value. Changes in the fair value are 
recognised in other comprehensive 
income, except for the recognition 
of impairment gains or losses 
and interest income which are 
recognised in the operating result 
in the comprehensive operating 
statement. When financial assets are 
derecognised, the cumulative gain or 
loss previously recognised in other 
comprehensive income is reclassified 
from equity to the comprehensive 
operating statement.

For equity instruments elected to 
be categorised at FVOCI, changes 
in fair value recognised in other 
comprehensive income are not 
reclassified to profit or loss on 
derecognition of the asset. Dividends 
from such instruments continue to 
be recognised in the comprehensive 
operating statement as other income 
when the department’s right to 
receive payments is established.

The department does not have any 
financial assets under this category.

Financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss (FVTPL)
Financial assets are classified at 
FVTPL where they do not meet 
the criteria for amortised cost or 
FVOCI. These assets are initially and 
subsequently recognised at fair value 
with gains or losses recognised in the 
net result for the year.

The department does not have any 
financial assets under this category.

Financial liabilities at 
amortised cost
Financial liabilities at amortised cost 
are measured at amortised cost using 
the effective interest rate method. 
The department’s financial liabilities 
categorised at amortised cost include 
all accounts payable, deposits held 
and lease liabilities.

Financial liabilities at fair 
value through profit or loss
Financial liabilities are classified 
at FVTPL when the liabilities are 
either held for trading or designated 
as FVTPL. Financial liabilities 
classified at FVTPL are initially and 
subsequently measured at fair value 
with gains or losses recognised in the 
net result for the year.

For financial liabilities designated  
at FVTPL, changes in the fair value of 
the liability attributable to changes 
in the department’s credit risk are 
recognised in other comprehensive 
income, while remaining changes  
in the fair value are recognised in  
the net result.

The department does not have any 
financial liabilities under  
this category.

Derivatives
The department may enter into 
a variety of derivative financial 
instruments to manage its exposure 
to interest rate risk. The department 
does not speculate on trading  
of derivatives.

Derivatives are initially recognised 
at fair value on the date a derivative 
contract is entered into and are 
subsequently remeasured at their fair 
value at each reporting date.  
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The resulting gain or loss is recognised 
in the comprehensive operating 
statement immediately unless the 
derivative is designated and qualifies 
as an effective hedging instrument, 
in which event, the timing of the 
recognition in the comprehensive 
operating statement depends on 
the nature of the hedge relationship. 

Application of hedge accounting 
will only be available where specific 
designation and effectiveness criteria 
are satisfied. 

Netting of swap transactions
The department, from time to time, 
may facilitate certain structured 

finance arrangements, where a legally 
recognised right to set-off financial 
assets and liabilities exists, and the 
Territory intends to settle on a net 
basis. Where these arrangements 
occur, the revenues and expenses 
are offset and the net amount is 
recognised in the comprehensive 
operating statement.

B) CREDIT RISK
The department has limited credit 
risk exposure (risk of default). 
In respect of any dealings with 
organisations external to government, 
the department has adopted a policy 
of only dealing with credit worthy 
organisations and obtaining sufficient 
collateral or other security where 

appropriate, as a means of mitigating 
the risk of financial loss from defaults.

The carrying amount of financial 
assets recorded in the financial 
statements, net of any allowances for 
losses, represents the department’s 
maximum exposure to credit risk 

without taking account of the value 
of any collateral or other  
security obtained.

Credit risk relating to receivables is 
disclosed in Note 12.

C) LIQUIDITY RISK
Liquidity risk is the risk the 
department will not be able to meet 
its financial obligations as they fall 
due. The department’s approach to 
managing liquidity is to ensure it will 
always have sufficient funds to meet 
its liabilities when they fall due. This is 
achieved by ensuring minimum levels 
of cash are held in the department 
bank account to meet various current 
employee and supplier liabilities.  

The department’s exposure to 
liquidity risk is minimal. Cash 
injections are available from the 
Central Holding Authority in the 
event of one-off extraordinary 
expenditure items arise that deplete 
cash to levels that compromise the 
department’s ability to meet its 
financial obligations.  

The following tables detail the 
department’s remaining contractual 

maturity for its financial liabilities, 
calculated based on undiscounted 
cash flows at reporting date. The 
undiscounted cash flows in these 
tables differ from the amounts 
included in the balance sheet, which 
are based on discounted cash flows. 

2020 Maturity analysis for financial liabilities

2019 Maturity analysis for financial liabilities

CARRYING 
AMOUNT

LESS THAN 
A YEAR

1 TO 
5 YEARS

MORE THAN 
5 YEARS TOTAL

LIABILITIES $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
Deposits held 3 446 3 446 3 446
Payables 24 372 24 372 24 372
Lease liabilities 498 309 5 535 36 995 455 779 498 309
Total financial liabilities 526 127 33 353 36 995 455 779 526 127

CARRYING 
AMOUNT

LESS THAN 
A YEAR

1 TO 
5 YEARS

MORE THAN 
5 YEARS TOTAL

LIABILITIES $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
Deposits held 2 018 2 018 2 018
Payables 26 855 26 855 26 855
Finance lease liabilities 503 316 5 039 33 673 464 604 503 316
Total financial liabilities 532 189 33 912 33 673 464 604 532 189 
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2019–20 2018–19
$000 $000

Short-term benefits 1 348 1 560
Long-term benefits 70 155
Termination benefits - -

Total 1 418 1 715

D) RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Transactions with Northern Territory Government-controlled entities
The department’s primary ongoing source of funding is received from the Central Holding Authority in the form of 
output and capital appropriation and on-passed Commonwealth national partnership and specific-purpose payments.

D) MARKET RISK
Market risk is the risk the fair value 
of future cash flows of a financial 
instrument will fluctuate because 
of changes in market prices. It 
comprises interest rate risk, price risk 
and currency risk. 

(i) Interest rate risk
The department is not exposed to 
interest rate risk as department 

financial assets and financial liabilities, 
with the exception of finance leases 
are non interest bearing. Finance 
lease arrangements are established 
on a fixed interest rate and therefore 
do not expose the department to 
interest rate risk. 

(ii) Price risk
The department is not exposed to 
price risk as the department does not 

hold units in unit trusts.

(iii) Currency risk
The department is not exposed to 
currency risk as the department does 
not hold borrowings denominated in 
foreign currencies or transactional 
currency exposures arising from 
purchases in a foreign currency.

25. Related Parties
A) RELATED PARTIES
The department is a government 
administrative entity and is wholly 
owned and controlled by the 
Northern Territory Government. 
Related parties of the department 
include:

• the portfolio minister and key 
management personnel (KMP) 
because they have authority 
and responsibility for planning, 

directing and controlling  
the activities of the  
department directly

• close family members of the 
portfolio minister or KMP 
including spouses, children and 
dependants

• all public sector entities that are 
controlled and consolidated into 
the whole of government financial 
statements

• any entities controlled or jointly 
controlled by KMP’s or the 
portfolio minister, or controlled 
or jointly controlled by their close 
family members.

B) KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL (KMP)
Key management personnel of the department are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, 
directing and controlling the activities of the department. These include the Attorney-General and Minister for Justice, 
the Chief Executive Officer and the members of the executive team.

C) REMUNERATION OF KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL
The details below excludes the salaries and other benefits of the Attorney-General and Minister for Justice as the 
minister’s remunerations and allowances are payable by the Department of the Legislative Assembly and consequently 
disclosed within the Treasurer’s annual financial statements. 

The aggregate compensation of key management personnel is set out below:
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REVENUE 
FROM RELATED 

PARTIES

PAYMENTS 
TO RELATED 

PARTIES

AMOUNTS OWED 
BY RELATED 

PARTIES

AMOUNTS OWED 
TO RELATED 

PARTIES
RELATED PARTY $000 $000 $000 $000
2020 
All Governmegovernment 
departments 36 466 68 080 11 345 

2019     
All Governmegovernment 
departments  16 344 49 828 744 1 238 

The department’s transactions with other government entities included the following significant transactions.  
The department’s transactions with other government entities not specified below are not individually significant.

RELATED PARTY NATURE

REVENUE FROM 
RELATED PARTIES

PAYMENTS TO  
RELATED PARTIES

2019–20 2018–19 2019–20 2018–19

$000 $000 $000 $000

Department of Corporate 
and Information Services

Free of charge revenue 
and services in relation 
to corporate functions; 
provision of IT related 
services

32 162 15 264 35 692 19 648

Department of 
Infrastructure, Planning  
and Logistics

Free of charge revenue 
and services in relation to 
repairs and maintenance

2 847 - 2 857 -

Northern Territory Legal Aid 
Commission

Grants paid including 
the pass on of 
Commonwealth Funding 
received under a national 
partnership agreement

15 104 13 418

NT Fleet
Provision, repair and 
maintenance of leased 
motor vehicles

2 754 3 337

Data Centre Services Provision of IT related 
services 652 3 408

BIITE
Provision of education 
and training within NT 
Corrections

1 719 1 618

Jacana Energy Supply of electricity 4 525 4 130
Total transactions with other departments 35 019 15 264 63 303 45 739

Other related party transactions are as follows:
Given the breadth and depth of government activities, related parties will transact with the Northern Territory public 
sector in a manner consistent with other members of the public including paying stamp duty and other government fees 
and charges and therefore these transactions have not been disclosed. No other related party transactions in excess  
of $10 000 have occurred during the reporting year.

The following table provides quantitative information about related party transactions entered into during the year 
with all other Northern Territory Government-controlled entities.
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26. Contingent Liabilities and  
Contingent Assets
A) CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
The department has entered into a 
number of contracts or agreements 
with private and public organisations. 
These contracts and agreements 
include terms and conditions 
requiring the department to provide 
either a guarantee or indemnity to 
the beneficiaries.

The department maintains a 
register of contingent liabilities. 

Indemnities and guarantees 
require assessment and approval 
by either the Accountable Officer 
or the Treasurer, with ministerial 
endorsement. Contingent liabilities 
are not accounted for on the 
department’s financial statement as 
they cannot be quantified and the 
likelihood of occurrence is uncertain 
but considered low.

As at the date of the report the 
department has recorded a 
contingent liability that pertains to an 
anticipated guarantee of a business 
loan facility. The contingent liability 
cannot be reliably valued at this 
time, but on information available 
is thought to be limited to not more 
than $3.5 million.

B) CONTINGENT ASSETS
Under the Victims of Crime Assistance Act 2006, the Territory is entitled to recover from an offender monies equal 
to the amount of assistance, costs and disbursements paid to the victim under the Act. However due to offenders 
being imprisoned for lengthy terms, being declared bankrupt or unable to be located, it is probable that significant 
proportions of the amounts owed are uncollectible.

Therefore, any contingent assets cannot be reliably quantified. 

27. Events Subsequent to Balance Date
No events have arisen between the end of the financial year and the date of this report that require adjustment  
to, or disclosure in these financial statements.

Department of THE ATTORNEY-GENERAL AND JUSTICE | Annual Report 2019–20  169



OPENING 
BALANCE  

1 JULY 2019
RECEIPTS PAYMENTS

CLOSING 
BALANCE 

30 JUNE 2020
NATURE OF TRUST MONEY $000 $000 $000 $000
Cash Bail 428 170 (377) 221 
Unclaimed monies 114 (35) (51) 27 
Civil Court matters 16 28 (43) 1 
Criminal Court matters 85 663 (689) 59 
Payments into court 20 2 (20) 2 
Prisoner monies 1 071 7 251 (7 140) 1 182 
Security deposits 40 2 - 42 
Professional standards 19 1 (4) 16 
Solicitor Trust monies - 1 599 - 1 599 
Electronic gaming machine 
application levy 100 - - 100 

Monies collected on behalf of 
other organisations 15 138 (81) 72 

Surveyor's Board 63 15 (4) 73 
Total money held in trust  1 971  9 834 (8 411) 3 394

 
29. Schedule of Administered Territory Items
The following Territory items are managed by the department on behalf of the government and are recorded in the 
Central Holding Authority (refer Note 2 (d).

2020 2019
TERRITORY INCOME AND EXPENSES $000 $000
Income
Fees from regulatory services 4 015 5 041
Other income 17 179 18 386
Total income 21 194 23 427

Expenses
Other administrative expenses 21 194 23 427
Total expenses 21 194 23 427
Territory income less expenses -  -

28. Trust Monies
In accordance with section 7 of the Financial Management Act 1995 and section 161 of the  
Correctional Services Act 2014, trust accounts has been established for the receipt of money to be held in trust.  
A summary of activity is shown below:
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30. Budgetary Information
2019–20 
ACTUAL

2019–20 
ORIGINAL BUDGET VARIANCE

NOTE
COMPREHENSIVE OPERATING STATEMENT $000 $000 $000
INCOME
Taxation revenue 9 684 12 371 (2 687) 1
Grants and subsidies revenue
     Current 1 105 100 1 005
Appropriation
     Output 318 019 322 364 (4 345) 2
     Commonwealth 12 687 10 348 2 339 3
Sales of goods and services 15 341 18 933 (3 592) 4
Goods and services received free of charge 35 019 16 889 18 130 5
Other income 7 205 5 333 1 872
Total income 399 060 386 338 12 722

EXPENSES 
Employee expenses 194 112 185 255 8 857 6
Administrative expenses
     Purchases of goods and services 77 529 83 281 (5 752) 7
     Repairs and maintenance - 3 971 (3 971) 5
     Depreciation and amortisation 19 238 18 419 819
     Other administrative expenses 36 931 16 889 20 042 5
Grants and subsidies expenses
     Current 52 358 49 353 3 005 8
Community service obligations
Interest expenses 49 567 49 565 2
Total expenses 429 735 406 733 23 002
Net surplus/(deficit) (30 674) (20 395) (10 279)

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Items that will not be reclassified to net 
surplus/deficit
Changes in asset revaluation surplus (27 011) - (27 011) 9
TOTAL OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (27 011) - (27 011)

   
COMPREHENSIVE RESULT (57 685) (20 395) (37 291)
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Notes: 
The following note descriptions relate to variances 
greater than 10 per cent or $5 million, or where multiple 
significant variances have occurred.

1. This previous budget result is due to the impacts of 
COVID-19; gambling venues were closed reducing 
revenue collections.

2. Reflects additional appropriation and Treasurer’s 
Advance for once-off unforeseen costs offset by the 
transfer of corporate and information technology 
services to the department of Corporate and 
Information Services.

3. Reflects additional Commonwealth funding received 
related, in part, to COVID-19.

4. Continued low levels of Land Titles Office 
lodgements, lower prisoner purchases, and lower 
than anticipated prison industries sales as associated 
effort continued to be directed toward the 
Transitional Accommodation Program for  
part of the year.

5. Reflects the impact of the transfer of corporate and 
information technology services to the Department 
of Corporate and Information Services and the 
transfer of repairs and maintenance and associated 
staff to the Department of Planning,  
Infrastructure and Logistics.

6. Employee expenses exceeded budget for the period 
primarily reflecting overspends in Correctional 
Services overtime with escorts, sick leave  
and vacancies being the main drivers.

7. Additional expenditure occurred in  
the following areas:

• Correctional Services prisoner related 
expenditure, contract food and consumables with 
prisoner numbers the key drivers.  Additional 
expenditure was offset in part by the additional 
appropriation received in the final budget round.

• Increased payments to victims of crimes as claims 
backlog continues to be cleared.

• Expenditure by the Director of Public 
Prosecutions on witness and legal costs.

8. Continued funding of the COMMIT program, in line 
with government COVID-19 grants policy,  
combined with additional Commonwealth funding 
received offset by an underspend for the  
Community Benefit Fund.

9. Impact of revaluation of Land and Buildings  
carried out as at 30 June 2020.

172   Department of THE ATTORNEY-GENERAL AND JUSTICE | Annual Report 2019–20



2019–20 
ACTUAL

2019–20 
ORIGINAL BUDGET VARIANCE

NOTE
BALANCE SHEET $000 $000 $000
ASSETS
Current assets
     Cash and deposits 6 157 4 497 1 660 1
     Receivables 3 307 2 293 1 014
     Inventories 1 521 1 318 203
     Prepayments 504 705 (201)
Total current assets 11 489 8 813 2 676

Non-current assets
     Property, plant and equipment 741 859 755 430 (13 571) 2
     Intangibles 1 445 - 1 445
     Heritage and cultural assets 588 - 588
Total non-current assets 743 891 755 430 (11 539)
TOTAL ASSETS 755 381 764 243 (8 862) 

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
     Deposits held 3 446 3 941 (495)
     Payables 24 372 23 787 585
     Borrowings and advances 5 534 5 534 -
     Provisions 29 196 26 189 3 007 3
Total current liabilities 62 549 59 451 3 098

Non-current liabilities
     Borrowings and advances 492 775 492 747 28
     Provisions 54 - 54
Total non-current liabilities 492 829 492 747 82
TOTAL LIABILITIES 555 377 552 198 3 179

   
NET ASSETS 200 003 212 045 (12 042)

Notes: 
The following note descriptions relate to variances 
greater than 10 per cent or $5 million, or where multiple 
significant variances have occurred.

1. Higher than budgeted closing cash reflects the 
impact of additional appropriation and Treasurer’s 
Advance received at year end along with an increase 
in quarantined balances in the Supreme Court  
Litigants Fund.

2. Land and buildings were revalued at 30 June 2020. 
The balance of property, plant and equipment 
reflects the net reduction in value as a result of this 

revaluation offset by differences in the timing of 
capital expenditure and includes the transfer from the 
Department of Infrastructure, Planning and Logistics 
of refurbishment costs on the Alice Springs  
Court House. 

3. The variation reflects the impact of the restatement 
of provisions related to correctional officers following 
the finalisation of the Correctional Officers (NTPS) 
2017–2021 Enterprise Agreement. 
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2019–20 
ACTUAL

2019–20 
ORIGINAL BUDGET VARIANCE

NOTE
CASH FLOW STATEMENT $000 $000 $000
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING 
ACTIVITIES 
Operating receipts
Taxes received 9 684 12 371 (2 687) 1
Grants and subsidies received
     Current 1 105 100 1 005
Appropriation 
     Output 318 019 322 364 (4 345) 2
     Commonwealth 12 687 10 348 2 339 3
Receipts from sales of goods and services 38 968 24 266 14 702 4
Total operating receipts 380 464 369 449 11 015
Operating payments
Payments to employees (193 698) (185 255) (8 443) 5
Payments for goods and services (94 949) (87 264) (7 685) 6
Grants and subsidies paid
     Current (51 899) (49 353) (2 546) 7
Interest paid (49 683) (49 682) (1)
Total operating payments (390 228) (371 554) (18 674)
Net cash from/(used in) operating activities (9 764) (2 105) (7 659)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Investing payments
Purchases of assets 303 556 (253)
Total investing payments 303 556 (253)
Net cash from/(used in) investing activities 303 556 (253)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING 
ACTIVITIES
Financing receipts
Deposits received 1 428 - 1 428
Equity injections
     Capital appropriation 5 477 5 477 -
     Other equity injections 4 816   
Total financing receipts 11 721 5 477 1 428

Financing payments
Finance lease payments (5 038) (5 037) (1)
Total financing payments (5 038) (5 037) (1)
Net cash from/(used in) financing activities 6 683 440 1 427
Net increase/(decrease) in cash held (2 778) (2 221) (557)
Cash at beginning of financial year 8 935 6 718 2 217
CASH AT END OF FINANCIAL YEAR 6 157 4 497 1 660
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Notes: 
The following note descriptions relate to variances 
greater than 10 per cent or $5 million or where multiple 
significant variances have occurred.

1. This adjacent budget result is due to the impacts of 
COVID-19; gambling venues were closed reducing 
revenue collections.

2. Reflects additional appropriation and Treasurer’s 
Advance for once-off unforeseen costs offset by the 
transfer of corporate and information technology 
services to the Department of Corporate and 
Information Services.

3. Reflects additional Commonwealth funding received 
related, in part, to COVID-19.

4. Reflects variance predominately explained by GST 
receivable balances for which no budget is provided, 
continued low levels of Land Titles Office lodgements, 
lower prisoner purchases, and lower than anticipated 
prison industries sales as associated effort 
continued to be directed toward the Transitional 
Accommodation Program for part of the year.

5. Employee expenses exceeded budget for the period 
primarily reflecting overspends in Correctional 
Services overtime with escorts, sick leave and 
vacancies being the main drivers combined with 
COVID-19 related impacts.

6. Variance is in part explained by GST payables 
balances for which no budget is provided. There were 
also increased expenditure in the following areas:

• Correctional Services prisoner related 
expenditure, contract food and consumables with 
prisoner numbers the key drivers. Additional 
expenditure was offset in part by the additional 
appropriation received in the final budget round.

• Increased payments to victims of crimes as claims 
backlog continues to be cleared.

• Expenditure by the Director of Public 
Prosecutions on witness and legal costs.

7. Continued funding of the COMMIT program, in line 
with government COVID-19 grants policy,  
combined with additional Commonwealth funding 
received offset by an underspend for the  
Community Benefit Fund.
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31. Budgetary Information:  
Administered Territory Items
In addition to the specific departmental operations that are included in the financial statements, the department 
administers or manages other activities and resources on behalf of the Territory such as fines, penalties and fees from 
regulatory services. The department does not gain control over assets arising from these collections, consequently no 
income is recognised in the department’s financial statements. The transactions relating to these activities are reported 
as administered items in this note.

2019–20 
ACTUAL

2019–20 
ORIGINAL BUDGET VARIANCE

NOTE
ADMINISTERED TERRITORY ITEMS $000 $000 $000
TERRITORY INCOME AND EXPENSES
Income
Fees from regulatory services 4 015 3 035 980 1
Other income 17 179 17 441 (262) 1
Total income 21 194 20 476 718

Expenses
Other administrative expenses 21 194 20 476 718 1
Total expenses 21 194 20 476 718
Territory income less expenses - - - 

Notes: 
The following note descriptions relate to variances greater than 10 per cent or $5 million or where multiple  
significant variances have occurred.

1. The variance relates in part to higher than budgeted licence and registration fee revenue in particular for architect 
registration and racing licensing. The variance also includes unclaimed monies for which no budget is provided.
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Legislative Reporting
Construction Contracts (Security of Payments) Act 2004
Section 63 of the Construction Contracts (Security of Payments) Act 2004 requires the relevant CEO to provide a 
report on the operation and effectiveness of the Act for the year. The Act provides a speedy dispute-resolution 
mechanism for building disputes. The process permits disputes to be resolved on an interim basis, pending any 
further action before the courts. These interim resolutions permit construction contracts to proceed, with monies 
being paid, subject to the reservation of the right to proceed in court. The department, through the Legal Policy unit, 
administers this Act.

Some statistics concerning the operation of the Act are:

Applications and Registrations

YEAR

ADJUDICATOR REGISTRATION NUMBERS

ANNUAL REGISTRATION 
NUMBERS

TOTAL NUMBER 
REGISTERED

2015–16 8 55

2016–17 11 66

2017–18 5 71

2018–19 1 72

2019–20 7 79

YEAR

NO. OF 
(KNOWN) 

APPLICATIONS1

TOTAL FEES 
CHARGED

AVERAGE 
FEE AWARD TOTAL

TOTAL FEES AS A 
PERCENTAGE OF TOTAL 

AMOUNT AWARDED 

2015–16 21 $150 565 $7 170 $45 891 038 0.33%

2016–17 20 $429 293 $21 465 $121 558 559 0.35%

2017–18 24 $767 308 $31 971 $17 341 819 4.42%

2018–19 29 $1 183 778 $40 820 $162 140 648 0.73%

2019–20 14 $500 298 $35 736 $60 236 889 0.83%

1 Includes $500 lodgement fees for Community Justice Centre appointments (no adjudicator fees are payable for determinations where the Community 
Justice Centre makes the appointment).
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Applications and Determinations

YEAR

NUMBER OF 
APPLICATIONS

NUMBER OF 
DETERMINATIONS

NUMBER OF 
WITHDRAWALS AND 

REJECTIONS  
OF APPLICATIONS 
 (e.g. for being made  

out of time)

NUMBER OF COURT 
ACTIONS RESULTING FROM 

DETERMINATIONS AND 
APPOINTMENTS  

OF ADJUDICATORS

2015–2016 241 13 8 0

2016–2017 17 14 62 3

2017–2018 283 17 9 34

2018–2019 34 22 7 1

2019–2020 10 9 5 45

1 Three applications made in the 2015–16 financial year were not determined by 30 June 2016 and were determined in the following year.
2 Two applications were made for the same payment dispute. The first application was withdrawn, and the second was dismissed on the grounds that there 
was no valid payment claim.
3 This includes two applications that were not determined following a court order declaring that the adjudicator could not make simultaneous 
determinations without the consent of all the parties. The applications were deemed to be dismissed; the applicant then reapplied to have the disputes 
adjudicated and separate adjudicators were appointed. That meant there were four applications but only two decisions made (one determination and one 
dismissal).
4 One of these matters was a decision on ancillary orders following a decision made in the previous financial year (see Inpex Operations Australia Pty Ltd and 
Anor v JKC Australia LNG Pty Ltd and Anor [2017] NTSC 45, and Inpex Operations Australia Pty Ltd and Anor v JKC Australia LNG Pty Ltd and Anor (No.2) 
[2017] NTSC 61). Another was the successful appeal against a decision made in the previous year (see JKC Australia LNG Pty Ltd and Anor v Inpex Operations 
Australia Pty Ltd and Anor [2-18] NTCA 6).
5 One matter was an appeal of an earlier decision (see James Engineering Pty Ltd v ABB Australia Pty Ltd and Anor [2019] NTCA 7), and one was a cost 
application following an unsuccessful application to prevent an adjudicator from making a determination (see Jemena Northern Gas Pipeline Pty Ltd v Civmec 
Constructions and Engineering Pty Ltd and Gordon Smith [2019] NTSC 52 and Jemena Northern Gas Pipeline Pty Ltd v Civmec Constructions and Engineering 
Pty Ltd and Gordon Smith [2019] NTSC 54).
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Appendices 
COMMITTEES
The tables below detail agency-wide committees to 30 June 2020.

Executive Management Group (EMG)

DATE ESTABLISHED: 2017

NUMBER OF MEETINGS HELD 2019–20: 46 meetings

COMMITTEE

CHAIR: Greg Shanahan, Chief Executive Officer 

MEMBERS: Gemma Lake, Deputy Chief  
Executive Officer

Jacqueline Dowling, Acting Executive Director, 
Corporate and Strategic Services 

PREVIOUS MEMBERS: Meredith Day, former  
Deputy Chief Executive Officer 

Alecia Brimson, former Executive Director, Corporate 
and Strategic Services

ROLE

Drives the minister’s priorities for the Northern Territory 
Government; the department’s strategic direction, 
performance and compliance. 

THE EMG:

• leads the strategic direction of the department 

• drives the department’s achievement of the  
minister’s priorities 

• provides advice to the CEO in determining the priority 
of projects and programs for the department 

• reviews and recommends the priority of divisional 
Budget Cabinet Submissions 

• reviews and recommends the priority of information 
technology projects and systems recommended  
by the Information Management Committee to the 
Executive Leadership Group 

• forecasts the structure and drives the reshaping of 
the department beyond 2020 

• ensures an optimal environment is developed to 
support the achievement of departmental priorities.
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Executive Leadership Group (ELG)

DATE ESTABLISHED: 23 May 2017

NUMBER OF MEETINGS HELD 2019–20: 12 meetings

COMMITTEE

CHAIR: Greg Shanahan, Chief Executive Officer

MEMBERS: Gemma Lake, Deputy Chief Executive 
Officer (first meeting 1 November 2019)

Jack Karczewski QC, Director of Public Prosecutions

Alecia Brimson, Executive Director, Regulatory Services

Jacqueline Dowling, Acting Executive Director, 
Corporate and Strategic Services

Chris Cox, Executive Director, Courts and Tribunals 
Support Services

Melissa Garde, former A/Senior Director, NT WorkSafe

Craig Smyth, A/Executive Director, Legal Services

Scott McNairn, Commissioner, NT Correctional Services

A representative from the Independent Officers Group 
(Colleen Gwynne)

PREVIOUS MEMBERS: Meredith Day, former  
Deputy CEO

Sally Ozolins, former Acting Director-General  
of Licensing

ROLE

THE ELG:

• leads the development and implementation of the 
department’s strategic plan

• initiates collaborative strategic reform

• provides leadership in the coordination of intra and 
inter-agency activities that deliver the department’s 
strategic objectives

• provides leadership in the development of 
department frameworks and programs that underpin 
the department’s strategic objectives.

Audit and Risk Committee (ARC)

DATE ESTABLISHED: 1 September 2004

NUMBER OF MEETINGS HELD 2019–20: 5 meetings

COMMITTEE

CHAIR: Steve Bartlett, Principal – Bartlett Consulting 
(member to 31/3/2020, Chair from 1/4/2020)

Emily Clarke, Law Officer, Solicitor for the Northern 
Territory (until 31/3/2020)

MEMBERS: Chris Wicks, Director, Regulatory Reform, 
NT WorkSafe

Yvonne Sundmark, Director, Risk Management and 
Audit, NT Department of Health 

Leonique Swart, Principal Policy Lawyer, Legal Policy 
(from 1/4/2020)

Rosslyn Chenoweth, Director Crime Victims Services 
Unit (from 1/4/2020)

SECRETARY: Philip Anderson,  
A/Director-Audit Services

PERMANENT OBSERVERS: Julie Crisp, Auditor-
General or her nominee, Office of the Auditor-General 

Derryn Southwell, Director, Governance and Risk

Scott McNairn, Commissioner or his nominee,  
NT Correctional Services

PREVIOUS MEMBERS: Steven Wheelhouse, Director, 
Fines Recovery Unit (until 31/3/2020)
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ROLE

The ARC provides an oversight role to assist the 
CEO and the ELG fulfil their corporate governance 
responsibilities, particularly in relation to accountability 
arrangements, internal control, risk management and 
internal and external audit functions.

THE ARC:

• monitors the adequacy of the internal control 
environment and related policies, practices and 
procedures

• monitors corporate risk assessment and the adequacy 
of the internal controls established to manage 
identified risks

• oversees the internal audit function, liaises with 
external auditors, and monitors the implementation 
of internal and external audit recommendations 

• reviews financial statements and other public 
accountability documents such as annual reports 
prior to approval by the accountable officer

• undertakes any other functions and activities as 
determined from time to time by the CEO, within the 
context of the committee’s primary objective.

The ARC has authority for each of these functions 
across all areas of the department, including statutory 
offices where not excluded by legislation.

Department Work Health and Safety (WHS) Oversight Committee

DATE ESTABLISHED: 12 May 2016

NUMBER OF MEETINGS HELD 2019–20: 5 meetings

COMMITTEE

CHAIR: Derryn Southwell, Director,  
Governance and Risk

MEMBERS: One nominee from each of the following 
location-based Health and Safety Committees:

Darwin Correctional Centre, Alice Springs Correctional 
Centre, Alice Springs and Tennant Creek Courts,  
NT Consumer Affairs and NT Civil and Administrative 
Tribunal – Darwin, Heritage House – Darwin, Old 
Admiralty Tower – Darwin, Nichols Place A – Darwin, 
Nichols Place B – Darwin, Supreme Court – Darwin, 
NT WorkSafe – Darwin, NAB Building – Darwin

ROLE

The department’s WHS Oversight Committee provides 
a forum for collaboration and consultation across the 
department on WHS matters.

The WHS Oversight Committee plays a central role 
in monitoring and guiding WHS matters, ensuring 
the systematic achievement of WHS requirements, 
and making recommendations to the ELG about the 
implementation and progression of WHS matters.
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Change Management Steering Group (CMSG)

DATE ESTABLISHED: 26 April 2019

NUMBER OF MEETINGS HELD 2019–20: 7 meetings

COMMITTEE

CHAIR: Greg Shanahan, Chief Executive Officer

MEMBERS: Ros Lague, Assistant Commissioner, 
Offender Development, NT Correctional Services

Craig Smyth, A/Executive Director Legal Services

Traci Keys, Director, Anti-Discrimination Commission, 
Independent Offices

Melissa Garde, former Acting Senior Director,  
NT WorkSafe

Marita Cabot Project Manager, Regulatory Services 
review, Licensing NT

Mihali Taktikos, Governance Officer, Corporate and 
Strategic Services

Wade Jensen, Manager Business and Security Systems, 
DCIS Corporate Information Services

Lucas Hemsley, Community and Public Sector Union 
(CPSU) Representative

Erina Early, United Voice Representative

SECRETARIAT: Derryn Southwell, Director, 
Governance and Risk, Corporate and Strategic Services 

PREVIOUS MEMBERS: Meredith Day, former  
Deputy CEO

Alecia Brimson, former Executive Director, Corporate 
and Strategic Services

Nadine Katarski, former Infrastructure and Property 
Officer, Corporate and Strategic Services

ROLE

The CMSG ensures that the department adheres to its 
legislative obligations and department change principles 
when implementing its change agenda.

It monitors the activities of change management 
committees across the department to ensure 
development of suitable change management plans 
are consistent with the relevant enterprise agreement 
provisions for management of change and monitors 
implementation of change.

The CMSG ensures relevant stakeholders are kept 
informed and consulted on pending changes, reporting 
any relevant findings (experiences, evaluations, 
feedbacks) to the CEO; Identifying and considering 
risks identified by others; and maintaining and 
monitoring issues as they arise.

Decisions of this group only relate to the oversight of 
the principles of change.

The initial focus of the CMSG was the centralisation 
of corporate service functions and members may be 
reconfigured, as required, to accommodate evolving 
change requirements.
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STATUTORY OFFICE HOLDERS AND STATUTORY OFFICES
A number of statutory offices came under the umbrella of the department in 2019–20 for the purposes of 
the Public Sector Employment and Management Act 1993 and the Financial Management Act 1995.

The independent statutory offices are included in the department’s output structure for funding and reporting on 
performance against the approved agency budget. However, the department has no authority to direct statutory 
offices in the execution of their independent functions.

It should be noted that the functions and independence of statutory offices are maintained by their respective  
Acts and a number of department employees also hold authority to execute statutory functions under various Acts.

STATUTORY OFFICE HOLDERS

APPOINTMENT ACT

Advisors to the Committee Care and Protection of Children Act 2007

Analyst Kava Management Act 1998

Analyst Misuse of Drugs Act 1990

Anti-Discrimination Commissioner Anti-Discrimination Act 1992

Approved Representative Soccer Football Pools Act 1978

Assessors Liquor Act 1978 and Liquor Act 2019

Assessors Victims of Crime Assistance Act 2006

Associate Judges Supreme Court Act 1979

Authorised Officer Electricity Reform Act 200

Authorised Officer Kava Management Act 1998

Chairperson, Deputy Chairperson, 
Members, Deputy Members Professional Standards Act 2004

Chairperson, Deputy Chairperson, Members Classification of Publications, Films and Computer Games Act 1985

Chief Inspector Radioactive Ores and Concentrates (Packaging and Transport) Act 1980

Chief Judge Local Court Act 2015

Children’s Commissioner Children’s Commissioner Act 2013

Commissioner for Health and Community 
Services Complaints Health and Community Services Complaints Act 1998

Commissioner of Business Tenancies Business Tenancies (Fair Dealings) Act 2003

Commissioner of Consumer Affairs Consumer Affairs and Fair Trading Act 1990

Commissioner of Correctional Services Correctional Services Act 2014

Commissioner for Oaths Oaths, Affidavits and Declarations Act 2010

Commissioner of Tenancies Residential Tenancies Act 1999

Construction Contracts Registrar Construction Contracts (Security of Payments) Act 2004

Controller of Prices Price Exploitation Prevention Act 1949
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APPOINTMENT ACT

Coroner Coroners Act 1993

Deputy Chief Judge Local Court Act 2015

Deputy Commissioner Consumer Affairs and Fair Trading Act 1990

Deputy Coroner Coroners Act 1993

Deputy Director of Fines Recovery Unit Fines and Penalties (Recovery) Act 2001

Deputy Public Trustee of the NT Public Trustee Act 1979

Deputy Registrars Births, Deaths and Marriages Registration Act 1996

Deputy Registrars-General Registration Act 1927

Deputy Registrar of Land, Business and 
Conveyancing Agents Agents Licensing Act 1979

Deputy Registrar of Mental Health  
Review Tribunal Mental Health and Related Services Act 1998

Director of Fines Recovery Unit Fines and Penalties (Recovery) Act 2001

Director of Gaming Control Gaming Control Act 1993

Director of Gaming Machines Gaming Machine Act 1995

Director-General of Licensing
Licensing (Director-General) Act 2014  
(Repealed by the Licensing (Director-General) Repeal Act 2020  
which commenced on the 14–04–2020)

Director of Kava Management Kava Management Act 1998

Director of Liquor Licensing Liquor Act 2019

Director of Private Security Regulation Private Security Act 1995

Director of Public Prosecutions Director of Public Prosecutions Act 1990

Director of Tobacco Control Tobacco Control Act 2002

Director of Totalisator Licensing Totalisator Licensing and Regulation Act 2000

Electricity Officer Electricity Reform Act 2000

Electricity Safety Regulator Electricity Reform Act 2000

Inspectors Liquor Act 1978 and Liquor Act 2019

Inspectors of Land, Business and 
Conveyancing Agents Agents Licensing Act 1979

Judges Local Court Act 2015

Judges Supreme Court Act 1979

Judicial Registrar Local Court Act 2015

Justice of the Peace Justices of the Peace Act 1991

Mediator Return to Work Act 1986

Official Visitors Correctional Services Act 2014
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APPOINTMENT ACT

Other officers of the Court Work Health Administration Act 2011

Public Trustee for the NT Public Trustee Act 1979

Public Guardian Guardianship of Adults Act 2016

Registrar Supreme Court Act 1979

Registrar Youth Justice Act 2005

Registrar of Births, Deaths and Marriages Births, Deaths and Marriages Registration Act 1996

Registrar-General for the NT Registration Act 1927

Registrar of Land, Business and 
Conveyancing Agents Agents Licensing Act 1979

Registrar of Mental Health Review Tribunal Mental Health and Related Services Act 1998

Registrar of Northern Territory Civil  
and Administrative Tribunal Northern Territory Civil and Administrative Tribunal 2014

Registrar of Transferred Parole Orders Parole Orders (Transfer) Act 1981

Schemes Supervisor Unit Title Schemes Act 2009

Secretary of the Parole Board Parole Act 1971

Sheriff, Deputy Sheriffs, Bailiffs,  
and other officers of the Sheriff Sheriff Act 1962

Solicitor-General of the NT Law Officers Act 1978

Work Health Authority Work Health Administration Act 2011
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STATUTORY BOARDS AND BODIES 
Agents Licensing Act 1979

Agents Licensing Board (Real Estate and Conveyancing)

The purpose of this board is to administer legislation, and to consider applications and 
complaints relating to conveyancing, real estate and business agents and their representatives.

Agents Licensing Fidelity Guarantee Fund of the NT

The purpose of this fund is to maintain and operate the moneys of the fund comprising 
interest on licensed agent’s trust accounts, licence and registration fees, interest on 
investments, and fines imposed by the Agents Licensing Board.

Architects Act 1963

Architects Board

The purpose of this board is to register architects, architectural companies and architectural 
partnership; maintain the registers of architects; conduct architect practice exams as part of 
the national system; and consider complaints in relation to registered architects.

Building Act 1993

Building Practitioners Board

The purpose of this board is to register building practitioners (builders, building certifiers, 
certifying plumbers and drainers, and certifying engineers); maintain a system of performance 
reporting on practitioners; monitor the compliance of practitioners in accordance with 
registration requirements; monitor the competence and professional conduct of practitioners; 
and conduct inquiries into the work and conduct of practitioners, and if necessary, take 
disciplinary action.

Care and Protection of Children Act 2007

Child Deaths Review and Prevention Committee

The key functions of the committee are set out in section 210 of the Care and Protection 
of Children Act 2007, which is to assist in prevention and reduction of child deaths in the 
Northern Territory by maintaining a Child Deaths Register, conducting or sponsoring research 
about child deaths, and developing policy to deal with child deaths, diseases and accidents.

Community Justice Centre Act 2005

NT Community Justice Centre

The centre is established pursuant to section 7 of the Community Justice Centre Act 2005. 
The purpose of the centre is to provide mediation services to the community and adjudicate 
construction contract payment disputes.

Consumer Affairs and Fair Trading Act 1990

Tow Truck Operators Code of Practice Administering Authority

This authority is established pursuant to clause 5 of the schedule to the Consumer Affairs and 
Fair Trading (Tow Truck Operators Code of Practice) Regulations 1996. The authority is responsible 
for monitoring compliance with the code, declaring areas where rosters of tow truck operators 
may operate and establishing rosters for those areas, and determining disputes about fees  
for services.
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Electrical Workers and Contractors Act 1978

Electrical Workers and Contractors Licensing Board

The purpose of this board is to register electrical workers; maintain the register of electrical 
workers; and conduct inquiries into the work and conduct of electrical workers, and if 
necessary take disciplinary action.

Fines and Penalties (Recovery) Act 2001

Fines Recovery Unit

This unit is established as a registry of the Local Court pursuant to section 27 of the Fines 
and Penalties (Recovery) Act 2001. The unit is to collect fines and penalties, make time-to-pay, 
instalment or enforcement orders, take enforcement action against unpaid fines and write off 
penalties as appropriate.

Gaming Control Act 1993

Community Benefit Committee

The purpose of this committee is to consider applications for major grants from the 
Community Benefit Fund and to make recommendations to the minister in relation to  
these applications.

Health and Community Services Complaints Act 1998

Health and Community Services Complaints Review Committee

This committee is established pursuant to section 78 of the Health and Community Services 
Complaints Act 1998. The functions of the committee are: (a) to review the conduct of 
a complaint to determine whether the procedures and processes for responding to the 
complaint were followed and, as it thinks fit, to make recommendations to the commissioner 
in respect of the conduct of the complaint; (b) to monitor the operation of this Act and 
make recommendations to the commissioner in respect of any aspect of the procedures and 
processes for responding to complaints; and (c) to advise the commissioner and the minister,  
as appropriate, on the operation of this Act and the Regulations.

Legal Aid Act 1990

Northern Territory Legal Aid Commission

The Legal Aid Commission is an independent statutory body corporate. The  
purpose of this commission is to manage the provision of Legal Aid services to the Northern 
Territory community.

Legal Profession Act 2006

Council of the Law Society Northern Territory

This council is established pursuant to section 638 of the Legal Profession Act 2006. The 
council’s purpose is to manage the functions of the Law Society Northern Territory.

Law Society Northern Territory

This society is a body corporate established pursuant to section 635 of the Legal Profession  
Act 2006. The society’s purpose is to control the affairs of the legal profession in the  
Northern Territory.

Legal Practitioners Admission Board of the Northern Territory

This board is established pursuant to section 650 of the Legal Profession Act 2006. The purpose 
of the board is to report on applications for admission to practice as a legal practitioner.
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Legal Practitioners Disciplinary Tribunal

This tribunal is established pursuant to section 669 of the Legal Profession Act 2006.  
The tribunal hears complaints against legal practitioners in the Northern Territory.

Legal Practitioners Funds Management Committee

This is a statutory body corporate established under section 659 of the Legal Profession Act 
2006. The committee is under a statutory obligation to: manage the Legal Practitioners Fidelity 
Fund established under section 385 of the Legal Profession Act 2006; and advise the Attorney 
General on payments from the Fidelity Fund to maintain various legal profession bodies, 
community legal centres, and public purposes.

Licensed Surveyors Act 1983

Surveyors Board

The purpose of this board is to maintain the Register of Licensed Surveyors; manage the 
processional training of graduates which leads to the licensing process. The board provides 
reciprocal agreement between states and letters of competency for Northern Territory licensed 
surveyors; applies disciplinary action to licensed surveyors as appropriate; set Survey Practice 
Directions, and monitor and maintain them to current best practice, as well as the presentation 
of Survey Plan Drawing Standards; as soon as practicable after 1 January each year, publish in 
the Gazette, the name and address of each NT licensed surveyor as at that date.

Liquor Commission Act 2018

Northern Territory Liquor Commission

The purpose of this commission is to regulate liquor licensing in the Northern Territory under 
the Liquor Commission Act 2018 and the Liquor Act 2019.

Mental Health and Related Services Act 1998

Mental Health Review Tribunal

The objectives of the tribunal are: (a) to conduct hearings within legislative time-frames;  
(b) to maximise access to the tribunal across the Northern Territory; (c) to provide quality 
services to patients and stakeholders by: conducting hearings in an informal, respectful, 
atmosphere; ensuring full effect is given to patients’ rights under the Mental Health and Related 
Services Act 1998 to legal representation; ensuring that patient rights are met in regard to 
accessing records and reports that are before the tribunal; ensuring the attendance at hearings 
of patients the subject of the review wherever practicable; facilitating the attendance of family 
and other support persons at tribunal hearings (where this is the patient’s wish); ensuring full 
effect is given to patients’ rights under the Act to the provision of interpreter services where 
necessary; ensuring confidentiality of tribunal proceedings; ensuring fair and equitable hearings 
and compliance with the principles of natural justice; (d) to maintain a productive, cooperative 
working relationship with Mental Health Services, patients’ legal representatives and other 
stakeholders, particularly in the context of pre-hearing procedures and arrangements on hearing 
days; to raise levels of awareness about the tribunal and its operations.  
On 3 June 2020, the Mental Health and Related Services Amendment Act 2020 commenced and 
the role and function of the Mental Health Review Tribunal now fall under the jurisdiction of the 
NT Civil and Administrative Tribunal.
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Northern Territory Civil and Administrative Tribunal Act 2014

Northern Territory Civil and Administrative Tribunal

The tribunal is established pursuant to section 7 of the Northern Territory Civil and Administrative 
Tribunal Act 2014. The purpose of the tribunal is to review reviewable decisions referred under 
relevant acts and deal with original matters as conferred under relevant acts.  

Northern Territory Law Reform Committee

This committee is established by constitution (a non-statutory committee). Its purpose is to 
recommend law reform measures to the Attorney-General.

Parole Act 1971

Parole Board of the NT

The purpose of this board is to make decisions relating to the release of prisoners to parole, 
including prisoners serving a life sentence for the crime of murder.

Plumbers and Drainer Licensing Act 1983

Plumbers and Drainers Licensing Board

The purpose of this board is to issue Advanced Tradesman Licence and Journeyman Licence 
cards; and investigate complaints, and if necessary, take disciplinary action.

Professional Standards Act 2004

Professional Standards Council

This council is established pursuant to section 41 of the Professional Standards Act 2004. The 
purpose of the council is to provide advice on the legislation to the Minister and occupational 
associations, encourage and assist in the improvement of occupational standards and 
development of self-regulation, and monitor the compliance of occupational associations with 
the standards and their risk management strategies.

Public Trustee Act 1979

Public Trustee Investment Board

This board is established and constituted pursuant to section 12 of the Public Trustee Act 1979. 
The purpose of the board is to control and authorise investment of money in the Common 
Fund of the Public Trustee.

Racing and Betting Act 1983

Racing Commission

The key functions of the commission include: licensing and regulating bookmakers including 
sports bookmakers; resolving betting disputes; controlling and developing greyhound racing; 
and investigating matters relating to racing in the Northern Territory.

Racing Appeals Tribunal

The purpose of this tribunal is to hear and determine appeals over a certain threshold against 
penalties imposed arising from, or in relation to, the conduct of greyhound, trotting and horse 
racing in the Northern Territory.

Registration Act 1927

Lands Titles Registration and General Registry Office

This office is established pursuant to section 4 of the Registration Act 1927. It is the Office of 
the Registrar-General.
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Return to Work Act 1986

Nominal Insurer

The purpose of this insurer is to protect injured workers whose employer does not have 
workers compensation insurance, and to protect employers and injured workers where insurers 
default in the payment of compensation under workers compensation insurance.

Scheme Monitoring Committee

The purpose of this committee is to monitor the viability and performance of the Northern 
Territory Workers Compensation Scheme, monitor premium rates offered for workers 
compensation in the Northern Territory and consider the report on the effectiveness of 
the premiums offered by insurers in encouraging safe working practices and in penalising 
employers who do not ensure the maintenance of safe working practices.

Workers Rehabilitation and Compensation Advisory Council

The purpose of this council is to keep the operation of the Return to Work Act 1986 
under review; make recommendations to the minister on possible improvements to the 
administration of this Act, or the statutory scheme for the rehabilitation and compensation 
on injured workers in the Northern Territory; carry out investigations, at the request of the 
minister, into questions about the rehabilitation and compensation of injured workers and to 
report to the minister on the results of the investigations; and, perform any other advisory 
functions relating to workers rehabilitation and compensation as the minister directs.

Victims of Crime Rights and Services Act 2006

Crime Victims Services Unit

This unit is established pursuant to section 5 of the Victims of Crime Rights and Services 
Act 2006. The purpose of the unit is to administer the financial assistance and counselling 
schemes, establish and operate the Victims Register, and provide information and services to 
the community.

Crime Victims Advisory Committee

This committee is established pursuant to section 10 of the Victims of Crime Rights and Services 
Act 2006. Its purpose is to advise the minister on matters affecting the interests or rights of 
victims of crime.

Work Health and Safety (National Uniform Legislation) Act 2011

Work Health and Safety Advisory Council

The purpose of this council is to keep under review the operation of the Work Health and 
Safety (National Uniform Legislation) Act 2011; to make recommendations to the minister on 
possible changes to: the administration of this Act; or standards of work health and safety in 
the Northern Territory; at the request of the minister, to investigate and report to the minister 
on matters relating to work health and safety; to perform any other advisory functions relating 
to work health and safety as the minister directs.
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ACTS ADMINISTERED
The Administrative Arrangements Order, dated 
9 June 2020, gave the Attorney-General and 
Minister for Justice responsibility for administering 
182 Acts of the Northern Territory, and the 
Minster for Health responsibility for administering 
one Act of the Northern Territory through the 
Department of the Attorney-General and Justice.

Acts and Subordinate legislation

Attorney-General and Minister for Justice  
Absconding Debtors Act 1978

Absconding Debtors Regulations 1980

Accommodation Providers Act 1981

Administration and Probate Act 1969

Administration and Probate Regulations 1983

Advance Personal Planning Act 2013

Advance Personal Planning Regulations 2014

Age of Majority Act 1974

Agents Licensing Act 1979

Agents Licensing Regulations 1979

Anglican Church of Australia Act 1975

Anti-Discrimination Act 1992

Anti-Discrimination Regulations 1994

Architects Act 1963 

Architects Regulations 1965

Associations Act 2003

Associations (Model Constitution) Regulations 2004

Associations Regulations 2004

Auctioneers Act 1935

Australian Crime Commission (Northern Territory) Act 2005

Australian Crime Commission (Northern Territory) 
Regulations 2005

Bail Act 1982

Bail Regulations 1983

Births, Deaths and Marriages Registration Act 1996

Births, Deaths and Marriages Registration Regulations 1996

Building Act 1993 (provisions relating to the regulation and 
licensing of occupations)

Business Names (National Uniform Legislation) 
Implementation Act 2012

Business Names (National Uniform Legislation)  
Request Act 2011

Business Tenancies (Fair Dealings) Act 2003

Business Tenancies (Fair Dealings) Regulations 2004

Caravan Parks Act 2012

Caravan Parks Regulations 2012

Care and Protection of Children Act 2007 (Part 3.3)

Catholic Church in the Northern Territory Act 1979

Children’s Commissioner Act 2013

Choice of Law (Limitation Periods) Act 1994

Classification of Publications, Films and Computer Games Act 
1985

Classification of Publications, Films and Computer Games 
Regulations 1985

Commercial and Private Agents Licensing Act 1979

Commercial and Private Agents Licensing Regulations 2001

Commercial Arbitration (National Uniform Legislation) 
Act 2011

Community Justice Centre Act 2005

Companies (Trustees and Personal Representatives)  
Act 1981

Companies (Unclaimed Assets and Moneys) Act 1963

Compensation (Fatal Injuries) Act 1974

Construction Contracts (Security of Payments) Act 2004

Construction Contracts (Security of Payments)  
Regulations 2005

Consumer Affairs and Fair Trading Act 1990

Consumer Affairs and Fair Trading (Fuel Retailers) Regulations 
2017

Consumer Affairs and Fair Trading (Infringement Notice 
Offences) Regulations 2012

Consumer Affairs and Fair Trading (Motor Vehicle Dealers) 
Regulations 1992

Consumer Affairs and Fair Trading (Pawnbrokers and Second-
hand Dealers) Regulations 1998

Consumer Affairs and Fair Trading (Tow Truck Operators Code 
of Practice) Regulations 1996

Consumer Affairs and Fair Trading (Trading Stamps) 
Regulations 2002

Consumer Credit (National Uniform Legislation) 
Implementation Act 2010

Contracts Act 1978
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Co-operatives (National Uniform Legislation) Act 2015

Co-operatives (National Uniform Legislation)  
Regulations 2015

Coroners Act 1993

Coroners Regulations 1994

Corporations (Financial Services Reform Amendments)  
Act 2002

Corporations (Northern Territory Request) Act 2001

Corporations Reform (Northern Territory) Act 2001

Corporations Law Rules 2000

Correctional Services Act 2014

Correctional Services Regulations 2014

Court Security Act 1998

Court Security Regulations 1998

Courts and Administrative Tribunals (Immunities) Act 2008

Crimes at Sea Act 2000

Criminal Code Act 1983

Criminal Investigation (Extra-territorial Offences) Act 1985

Criminal Investigation (Extra-territorial Offences)  
Regulations 1987

Criminal Property Forfeiture Act 2002

Criminal Property Forfeiture Regulations 2003

Criminal Records (Spent Convictions) Act 1992

Criminal Records (Spent Convictions) Regulations 1993

Cross-border Justice Act 2009

Cross-border Justice Regulations 2009

Crown Proceedings Act 1993

Crown Proceedings Regulations 1993

Cullen Bay Marina Act 1992

Cullen Bay Marina Regulations 1993

Dangerous Goods Act 1998

Dangerous Good Regulations 1985

De Facto Relationships Act 1991

De Facto Relationships (Northern Territory Request)  
Act 2003

Defamation Act 2006

Director of Public Prosecutions Act 1990

Domestic and Family Violence Act 2007 (except part 5A)

Domestic and Family Violence Regulations 2008

Domicile Act 1979

Electrical Workers and Contractors Act 1978

Electrical Workers and Contractors Regulations 1984

Electricity Reform Act 2000 (provisions about safety 
regulation)

Electronic Conveyancing (National Uniform Legislation)  
Act 2013

Electronic Transactions (Northern Territory) Act 2000

Electronic Transactions (Northern Territory) Regulations 
2001

Encroachment of Buildings Act 1982

Evidence Act 1939

Evidence Regulations 2012

Evidence (National Uniform Legislation) Act 2011

Evidence (National Uniform Legislation) Regulations 2012

Expungement of Historical Homosexual Offence Records  
Act 2018

Family Provision Act 1970

Fences Act 1972

Financial Sector Reform (Northern Territory) Act 1999

Financial Transaction Reports Act 1992

Fines and Penalties (Recovery) Act 2001

Fines and Penalties (Recovery) Regulations 2001

Gaming Control Act 1993 (except provisions about taxes 
and levies)

Gaming Control (Community Gaming) Regulations 2006

Gaming Control (Gaming Machines) Regulations 1995

Gaming Control (Internet Gaming) Regulations 1998

Gaming Control (Licensing) Regulations 1995

Gaming Control (Reviewable Decisions) Regulations 2014

Gaming Control (Taxes and Levies) Regulations 2015

Gaming Machine Act 1995 (except Part 8)

Gaming Machine Regulations 1995

Gaming Machine Rules 2001

Guardianship of Adults Act 2016

Guardianship of Adults Regulations 2016

Health Practitioners Act 2004 (Part 3)

Information Act 2002 (Parts 1 to 5, sections 98(1) to (3),  
(5) and (6) and 99, Parts 7A, 8 and 10 to 13)

Information Regulations 2003

International Transfer of Prisoners (Northern Territory)  
Act 2000
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Juries Act 1962

Juries Regulations 1983

Jurisdiction of Courts (Cross-Vesting) Act 1987

Justices of the Peace Act 1991

Kava Management Act 1998

Kava Management Regulations 1998

Lake Bennett (Land Title) Act 2005

Land Title Act 2000

Land Title Regulations 2000

Law of Property Act 2000

Law Officers Act 1978

Law Reform (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1956

Legal Profession Act 2006

Legal Practitioners Disciplinary Tribunal Rules 2011

Legal Profession Admission Rules 2007

Legal Profession Regulations 2007

Rules of Professional Conduct and Practice 2005

Licensed Surveyors Act 1983 (provisions relating to the 
regulation and licensing of occupations)

Limitation Act 1981

Liquor Act 2019

Liquor Regulations 2019

Liquor Commission Act 2018

Local Court Act 2015

Local Court (Adoption Of Children) Rules 1994

Local Court (Civil Jurisdiction) Rules 1998

Local Court (Criminal Jurisdiction) Rules 1929

Local Court (Criminal Procedure) Regulations 2016

Local Court (General) Rules 2016

Local Court Regulations 2016

Local Court (Civil Procedure) Act 1989

Local Court (Criminal Procedure) Act 1928

Married Persons (Equality of Status) Act 1989

Mental Health and Related Services Act 1998 (Part 15)

Misuse of Drugs Act 1990

Misuse of Drugs Regulations 1990

Monetary Units Act 2018

Monitoring of Places of Detention (Optional Protocol  
to the Convention Against Torture) Act 2018

Mutual Recognition (Northern Territory) Act 1992

Northern Territory Civil and Administrative Tribunal  
Act 2014

Northern Territory Civil and Administrative Tribunal 
Regulations 2014

Northern Territory Civil and Administrative Tribunal  
Rules 2016

Northern Territory Civil and Administrative Tribunal 
(Conferral of Jurisdiction for Native Title Matters) Act 2014

Oaths, Affidavits and Declarations Act 2010

Observance of Law Act 1921

Off-shore Waters (Application of Territory Laws) Act 1985

Parole Act 1971

Parole Orders (Transfer) Act 1981

Partnership Act 1997

Penalty Units Act 2009

Penalty Units Regulations 2010

Personal Injuries (Liabilities and Damages) Act 2003

Personal Injuries (Liabilities and Damages) Regulations 2003

Personal Property Securities (National Uniform Legislation) 
Implementation Act 2010

Personal Violence Restraining Orders Act 2016

Plumbers and Drainers Licensing Act 1983 (provisions 
relating to the regulation and licensing of occupations)

Plumbers and Drainers Licensing (Validation) Act 1990

Powers of Attorney Act 1980

Powers of Attorney Regulations 1982

Presbyterian Church (Northern Territory) Property Trust  
Act 1986

Price Exploitation Prevention Act 1949

Printers and Newspapers Act 1984

Prisoners (Interstate Transfer) Act 1983

Prisoners (Interstate Transfer) Regulations 1984

Private Security Act 1995

Private Security (Crowd Controllers) Regulations 1996

Private Security (Miscellaneous Matters) Regulations 2006

Private Security (Security Firms) Regulations 1998

Private Security (Security Officers) Regulations 1998

Professional Standards Act 2004

Professional Standards Regulations 2007

Proportionate Liability Act 2005
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Prostitution Regulation Act 1992

Prostitution Regulations 1992

Public Notaries Act 1992

Public Seal Act 1954

Public Trustee Act 1979

Public Trustee Regulations 1979

Racing and Betting Act 1983 (except Part IV, Division 5  
and Part IVA, Division 5)

Greyhound Racing Rules 1981

Racing and Betting Regulations 1984

Totalisator Rules 1979

Radioactive Ores and Concentrates  
(Packaging and Transport) Act 1980

Radioactive Ores and Concentrates  
(Packaging and Transport) Regulations 1980

Real Property (Unit Titles) Act 1975

Real Property (Unit Titles) Regulations 1987

Registration Act 1927

Registration Regulations 2009

Residential Tenancies Act 1999

Residential Tenancies Regulations 2000

Retirement Villages Act 1995

Retirement Villages Regulations 1995

Return to Work Act 1986

Return to Work Regulations 1986

Rights of the Terminally Ill Act 1995

Rights of the Terminally Ill Regulations 1996

Sale of Goods Act 1972

Sale of Goods (Vienna Convention) Act 1987

Sale of NT TAB Act 2000

Salvation Army (Northern Territory) Property Trust Act 1976

Sea-Carriage Documents Act 1998

Sentencing Act 1995

Sentencing Regulations 1996

Sentencing (Crime of Murder) and Parole Reform Act 2003

Serious Crime Control Act 2009

Serious Crime Control Regulations 2011

Serious Sex Offenders Act 2013

Sex Industry Act 2019

Sexual Offences (Evidence and Procedure) Act 1983

Sheriff Act 1962

Sheriff Regulations 1967

Small Claims Act 2016

Soccer Football Pools Act 1978 (except provisions about 
duties)

Pools Rules 2005

Rules of Authorised Lotteries 

Soccer Football Pools Regulations 1985

Sources of the Law Act 1985

Standard Time Act 2005

Status of Children Act 1978

Status of Children Regulations 1996

Summary Offences Act 1923

Summary Offences Regulations 1994

Supreme Court Act 1979

Supreme Court (Absconding Debtors) Rules 1980

Supreme Court (Senior Counsel) Rules 2007

Supreme Court Regulations 1985

Supreme Court Rules 1987

Supreme Court (Judges Long Leave Payments) Act 1980

Supreme Court (Judges Pensions) Act 1980

Supreme Court (Rules of Procedure) Act 1987

Surveillance Devices Act 2007

Surveillance Devices Regulations 2008

Termination of Units Plans and Unit Title Schemes Act 2014

Termination of Units Plans and Unit Title Schemes 
Regulations 2014

Terrorism (Northern Territory) Request Act 2003

The Commercial Bank of Australia Limited (Merger) Act 
1982

The Commercial Banking Company of Sydney Limited 
(Merger) Act 1982

Tobacco Control Act 2002 (provisions about smoking in 
liquor licensed premises, licensing and enforcement)

Totalisator Licensing and Regulation Act 2000 (except 
provisions about wagering tax)

Totalisator Licensing and Regulation (Arbitration) Regulations 
2000

Totalisator Licensing and Regulation Regulations 2000

Totalisator Licensing and Regulation (Wagering) Rules 2011
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Transport of Dangerous Goods by Road and Rail (National 
Uniform Legislation) Act 2010

Transport of Dangerous Goods by Road and Rail  
(National Uniform Legislation) Regulations 2011

Trans-Tasman Mutual Recognition Act 1998

Trespass Act 1987

Trustee Act 1893

Unauthorized Documents Act 1969

Uncollected Goods Act 2004

Uncollected Goods Regulations 2004

Unit Title Schemes Act 2009

Unit Title Schemes (General Provisions and Transitional 
Matters) Regulations 2009

Unit Title Schemes (Management Modules)  
Regulations 2009

Unit Titles Act 1975

Unit Titles (Management Modules) Regulations 2009

Unit Titles Regulations 2002

Uniting Church in Australia Act 1977

Unlawful Betting Act 1989

Validation (Native Title) Act 1994

Vexatious Proceedings Act 2006

Victims of Crime Assistance Act 2006

Victims of Crime Assistance Regulations 2007

Victims of Crime Rights and Services Act 2006

Victims of Crime Rights and Services Regulations 2010

Warehousemen’s Liens Act 1969

Wills Act 2000

Witness Protection (Northern Territory) Act 2002

Work Health Administration Act 2011

Work Health and Safety (National Uniform Legislation)  
Act 2011

Work Health and Safety (National Uniform Legislation) 
Regulations 2011

Work Health Court Rules 1999

Youth Justice Act 2005 (Part 4)

Minister for Health  
Health and Community Services Complaints Act 1998

Health and Community Services Complaints  
Regulations 1998 
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LEGISLATION ENACTED
The following legislation developed by the department was enacted in 2019–20:

ACT NO. LEGISLATION DATE OF ASSENT

13th Assembly 2019
27 Construction Contracts (Security of Payments) Legislation Amendment Act 2019  03-09-2019

29 Liquor Act 2019 03-09-2019

33 Statute Law Revision and Repeals Act 2019 06-11-2019

37 Work Health and Safety (National Uniform Legislation) Amendment Act 2019 10-12-2019

40 Sex Industry Act 2019 13-12-2019

13th Assembly 2020
1 Courts Legislation Amendment Act 2020 09-03-2020

2 Criminal Property Forfeiture Amendment Act 2020 09-03-2020

3 Evidence and Other Legislation Amendment Act 2020 09-03-2020

4 Licensing (Director-General) Repeal Act 2020 09-03-2020

6 Mental Health and Related Services Amendment Act 2020 09-03-2020

11 Liquor Amendment Act 2020 26-03-2020

13 Residential Tenancies Legislation Amendment Act 2020 16-04-2020

15 Tenancies Legislation Amendment Act 2020 24-04-2020

REGULATIONS COMMENCED
The following regulations developed by the department commenced in 2019–20:

NO. REGULATIONS DATE OF 
COMMENCEMENT

13th Assembly 2019
8 Juries Amendment Regulations 2019 01-07-2019

9 Penalty Units Amendment Regulations 2019 01-07-2019

12 Legal Profession Amendment Regulations 2019 01-07-2019

22 Work Health and Safety (National Uniform Legislation) Amendment Regulations 2019 21-08-2019

24 Agents Licensing Amendment Regulations 2019 25-09-2019

25 Liquor Regulations 2019
rr 53 and 55: 01-10-

2020 (r 2(2)); rem: 
01-10-2019 (r 2(1))

26 Unit Titles and Unit Title Schemes Legislation Amendment Regulations 2019 23-10-2019

30 Community Justice Centre Regulations 2019 03-02-2020

13th Assembly 2020
1 Gaming Machine Amendment Regulations 2020 12-02-2020

4 Sex Industry Regulations 2020 12-06-2020

5 Guardianship of Adults Amendment Regulations 2020 15-04-2020

8 Gaming Machine Further Amendment Regulations 2020 13-05-2020

9 Misuse of Drugs (Act Amendment) Regulations 2020 13-05-2020

12 Construction Contracts (Security of Payments) Amendment Regulations 2020 17-06-2020

13 Consumer Affairs and Fair Trading (Infringement Notice Offences) Amendment 
Regulations 2020 17-06-2020
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Glossary and Definitions
ABC Australian Broadcasting Corporation

ADC Anti-Discrimination Commission

AGD Department of the Attorney-General and Justice

AJU Aboriginal Justice Unit

ALPA Arnhem Land Progress Aboriginal Corporation

AO Administrative Officer

AOD Alcohol and Other Drugs Program

ARC Audit and Risk Committee

ASCC Alice Springs Correctional Centre

BDR Banned Drinker Register

BIITE Batchelor Institute of Indigenous Tertiary Education

BP3 Budget Paper No. 3: Agency Budget Statements

BWC Barkly Work Camp

CBF Community Benefit Fund

CEO Chief Executive Officer

CJRSU Criminal Justice Research and Statistics Unit

COMMIT A ‘swift, certain and fair’ justice initiative based on the Hawaii’s Opportunity Probation with 
Enforcement (HOPE) program.

COVID-19 A novel coronavirus identified in 2019. This new virus and disease were unknown before the 
outbreak began in Wuhan, China in December 2019.

Cth Refers to Commonwealth legislation enacted by the Parliament of Australia

CTSS Court and Tribunal Support Services

CVP Community Visitor Program

CVSU Crime Victims Services Unit

CSWP Community Support Work Program

DCC Darwin Correctional Centre

DCIS Department of Corporate and Information Services

DIPL Department of Infrastructure Planning and Logistics

DPP Director of Public Prosecutions

DWC Datjala Work Camp

EEO Equal Employment Opportunity

ELG Executive Leadership Group

EMG Executive Management Group

EVP Elders Visiting Program

FBI Federal Bureau of Investigation

FRU Fines Recovery Unit
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FTE Full Time Employee

FVP Family Violence Program

GrantsNT The government grant management system used by government agencies and grant applicants/
recipients to manage grant funding activities

GST Goods and services tax

HCSCC Health and Community Services Complaints Commission

HR Human Resources

ICT Information and Communications Technology 

IJIS Integrated Justice Information System 

ILUA Indigenous Land Use Agreement

IOMS Integrated Offender Management System 

JESCC Joint Emergency Services Communications Centre

KPMG Klynveld Peat Marwick Goerdeler

KPI Key Performance Indicator

Langoulant 
Report

Fiscal Strategy Panel, (March 2019). A plan for budget repair final report, Government, Darwin.

< https://treasury.nt.gov.au/dtf/financial-management-group/budget-repair-office/fiscal-
strategy-panel-final-report>

Commonly referred to as the Langoulant Report

LNG Liquefied Natural Gas

Lyons Review Lyons, T., (January 2019). Best practice review of workplace health and safety in the Northern 
Territory, Government, Darwin.

<https://justice.nt.gov.au/attorney-general-and-justice/law-reform-reviews>

Commonly referred to as the Lyons Review

MLA Member of the Northern Territory Legislative Assembly

Menzies Menzies School of Health Research

NAIDOC National Aboriginal and Islander Day Observance Committee

NCPF National Consumer Protection Framework 

NGO Non-government organisation

NLC Northern Land Council 

NNTT National Native Title Tribunal 

NT Northern Territory

NTAJA Northern Territory Aboriginal Justice Agreement

NTCA Northern Territory Consumer Affairs 

NTCAT Northern Territory Civil and Administrative Tribunal

NTCI Northern Territory Correctional Industries 

NTCS Northern Territory Correctional Services 

Government Northern Territory Government

NTPS Northern Territory Public Sector
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ODPP Office of the Director of Public Prosecutions

OAM Medal of the Order of Australia

ODYSSEY Odyssey Case Management System (electronic court case management system)

OPG Office of the Public Guardian

OPCAT Optional Protocol to the Convention against Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading 
Punishment

PAWS Progressive Animal Welfare Society 

PPO Probation and Parole Officer

PSI Programs, Services and Improvement 

PSU Professional Standards Unit

QC Queen’s Counsel

RAGE Recognising Anger and Gaining Empowerment 

Riley Review Riley, T., et al., (October 2017). Alcohol Policies and Legislative Review Final Report, Government, 
Darwin.

<https://alcoholreform.nt.gov.au/__data/assets/pdf_file/0005/453497/Alcohol-Policies-and-
Legislation-Review-Final-Report.pdf> 

Commonly referred to as the Riley Review

RoGS (Australian Government Productivity) Report on Government Services

SC Senior Counsel

SFNT Solicitor for the Northern Territory 

SOTP Sex Offender Treatment Program 

TAFS Treasurer’s Annual Financial Statements

TRM Territory Record Manager

VET Vocational Education and Training 

VOTP Violent Offender Treatment Program 

WHS Work health and safety

White Card A mandatory work card required in Australia to work on a construction site

White fleet 
vehicles

The armed forces non-combat vehicles e.g. vans, buses, touring recruitment vehicles

WoW Women of Worth Program 

YWCA Young Women’s Christian Association
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